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ROBUST GOVERNANCE
DHMS is a non-profit organisation governed 
by an independent Board of Trustees. Our 
robust governance structures and processes 
protect members’ interests and ensure the 
Scheme creates outstanding value for them 
and our other stakeholders, through our 
business model. Members elect at least half of 
our Trustees at any time, ensuring direct 
representation.

THE COUNCIL FOR MEDICAL SCHEMES (CMS)
Our regulator, the CMS, is mandated to 
protect the interests of all scheme members. 
DHMS engages regularly with the CMS for 
guidance, and we participate actively in the 
industry initiatives undertaken by the CMS.

IN
 TH

IS REPO
RT

COVID-19
The impact of the pandemic on our 

members and other stakeholders, and the 
healthcare system as a whole, has been 

dramatic. Our condolences to those who have lost 
loved ones and colleagues, and our thanks to our 

frontline healthcare workers for their heroic work in 
caring for our members and the nation.  

The effects of the COVID-19 crisis on the Scheme and 
our response to it in caring for our members, is 
discussed in our Chairperson’s Statement and 
Principal Officer’s Review. The pandemic also 

features in our material matters, 
strategic themes and risks, and our 

performance.

Why join DHMS?  
We exist for our members.
We provide sustainable access to the best 
healthcare, connecting our members and their 
families to an ecosystem that gives them the 
highest quality of care for the lowest possible 
cost, at every stage of their lives. 

We place members at the centre of care and 
ensure that it is their healthcare that matters. 
We engage in many quality of care initiatives 
and monitor these carefully, striving to ensure 
our members have access to the safest, most 
efficient and effective healthcare available in 
South Africa.

As a non-profit organisation, we strive to 
ensure that our limited sources of income are 
used optimally for the funding of member 
claims and benefits.

Our value story 
How we create, protect and limit the erosion of value for 
our members is largely determined by our operating 
context and meeting the needs of all our stakeholders. 
We assess these factors to determine our material 
matters, which inform the development of our strategic 
themes and the management of our residual risks.

Our business model depicts how we make use of and 
impact on the core capitals relevant to our business 
activities, as a provider of best practice medical schemes 
governance and thought leadership in our industry.

Leadership reviews
Our Chairperson’s Statement 
and Principal Officer’s Review 
provide a strategic overview of 
the Scheme’s story for the 
year, which is detailed in 
subsequent chapters.

How we measure  
our performance
The Scheme’s financial strength, ability to pay 
claims and its sustainability over the long term are 
of critical importance to our members. We monitor 
and report on key outcomes measures as well as a 
wide and detailed range of other performance 
indicators, in addition to our full Financial 
Statements.

Our place in society
We take our corporate social 
responsibility seriously, which 
is underpinned by our ethics, 
values and culture, and 
support of Treating 
Customers Fairly principles. 
We take great care in 
engaging with and meeting 
the needs of all our key 
stakeholders, including 
members, healthcare 
providers, financial advisers, 
employees and regulatory 
bodies.

In-text links are denoted 
by underlined text

Links to additional content are provided:

https://acrobat.adobe.com/za/en/acrobat/pdf-reader.html
http://www.medicalschemes.com


1	 �Based on beneficiaries, according to the Council for Medical Schemes Quarterly Report for 
the period ended 30 September 2020 (www.medicalschemes.co.za/publications/#2009-
2010-wpfd-annual-reports).

2	 �Medical Schemes Act 131 of 1998, as amended.

DHMS is a non-profit entity governed by the Medical Schemes Act (the Act)2 and regulated by the 
Council for Medical Schemes (CMS). The Scheme belongs to its members and an independent 
Board of Trustees (the Trustees or the Board) oversees its activities. 

The Scheme outsources its administration and managed care functions to Discovery Health (Pty) 
Ltd through a formal contractual arrangement. Through our partnership with Discovery Health, and 
with healthcare providers, we strive for seamless integration of services to provide quality care for 
our members, and the highest possible cost efficiency; in the context of severe socio-economic 
conditions and a fragmented and inflationary healthcare system.

01 ABOUT DHMS
Discovery Health Medical Scheme (DHMS or the Scheme) is a registered open 
medical scheme that any member of the public can join, subject to the Scheme 
Rules. Covering 2 758 340 beneficiaries at 31 December 2020, DHMS is the largest 
open medical scheme in South Africa, with an open medical scheme market 
share of 57.0%1.

Who we are

Our aspirations and our goals in the work we do for our members, 
alongside our partners, are defined in our purpose: to meet our members’ 
healthcare needs in an affordable, equitable and quality, value-based way 
now and into the future. Our approach to everything we do is strongly 
rooted in our values-driven culture and our commitment to being an 
engaged and thoughtful corporate citizen that cares deeply for the 
wellbeing of our members, our industry and our society.

1 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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In 2019, 87.3% of  
income funded claims.

In 2020 this declined to 76.5%, 
reflecting less healthcare-seeking 

behaviour during the COVID-19 
pandemic; DHMS received over 

3.5 million fewer member claims 
in 2020.

This unprecedented circumstance 
was also reflected in the 

increased surplus for 2020. 

Why join DHMS?
Quality of care is key to our 
membership proposition

One of the Scheme’s strategic priorities is to drive value-based healthcare. 
Placing our members at the centre of care, this approach reimburses 
providers based on health outcomes and not only the volume of services 
they deliver. It gives our members access to programmes and providers that 
are committed to continuous improvement in quality care.

The Scheme strives to ensure that our members have access to the safest, 
most efficient and effective healthcare available in South Africa. Our 
partnership with Discovery Health provides our members with many quality 
of care initiatives and innovations, which are closely monitored by the 
Scheme on an ongoing basis. We also empower our members with 
information relevant to their needs. 76.3%

Claims
(2019: 87.3%)

11.6%
(Loss)/surplus to 
member reserves
(2019: 0.3%)

9.8%
Administration and 
managed care 
expenses
(2019: 9.9%)

2.3%
Financial adviser and 
Scheme expenses
(2019: 2.5%)

2020 
EXPENSE 

BREAKDOWN

We’ll be here for you
Financial strength and sustainability are key factors to 
consider when selecting a medical scheme. Sound financial 
control and risk management enable the Scheme to maintain 
its required solvency reserve levels, which ensures its ability 
to pay claims even when they are unexpectedly high.

We exist for our members
We provide sustainable access to the best healthcare, connecting our 
members and their families to an ecosystem that gives them the 
highest quality of care for the lowest possible cost, at every stage of 
their lives. 

We make sure 
your investment in 
membership takes 
care of you

The Scheme’s income is derived 
only from member contributions 
and investment returns. The 
Scheme pools all contributions to 
fund members’ claims, and any 
surplus funds are transferred to 
Scheme reserves for the security 
and benefit of members.

In setting member contributions 
for each year, the Scheme aims to 
ensure sufficient contribution 
income to pay all claims, and to 
generate a modest surplus to 
meet regulated solvency 
requirements and maintain a 
cushion against unexpected cost 
increases. This accords with the 
fundamental operating principles 
of a non-profit organisation that 
must meet the claims needs of its 
members as well as maintain a 
statutory level of reserves. 

A small portion of income (shown 
alongside) is used to fund activities 
that benefit our members and 
ensure the Scheme’s sustainability. 
These activities include 
administration, managed care, 
financial advisers and the daily 
operations of the Scheme. Apart 
from the portion allocated to 
reserves and these activities, the 
remainder of the Scheme’s income 
is used to fund claims.

2 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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Charlotte Mbewu Principal OfficerNeil Morrison Chairperson Johan Human Trustee

Our Integrated Report demonstrates the accountability of the Board of Trustees 
of Discovery Health Medical Scheme to our members; in the context of our core 
service to our members, which is best practice in medical schemes governance 
and thought leadership in our industry. 

This is our primary report to our members, the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS), and other 
stakeholders of Discovery Health Medical Scheme (DHMS or the Scheme). It provides a holistic 
assessment of our governance, business model, strategy, performance and outlook in relation 
to our material risks and opportunities in the South African private healthcare industry. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has added substantial economic, social and psychological pressure in 
an environment that was already characterised by high uncertainty, above-inflation increases 
in healthcare costs and significant regulatory change and policy shifts. In this context, our 
Report sets out the Scheme’s efforts to work in the best interests of our members, while 
balancing the needs and expectations of our various stakeholders. Achieving this balance 
underpins the Scheme’s financial, operational and relational wellbeing. In turn, as the largest 
open medical scheme in the country, this supports the overall capacity and viability of the 
private healthcare industry and the betterment of the national healthcare system.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES ON THE 14 APRIL 2021

02

Board of Trustees responsibilities and approval
The Trustees are committed to providing our members with accurate and reliable 
information. We recognise our responsibility to assure the integrity of the Integrated 
Report and are confident that it covers all material matters, complies with the Scheme’s 
responsibility to account for its operations and performance, and serves as a 
transparent, integrated source of information for all stakeholders. 

The Trustees are satisfied that this Report complies with the requirements of the Act, as 
amended, the Scheme Rules, International Financial Reporting Standards, and all 
additional financial reporting requirements of the CMS. The Trustees are also satisfied 
that the Scheme has adequate resources to continue with its operations into the 
foreseeable future. The Scheme’s Financial Statements have therefore been prepared 
on a going concern basis.

About 
our 
report 

3 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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Scope and boundary
This Report covers the benefit year from 
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, also 
referred to as the 2020 financial year (the year). 
In addition, it discusses material developments 
in early 2021 up to the date of approval of this 
Report by the Trustees. 

The boundary of this Report includes an 
assessment of our propositions, interactions 
and outcomes related to key stakeholders, 
which underpin our ability to create, preserve 
and limit any erosion of value for our 
members. This is in line with the Scheme’s 
regulated mandate to act in the best interests 
of our members, and our business model as a 
centre of excellence for medical schemes 
governance.

In line with our Vested® outsourcing model, the 
Scheme contracts with Discovery Health (Pty) 
Ltd (Discovery Health) as its administrator and 
managed care provider. Using a specific 
methodology, which is independently reviewed, 
the Scheme reviews and monitors the value 
that Discovery Health delivers to the Scheme 
and our members. Assessing the value added 
and work performed by Discovery Health is an 
important aspect of this Report.

The terms ‘the Scheme’, ‘DHMS’, ‘we’ and ‘our’ 
refer to Discovery Health Medical Scheme. The 
terms ‘Discovery Health’ and ‘our administrator 
and managed care provider’ refer to Discovery 
Health (Pty) Ltd.

MATER IAL ITY  DETERMINAT ION
The Trustees are responsible for determining and 
effectively managing the matters that materially impact 
the Scheme’s ability to create and preserve value, or that 
may erode value, thus affecting the sustainability of the 
Scheme over time. 

On at least an annual basis, the Scheme’s management 
team engages in workshops on strategy and objectives for 
the year ahead and beyond, and a strategy workshop is 
also held with the Trustees. These discussions include the 
broader healthcare, economic, social and political 
environment as well as specific considerations of product 
and benefit enhancement opportunities. The positions of 
stakeholders are an integral part of these discussions, 
underpinned by a defined framework and methodology to 
identify stakeholder groups, assess their needs and 
interests, and evaluate the impact of these on the Scheme, 
and vice versa.  

The identification of material matters emerges from these 
discussions, and in addition the Trustees consider Board 
and Scheme Office reports, the Scheme’s risk register, and 
formal and informal stakeholder interactions, when 
subsequently considering and approving the material 
matters for inclusion in this Report.  

REPORT I NG FRA M EWORK S
The Scheme takes guidance from the King IV™ Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV), the 
SAICA Medical Schemes Accounting Guide, and uses the 
International Integrated Reporting Framework (IIRF) of the 
International Integrated Reporting Council as the basis for 
preparing and improving its reporting. The IIRF is applied 
insofar as it is relevant and applicable to medical schemes in 
South Africa. 

We note the amended IIRF and are working to incorporate its 
recommendations. To this end, we have remodelled our 
business model, to distinguish more clearly between the 
Scheme’s core capital inputs, output, and between the value 
outcomes that pertain specifically to our members and to our 
other stakeholders. We have also employed our material 
matters to improve the connectivity of our Report, especially 
related to the constraints to our core capital inputs, and how 
we are managing these through our strategy and in mitigating 
our residual risks to drive differentiated value outcomes for 
our members and other stakeholders.

Process disclosures

This Report assesses our propositions, 
interactions and outcomes related to 
key stakeholders, which underpin our 
ability to create, preserve and limit any 
erosion of value for our members.“

4 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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A UDITOR  INDEPENDENCE
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc have audited the 
Scheme’s Financial Statements. Rotation of the 
designated partner forms part of the independence 
assessment, and the current audit partner assumed 
the role for the audit of the financial year ended 
31 December 2019. The Audit Committee is satisfied 
that the auditor is independent of the Scheme. 

Details of fees paid to the external auditors for audit 
and non-audit services are included in the Financial 
Statements. The Scheme has a formal policy 
governing non-audit services and the relevant fees 
and nature of the work have been disclosed to, and 
approved by, the Audit Committee.

IN TEGRA TED REPORT 
PREPA R A T ION AND APPROVAL 
Scheme management prepares the Integrated 
Report, under the direction of an experienced and 
expert executive responsible for gathering, vetting, 
drafting and co-ordinating the approval of 
qualitative and quantitative information submitted 
by the relevant information owners. The executive is 
supported by specialist internal functions such as 
governance, regulatory, clinical, financial, actuarial, 
risk management and strategy development and 
implementation; as well as external specialists in 
integrated reporting and report preparation. 

Following a detailed review by the Audit and 
Stakeholder Relations and Ethics Committees, the 
Audit Committee recommends the Integrated 
Report to the Trustees for approval. External 
auditors provide independent assurance of the 
Financial Statements.

Internal reporting related to the assurance 
process provides insight and data that are 
applied in preparing the Integrated Report.“

C OM BI NED  A SSURA NC E
The Scheme uses a combined assurance model, which is a risk-based 
methodology to obtain assurance on the controls across the Scheme’s key 
activities. The internal reporting related to the assurance process provides 
insight and data that are applied in preparing the Integrated Report.    

FIRST LINE:
Scheme management 

provides the Trustees with 
assurance that risk 

management is integrated into 
the day-to-day running of the 

Scheme and that it is 
monitored on an ongoing 

basis.

SECOND LINE:  
the outsourced Group Risk 

Management and Compliance 
functions assess the 

effectiveness of the Scheme’s 
internal control and risk 
management processes.

THIRD LINE:
management and the 

Trustees obtain external 
assurance on the Scheme’s 
financial performance and 

internal control frameworks 
from the Internal Audit 

function, external audit and 
an independent 

actuarial firm.

The model is 
based on three 
lines of defence:

5 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



We also sought to balance member needs with the stark financial 
reality of COVID-19 and affordability constraints, by offering 
some contribution relief to members and SMMEs.

The effective collaboration between government, business and 
both the public and private healthcare industries in response to 
the pandemic has been encouraging. This bodes well for our 
work in 2021 as the nation seeks to achieve population immunity 
and respond to other significant challenges, such as a third wave. 
We look forward to making COVID-19 vaccines available to our 
members as soon as possible, in line with the rollout 
prioritisation of the National Department of Health. The Scheme 
will focus on ensuring access to the efficient administration of 
safe and effective vaccines. To this end, the Scheme has 
sufficient reserves in place to fund COVID-19 vaccines for all our 
members that require it.   

COVID-19 has resulted in an unprecedented decline in utilisation, 
largely due to the postponement of non-urgent hospitalisation 
and patient aversion to potential risk of infection in some 
healthcare settings. Consequently, like many other medical 
schemes, DHMS ended 2020 with a financial surplus. However, 
this situation is expected to reverse in 2021 and 2022 as pent-up 
need for care is released and schemes must budget for 
additional COVID-19 care costs and vaccines, along with the 
normalisation of claims. 

COVID-19 has had an unprecedented socio-economic impact on 
the country. Although the domestic and global economies have 
begun to recover, some analysts predict that this is unlikely to be 
linear or U-shaped, but rather a K-shaped recovery. This means 
some industries and sections of the population will recover 
rapidly and even thrive, while others deteriorate further. This 
threatens to deepen inequality and poverty here at home and 
worldwide.  

The DHMS strategy, and the innovations implemented on our 
behalf by Discovery Health, have assisted us to respond quickly 
and decisively to the changing landscape. We have ensured that 
our members are still able to access quality healthcare, seamless 
services and additional support. Ongoing engagement with our 
members has been supported through our website, a new 
WhatsApp channel, and in-hospital advice about benefits.

COVID-19 remains at the forefront of our deliberations as we 
work to ensure that our members have access to appropriate 
treatment and care; and vaccines. Our promise to our members 
to be thought leaders in our industry, and to be agile and 
responsive to their needs, came together in the World Health 
Organisation (WHO) Global Outbreak Benefit, launched quickly 
after the onset of the pandemic. We also provided members with 
extensive and reliable information and support, and offered 
innovative and effective benefits such as virtual consultations to 
keep both members and healthcare providers safe.   

COVID-19 remains at the 
forefront of our deliberations 
as we work to ensure that 
our members have access to 
appropriate treatment and 
care; and vaccines.“

NEIL MORRISON

03 LEADERSHIP 
REVIEWS

The healthcare industry has borne the brunt of COVID-19 in many ways, including the heavy toll on frontline 
workers. The Trustees are deeply grateful for their heroic work in caring for our members, and the nation. 

Our Chairperson’s Statement

6 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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We also foresee disease severity increasing due to postponed 
healthcare screening and treatment. This places DHMS in an 
unusual situation, as we will need to plan and budget for the 
next two to three years, given the likely erosion of our surplus 
combined with a worsening claims experience.  

The pandemic places even more focus on the Scheme’s 
long-term approach to population health management, in 
particular non-communicable diseases. DHMS, together with 
Discovery Health, have over several years implemented 
managed care programmes underpinned by value-based care 
principles, such as DiabetesCare, to support our members and 
optimise clinical outcomes. 

Our unexpected claims experience in 2020 enabled us to forgo 
any increase in contributions for the first six months of 2021. 
We will need to implement an increase in July and have 
committed to contain that to a maximum of 5.9%, subject to 
approval by the CMS. We hope that this goes some way to 
assisting members through this difficult time. 

Every year, the Trustees assess the value provided by Discovery 
Health through their administration and managed care services 
to the Scheme. The methodology we apply has been 
independently reviewed and confirmed as reasonable1. Since 
the assessment began in 2014, Discovery Health has provided 
more value to our members than the Scheme has paid for. In 
the 20192 financial year, Discovery Health added nominal value 
of R7.09 billion (2018: R7.34 billion). Put differently, for every 
R1 paid, our members received R2.03 in value. 

This year we look forward to welcoming the members of 
Quantum Medical Aid Society, subject to approval by regulators 
and the members of both schemes. QMAS proposes to 
amalgamate with DHMS, and we held a Special General 
Meeting to obtain our members’ approval for this beneficial 
arrangement. 

Regulatory engagement and advocacy are important aspects of 
the Scheme’s work. During 2020, we contributed to many 
CMS-led discussions such as those pertaining to the Low-Cost 
Benefit Option framework, currently being developed. Through 
this mechanism we hope to make private healthcare accessible 
to more people. While National Health Insurance engagements 
were postponed due to the pandemic, they should resume in 
2021. We hope that the beneficial working relationships and 
the value of closer public-private partnership in the past year, 
will enable effective and constructive advances towards 
universal healthcare in South Africa.  

Another important development underway is the Section 59 
investigation into fraud, waste and abuse (FWA) practices in 
our industry. In February 2021, the Investigation Panel released 
their interim report for comment. We note the Panel’s 
confirmation of the legality, and indeed necessity, of the 
Scheme’s efforts to combat FWA and recover funds for our 
members. We were deeply concerned by the allegations of 
racial bias made to the Panel about these procedures, and 
have engaged closely with Discovery Health, who conducts 
FWA investigations and recoveries on behalf of the Scheme,  
and with the Panel’s report. We note the Panel’s confirmation 
that it has found no evidence of explicit bias and we support 
the submission by Discovery Health, based on independent 
expert review, that there is in fact no racial bias in any form in 
its FWA activities.

The Trustees are accountable for the oversight and governance 
of the Scheme, to ensure our members are served with 
excellence and innovation, in fulfilment of our purpose and in 
realising our vision. To this end, we continue to be vigilant to 
ensure compliance, and we regularly review our governance 
practices to align them to global best practice. 

  

In closing, I thank my fellow Trustees and our Independent 
Committee Members, who have given dedicated and 
thoughtful service to the Scheme and our members. Adv Joan 
Adams and Dr Susette Brynard, whose terms were due to 
expire in 2020, have agreed to remain as Trustees until we 
hold elections, and our AGM, which were postponed due to 
lockdown regulations. The CMS exempted the Scheme 
accordingly, and these will go ahead during 2021. 

I must also thank our Principal Officer, Charlotte Mbewu, who 
has been a steady hand at the helm in these turbulent times. 
Ms Mbewu was our Chief Financial Officer and appointed 
Acting Principal Officer in 2019, and the Trustees were 
delighted to confirm her appointment as Principal Officer from 
1 July 2020. We welcome Joy Malete, appointed as our Chief 
Financial Officer on 12 April 2021. We are pleased to have a 
person of her experience and expertise on board given the 
challenges ahead. The Principal Officer is supported by a 
dedicated, highly skilled team. The Trustees thank each of 
them for their resilience and commitment to our members, 
and to the Scheme’s long-term financial, operational and 
relational wellbeing.

Finally, our deep condolences to our member and stakeholder 
community who have lost loved ones and colleagues through 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Scheme will continue to do 
everything in our power to minimise the impact and severity of 
the disease, by ensuring our members have access to 
appropriate benefits and by delivering innovative supportive 
measures.

MR NEIL MORRISON 
Chairperson

1	 �The Scheme engaged Deloitte Actuarial Consultants to perform an actuarial peer review on the reasonability of the data, methodology and results. Deloitte concluded that the methodology 
is appropriate, that the change in value added from 2018 to 2019 is reasonable, and that they did not encounter any significant anomalies in the data and calculations reviewed.

2	 �As the assessment uses industry information, results are only available for the preceding year.7 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125
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Heightened awareness of the 
criticality of managing chronic 
conditions will support the 
expansion of our care programmes.“

The Scheme, working closely with Discovery Health, 
introduced innovative initiatives and expanded benefits in 
response to COVID-19. We extended the WHO Global 
Outbreak Benefit, adding to this basket of care as new 
understanding and developments in diagnostic testing, 
treatment and care became available. For members who 
could not self-isolate at home, we provided dedicated 
facilities and services in an effort to reduce the spread of the 
disease. Healthcare workers were available to assist 
members with symptom management and monitoring in 
these facilities. We also made pulse oximeters (devices to 
track oxygen saturation levels) available to high-risk 
members, which decreased mortality rates. By leveraging 
digital platforms we were able to meet the needs of our 
members, while keeping them and their doctors as safe 
as possible.    

The pandemic required a shift in care models. We rapidly 
facilitated the move to digital health and a shift from 
hospital to outpatient care settings, including home-based. 
Strong adoption of the virtual facilities we made available 
motivated the launch of Connected Care, an ecosystem of 
benefits, services and connected digital capabilities to help 
our members manage their health and wellness at home. 
While our members still have access to hospital facilities 
when needed, the success of our Day Surgery Network and 
the adoption of virtual consultations indicate the 
effectiveness these new care models in meeting specific 
healthcare needs in a changing care environment. In 
assessing the value of these new services, we continue to 
ensure that they support optimal healthcare outcomes.

Heightened awareness of the criticality of managing chronic 
conditions, strongly implicated in morbidity and mortality 
related to COVID-19, have reinforced the importance of 
screening and promotion of health-seeking behaviour, which 
will support the expansion of our care programmes. The 
demographic profile of our members has gradually 
worsened over the last several years, exacerbating health 
risk for members as new diseases emerge. Ongoing health 
management through managed care will therefore remain a 
cornerstone of our approach.  

Besides these specific benefits, the impact of the pandemic 
on the affordability of cover prompted the Scheme to assist 
members and employers in financial difficulty. Qualifying 
members with positive balances in their medical savings 
accounts could use these to cover their contributions, and 
qualifying SMMEs could defer employee contributions for a 
specified period. 

More broadly, and also likely to be exacerbated by the 
longer-term socio-economic impact of the pandemic, mental 
wellbeing is a growing concern for the Scheme. This has 
been underlined as claims associated with mental health 
conditions continue to increase, consistent with the global 
trend. In 2020, the Scheme expanded the benefits for major 
depression, beyond the prescribed minimum, to include 
chronic medicines funded from the risk benefit. Recognising 
that certain people suffering from depression tend to 
require re-admission to care facilities, we have enhanced 
the mental health disease management programme to 
encompass more comprehensive and holistic care  
co-ordination.

Our unwavering focus on our purpose, and knowing that we exist for our 
members, held us in strong stead amid the devastation caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. This inspired us to find effective and innovative ways 
to support and care for our members in unprecedented circumstances.  

Our Principal Officer’s 
review of the year
CHARLOTTE MBEWU
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Other benefits introduced in 2021 include a Spinal Care 
Programme and a colorectal surgery centre of excellence. Both 
of these aim to improve outcomes in these common and often 
devastating health events. We have also introduced a 
continuous glucose monitoring benefit, and enhanced access to 
coaching and management, for members registered on our 
Diabetes Care management programmes. Diabetes, if 
untreated, can result in blindness, kidney failure and heart 
attacks and our care programme aims to protect against these 
complications. The telemetric glucose monitoring devices can 
also monitor conditions like chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease, congestive cardiac failure and pneumonia, so this 
benefit extends to members with these conditions. We will also 
launch an assisted reproductive therapy benefit in 2021, 
available to members depending on the plan they have chosen.

The Scheme engages frequently and constructively with our 
regulators and policymakers for positive change in our industry, 
and to co-create a stronger national healthcare system. We are 
grateful for the support we received from the CMS, especially 
during the pandemic, which enabled us to quickly introduce 
measures to support our members. We also note that the 
Minister of Health’s performance scorecard includes specific 
targets and deadlines to achieve universal health coverage and 
to oversee the implementation of the Presidential Health 
Compact interventions, designed to strengthen the healthcare 
system. We applaud the drive by the Department of Health to 
achieve these imperatives, to the benefit of all South Africans.  

We look forward to resuming our engagements on the NHI Bill, 
and hope to present to the Portfolio Committee on Health. We 
also note the Portfolio Committee’s interest in the investigation 
into allegations of racial discrimination and unfair practices by 
medical schemes and administrators related to combatting 
fraud, waste and abuse in our industry. Discovery Health 
submitted a response to the interim report on 5 April 2021, and 
we await the final report and recommendations. We welcome 
the Investigation Panel’s findings that no evidence of any bias, 
racial or otherwise, was found in the processes and systems 
employed by Discovery Health on the Scheme’s behalf, and its 
recommendation that no changes to the Medical Schemes Act 
are needed regarding the powers of schemes to recover 
member funds fraudulently disbursed. We also welcome the 
Panel’s acknowledgement of the serious adverse consequences 
of FWA on medical scheme members’ funds, the affordability of 
healthcare insurance cover and the broader South African 
health system.

  

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and related national 
lockdowns were, unsurprisingly, the most notable factors 
affecting the Scheme’s financial performance in the year. The 
Scheme experienced a net decline in membership of 1.57% in 
2020 and only marginal growth of 0.06% in 2019, reflecting the 
weak economic conditions and the contraction of the 
employment market even before the advent of the pandemic. 
In 2020, in line with the experience of other medical schemes, 
utilisation dropped substantially, as non-urgent hospitalisation 
was postponed or cancelled. This resulted in a net surplus for 
the year of R9 006 million (2019: R1 563 million), based on a 
positive net healthcare result of R7 451 million 
(2019: R136 million) and investment income of R1 690 million 
(2019: R1 698 million). The Scheme’s solvency level remains 
healthy at 36.93%. This has allowed the Scheme to defer its 
annual increase to July 2021, but necessitates careful 
forecasting and planning for the next two to three years given 
that utilisation is expected to return to prior levels, and possibly 
with a mix of more severe cases.  

In 2021, we look forward to an amalgamation with Quantum 
Medical Aid Society (QMAS). The CMS has approved the 
exposition of the amalgamation documents and Competition 
Commission approval is underway, following which members 
will be asked to approve the amalgamation at a Special General 
Meeting. Amalgamating with QMAS bodes well for the Scheme 
in light of QMAS’s demographic profile and reserves. This 
means that adding its approximately 3 200 members will not 
dilute DMHS’s reserves. 

Mrs Joy Malete was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer 
from 12 April 2021, and we are delighted to have a person of 
her calibre join the Scheme Office team.

The support of my team, the Trustees and our Independent 
Committee Members, and our administrator and managed care 
provider, Discovery Health, has been invaluable this year. 
Together, we have enabled the Scheme to assist our members 
in weathering the COVID-19 storm. This has tested our promise 
to our members, and our other stakeholders, to not only 
provide best practice governance but also thought leadership in 
our industry. We have demonstrated our ability to move quickly 
and innovatively to meet and exceed the healthcare needs of 
our members. We have also, I believe, supported the country’s 
effective management of the pandemic and given credence to 
our commitment to assist in building a better healthcare system 
for all South Africans. 

Challenges will no doubt continue into the future, but the 
Scheme is in robust health and our members can be assured of 
our unwavering dedication to fulfilling our purpose and working 
hard to realise our vision.    

MS CHARLOTTE MBEWU 
Principal Officer

The Scheme engages frequently and 
constructively with our regulators and 
policymakers for positive change in 
our industry.
“
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OUR VALUE 
STORY

Medical schemes are governed by a board of trustees, and 
must be registered with the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS) 
subject to the provisions of the Medical Schemes Act (the Act). 
The CMS was established through the Act to regulate 
registered medical schemes and to protect the interests of 
scheme members, among other functions.  

SECTION 7 OF THE ACT DESCRIBES THE CMS’s 
RESPONSIBILITIES, WHICH INCLUDE:
	❚ Ensuring that medical schemes are financially sound, 

with a sufficient number of members contributing 
to them.

	❚ Ensuring medical schemes do not unfairly discriminate 
against any person on arbitrary grounds.

	❚ Investigating complaints in relation to the affairs 
of medical schemes.

The CMS interacts frequently with the industry and regularly 
publishes circulars to guide medical schemes on interpreting 
and implementing the Act. It approves the benefit plans and 
rules of each scheme, with the latter being binding on the 
scheme, its members, officers and any person who claims any 
benefit. The CMS also undertakes vetting of scheme trustees1 
and principal officers.

All medical schemes in South Africa are non-profit entities that operate according 
to social solidarity principles, in a highly complex and tightly regulated industry.

Our operating context

04

The CMS accredits medical scheme administrators and 
managed care providers, as well as the financial advisers who 
provide advice to the public on private healthcare cover. All 
fees paid by medical schemes to financial advisers are 
prescribed by the Minister of Health on an annual basis.

Schemes derive income only from member contributions and 
investment returns. They price their benefit plans for the 
following year based on industry factors, utilisation of 
healthcare services, financial performance, and financial and 
actuarial forecasts. The pricing of contributions is a function of 
balancing affordability with other imperatives. These include 
holding sufficient reserves to weather times of economic 
difficulty and unexpected claims, providing for increased 
utilisation and escalation in the cost of treatment, optimising 
benefits, and equitable treatment of all scheme members.

Medical schemes operate under the principle of social 
solidarity: schemes must accept all members who wish to join; 
members are community risk rated so there is no 
differentiation of pricing based on, for example, the status of 
an individual’s health; and members’ funds are pooled to 
provide healthcare funding in an equitable manner. 

1	 �DHMS’ Nomination Committee provides an additional layer of oversight in approving the vetting of nominees and candidates eligible for election.

Industry trends amplified and 
accelerated by COVID-19
As one of the most notable events of our lifetimes, given its 
global reach and widespread health, economic and social 
effects at macro and micro levels, COVID-19 has had a material 
impact on the healthcare industry. The burden on frontline 
healthcare workers and facilities during the waves of the 
pandemic has been extensively reported, with high volumes of 
people needing hospital care. This placed tremendous 
pressure on the healthcare industry. 

By contrast, many other healthcare facilities and practices saw 
substantially decreased utilisation, as members deferred 
non-emergency and elective care. This resulted in severe 
financial pressure for some healthcare providers during 2020.  

The pandemic has highlighted the need for ongoing vigilance 
around further potential shocks to the healthcare system. New 
viruses emerge regularly, and the lessons learned from the 
COVID-19 experience need to be applied to combat other 
threats. Some of these emerging diseases are linked to the 
effects of climate change and environmental degradation, 
requiring greater awareness and modelling of the broader 
drivers of disease.

Notwithstanding the extraordinary challenges, other aspects of 
the industry have improved. The uptake of digital healthcare to 
ensure ongoing access to healthcare services, including virtual 
consultations, has been unprecedented. 
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It is predicted that the direct and indirect 
impacts of COVID-19 on healthcare systems will 
be profound and sustained. These impacts have 
been described as initial COVID-19 related 
morbidity and mortality, followed by resource 
restrictions impacting urgent non-COVID 
conditions, interrupted care impacts on chronic 
conditions, and a sustained period relating to 
mental illness, burnout and economic injury.

Adapted from Victor Tseng, MD https://twitter.com/
VectorSting/status/1244671755781898241.

Demand for some medical equipment and vaccines has been 
high, and the rapid innovation the crisis has provoked is likely 
to spur continued growth and development.  

Besides the development and adoption of digital health 
options, the pandemic has presented opportunities to shift 
care settings from hospital to outpatient services, including in 
the home environment. Importantly, it has also reinforced 
healthier lifestyles, including safer behaviours. It was notable 
that no influenza activity was reported from any southern 
hemisphere country during the 2020 flu season1, and 
heightened awareness of ways to prevent communicable 
diseases like the flu could decrease this regular burden on the 
healthcare system.

The need for co-operation and information sharing has also 
established stronger relationships between stakeholders, 
particularly the public and private sectors. This should stand 
the healthcare industry in good stead as we work together to 
manage COVID-19 and its extended impact over the next few 
years, as well as in moving towards universal healthcare 
coverage in South Africa.

In particular, close and constructive working relationships with 
our regulatory authorities will be key to supporting the 
healthcare system, and the country, not only to emerge from 
the pandemic but also to consolidate some of the positive 
developments over the longer term. During 2020, the CMS 
strongly supported the industry in its response to COVID-19, 
including Prescribed Minimum Benefits (PMBs) for the testing 
and treatment of the disease. The Scheme continues to engage 
with the CMS and other regulators on the PMB review, 
Low-Cost Benefit Option (LCBO) reforms, and the development 
of National Health Insurance (NHI). Through the CMS and the 
Health Funders Association (HFA) and in other forums, we are 
also involved in various working groups for the national 
vaccine rollout.

At the end of 2019 there were 76 medical schemes registered 
with the CMS, consisting of 18 open schemes and 58 restricted 
schemes, covering over 8 953 000 beneficiaries. These schemes 
paid out approximately R185.9 billion in total healthcare 
benefits2 in 2019 (2018: R172.2 billion). The average age of 
scheme members in 2019 increased by 0.2 years to 33.3 from 
33.1 in 2018, and the proportion of pensioners increased to 
8.7% from 8.5%3.

Aging scheme membership, the increasing burden of non-
communicable diseases, and stagnant membership growth, 
reflecting economic stresses and demographic trends, are 
factors that have been evident over several years. These have 
negative implications for cross-subsidisation within scheme risk 
pools, and for the healthcare industry as a whole. The 
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to 
exacerbate this trend, at least in the short term, pending more 
decisive economic recovery.

1	 �Source: The National Institute for Communicable Diseases’ Communicable Diseases 
Communiqué, July 2020, Vol. 19 (7). 

2	 ����Total healthcare benefits paid refers to the sum of the benefits paid from both the risk 
pools of medical schemes and the savings accounts of members.

3	 ����Source for industry information: Annexures to the CMS Annual Report 2019–2020 
(https://www.medicalschemes.co.za/publications/#2009-3506-wpfd-2019-20-annual-
report), which do not include data for 2020. 

4	 �Source: Global Health Care Anti-Fraud Network, http://www.ghcan.org/global-anti-
fraud-resources/the-health-care-fraud-challenge/.

In response, containing costs while maintaining benefits and 
driving value-based healthcare are key drivers for medical 
schemes. The fragmentation in the South African healthcare 
system has a significant impact on health outcomes as 
healthcare providers frequently operate in silos. This means 
private healthcare consumers experience barriers to integrated 
health information, difficulty in navigating the healthcare 
system and poor co-ordination of care across disciplines and 
processes. The development of managed care programmes 
that target specific conditions, supported wherever possible by 
innovative reimbursement mechanisms, serve to reduce 
fragmentation and improve cost management, as does the 
increasing adoption of digital healthcare. 

The impact of fraud, waste and abuse in the industry is 
substantial, as it is in healthcare globally. The Global Health 
Care Anti-Fraud Network estimates that USD260 billion 
(approximately six percent of global healthcare spending) is 
lost to fraud each year4. In South Africa, the Section 59 
Investigation Panel has acknowledged in their interim report 
that schemes and administrators must continue their efforts to 
curb it and to recover member funds, but it also confirmed 
that they act in accordance with the Act as they do so. 
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Our material 
matters

12

We exist for our members, which puts their 
health and wellness at the heart of what is 
most important for the Scheme. 

	❚ Ensuring rapid and equitable 
access to effective vaccines for our 
members, in alignment with 
national guidelines and priorities.

	❚ Closely monitoring developments 
in COVID-19 disease management 
and funding health technologies 
and treatments where evidence 
and safety protocols are sufficient.

	❚ Supporting appropriate digital 
health capabilities and alternative 
settings of care to ensure our 
members continue to have 
uninterrupted access to essential 
healthcare services including at 
times when lockdown restrictions 
are in place. 

	❚ Actively communicating with and 
supporting our stakeholders as 
they work to manage the impact of 
COVID-19 in their lives and 
workplaces.

	❚ The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the South African 
healthcare system as well as the 
economic environment.

	❚ Adapting our investment strategy 
to the short- and long-term 
economic and market conditions 
of the pandemic.  

COVID-19  PANDEMIC

The Scheme’s material matters are the most important 
factors affecting our ability to create sustainable value for 
our members, and which underpin the financial, 
operational and relational wellbeing of the Scheme in a 
complex operating environment. The material matters 
provide the context for ongoing Board discussions and are 
formally reviewed by the Trustees on an annual basis.

Our material matters are derived from an assessment of 
the risks and opportunities in our operating context, and 
the needs and concerns of our members and other 
stakeholders. They reflect factors outside of and within 
our control. Careful management of the latter present 
opportunities for the Scheme to differentiate our service 
offering, protect our market position and enhance our 
reputation – all of which contribute to the Scheme’s 
long-term sustainability. As such, they inform our strategic 
themes and associated objectives, and incorporate our 
residual risks.

To ensure we can continue to fund the healthcare needs 
of our members, the financial sustainability of the Scheme 
and the affordability of contributions must be maintained 
in a context of challenging economic conditions, 
healthcare system reform and healthcare inflation, the 
drivers of which include demand- and supply-side factors 
and the prevalence of fraud, waste and abuse in the 
industry. COVID-19 has amplified these complexities, while 
also accelerating the adoption of solutions by 
stakeholders that will help us in managing them.

We deliver services to our members through our 
contractual relationship with Discovery Health. The 
relationship is governed by the Vested® outsourcing 
model, a critical factor in our ability to manage these 
interrelated material matters most effectively.
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	❚ Balancing our membership’s health, wellness 
and access needs with quality of appropriate 
care imperatives in relation to affordability in 
the face of medical inflation in excess of CPI 
and an economy strained by the pandemic.

	❚ Promoting a patient-centred, value-based 
healthcare model and reducing 
fragmentation and variability in the quality 
of care.

	❚ Empowering our members to participate 
actively in their healthcare, and enhancing 
digital health platforms and tools to enable 
members to access quality care in their 
homes.

	❚ Working to understand our individual 
members better and support their 
healthcare and service journeys through the 
use of effective communication, information 
and data, with due consideration of data 
security and privacy.

	❚ Increasing burden of disease and an aging 
membership base, resulting in high levels of 
utilisation and increasing costs, together 
with the longer-term impact of climate 
change on health.

MEMBER NEEDS

	❚ Opportunities to partner with 
government, business and the industry 
to rapidly drive healthcare imperatives 
and co-create a stronger healthcare 
system. 

	❚ Engaging with stakeholders including 
member advocacy groups, healthcare 
professionals and regulators to develop 
a mutual understanding and a 
collaborative approach to benefit 
design, in the context of healthcare 
inflation and the need for equitable 
access to advanced high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and social 
responsibility towards a better society.

	❚ The impact of inadequate governance 
and controls in the broader business 
and political environment.

	❚ Best practice governance and oversight 
to obtain innovation, efficiency, 
excellence and best possible value from 
our administrator and managed care 
provider.

ETHI C A L  BUS I NESS  A ND 
STA K EHOL D ER  PA RTNERSHI PS

	❚ The future of private healthcare in South Africa, 
including opportunities to innovate, compete 
effectively and support the journey towards 
universal healthcare. 

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy uncertainty 
affecting member protection, the delivery of quality 
healthcare, affordability and social solidarity.

	❚ Robust and fair fraud, waste and abuse 
management to protect member funds while 
treating stakeholders with respect and fairness.

MACRO AND MICRO POL ICY  AND 
REGULATORY  UNCERTA INTY

	❚ Slow economic growth, increasing cost of living and 
rising unemployment exacerbated by the reduction 
of available jobs in the formal sector, potentially 
increasing the burden on the public healthcare 
system.

	❚ Rising healthcare costs making medical scheme 
contributions less affordable, contributing to 
stagnant membership growth and shifts to more 
affordable benefit options, with an impact on 
Scheme stability and sustainability. 

DIFF ICULT  ECONOMIC  
CONDIT IONS
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Sustaining the Scheme’s financial, operational and relational wellbeing 
serves the current and future healthcare needs of our members – 
the ultimate outcome of our business model. 

Our business model

Our members are at the centre of a complex 
ecosystem of relationships that we oversee and 
mediate as a centre of excellence in medical schemes 
governance. Our business model, therefore, centres 
on delivering excellence and innovation in our core 
service to our members, which is governance best 
practice and thought leadership in our industry. 

This core service is how we create sustainable value 
for our members in line with our purpose. 
Furthermore, as a funder that connects our members 
into the private healthcare value chain, the quality of 
our relationships with all our stakeholders is essential 
to realising our vision in the interests of our 
members and a better healthcare system. 

The Scheme’s business model is therefore people-led, 
capability driven and relationship based. This is 
clearly reflected in the core capital inputs on which 
we depend, and the value outcomes we generate for 
our members and employer groups. In turn, these 
outcomes rely on our value propositions to our other 
key stakeholders. Our material matters reflect the 
risks to these capital inputs, and the opportunities we 
have to drive better outcomes for our members and 
all our stakeholders.

Responding effectively to our material matters is a 
function of meeting the objectives associated with 
our strategic themes and mitigating our residual 
risks. This enables us to deliver the value outcomes 
our stakeholders expect, over time, which promote 
the financial, operational and relational wellbeing of 
the Scheme for the benefit of our members. 

We apply global best practice 
in outsourcing administration 
and the provision of managed 
care, in the best interests of 
our members.
Fundamental to understanding the Scheme’s business 
model is that we use the Vested® outsourcing model to 
govern our working relationship with our accredited 
administrator and managed care provider. The model 
aligns the transactional and relational governance 
elements of this relationship with global outsourcing 
best practice.

Vested outsourcing applies an outcomes-driven 
approach characterised by:

	❚ A shared vision and aligned objectives, with both 
organisations committed to the success of each 
other;

	❚ Transparency, flexibility and trust;
	❚ Working together to find the best solutions; and 
	❚ Fair risk and reward for both parties, leading to 

fairness, sustainability and the best outcomes.

The principles of the model strengthen strategic 
alignment and encourage a value-driven relationship. 
In effect, this frees both organisations to do what they 
do best by contracting for results and not activities 
– which allows for innovation, improved service and 
continuous value creation.

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

PURPOSE AND VISION
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CORE CAPITAL INPUTS COVID-19 PANDEMIC

	❚ Impact on healthcare system and 
economic environment.

	❚ Adaptive investment strategy.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

	❚ Rapid and equitable access to effective 
vaccines.

	❚ Safe and effective health technologies 
and treatments.

	❚ Uninterrupted services through 
alternative care settings and digital care.

	❚ Active communication and support. 
	❚ Impact on healthcare system and 

economic environment.

MEMBER NEEDS

	❚ Access to affordable quality care in the face of 
healthcare inflation.

	❚ Patient-centred, value-based healthcare.
	❚ Participatory care and access to digital 

healthcare.
	❚ Supporting healthcare through private, 

secure data assets.
	❚ Managing high utilisation, increasing costs, 

burden of disease.

MACRO AND MICRO POLICY AND 
REGULATORY UNCERTAINTY

	❚ Future of private healthcare and supporting 
universal healthcare.

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy uncertainty.
	❚ Robust and fair combat of fraud, 

waste and abuse.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, unemployment.
	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS
	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare system. 
	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 

technologies and treatments.
	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and 

social responsibility.
	❚ Inadequate governance in the broader 

business and political environment.
	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 

efficiency, excellence and value.

MEMBER NEEDS

	❚ Access to affordable quality care in 
the face of healthcare inflation.

	❚ Managing high utilisation, increasing 
costs, burden of disease.

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND STAKEHOLDER 
PARTNERSHIPS

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 
efficiency, excellence and value.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, unemployment.
	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 

LINKS TO MATERIAL MATTERS, INDICATING KEY RISKS 
AND OPPORTUNITIES IN MANAGING OUR INPUTS

VALUE OUTCOMES FOR 
OUR MEMBERS AND 
EMPLOYER GROUPS

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

OUTPUT

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 
efficiency, excellence and value.

Financial capital
	❚ Member contributions of R74.5 billion (2019: R69.9 billion).
	❚ Investment income of R1 690 million (2019: R1 698 million), 

generated from members’ funds.

Human and intellectual capital
	❚ Skilled, knowledgeable, independent Board accountable for 

effective oversight and delivery of the Scheme’s mandate.
	❚ Mature governance framework, processes and structures.
	❚ Effective, efficient and agile business model with 

optimised outsourcing.
	❚ Strong and specialised management team with appropriate 

capability and capacity, enabled by continuous learning and 
improvement initiatives.

	❚ Values-based culture that drives the highest ethical standards in 
the conduct and decisions of the officers of the Scheme.

Social and relationship capital
	❚ Maintaining our social licence to operate in the best interests of 

our members.
	❚ Attracting and retaining a substantial membership base to 

support cross-subsidies, efficiency and sustainability.
	❚ Maintaining collaborative partnerships with all our stakeholders.
	❚ Balancing constructive relationships and oversight related to 

our Vested outsource partner and other suppliers.
	❚ Reputation for stability, accessibility and integrity.
	❚ Reputation as a responsible and involved corporate citizen.
	❚ Supporting healthcare reform towards an effective and 

equitable healthcare system.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Scheme Office is focused on:

	❚ Regulatory compliance: discharging our fiduciary duty and 
compliance obligations, supported by mature governance 
systems, ongoing monitoring and adaptation to a complex 
and dynamic healthcare environment, and managing risk and 
opportunity effectively.

	❚ Operational excellence: guided by social solidarity 
principles, we work to ensure Scheme sustainability for the 
benefit of all our members.

	❚ Culture of learning: to act as a catalyst for excellence in all 
our activities.

	❚ Responsible corporate citizenship: we support greater 
quality, efficiency and value in healthcare delivery, healthcare 
system reform, and transformation in South Africa.

Activities supporting excellence

OUR PURPOSE 
is to care for our members’ health and wellness by engaging 
the brightest minds and innovative solutions to provide access 
to affordable, equitable and quality, value-based healthcare 
that meets their needs now and sustainably into the future. 

OUR VISION 
is to be the best medical scheme in the country. In the interests of our members 
we will always pursue excellence, leveraging the Vested® outsourcing model to 
lead healthcare innovation and create value. We will work closely with our 
regulator, our administrator and managed care provider, and the industry to 
shape an inclusive and complete healthcare system in South Africa.

Key elements of our business model are discussed in: 

MONITOR AND REPORT 
FOR EXCELLENCE
	❚ Clinical governance compliance
	❚ Stakeholder requirements
	❚ Risk management
	❚ Legal risk and compliance
	❚ Financial reporting compliance
	❚ Investment asset performance
	❚ Regulatory compliance
	❚ Product development

EXECUTE FOR EXCELLENCE
	❚ Investment management
	❚ Operations management
	❚ Stakeholder engagement
	❚ Finance and procurement
	❚ Disputes, legal and contracting
	❚ Clinical risk management
	❚ Planning and reporting
	❚ Talent, culture and leadership 

management
	❚ Advocating for an improved 

healthcare system

SET STANDARDS FOR 
EXCELLENCE
	❚ Vested outsource partner 

oversight, and performance 
and customer management

	❚ Terms of reference, policies 
and procedures

EVALUATE AND REFINE 
FOR EXCELLENCE
	❚ Standards
	❚ Execution requirements

CONTINUOUS 
LEARNING AND 
IMPROVEMENT

CORE CAPITAL INPUTS

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

PURPOSE AND VISION

OUTPUT

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

Residual risks

Strategic themes

Performance

Outlook

Governance

VALUE OUTCOMES FOR 
OUR MEMBERS AND 
EMPLOYER GROUPS
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1	� According to the latest available DHMS statutory 
returns submission from Q4 2020.

2	 �Latest available market share: based on the Council 
for Medical Schemes Quarterly Report for the period 
ended 30 September 2020 (www.medicalschemes.co.
za/publications/#2009-2010-wpfd-annual-reports).

3	 �Source: CMS Annual Report 2019–2020; values are for 
2019 and are calculated as per 1 January 2019.

4	 �As a percentage of gross contribution income.

Financial capital
	❚ Largest open medical scheme, with 2 758 340 beneficiaries1 and 57.0%2  market share.
	❚ Favourable demographics, with an average age of 34.4 and a pensioner ratio of 9.6% (versus 35.5 and 11.4% 

respectively across all other open medical schemes3).
	❚ Financial strength, with R28.2 billion in member funds, a 36.93% solvency level, and an AAA credit rating 

confirming the Scheme’s ability to meet large, unexpected claim variations.
	❚ Scenario-based actuarial modelling of future COVID-19 related costs (including vaccines) and infection rates for 

DHMS members project that the Scheme’s solvency should remain well above the statutory reserve level of 25%.
	❚ DHMS gross administration expenditure is the seventh lowest4 out of 20 schemes in the open scheme market 

(2019: seventh lowest).

Other key stakeholder relationships 
relevant to our financial capital outcomes:

Other key stakeholder relationships relevant to 
our human and intellectual capital outcomes:

Human and intellectual capital
Board of Trustees
In 2020, the Institute of Directors in South Africa (IoDSA) evaluated our application of the King IV 
principles, recognised as best governance practice; rating us excellent at a score of 4.8 out of five.

Employees
The Scheme’s value proposition to employees includes protecting their dignity, safety and health, 
providing decent work, fair remuneration, training and development opportunities, and treating 
them equitably and ethically. The Scheme is a diverse workplace with a focus on transformation. 
Employees’ satisfaction with the Scheme’s employee value proposition is regularly assessed and 
informs our people management priorities.

CORE CAPITAL INPUTS

Financial capital

Human and 
intellectual capital

Social and 
relationship capital

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

OUTPUT

VALUE OUTCOMES FOR OUR MEMBERS AND EMPLOYER GROUPS

Providing members and their families with access to high-quality healthcare 
at every stage of their lives, at the lowest possible cost.
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1	 �In Circular 52 of 2020.
2	 �Note: All figures for the period October 2019 to September 2020, with the exception of the number of Scheme members with a chronic condition and number of DHMS 

members undergoing oncology treatment, where the figures are as at September 2020.
3	 �The largest hospital claim made during 2020 would require 184 years of contributions by the member to cover that particular claim, depending on which plan the 

member is on; put another way, it would take 605 years of contributions based on the average risk contribution of R1 814 per month.
4	 �Refers to the balance in the account at the time, and not to the amount allocated to the member at the start of the calendar year.

Social and relationship capital
Responsive, high-quality value-based healthcare
	❚ Better health outcomes achieved through value-based partnerships with 

providers, focused on efficiency and quality of care, the ongoing 
development of managed care programmes, innovation and integration.

	❚ DHMS led the market in responding to COVID-19 with the early release 
of benefits, extensive communication, and a proactive process for 
protecting members from infection, wherever possible.

	❚ Benefits available to members related to COVID-19 include access to 
screening and testing, virtual consultations, isolation facilities, novel 
therapeutics, home care including oxygen and pulse oximeters for 
high-risk members, and virtual support for non-COVID positive but 
at-risk members.

	❚ Provided support to employer groups for high-risk employees, as well as 
in their COVID-19 response and business continuity planning. 

	❚ Contribution relief options of some R372 million were made available to 
members and SME employer groups.

	❚ Due to the exceptional utilisation patterns caused by the pandemic, and 
to assist members to deal with economic pressures, the Scheme has 
been able to defer contribution increases for all members to 1 July 2021, 
capped to an average maximum of 5.9%. This means that the average 
increase for the year is 2.95%, lower than the guidance given by the CMS 
of 3.9%1.

VALUE OUTCOMES FOR OUR MEMBERS AND EMPLOYER GROUPS  continued

Value of benefits2 
	❚ Members receive substantial value in terms of their healthcare benefits when 

they need to claim3.  
	❚ For an average risk contribution of R1 814 per month, R58.0 billion paid in claims 

including an average of:
– R5 155 per beneficiary with a chronic condition (715 955 beneficiaries)
– R58 285 per admission (506 553 hospital admissions)
– �R101 894 per beneficiary undergoing oncology treatment (39 229 beneficiaries).

	❚ 13.2% of beneficiaries claimed more than their contributions.

Plan choice
	❚ Our full spectrum of 23 plan options offers our members sufficient choice to 

meet their medical and financial needs.
	❚ 96.44% of members did not change their plan for 2021 (2020: 94.27%), reflecting 

member satisfaction, stability in benefit design and appropriate pricing.

Affordability
	❚ With the support of the CMS, DHMS was able to allow members with a positive 

medical savings account balance4 to cover contributions for up to three months 
in 2020. 

	❚ SME employer groups could defer up to two months of employee contributions, 
to assist with cash flow. These contributions need to be repaid to the Scheme 
over a 12-month period after the deferment, with no interest being charged.  

	❚ Average contributions for our members in 2021 are 17.3% lower than the next 
eight largest open medical schemes.

OUTPUT

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
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1	 �Value added of greater than one means that Scheme members receive more value than has been paid on their behalf. In 2019, for every R1.00 spent by DHMS on administration and managed care fees, members of DHMS 
received R2.03 (2018: R2.12) in value from the activities of Discovery Health. As the assessment uses industry information, results are only available for the preceding year. A pragmatic and replicable methodology for measuring 
the value added by Discovery Health has been applied since 2014, and the Trustees assess the results annually. The Scheme engaged Deloitte Actuarial Consultants to perform an actuarial peer review on the reasonability of the 
data, methodology and results. Deloitte concluded that the methodology is appropriate, that the change in value added from 2018 to 2019 is reasonable, and that they did not encounter any significant anomalies in the data 
and calculations reviewed.

2	 �For members of all schemes administered by Discovery Health.
3	 �HealthID, the only comprehensive funder electronic health record in South Africa, allows members to consent to the sharing of health records with their doctors, improving quality of care and reducing administration for doctors.

Social and relationship capital continued
Value for money
	❚ The Trustees conduct a formal evaluation of the value for money 

Discovery Health provides to the Scheme every year. The results are 
expressed as the value added by Discovery Health for each rand paid 
to it1.

2019: 
R2.03

2018: 
R2.12

2017: 
R2.02

2016: 
R2.00

2015: 
R1.85

2014: 
R1.73

Digital capabilities and innovation2 
	❚ The member app gives our members easy access to their health plan 

information, as well as other convenient functionality to assist them in 
managing their healthcare needs.

	❚ An average of 2 389 doctors regularly used HealthID in treating our 
members during 2020, and 2.62 million members have given their 
doctors consent to access their records on HealthID3.

	❚ Facilitated the shift to digital care, with 88 730 virtual consultations 
conducted during 2020.  

	❚ Facilitated the shift to alternative care settings including through 
Connected Care, an ecosystem of benefits, services and digital 
capabilities to help members manage their health and wellness at home.

VALUE OUTCOMES FOR OUR MEMBERS AND EMPLOYER GROUPS  continued

Member satisfaction
	❚ Member perception score of 8.74 out of 10 (2019: 8.77).
	❚ Ask Afrika Top Icon Brands 2020/2021

– �Discovery Health Medical Scheme: first place in the Medical Aid category
– �Discovery Health: first place for Private Health Insurance.

	❚ Kantar BrandZ Most Valuable South African Brands 2020
– �Discovery Health Medical Scheme: ranked first in the Medical Aid category.

	❚ The Sunday Times Top Brands retrospective showed DHMS ranking in the Top 3 
in the category of Medical Aids – Business Category, over the last 10 years.

Society
Private healthcare funding inherently benefits society by giving individuals access to 
quality healthcare and protecting them, organisations and the economy from the 
adverse effects of ill health. It also reduces the burden on the public healthcare 
industry. The Scheme seeks to amplify these benefits by working towards an 
improved healthcare system.

OUTPUT

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Other key stakeholder relationships relevant to 
our social and relationship capital outcomes:
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Our purpose and our vision guide the 
development of the Scheme’s strategy.

Our purpose and our vision guide the 
development of the Scheme’s strategy. 
Within this framework of aspirations 
and objectives, the Scheme’s strategy 
remains adaptive and is tailored to the 
demands of our operating context and 
the evolving needs of our members and 
other stakeholders, from which we 
derive our material matters. Each year, 
the Trustees and Scheme Office review 
and agree the material matters, which 
inform the Scheme’s strategic objectives 
for the coming year.

In line with the nature of our business 
model, we continually review internal 
and external factors to identify, mitigate 
and manage our residual risks and seek 
opportunities to optimise value 
outcomes for our members while 
ensuring the long-term sustainability of 
the Scheme. Our strategic themes 
respond to our material matters and 
delivering on the related objectives 
mitigate our residual risks. 

Two formal strategy planning sessions are held 
annually: the first with Scheme Office leadership, 
including external advisory input where relevant; 
and the second with the Scheme Office and the 
Trustees, with external advisory input. The latter 
includes a review of Discovery Health’s strategy to 
support the Scheme’s objectives. 

High-level objectives are broken down into work 
streams, with key performance indicators set to 
measure progress and assess associated 
outcomes. Work streams are not necessarily tied 
to a specific benefit year and may be carried over 
several years or longer; the lifespan of these work 
streams depends on the complexity and 
timeframes of their objectives.

Work streams and related objectives are adjusted 
in response to changing circumstances, with 
related policies and planning being reviewed and 
approved by the Trustees as required. Oversight 
of the work streams is delegated to the relevant 
Board Committees, according to their terms of 
reference. The Scheme Office interfaces with 
these Committees and the Board, and reports 
regularly on operational oversight and monitoring 
as well as the mitigation of emerging risks.

The Scheme’s objectives and work streams are 
closely tied to the performance management 
methodology we use, with structures designed to 
reward excellence and foster a culture of 
continuous improvement, learning and 
development for our employees. 

“

Our holistic view of value for members considers their 
health and wellness, quality of care and appropriateness 
of healthcare services, in balance with the overall cost 
efficiency and financial sustainability of the Scheme.

Our strategic 
themes
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Performance 
against our 

strategic 
themes in 2020

Continuing healthcare inflation well above CPI requires the development of funding 
policies to mitigate and manage costs and maintain affordability for our members. The 
Scheme’s strategic priority of driving value-based care, with the member at the centre of 
care, informs all strategies to expand existing and implement new care programmes, 
utilising innovative alternative reimbursement models wherever possible. 

For 2021, the implementation of a designated service provider network for spinal care and 
a centre of excellence for colorectal cancer surgery are planned. We will also continue to 
focus on the management of diabetes, mental health and oncology, among others. We are 
introducing a programme for care at home, as a substitute for acute hospital care in 
appropriate circumstances. This development was spurred by our members’ need for care 
outside of traditional settings during COVID-19.

2020 required a deep focus on COVID-19 and the Scheme’s response to ensure that 
members had rapid access to benefits for treatment; in 2021, this will continue with the 
addition of preventative measures, including vaccines. We will closely monitor healthcare 
needs given that members deferred screening and treatment during the pandemic, with 
the risk of more severe disease developing as a result. 

01  CAR ING  FOR OUR ME MBE RS
MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Access to affordable quality care in 
the face of healthcare inflation.

	❚ Patient-centred, value-based 
healthcare.

	❚ Participatory care and access to 
digital healthcare.

	❚ Supporting healthcare through 
private, secure data assets.

	❚ Managing high utilisation, 
increasing costs, burden of disease.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, 
unemployment.

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 

ETHICAL BUSINESS 
AND STAKEHOLDER 
PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

DHMS strongly supports the monitoring and 
measurement of outcomes to improve 
healthcare for members, as well as to 
increase competition, support better choices 
and enable value-based contracting as per 
the Health Market Inquiry’s recommendation.

In this regard, we are working progressively 
with healthcare providers to collect health 
outcomes data through our various care 
programmes as well as via Health ID. We are 

also engaging with members to understand 
their self-reported healthcare service 
experiences and outcomes. We participate in 
the Health Quality Assessment (HQA) 
initiative1, currently using process measures 
of care as a proxy for outcomes, and support 
its efforts to engage healthcare providers and 
other stakeholders to collect and submit 
standardised clinical data in order to build a 
robust database, and improve measures 
over time.

Measuring value through health outcomes 

1	 �HQA (https://www.hqa.co.za/about-us) performs an annual assessment of clinical quality in healthcare offered by medical 
schemes through the use of healthcare quality indicators.
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1	 �Refers to the balance in the account at the time, and not to the amount allocated to the member at the start of the calendar year.
2	 �In Circular 52 of 2020.

Management of the ongoing impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic underpins much of the 
work planned for the Scheme this year. The 
Scheme will continue to be agile in 
incorporating evidence-based developments 
in treatment and prevention into member 
benefits, and proactive in supporting 
members according to their risk and needs. 

02  MANAGING TH E  IM PL ICA T IONS  OF  COV ID-19 

Member and employer 
financial support 
With the support of the CMS, DHMS was able 
to allow members with a positive medical 
savings account balance1 to cover 
contributions for up to three months. SME 
employer groups were able to defer up to 
two months of contributions for their 
employees, to assist with cash flow. These 
contributions need to be repaid to the 
Scheme over a 12-month period after the 
deferment, with no interest being charged.  

Minimising contribution increases
Due to the exceptional utilisation patterns 
caused by the pandemic, and to assist 
members and employees in these times of 
economic pressures, the Scheme has been 
able to implement a 0% increase for all 
members from 1 January 2021.  An increase 
will need to be implemented from 1 July 
2021 but this will be kept to an average 
maximum of 5.9%.  This means that the 
average increase for the year is 2.95%, lower 
than the guidance given by the CMS of 3.9%2.

Regulatory engagement on vaccines
Both DHMS and Discovery Health have been 
closely involved in discussions regarding the 
procurement and distribution of vaccines, 

mostly through the HFA and its 
representation in Business for South Africa 
(B4SA). As a result, the Trustees have been 
kept well informed of the various scenarios 
and have been satisfied that the Scheme’s 
budget provisions are adequate.

Ensuring Scheme solvency
To support the Scheme’s budgeting and 
forecasting, Discovery Health projected 
future COVID-19 related costs and the 
progression of the COVID-19 pandemic 
using different assumptions for the rate of 
infection for DHMS members. Three 
scenarios were used: low, where the virus 
reproduces relatively slowly in the 
population; high, where it reproduces 
relatively quickly and peaks at very high 
daily infections; and medium, which was in 
between. These scenarios were used to 
test the impact on the Scheme’s financial 
position. Under all three scenarios, the 
Scheme’s solvency was projected to 
remain well above the statutory reserve 
level of 25%. Looking forward, other 
scenarios were added to determine the 
impact of vaccine costs, and the Scheme’s 
solvency was also forecast to remain 
above 25% in these scenarios.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Rapid and equitable access to effective 
vaccines.

	❚ Safe and effective health technologies and 
treatments.

	❚ Uninterrupted services through alternative 
care settings and digital care.

	❚ Active communication and support. 
	❚ Impact on healthcare system and 

economic environment.

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare system. 
	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 

technologies and treatments.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, 
unemployment.

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 

Core to this work is close engagement with 
industry representative bodies, the CMS and 
the National Department of Health, as well as 
other stakeholder groups.  

The Scheme will also continue to closely 
monitor the health, financial, economic and 
social impacts of COVID-19 and will adjust its 
strategies accordingly.
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03  SUSTA INA B IL ITY  A ND M EM BE RSHIP  G ROWTH
The Scheme’s growth, demographics, financial 
strength, ability to pay claims, and sustainability 
over the long term are of critical importance to 
our members. The Scheme closely monitors and 
measures its performance on these and other 
metrics to ensure that critical performance 
levels are met, and actively searches for 
opportunities to support membership growth in 
a stagnant market. 

These opportunities may include amalgamations 
with other schemes, engaging with regulators on 
policy developments that may affect 
membership, and ensuring that our plans and 
benefits appeal to a full range of potential 
members. This is important to counter the 
impact of anti-selection on the Scheme by young 
and healthy people who may opt out of medical 
scheme coverage.

Enhanced focus in 2021 will be given to our 
investment strategy, especially in light of the 
market dynamics coming out of COVID-19, 
together with consideration of responsible 
investing strategies in alignment with 
responsible corporate citizenship. 

Considering the Scheme’s continuity and 
sustainability, and the far-reaching impact of 
COVID-19, we will look to migrate a by-necessity 
work from home environment to a hybrid 
workplace, in balance with the need to preserve 
our culture, performance management and 
development of our team.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Adaptive investment strategy.

MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Access to affordable quality care in the face of 
healthcare inflation.

	❚ Patient-centred, value-based healthcare.
	❚ Managing high utilisation, increasing costs, 

burden of disease.

MACRO AND MICRO POLICY AND 
REGULATORY UNCERTAINTY

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy uncertainty.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 
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We anticipate significant development of the policy and 
regulatory environment affecting medical schemes and their 
members. The Scheme continues to monitor these and conducts 
extensive and detailed work in responding to them, to promote 
the best outcomes for members. We believe that strong 
relationships between regulatory authorities and industry 
stakeholders is key to these developments, to ensure beneficial 
enhancements for all. 

Engagement with the CMS and other relevant regulators and 
stakeholders in this respect pertain to the second draft of the 
NHI Bill; Low-Cost Benefit Options (LCBOs) and a framework to 
govern these in future; the development of a Primary Healthcare 
package; and the review of Prescribed Minimum Benefits, among 
others. 

The interim report of the Section 59 Investigation Panel found no 
evidence of intentional, explicit racial bias in any of the processes 
or methodologies carried out on our behalf by Discovery Health, 
and confirmed that our fraud, waste and abuse (FWA) processes 
are necessary and justifiable given the significant risk and 
implications of losses to medical scheme members. 

The Scheme, together with Discovery Health, is committed to 
working collaboratively with the CMS and the Health Professions 
Council of South Africa, industry representative bodies, the 
medical profession and other relevant stakeholders to 
implement the Panel’s recommendations regarding clear 
standards of procedural fairness, as part of a broader sector-
wide initiative to enhance the tools and processes to efficiently 
and fairly manage Fraud, Waste and Billing Abuse.  In this regard, 
the Scheme is working, through the HFA, on developing an 
industry framework and code of good practice for FWA activities.

04  �REGU LA TO RY  A ND PO L ICY 
DEVELO PM ENTS 

The Trustees closely monitor the work of the Scheme 
Office, and Discovery Health, to fulfil their accountability 
to our members. The Scheme’s robust governance 
structures and processes are compliant with the Act, take 
guidance from the Companies Act where appropriate, and 
incorporate King IV principles, recognised as global best 
practice in governance. The Scheme proactively makes 
submissions and provides responses to various regulatory 
bodies on issues relating to governance and compliance. 
The outcomes of our approach to governance are 
reported in our business model, and in the Performance 
and Governance and Leadership chapters of this Report.

For 2021, areas of focus for governance are the Special 
General Meeting (SGM) and joint 2020/2021 AGMs and 
trustee elections. The pandemic necessitated a 
postponement of the 2020 AGM and trustee elections, 
and the continuing restrictions on gatherings mean that in 
2021, the Scheme will need to explore technology 
capabilities and developments to support effective 
meetings. Measures to protect privacy and security are 
in place.

05  �GOVERNANCE  EXCELLENCE 

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare system. 
	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and social 

responsibility.
	❚ Inadequate governance in the broader business 

and political environment.
	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, efficiency, 

excellence and value.

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, efficiency, 
excellence and value.

MACRO AND MICRO POLICY AND 
REGULATORY UNCERTAINTY

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Future of private healthcare and supporting 
universal healthcare.

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy uncertainty.
	❚ Robust and fair combat of fraud, waste and abuse.
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DHMS is closely attuned to the highly regulated and ever-changing landscape of the local and 
international healthcare industries, to ensure effective identification and mitigation of risks. 
This also enables us to identify opportunities to optimise value outcomes for our members.

Our residual risks

The Scheme continually scans the internal and 
external environment to assess risks and 
opportunities associated with our strategic themes, 
and the core capitals used and affected by the 
Scheme in relation to our business model. The 
Scheme has in place a Board-approved enterprise risk 
management framework, risk appetite framework 
and statement by which risks are assessed. Risks are 
rated according to impact and likelihood on a 
five-point scale that ranges from low to catastrophic. 
The process identifies the risks capable of negatively 
affecting organisational objectives, as well as 
opportunities made available by effectively managing 
these risks in ensuring the financial, operational and 
relational wellbeing of the Scheme.

As noted, the assessment specifically covers the 
Scheme’s dependence on the resources and 
relationships represented by the various forms of 
capital, not only those that pertain directly to our core 
service to our members and business activities, but 
also more broadly. This ensures that emerging risks, 
for instance the impact on disease vectors of climate 
change, are included in the scope of assessment.

Risk responses and mitigation plans are developed 
and monitored by Scheme management, who 
conduct regular reviews and report to the Risk 
Committee, to other relevant Board Committees 
where appropriate, and to the Board. 

DHMS currently has no catastrophic risks; a 
description of the Scheme’s high and medium-high 
residual risks and their mitigation strategies follows.

COVID-19

R I SK  D ESC R I PT I ON
The risk that the COVID-19 pandemic extends 
well into 2021 and potentially beyond, impacting 
negatively on the overall national healthcare 
system, including private healthcare.

M I T I GA T I NG A C T I ONS
	❚ The Scheme continually monitors COVID-related 

utilisation and healthcare trends to enable 
rapid and proactive responses.

	❚ Through industry bodies and other forums, 
close engagement is held with key stakeholders 
to agree and implement response and 
mitigation plans.  This includes discussions 
regarding vaccine funding, procurement, 
distribution and administration.

	❚ Initiatives and benefits have been introduced to 
move care, where appropriate, from an 
in-hospital to a home-based setting which 
creates additional hospital capacity, while 
ensuring that our members receive care even in 
times of constrained hospital capacity.

	❚ For 2021, the Trustees are carefully considering 
the Scheme’s budget and potential expenditure 
into the next two to three years, given the 
expected return of utilisation to prior levels and 
the possibility of more severe cases, as well as 
ongoing COVID-19 expenses.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Rapid and equitable access to 
effective vaccines.

	❚ Safe and effective health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Uninterrupted services through 
alternative care settings and 
digital care.

	❚ Active communication and support. 
	❚ Impact on healthcare system and 

economic environment.
	❚ Adaptive investment strategy.

MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Supporting healthcare through 
private, secure data assets.

	❚ Managing high utilisation, increasing 
costs, burden of disease.

ETHICAL BUSINESS 
AND STAKEHOLDER 
PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare 
system. 

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, 
unemployment.

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 
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AFFORD ABIL ITY  OF  C ONTR IBUT ION S AN D MEDICAL  IN FLAT ION

R ISK  DESCR IPT ION
The risk that contributions to the Scheme become unaffordable for members due to the 
impact of demand-side factors (such as age, gender, chronic status, epidemics and 
anti-selective behaviour) and/or supply-side factors (such as technology and provider-
driven increases in utilisation), as well as FWA, which drive above-inflation increases in 
healthcare costs. This risk is exacerbated by financial and economic pressures as well as a 
worsening chronic disease profile in the population. Regulatory changes such as the 
introduction of LCBOs may exacerbate anti-selective behaviour; however, this also 
provides an opportunity for the Scheme to extend access to a previously uncovered 
section of the population.

MIT IGA T ING ACT IONS
	❚ Each year, the Trustees critically assess 

the benefit plans offered by the Scheme 
to ensure that the full spectrum of 
member needs are met, within the 
bounds of affordability and sustainability. 

	❚ Consideration is given to interventions 
that may lower healthcare costs while 
ensuring members have access to quality 
healthcare through value-based 
contracting, as well as the development 
of managed care programmes focused 
on non-communicable diseases and 
conditions, to support co-ordinated care 
and better-quality outcomes. 

	❚ The Trustees satisfy themselves that 
value for money is obtained from 
Discovery Health, along with other 
providers and suppliers, and that the 
Scheme’s budget and expenditure is 
closely monitored and managed.

	❚ Risk management interventions are 
implemented by Discovery Health on 
behalf of DHMS. These include close 
management of hospital admissions, 
sophisticated fraud prevention and 
recovery services, alternative 
reimbursement mechanisms and 
clinical funding policy design and 
implementation.

	❚ In keeping with the social solidarity 
principles on which the Scheme operates, 
active marketing and distribution 
strategies are developed and 
implemented to attract and retain 
members who enable effective cross-
subsidisation. 

	❚ Engagement with regulators to address 
concerns and propose appropriate 
guardrails in regulatory amendments, 
help to protect the sustainability of the 
Scheme.

MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Access to affordable quality care in the 
face of healthcare inflation.

	❚ Patient-centred, value-based healthcare.
	❚ Participatory care and access to digital 

healthcare.
	❚ Managing high utilisation, increasing 

costs, burden of disease.

ETHICAL BUSINESS 
AND STAKEHOLDER 
PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare 
system. 

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and social 
responsibility.

	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 
efficiency, excellence and value.

MACRO AND MICRO 
POLICY AND REGULATORY 
UNCERTAINTY

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Future of private healthcare and 
supporting universal healthcare.

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy 
uncertainty.

	❚ Robust and fair combat of fraud, waste 
and abuse.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, 
unemployment.

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 
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POLICY ,  REGU L ATORY AND COMPLIAN CE

R ISK  DESCR IPT ION
Changes in the regulatory environment may have an adverse impact on the operations, strategy 
and sustainability of the Scheme. This includes the challenge of navigating a potentially 
contradictory or incomplete regulatory environment. The reforms underway could influence 
changes to the structure and operating requirements of the industry. The risk includes being 
assessed as not or only partially compliant with laws, regulations, rules and self-regulated Scheme 
standards and codes of conduct, including those related to our values and ethics. This may 
impact the Scheme’s ability to operate effectively and efficiently, and may damage our reputation.

MIT IGA T ING ACT IONS
	❚ Regular, detailed and proactive engagement 

with relevant regulators at all stages of the 
regulatory change process, enabling a 
two-way flow of information and views, and 
greater certainty on changes the Scheme 
must make. This enables the Scheme to 
develop and implement compliance 
strategies that are both comprehensive and 
pre-emptive in anticipation of regulatory 
changes.

	❚ Proposed amendments are subject to close 
assessment, including detailed research and 
analysis regarding potential impacts on the 
Scheme, our members and other key 
stakeholders, the healthcare industry, and 
the regulatory framework as a whole in 
order to provide comprehensive 
submissions. Where appropriate, 
collaborative submissions are made with 
industry partners and/or representatives.

	❚ The Scheme’s views and positions are 
developed considering input from 
independent advisers and Discovery Health’s 
extensive policy and regulatory capabilities. 

	❚ Participation at public and industry forums, 
both individually and through industry 
associations, building of consensus with 
stakeholders on effective and enabling 
regulatory and legislative frameworks, 
detailed review of publications requiring 
commentary and the submission of 
considered and well-supported responses to 
support positive change for the industry.

	❚ Operating in a highly regulated environment 
requires extensive controls to ensure 
ongoing compliance with complex legislated 
obligations. The Scheme is acutely focused 
on ensuring compliance in all areas and has 
appropriate operational, oversight and 
assurance processes in place. 

	❚ Regulatory change is monitored closely, 
and plans are made well ahead of 
implementation dates to ensure that 
requirements are incorporated ahead 
of time.  

	❚ Existing processes are reviewed to ensure 
continued compliance and responsiveness 
to external changes, with independent 
assessments commissioned as necessary. 

ETHICAL BUSINESS 
AND STAKEHOLDER 
PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare 
system. 

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and social 
responsibility.

	❚ Inadequate governance in the broader 
business and political environment.

	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 
efficiency, excellence and value.

MACRO AND MICRO 
POLICY AND REGULATORY 
UNCERTAINTY

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Future of private healthcare and 
supporting universal healthcare.

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy 
uncertainty.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 
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TECHNOL OGY A ND INFORMAT ION

R ISK  DESCR IPT ION
In a business world heavily reliant 
on information technology for 
storage, communication, business 
processes and management, the 
Scheme embraces technology and 
the beneficial opportunities it 
presents for members. This includes 
facilitating access to healthcare and 
information and creating smoother 
healthcare journeys. Technology, 
however, brings with it risks of 
system outages, data breaches, 
leakage or loss, financial loss and 
business disruption, all of which can 
impact the integrity and availability 
of information assets and the 
security of personal information.

MIT IGA T IN G ACT IONS
	❚ Robust information security measures 

enable us to ensure the protection of 
Scheme information, particularly the 
personal information of our 
members. 

	❚ Cyber and information risk, including 
global trends of attacks by malicious 
third parties, is closely monitored by 
the IT Governance Forum, consisting 
of representatives from the Scheme 
and Discovery Health.

	❚ New processes, systems and controls 
offering improved risk mitigation are 
continually assessed and 
implemented where appropriate.

R I SK  D ESC R I PT I ON
The risk of ineffective stakeholder engagement 
and management, resulting in harm to the 
Scheme’s ability to perform optimally, and its 
reputation in the eyes of members and other 
stakeholders. This may ultimately impact the 
Scheme’s sustainability. Equally, effective 
stakeholder engagement enables the 
development of improved understanding, 
information, achieving consensus where 
necessary and the development of a stronger 
and more robust private healthcare industry.

M I T I GA T I NG A C T I ONS
	❚ The Scheme engages proactively and frequently 

with all stakeholder groups to understand their 
needs, engender better understanding of the 
Scheme and promote alignment with its 
objectives. 

	❚ The Trustees embrace the Treating Customers 
Fairly (TCF) principles and framework, and receive 
regular reports on the performance of Discovery 
Health on key TCF indicators, as well as other 
stakeholder engagements conducted on behalf of 
the Scheme.

	❚ The Scheme conducts ongoing environmental 
scanning to identify possible risks related to our 
key stakeholders, which may affect business 
continuity, and develops or amends specific 
engagement strategies to deal effectively 
with these.

	❚ The Scheme proactively shares evidence-based 
information with stakeholders to support their 
healthcare needs, access to healthcare, 
awareness of quality outcomes, regulatory 
changes, and the non-profit status of the Scheme.

ST AKEHOLDER  MANAGE ME NT

COVID-19 PANDEMIC

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Safe and effective health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Uninterrupted services through 
alternative care settings and 
digital care.

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 
technologies and treatments.

	❚ Best practice governance for 
innovation, efficiency, excellence 
and value.

MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Patient-centred, value-based healthcare.

ETHICAL BUSINESS AND 
STAKEHOLDER PARTNERSHIPS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Co-creating a stronger healthcare system. 
	❚ Equitable access to high-cost health 

technologies and treatments.
	❚ Ethical leadership, fairness and social 

responsibility.
	❚ Inadequate governance in the broader 

business and political environment.
	❚ Best practice governance for innovation, 

efficiency, excellence and value.

MACRO AND MICRO 
POLICY AND REGULATORY 
UNCERTAINTY

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Future of private healthcare and supporting 
universal healthcare.

	❚ Regulatory complexity and policy uncertainty.

DIFFICULT ECONOMIC 
CONDITIONS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Economic growth, cost of living, 
unemployment.

	❚ Scheme stability and sustainability. 

MEMBER NEEDS

MATTERIAL MATTER

	❚ Participatory care and access to 
digital healthcare.

	❚ Supporting healthcare through 
private, secure data assets.
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05 CREATING 
STAKEHOLDER 
VALUE

Policies set the standard of behaviour expected of 
our Board of Trustees (the Board or the Trustees) 
and employees, in areas such as legal compliance, 
protecting personal information, human rights, 
employee rights and sound business practices. These 
policies are available to all Trustees and employees, 
and are referenced in employment contracts. 

Regular assessments are conducted into the 
effectiveness of the Scheme’s governing body; these 
include considering whether the Scheme’s ethics are 
upheld and identifying any areas of concern. The 
Scheme Office has an ongoing focus on ethics, 
supported by an experienced executive whose 
portfolio includes legal and ethics matters and 
who is also a certified ethics officer1. 

Regular assessments of the effectiveness of the Scheme’s 
governing body include whether the Scheme’s ethics are upheld.“

Our approach to stakeholder management is strongly rooted in our 
values-driven culture and our commitment to being an engaged and 
thoughtful corporate citizen that cares deeply for the wellbeing of 
our members, our industry and our society.

We operate according to the highest ethical standards, with relevant policies 
that are binding on the Trustees and employees of the Scheme. 

Our ethics, values and culture

The Scheme and all of its stakeholders have access 
to an independently operated facility for reporting 
fraud or unethical behaviour. Employees also have 
access to internal ethics and fraud reporting 
facilities. Anonymous reporting is supported on 
both platforms.

In 2020, an ethics risk and opportunity assessment 
of the Scheme’s procurement function was carried 
out, with satisfactory results. In 2021, further 
assessments will be carried out and any culture, 
policy and process gaps identified will be 
addressed appropriately.

1	 �As per the Ethics Officer Certification Programme run by 
the Ethics Institute. 
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MORAL DUTIES AND 
ETHICAL VALUES

OUR VALUES GUIDE 
OUR BEHAVIOURS 
AND INTERACTIONS

The Scheme’s standards of behaviour are 
aligned with the outcome of ethical culture 
as defined in the King IV Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 
(King IV), and the expectations of the 
Council for Medical Schemes (CMS).

INTEGRITY
We will do the right thing. We will take personal 
accountability for our actions and, in our actions and 
decisions, hold true to our promise that we care.

MUTUAL RESPECT
We will be courteous and treat others as we would 
want to be treated ourselves. We will listen to 
what people say, and ask for and value other 
people’s inputs.

ADAPTABILITY AND AGILITY
We will be sensitive to the external environment and 
to the needs of others, while remaining responsive to 
changing needs and adapting to the pace of change.

TEAMWORK, SUPPORT AND CARE
We will support and care for ourselves and others. 
When working together, we will share the load and 
work interdependently.

PURSUIT OF EXCELLENCE
We will focus on continuous improvement, 
development and quality with learning core to 
how we work.

RESILIENCE
We will remain resilient and persevere, with 
the ability to bounce back when required.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
We will act responsibly and in the best interest of  
our members and society.

Ethical values for 
governance, management 

and operations 
Discipline, transparency, 

independence, accountability, 
fairness and responsibility.

Moral duties
Conscience, stakeholder 

engagement and 
inclusivity, competence, 

commitment and 
courage.

THESE ARE 
ARTICULATED IN 

OUR GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK:
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Workplace
	❚ Employment equity
	❚ Decent work
	❚ Employee dignity, safety and health
	❚ Employee relations
	❚ Development of employees
	❚ Fair remuneration
	❚ Organisational ethics

Economy
	❚ Economic transformation
	❚ Fraud and corruption 
detection and response

	❚ Broad-based black 
economic empowerment

	❚ Responsible and transparent 
tax practices

Natural environment
	❚ Environmental impact
	❚ Pollution
	❚ Waste disposal
	❚ Biodiversity

Social environment
	❚ Community development
	❚ Donations and sponsorships
	❚ Public health and safety
	❚ Advertising
	❚ Consumer protection
	❚ Consumer relations
	❚ Protection of human rights

1	 �Crane, Matten & Spence (2008). Corporate social responsibility: Readings and cases in global context. London: Routledge.
2	 �Groenewald & Dondé (2017). Ethics and compliance handbook. Pretoria: The Ethics Institute.  
3	 �Areas specified in King IV are shown in italics.

RESPONSIBLE 
CORPORATE 
CITIZENSHIP 

FRAMEWORK 3

While the Scheme’s non-profit status and governing 
regulations constrain our investment in specific 
social responsibility activities, we work with relevant 
stakeholders to improve the effectiveness of the 
healthcare system in South Africa.

Responsible Corporate 
Citizenship 

In line with the requirements 
of King IV, the Stakeholder 
Relations and Ethics 
Committee is mandated to 
oversee the Scheme’s social 
responsibility. To help it fulfil its 
mandate, the Committee 
employs a corporate 
citizenship framework adapted 
from The Ethics Institute, which 
incorporates King IV 
requirements1,2,3. The 
Committee receives regular 
reports, recommendations and 
presentations on areas 
covered by the framework, 
enabling it to monitor progress 
and provide input on the 
Scheme’s social responsibility 
activities.

The Scheme’s support of Discovery 
Health’s shared value model – which 
engages stakeholders in working together 
towards better healthcare access, quality 
and affordability, and beneficial regulatory 
reform – extends the Scheme’s influence 
to drive positive change in our industry. 
This includes the Scheme’s contribution to 
broader environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) imperatives. In a shared 
value system, all stakeholders benefit 
when the system improves.

The Scheme considers all items in the 
framework to be important but, given the 
nature of the Scheme’s business, we 
prioritise those that are most material to 
realising the Scheme’s purpose, vision and 
strategic objectives. We also believe that a 
strategic approach to responsible 
corporate citizenship must be long-term, 
as it requires extensive stakeholder 
engagement and alignment of all our 
relationships with the intent of the 
Scheme - which can only be achieved 
over time.
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As a registered Financial Service Provider in terms of the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act 37 of 
2002 (FAIS), our administrator, Discovery Health has implemented a framework to support the TCF outcomes.

The desired outcomes of TCF: 

	❚ Customers must feel confident that they are 
dealing with an institution where TCF is at the 
core of their culture.

	❚ Products and services in the retail market 
which are sold and marketed, are designed 
according to the needs of the customers 
identified and targeted accordingly.

	❚ Customers are provided with clear information 
and kept appropriately informed before, 
during and after point of sale.

	❚ Advice is suitable and according to the 
customer’s circumstances.

	❚ Service is of an acceptable standard and 
products perform as customers have been 
led to expect. 

	❚ Customers do not face unreasonable post-sale 
barriers when they want to change a product, 
switch providers, submit a claim or make 
a complaint.

To assess its TCF performance, 
Discovery Health monitors: 

	❚ Plan movements;
	❚ Opportunities for process improvement;
	❚ Communication, and the completion of 

interactions, with members;
	❚ The total number and content of 

complaints received; and
	❚ The perception scores of members, financial 

advisers, healthcare providers and 
employer groups.

The Stakeholder Relations and Ethics Committee 
reviews and considers regular reports on Discovery 
Health’s performance relative to the objectives of TCF.

The Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) outcomes are founded on 
sound business principles and best governance practice. The 
Scheme voluntarily embraces these outcomes, recognising their 
relevance to the quality of service we provide to our members.

Treating Customers  
Fairly 
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To achieve the best possible outcomes for our members, the Scheme 
strives to balance the needs and expectations of all our stakeholders 
in the South African healthcare system.

Engaging with our  
stakeholders 

As the Scheme’s administrator and managed 
care provider, Discovery Health conducts 
certain stakeholder engagement work on 
behalf of the Scheme, in accordance with the 
agreements governing our relationship. 
Discovery Health reports to the Scheme on 
all such interactions and, where necessary, 
items are escalated to the Scheme Office for 
its direct involvement. The assessment 
process described alongside allows the 
Committee and the Scheme Office to fulfil its 
oversight and governance accountabilities in 
this regard, and Scheme Office 
representatives attend Discovery Health 
forums where matters affecting stakeholders 
are discussed. The Committee receives 
regular reports from Discovery Health on 
stakeholder engagement and perceptions, 
supplemented by presentations and 
discussions on matters of concern to the 
Scheme.

Discovery Health has extensive stakeholder 
engagement capacity and experience. 
Specialised teams respond either to requests 
and queries received, or proactively 
according to the Scheme’s initiatives and 
industry activity. Material items are 
presented to executive-level forums on a 
weekly basis, or escalated to the appropriate 
executives, including the CEO.

The Stakeholder Relations and Ethics Committee 
oversees all stakeholder engagement activities 
and reports to the Trustees on these matters. The 
Committee uses a defined framework and 
methodology to identify stakeholder groups, 
assess their needs and interests, and evaluate the 
impact of these on the Scheme, and vice versa. 
According to the degree of impact and alignment, 
stakeholders are then prioritised for more detailed 
assessments regarding key concerns, degree of 
mutual trust, related risks and engagement plans.  

The inclusion of a trust rating is in line with the 
Vested® outsourcing model, which is formally 
applied in our contractual arrangement with 
Discovery Health and also informs our interaction 
with our other stakeholders. The results of the 
assessment are reported to the Committee and 
inform its priorities, as well as the formulation and 
management of engagement plans. The 
Committee monitors the effectiveness of these 
plans and attends closely to the resolution of 
specific incidents and stakeholder concerns.

SOME ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED ON 
BEHALF OF THE SCHEME INCLUDE:

Responding to member queries 
via call centres, chat platforms, 
the member app and website.

Proactively contacting identified 
member groups regarding 
healthcare concerns or 
opportunities.

Developing and implementing 
innovative managed care 
programmes, together with 
healthcare providers and 
societies, to increase quality of 
care, decrease fragmentation  
and control costs for our 
members and the Scheme.

Supporting the Scheme’s 
regulatory and policy engagement 
through gathering information 
and working with stakeholders.

Providing training and support to 
financial advisers on the Scheme’s 
products.
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OUR MEMBERS

We exist for our members, who entrust us with their 
healthcare funding needs and with facilitating their access to 
beneficial programmes and treatments. Keeping this top-of-
mind, the Scheme aims to manage affordability of 
contributions in a challenging economic context with high 
healthcare inflation, exacerbated by the impact of COVID-19. 
This is critical to ensuring our members have continued access 
to the highest possible quality of care. Building and 
maintaining strong relationships with our other stakeholders is 
fundamental to our ability to achieve these objectives.	  

One of the Scheme’s key strategic priorities is to drive 
value-based healthcare, a delivery model that places members 
at the centre of care. In this model, providers are reimbursed 
based on health outcomes rather than inputs. This ensures 
that health results are prioritised over the volume of services 
delivered, giving our members access to facilities, programmes 
and providers that are committed to continuous improvement 
in quality healthcare. This approach also encourages 
healthcare providers to collaborate in providing holistic, 
high-quality patient care to our members. 

Through Discovery Health, the Scheme is engaged in many 
quality of care initiatives. These are closely monitored to strive 
to ensure that our members have access to the safest, most 
effective and efficient healthcare available in South Africa, at 
the lowest possible cost. We also empower our members with 
information that is relevant to their needs, when they need it.

Discovery Health’s infrastructure and member support systems 
provide a range of engagement options for our members. This 
includes comprehensive information on the website, which 
also has virtual agent capability using artificial intelligence to 
respond to member questions. Members can also make 
contact via call centre, a chat platform, the website, or the 
member app. On admission, members have access to benefit 
specialists in many hospitals throughout the country who 

support and advise them on their plan entitlements, and 
facilitate their healthcare journeys. Members are also able to 
contact the Principal Officer directly if need be.

These support systems provide members with easy access to 
accurate information about their benefits, claims and other 
plan information. The Scheme ensures that our members are 
continuously informed of changes in benefits and 
contributions, and have access to formularies and the Scheme 
Rules governing their health plans. This enables our members 
to make informed decisions about the benefit option best 
suited to their healthcare and affordability needs, even as 
these change.

Information is also made available on an ad hoc basis in 
response to specific healthcare concerns. In 2020, substantial 
information on COVID-19, related support available and 
screening and testing procedures was made available on the 
website. This is updated as information as well as treatment 
and vaccination options become available.

Various customer satisfaction and operational metrics are 
monitored to assess whether our members’ service 
expectations are being met. Dissatisfied members have access 
to a complaints and disputes process. The escalation process 
culminates in the option to have a hearing before an 
independent Disputes Committee in terms of the Scheme’s 
Rule 27. Alternatively, members may choose to take a 
complaint to the CMS in terms of Section 47 of the Medical 
Schemes Act (the Act).

MEASURING MEMBER  SAT ISFACT ION
The Scheme maintained a high average member perception 
score in 2020: 8.74 out of 10 (2019: 8.77). We track members’ 
perceptions of service received at multiple points and 
locations, including after-claims processes and the call centre. 
Follow-up surveys are also frequently conducted with members 
after their interactions with us.

During the course of 2020, the Scheme made virtual doctor 
consultations available to members to keep them safe, and 
protect our healthcare workers, during the pandemic. 

Read about the experience of two of our members on the 
links below.

D H M S 
M E M B E R 
S T O R I E S
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https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/contact-us#ContactDHMS
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/coronavirus-covid19-disease
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/complaints-and-disputes
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/contact-us#ContactDHMS
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-symptoms-online-doctor-consultation
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-jeremiah-uses-drconnect-for-a-tight-chest


Our members continued

IMPROVED CLINICAL OUTCOMES  
FOR COLORECTAL SURGERY 
Colorectal cancer is the third most prevalent cancer and 
affects over 3 200 of our members every year. 

The treatment regime for colorectal cancer may often include 
surgical intervention, the success of which has a significant 
impact on the survival rate of colorectal cancer patients. The 
Scheme funds more than 900 colorectal cancer surgeries 
each year. There are a number of hospitals where surgeons 
routinely perform colorectal surgery, with statistical evidence 
of lower mortality rates and improved survival rates in these 
high-volume hospitals. 

Comparison of outcomes in hospitals with high volumes of 
colorectal surgery to hospitals with low volumes:

INTRODUCING THE SPINAL CARE PROGRAMME 
AND SPINAL SURGERY NETWORK 
Back pain is one of the most common reasons why people miss work, 
visit the doctor, or stop exercising. Locally and internationally, evidence 
points to early conservative treatment as the most effective for back 
pain. This reduces the need for invasive treatments such as injections 
or surgery. Where surgery forms part of an effective regime of 
conservative treatment, outcomes are significantly better when 
compared to spinal surgery that does not form part of a broader, 
holistic treatment plan. 

In 2021, the Scheme will introduce a Spinal Care Programme and 
Spinal Surgery Network to improve the outcomes of back treatment for 
our members. 

Spinal care programme
The Spinal Care Programme is a co-ordinated out-of-hospital 
conservative treatment programme for back pain. Access to the benefit 
requires appropriate referral and enrolment and includes access to:

	❚ A network of physiotherapists who have been trained in 
the management of back pain, supported by a panel of specialist 
surgeons

	❚ Face-to-face and virtual consultations, where appropriate, with an 
appropriately registered allied healthcare professional.

Spinal Surgery Network
The Spinal Surgery Network provides members with full cover for 
approved spinal surgery admissions. The Network consists of hospitals, 
surgeons, anaesthetists and allied healthcare professionals who are 
contracted to the Network based on clinical outcomes.

DHMS has many innovative programmes and initiatives to support members in their healthcare journey. In 2021, the Scheme approved the implementation of some new care 
initiatives for implementation in 2021, such as a designated service provider network for spinal surgery, and a centre of excellence for colorectal cancer surgery:

Introducing centres of 
excellence for colorectal 
cancer surgery

DHMS is introducing a network of 
centres of excellence for colorectal 
cancer surgery in 2021. The network 
provides members with several 
benefits:

	❚ Hospitals where surgeons 
routinely perform colorectal 
surgery with improved clinical 
outcomes.

	❚ Participating hospitals, surgeons, 
anaesthetists and physicians 
contracted to the network based 
on clinical outcomes, to ensure 
quality of care for our members.

	❚ Full cover for surgery in the 
network, which applies to all 
DHMS plans.

	❚ Doctors benefit from bidirectional 
information sharing through a 
Colorectal Cancer record, which 
will create the first Colorectal 
Cancer Registry for South Africa.

63%

5-year survival rate after surgery (2010 – 2018)

  High volume hospitals

  Low volume hospitals

5%58%
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HEALTHCARE  BENEF ITS ,  INFORMAT ION AND D ISEASE  MANAGEMENT 
FOR  MEMBERS

Diabetes Care

Mental health

Oncology

Member App 
The member app enables easy access to features 
enabling members to manage their health plans 
and healthcare needs, for example:

	❚ Submitting and tracking claims, including a 
summary of hospital claims, and searching 
past claims (12 months).

	❚ Viewing and tracking health plan benefits and 
personal medical savings account balances 
(where applicable).

	❚ Viewing approved chronic conditions and 
related benefit usage.

	❚ Finding a suitable healthcare professional or 
facility, and viewing personal health records.

	❚ Ordering and tracking medicine, and 
comparing prices with generic alternatives.

	❚ Accessing instant help through Emergency 
Assist.

	❚ Finding and downloading important 
documents.

The app can be downloaded here, and a video 
about how the app can assist members is 
available here. 

COVID-19

Connected Care

36 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

http://discv.co/Discovery_App
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rg7jaIjPIZc
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/mental-health-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/discovery_coza/web/linked_content/pdfs/health/benefit_information/oncology_book.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-free-online-covid-19-consultations
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/connected-care-benefit-guide-2021.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=znyp_y1EL2w
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YrQCJrGDNVE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=djCO7oY7B48
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/diabetes-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/podcast-understanding-cancer
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid-19-benefits-and-cover


EMPLOYER GROUPS

Many employers offer their employees the opportunity to join 
a medical scheme as part of their benefit package. Employers 
can fund membership through a specified subsidy or a 
structured salary package. Publicly available information 
suggests that the Scheme remains the most popular open 
medical scheme among employers; more than 70% of 
individuals that belong to an open medical scheme through 
their employers are DHMS members1.

In 2020, the South African Government imposed interventions 
to contain the initial spread of COVID-19, and ‘flatten the curve’ 
of the outbreak. During these unprecedented times, the focus 
on social solidarity has been enhanced, with strong value being 
placed on the corporate social responsibility and identity of 
institutions in providing a safe and supportive environment for 
their workforce.

PR OV ID IN G EMPLOYER  GROUPS 
W ITH  A N  IN TEGRATED HEALTH AN D 
W EL L N ESS  SOLUT ION
Discovery Health offers DHMS employers and their employee 
members a fully integrated corporate health and wellness 
solution. This includes onsite wellness days for Scheme 
members where a range of key health metrics are assessed, 
allowing wellness specialists to identify members at risk and 
refer them to appropriate care in a safe environment. It also 
includes executive wellness screenings and onsite healthcare 
clinics where required by employers, as well as making 
Discovery Healthy Company (a proactive, digitally enabled 
employee assistance programme) available. 

As employees returned to work after the highest levels of 
lockdown, we launched COVID-19 business support services to 
assist employers with the safe return of their workforce.

COVID-19 has also created a need among employers for 
support in managing their COVID-19 risk, as their employees 
return to work. The Scheme, through Discovery Health, 
launched a range of initiatives in response to this need, as well 
as other support measures.

In 2020, employer offerings included:
	❚ A comprehensive set of COVID-19 support services to assist 

employers in formulating and executing an effective 
response to COVID-19, including daily screening, call centre 
triage, case management and contact tracing for all 
employees who are members of DHMS.

	❚ Financial support during the pandemic for employees and 
qualifying SME employers to maintain medical scheme 
membership through contribution deferment and 
alternative payment strategies.

	❚ Corporate wellness days, adapted to encourage health and 
wellness interaction by employer group members in a 
safe environment.

	❚ Focused service and engagement strategies, tailored to 
suit workforce servicing needs, were developed with 
employer groups.

	❚ In a national rollout, the Scheme’s product and benefit 
enhancements for 2021 were presented to key decision-
makers of employer groups; this was followed by 
employee training sessions.

1	 �Based on annual Global Credit Ratings reports for the seven largest open medical 
schemes that subscribe.
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HEALTHCARE PROVIDERS AND 
PROFESSIONAL SOCIETIES

The Scheme, with the support of Discovery Health, partners 
with medical professionals and contracts with facilities to meet 
the challenge of increasing access to quality, cost-effective 
healthcare services. Our support of Discovery Health’s shared 
value approach to healthcare creates a virtuous cycle in which 
patients, their doctors and funders work together to optimise 
the outcomes for each party as well as the broader 
healthcare system.

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted healthcare providers in 
significant ways. Healthcare professionals are on the frontline 
of the battle against this devastating virus, placing themselves 
at high risk of infection and being witness to the traumatic 
consequences for their patients and their loved ones. 
Generally, they have also experienced substantial income loss 
as many patients have avoided consultations and deferred 
elective medical or surgical procedures in fear of exposing 
themselves to COVID-19. The combined effect of these has 
taken a heavy toll on their physical and mental health.

The Scheme has been in a position to offer much needed 
support to healthcare providers. This has been done through 
Discovery Health’s Strategic Contracting and Health Professions 
Unit, intensive engagements with the Scheme’s healthcare 
delivery provider partners, including the major hospital groups, 
and representative bodies of independent and corporate 
healthcare providers such as pharmacies, pathology groups, 
radiologists and professional associations. 

The support took different forms, for example, in recognition 
of high virus exposure risk, the Scheme funded enhanced risk 
benefits for COVID-19 pathology tests and the seasonal 
influenza vaccine for all healthcare professionals who are 
members of the Scheme. The Scheme also offers a benefit at 
100% of the tariff rate for healthcare professionals requiring 
accommodation in hotel isolation facilities.

We also adjusted reimbursement structures and increased 
tariffs for personal protective equipment (PPE), and facilitated 
higher utilisation of remote screening and other clinical 
consultations through increased tariffs and enhanced 
virtual platforms. 

In recognition of the risk of negative health outcomes 
associated with deferred healthcare, the Scheme implemented 
the innovative benefit for virtual house calls, where the doctor 
was able to schedule virtual consultations with members 
identified as high-risk due to co-morbidities. These 
interventions drove unprecedented utilisation of telemedicine 
and virtual consultations across all disciplines.

The support was not limited to independent healthcare 
professionals, as corporate providers such as radiologists were 
also supported through innovative risk sharing alternative 
reimbursement mechanisms (ARMs), in an effort to smooth out 
the utilisation experience. Other ARMs, designed to ensure 
enhanced continuity of care for members with COVID-19, 
and ease of billing for healthcare professionals, included the 
implementation of GP and specialist COVID-19 episode 
fee structures. 

While COVID-19 dominated 2020, the Scheme did not slow its 
strategy to engage and collaborate with healthcare providers 
to develop and incrementally implement value-based care 
(VBC) models. Building on previous VBC initiatives, and their 
successful implementation, the Scheme approved the 
implementation of new VBC initiatives for implementation in 
2021. These included the designated service provider network 
for spinal care, and a centre of excellence for colorectal 
cancer surgery.

The focus on mitigating the growth and impact of chronic 
diseases such as diabetes remains. Following on from 
extensive engagements with the relevant professional societies 
and member advocacy groups, the Scheme has launched a 
benefit to cover innovative continuous glucose monitoring for 
members with Type 1 Diabetes who fulfil entry criteria. The 
funding of these innovations supports healthcare professionals 
in utilising advanced and innovative, albeit costly, technologies 
in the appropriate patient populations. 

Other focus areas where close collaboration with providers 
has resulted in the Scheme implementing ARMs or designated 
service provider networks to improve quality of care include 
chronic disease management especially for diabetes, mental 
health and oncology – leading causes of morbidity for 
members, and cost drivers for the Scheme. In this regard, we 
adopt a population management approach to chronic 
conditions, with enhanced benefits for appropriate patient 
groups and alternative funding for contracted providers.
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Healthcare providers and professional societies continued

We continue to collaborate with and support the profession, to 
mitigate the impact that the ongoing pandemic is having on our 
providers. This extends to building a shared value healthcare 
ecosystem that uses digital tools, in line with global trends and 
best practice. This ecosystem is one in which patients, doctors 
and the funder can unite to sustainably improve healthcare 
outcomes.

To further support healthcare professionals in managing their 
patients remotely, with confidence growing in the quality of care 
afforded through remote care, 2021 will see more advanced 
digital healthcare technology being implemented and funded by 
the Scheme. This has been enabled through the innovative 
Discovery Health Connected Care platform which effectively 
integrates Scheme benefits, healthcare services and digital 
capabilities. Using the Connected Care app, doctors will be able to 
diagnose, and monitor their patients (Scheme members) 
remotely. The introduction and funding of the Tytocare digital 
device (which transmits clinical parameters including clinical 
grade pictures of the throat, ear, heart sounds etc.) will give 
providers increased confidence in managing patients’ acute and 
chronic conditions remotely. This should improve the adoption of 
telemedicine consultations by both healthcare professionals and 
members. 

In 2021, qualifying Discovery Health Medical Scheme members 
can be enrolled in Discovery Health’s Connected Care programme 
for acute care at home as a substitute for acute hospital care.

Care delivery within the programme will be facilitated by a 
dedicated nurse-based care team under the supervision of the 
treating doctor, providing 24-hour clinical support and remote 
monitoring using smart health devices. DHMS benefits will ensure 
enhanced funding to care in-hospital.

LOOKING FORWARD TO 2021
HEALTHCARE  BENEF ITS ,  INFORMAT ION AND D ISEASE 
MANAGEMENT  INFORMAT ION FOR PROVIDERS

COVID-19

Diabetes Care

Mental health

Connected Care

Oncology
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https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid-19-online-consultation-to-protect-people
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-gp-explains-values-of-virtual-consultation
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid-19-telehealth-that-protects-patients-health
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-dr-govender-telehealth-is-saving-lives
https://www.discovery.co.za/portal/provider/coronavirus-webinar
https://www.discovery.co.za/portal/provider/coronavirus-information
https://www.discovery.co.za/discovery_coza/web/linked_content/pdfs/health/benefit_information/oncology_book.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/podcast-understanding-cancer
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/connected-care-benefit-guide-2021.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=znyp_y1EL2w
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YrQCJrGDNVE
https://youtu.be/djCO7oY7B48
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/diabetes-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/mental-health-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/health-id


FINANCIAL ADVISERS (BROKERS)

The private healthcare industry in South Africa is complex, 
encompassing different types of providers, facilities, funding 
structures and mechanisms, as well as individual patient 
needs. Financial advisers play a critical role in helping existing 
and prospective members navigate this complexity by 
providing comprehensive and independent advice about the 
healthcare cover best suited to their specific health and 
affordability needs. 

The Health Market Inquiry (HMI) final report concluded that 
“brokers play an important role within the current complex 
benefit option environment” and recommended that their 
assistance to members continue, albeit with additional 
transparency1.

Financial advisers introduce individual consumers and 
employers to the full spectrum of medical schemes in the 
industry, helping them to compare the benefits, pricing, 
strengths, weaknesses, and service levels of competing medical 
schemes. Consumers are then able to match their needs with 
the most appropriate medical scheme and plan offering. Once 
consumers have joined a scheme, financial advisers provide 
ongoing information through annual reviews and also update 
members and employers on product and service changes.

Financial advisers are reimbursed by the Scheme for their 
services according to legislated fees and their contractual 
arrangements with the Scheme – members do not pay them 
directly. Financial advisers must be registered with, and are 
regulated by, the Financial Services Board and must comply 
with the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services (FAIS) 
Act. To provide advice on private healthcare cover, they must 
also be accredited by the CMS.

Discovery Health engages extensively with financial advisers on 
the Scheme’s behalf. In-depth training and assessment 
sessions are supplemented by annual product launches and 
updates to support advisers. The Scheme focuses on ensuring 
that our health plan information is written in an easily 
understood and accessible manner, for the benefit of both 
members and advisers.

Perception surveys were conducted to establish how satisfied 
financial advisers are with Discovery Health. The overall 
perception score by brokers of Discovery Health for the year 
was 9.06 out of 10, slightly up from 8.92 for 2019.

ENGA GEM ENTS  I N  2020
The annual update on the Scheme’s product and benefit 
enhancements for the coming year was provided in a national 
rollout to over 200 business consultants and agents. It was also 
presented and broadcast to more than 8 200 financial advisers 
from the annual product launch event. Following the product 
update, approximately 19 virtual sessions were held with 
business consultants and financial advisers across the country. 
In addition, all brokers had access to year-end training videos 
informing brokers and their clients of updates and benefit 
changes for 2021.

National presentations to corporate brokerages at three 
different times during the year provided information on the 
Scheme’s strategies, industry position, financial results and risk 
management initiatives.

A COVID-19 information hub and three industry leading 
thought-leadership webinars were hosted during the year, 
providing brokers with access to the latest clinical insights 
related to the pandemic, and the associated benefits and tools 
available to employers and members of the Scheme.

Broker consultants also received training and were assessed 
on their knowledge of the Scheme’s products, the private 
healthcare industry, and sales and presentation skills.

1	 �The Competition Commission’s Health Market Inquiry Final Findings 
and Recommendations Report, September 2019.

The Scheme focuses on ensuring 
that our health plan information is 
written in an easily understood and 
accessible manner, for the benefit 
of both members and advisers.“
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DISCOVERY HEALTH (PTY) LTD OUR EMPLOYEES

Discovery Health is a leader in healthcare 
administration and managed care, with a strong 
reputation for excellent service and innovation. 
Providing services to over 3.5 million medical scheme 
members, they provide administration and managed 
care services to DHMS, as well as 18 other restricted 
schemes. Our relationship with Discovery Health has 
enabled the Scheme to become the largest open 
medical scheme in South Africa. 

The Scheme and Discovery Health have an arm’s-
length contractual relationship that governs all 
activities outsourced by the Scheme to Discovery 
Health. Our working relationship is governed by the 
outcomes-based Vested model, which is characterised 
by a shared vision and aligned objectives, ensuring 
that the partnership works in the best interests of our 
members.

Discovery Health is appointed by the Scheme’s Board 
and reports extensively to the Trustees, the Board 
Committees and the Scheme Office on a regular 
basis. The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that 
Discovery Health meets agreed strategic and 
operational requirements.

The agreement between the Scheme and Discovery 
Health contains extensive service level requirements 
against which the Trustees monitor and measure 
Discovery Health’s performance.

Engagement between the organisations is frequent 
and focuses on:

	❚ Scheme performance and risk management;
	❚ Implementation of the Scheme’s strategy;
	❚ Product design and implementation of 

Scheme benefits;

The Scheme is committed to protecting the dignity, safety and health 
of our employees, providing decent work, fair remuneration and 
opportunities for training and development. In line with our corporate 
citizenship framework, we are strongly committed to treating our 
employees equitably and ethically, in accordance with good 
employer practices.

A comprehensive set of Board-approved human resources, ethics and 
codes of conduct policies are available on the Scheme’s intranet and 
are embedded in the Scheme’s daily operations. The Principal Officer 
is accountable for resolving all employee-related matters.

The Scheme employs a small team who must be agile in responding 
to industry developments and challenges to ensure the Scheme’s 
effective operation and sustainability, and whose work and 
remuneration must be aligned to the Scheme’s vision, purpose and 
objectives. All employees are nurtured and developed to ensure that 
they are engaged and fulfilled and therefore able to consistently 
deliver their best efforts. Training and development opportunities are 
regularly identified and a development plan is in place for all 
employees, who attend training, conferences and industry events 
relevant to their work and their potential within the Scheme. 

Periodic assessments of the Scheme’s value proposition to employees 
support interventions to promote staff satisfaction and retention, and 
regular performance discussions help employees to maintain focus 
on their role objectives and career development.

During 2020, the Scheme focused strongly on protecting employees 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, and supporting their wellbeing. All 
employees moved to work-at-home and regular team engagements 
were conducted, including seminars on how to take care of 
themselves and their families during the pandemic. A culture survey 
was also conducted, including wellbeing elements, as was a survey 
about the workplace environment. The results of both of these will be 
incorporated into a hybrid workplace strategy, as well as to protect 
employees and their families and to inform improvements to the 
Scheme’s employee value proposition.

	❚ Fraud and forensics management;
	❚ Marketing and sales;
	❚ Member and other key stakeholder 

communication;
	❚ Regulatory and industry matters;
	❚ Internal audit compliance and combined 

assurance; and 
	❚ Stakeholder engagement on behalf of the Scheme, 

including escalation to the Scheme Office for direct 
involvement when required.

Two management committees, the 
Relationship Management and Innovation 
Committees, support enhanced governance 
and relational dynamics relating to the Vested 
relationship between DHMS and Discovery 
Health and provide scope for continued 
innovation. These committees meet on a 
regular basis according to their terms of 
reference, and continue to function as 
effective mechanisms to enhance the working 
relationship and maintain a joint focus on 
innovation for the benefit of our members.
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REGULATORY BODIES

The Scheme and Discovery Health are required to adhere to 
strict legislation, with the Scheme primarily governed by the 
Medical Schemes Act (the Act). We work with our regulatory 
bodies and relevant stakeholders, advocating for effective 
regulatory reform to drive positive change in the healthcare 
industry; this includes contributing towards health policymaking 
and amendments to legislation.

Maintaining constructive relationships with our industry 
regulators is critical to the Scheme’s ability to create value. 
We work hard to build and maintain a collaborative working 
approach and to keep lines of communication open with the 
relevant authorities.

The Scheme and Discovery Health continue to engage the 
National Department of Health, the CMS and other regulators 
on matters affecting the sustainability of the broader industry, 
including advocating for access to more affordable health 
technology, managing fraud, waste and abuse, and in promoting 
regulatory change such as the implementation of the HMI’s 
innovative recommendations.

C OUNC I L  FOR  M ED I C A L  SC HEM ES 
(C M S) 
The CMS regulates all medical schemes in South Africa, and its 
role includes:

	❚ Protecting and educating the public regarding their medical 
scheme cover;

	❚ Assessing and registering schemes’ rules and benefits;
	❚ Handling complaints and disputes between the public and 

medical schemes;
	❚ Ensuring that schemes comply with the Act and maintain a 

high standard of governance and management; and
	❚ Working with the Department of Health regarding 

regulatory and policy interventions.

The Scheme engages actively with the CMS on matters of 
policy, application and interpretation of rules, benefit design, 
Scheme finances and resolution of disputes with members.

In 2020, the CMS engaged closely with and supported the 
industry in its response to the pandemic, including establishing 
Prescribed Minimum Benefits for treatment to ensure 
members had access to much-needed healthcare. The CMS 
also published 73 circulars and the Scheme submitted 
responses to these where required, as well as to other ad hoc 
and formal enquiries from the CMS. The CMS publishes regular 
reports covering activity across the private healthcare funding 
industry.

THE  NAT IONAL  DEPARTMENT 
OF  HEALTH
The Scheme interacts with the National Department of Health 
whenever needed. In late 2020 and into 2021, many industry 
engagements have been held. In these the Scheme has been 
represented by the Health Funders Association, on the national 
approach to vaccination procurement, prioritisation, funding 
and rollout.  

The Scheme supports the objectives of universal health 
coverage as well as the need for the healthcare industry to 
respond to the needs of its patients, within our social, 
economic and demographic context. In the interests of our 
members, we will continue to engage with the Ministry on 
these and we look forward to presenting to the Portfolio 
Committee for Health on our joint submission, with Discovery 
Health, on the revised NHI Bill.  

The Scheme supports the 
objectives of universal health 
coverage as well as the need for 
the healthcare sector to respond 
to the needs of its patients, within 
our social, economic and 
demographic context.

“
42 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



06 GOVERNANCE 
AND 
LEADERSHIP

The Trustees embrace the principles of King IV in 
achieving optimal governance outcomes for the 
Scheme and within the Scheme environment.“

Additional governance guidance is taken from the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 
2016 (King IV). King IV sets the standard for good corporate governance in South Africa and is internationally 
recognised as best practice. King IV defines corporate governance as the exercise of ethical and effective 
leadership by boards to achieve the following outcomes:

EFFECTIVE 
CONTROL

GOOD 
PERFORMANCE

AN ETHICAL 
CULTURE LEGITIMACY

The Trustees embrace the principles of King IV in achieving optimal governance outcomes for the Scheme and 
within the Scheme environment. The Trustees are required to lead ethically and effectively, and each Trustee 
(individually and collectively as part of the Board) is expected to cultivate, and exhibit in their conduct, the 
characteristics of integrity, competence, responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency. 

All medical schemes in South Africa are governed by the Medical Schemes 
Act (the Act). The Scheme Rules are developed in accordance with the Act 
and approved annually by the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS).

How we are governed
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OUR GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

DHMS 
MEMBERS

BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES

Administrator and 
managed care provider

oversees

report to

appoints

supports

services

elect 

mandates

appoints/outsources to

governs

belong to

1	 �An amendment to the Scheme Rules to allow for the appointment of a maximum of 
three Trustees has been approved by the CMS. This Rule was amended to provide 
more flexibility in obtaining essential skills needed on the Board.
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DHMS is governed by an independent 
Board of Trustees, responsible for 
overseeing the business of the Scheme. The 
Trustees hold decision-making power and 
are ultimately responsible for overseeing 
the Scheme’s material matters, developing 
and implementing the Scheme’s strategy 
and responsibly managing its business, 
including Scheme policies.

The Board of Trustees
The Board’s overriding objective is to ensure that the 
best interests of Scheme members are served 
equitably, while safeguarding the sustainability of the 
Scheme. The Trustees are accountable to the Scheme’s 
members.

According to the Scheme Rules, the Scheme’s affairs 
must be managed according to these Rules by a Board 
of fit and proper members; having the requisite 
character, integrity, skill, competence, financial 
soundness and ability to exercise a fiduciary duty.

The Board comprises independent, highly skilled professionals 
with a diverse range of specialisms, experience and 
professional background, bringing multiple perspectives to 
bear in discussion and debate, and ensuring robust oversight 
and strategic decision-making. Our Trustees’ expertise extends 
across various fields including legal, actuarial, accounting, 
economics, governance, medical, financial, financial reporting, 
investment and human resources.

To ensure effective leadership, the Trustees dedicate a 
significant amount of time and effort to their fiduciary duties; 
this extends well beyond meeting attendance.

Composition and functioning
The affairs of the Scheme are managed by a Board of a 
minimum of five and a maximum of eight persons. At any given 
time, at least half of the Trustees must be elected by members.  
The balance of the Trustees may be elected by members of the 
Scheme or appointed by the Trustees, provided that the 
number of these Trustees shall, at any given time, not exceed 
three1.

The Scheme has no influence over the re-election of these 
Trustees or of Board composition with respect to member-
elected Trustees. Due to its limited succession planning ability 
in this regard, the Board may appoint additional Trustees to fill 
knowledge, experience and skills gaps where required, and 
may re-appoint such Trustees (subject to the requirement that 
a Trustee may only serve two consecutive terms of not more 
than three years). 

Trustees also have access to professional advice, both inside 
and outside of the Scheme, to inform the proper execution of 
their duties, and may obtain such external or other 
independent professional advice as they consider necessary.



TRUSTEE  TERM S
TRUSTEE Designation Appointed/Elected Start of Term End of Term

David King Trustee Elected 23 Jun 16 22 Jun 19
Trustee Elected 20 Jun 19 22 Jun 22

Dhesan Moodley Trustee Elected 23 Jun 16 22 Jun 19
Trustee Elected 20 Jun 19 22 Jun 22

Joan Adams SC1 Trustee Elected 22 Jun 17 21 Jun 20
Johan Human2 Independent Co-opted Member Appointed 05 Sep 16 13 Aug 17

Trustee Appointed 14 Aug 17 13 Aug 20
Trustee Appointed 14 Aug 20 14 Aug 23

John Butler SC2 Independent Co-opted Member Appointed 05 Sep 16 13 Jun 17
Trustee Appointed 14 Jun 17 13 Jun 20
Trustee Appointed 14 Jun 20 14 June 23

Neil Morrison Trustee – Chair of the Board Elected 23 Jun 16 22 Jun 19
Trustee – Chair of the Board Elected 20 Jun 19 22 Jun 22

Susette Brynard1 Trustee Elected 22 Jun 17 21 Jun 20

THE  R OL E  OF  THE 
TR USTEES

The Trustees are responsible for 
strategic oversight and sound 
management of the Scheme. In this 
regard they:

	❚ Evaluate, direct and monitor the 
Scheme’s strategy, ensuring 
alignment with the purpose and value 
drivers of the Scheme, alongside the 
legitimate interests and expectations 
of stakeholders;

	❚ Review the sustainability of the 
Scheme and evaluate whether the 
services offered by the administrator 
and managed care provider meet the 
needs of, and offer value for money 
to, the Scheme and its members;

	❚ Monitor innovation and oversee 
improvement of the Scheme’s 
operations at all levels;

	❚ Monitor adherence to Scheme Rules 
and the provisions of the Act in the 
day-to-day running of the Scheme’s 
affairs; and

	❚ Consider stakeholder perceptions and 
how these impact the Scheme’s 
reputation.

At all times, the Trustees must act with 
due care, diligence, skill and good faith in 
the best interests of the Scheme and its 
members. Measures are in place to 
assess any conflicts of interest that may 
arise, and the Trustees manage these 
with reference to best practice 
governance and any relevant legal 
requirements.

THE  D UT I ES  OF  THE 
TRU STEES ,  SET  OUT 
IN  THE  A C T  A ND  THE 
SCHEM E RUL ES

	❚ Take all reasonable steps to ensure 
that the interests of beneficiaries, in 
terms of the Scheme Rules and the 
provisions of the Act, are protected at 
all times while acting with impartiality 
in respect of all beneficiaries;

	❚ Ensure the proper and sound 
management of the Scheme by 
applying sound business principles to 
ensure its financial position is sound;

	❚ Take all reasonable steps to protect 
the confidentiality of medical records 
concerning the state of health of the 
Scheme’s members, and ensure that 
the Scheme Rules, operations and 
administration comply with the 
provisions of the Act and all other 
applicable laws;

	❚ Oversee and direct the management 
of the Scheme’s outsourced activities 
performed by the administrator and 
managed care provider;

	❚ Appoint, evaluate and delegate 
oversight functions to the Principal 
Officer;

	❚ Ensure that proper control systems 
and record keeping are employed by 
and on behalf of the Scheme; and

	❚ Ensure that adequate and 
appropriate information is 
communicated to members regarding 
their rights, benefits, contributions 
and responsibilities in terms of the 
Scheme Rules.

TRUSTEE 
REM UNERA T I ON

Trustees are remunerated 
for their services in 
terms of the Scheme’s 
Remuneration Policy. 
The benchmarked 
professional fees of 
Trustee and Board 
Committee Members are 
discounted in recognition 
of the Scheme’s non-
profit status.

BOARD EVALUAT IONS

The Board is assessed at least every two years, either by external 
independent parties, or through self-appraisals. The last Board 
evaluation was conducted by the Institute of Directors in South Africa 
(IoDSA) in 2020 via self-evaluation questionnaires and virtual 
consultations with each Trustee, resulting in an overall evaluation 
score of 4.8 out of 5 (rated as excellent by the IoDSA). As part of the 
evaluation, the IoDSA reviewed responses against King IV corporate 
governance best practice and used this to develop a plan and 
recommended actions for the Board; these are in the process of 
being implemented. The next evaluation will be conducted in 2022.

The Board is satisfied that the diverse skills and experience of the 
Trustees enable it to competently execute its duties, fulfilling its 
responsibility to the Scheme’s members. In addition, the Board is 
satisfied that it has fulfilled its mandate in accordance with its 
charter and the Act, having carried out its duties in an ethical, 
responsible and equitable manner throughout the year.

1	 �The 2020 AGM and the Trustee elections due to be held at it were postponed due to COVID-19.  
2	 �Re-appointed at Board of Trustees meeting held on 12 June 2020.
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https://www.discovery.co.za/assets/discoverycoza/medical-aid/annual-general-meeting/dhms-remuneration-policy.pdf


A TTEN DA N CE  IN  2020

BOARD MEETINGS
attendance in 2020 30
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Trustees Mr Neil Morrison (Chair) ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

Mr Dave King ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü – ü ü

Dr Dhesan Moodley ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

Adv Joan Adams  ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü – ü ü

Mr Johan Human ◊ ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü

Mr John Butler ~ ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü x – ü ü

Dr Susette Brynard  ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü – ü ü

Chairperson: 
Audit 
Committee

Mr Eric Mackeown ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü – ü ü

Independent 
Members

Dr Alewyn Burger # * ∞ – ü – – – – ü – – – – –

Mr Ndumiso Luthuli # – ü – – – – – – – – – –

Prof Selma Smith # – ü – – – – – – – – – –

Mrs Susan Ludolph ∞ – – – – – – ü – – – – –

A	 Ad hoc meetings: Ad hoc Committee meetings occur outside the usual and scheduled recurring meetings and are called to deal with specific topics or discussions. 
Trustees who are adequately experienced with sufficient skills and knowledge to address these issues are appointed to serve in such Committees, with clear mandates given to 
these committees. 
These meetings may be shorter than scheduled Board or Committee meetings. Trustees and Committee Members are remunerated according to the duration of such meetings.
•	 A meeting was convened on 30 January 2020 to discuss the administration re-accreditation of Discovery Health.
•	 COVID-19 update meetings were convened on 20 and 27 March 2020.          
•	 A joint Board, Audit and Product Committee meeting was convened on 14 May 2020 to discuss and approve COVID-19 benefits.  
•	 A Board task team was convened on 03 November 2020 to discuss the 2021 Non Healthcare Expenses budget. 
•	 A meeting was convened on 02 December 2020 to discuss Circular 77 of 2019: Administration Agreements.

	� Term ended on 21 June 2020. The AGM and Trustee elections have been postponed due to COVID-19, and the  
CMS gave approval for these Trustees to continue in office pending the Scheme’s ability to hold elections.

◊	 Term ended on 13 August 2020. Re-appointed as a Trustee effective 14 August 2020.	
~	 Term ended on 13 June 2020. Re-appointed as a Trustee effective 14 June 2020.
#	 Attended the Board of Trustees strategy session on 19 February 2020.
*	 Appointed as an Independent Audit and Risk Committee Member effective 01 January 2020.
∞	Requested to attend the joint Board, Audit and Product Committee meeting held on 14 May 2020.
– 	Not required to attend.
x	 Apology tendered.
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1	 All ages are as at 31 December 2020.
2	 Forensic Practitioner, South Africa.
3	 Institute for Commercial Forensic Practitioners, South Africa.

MR NEIL MORRISON (64)
BSc (Hons) Physics; MA (Economics)
Chairperson

Mr Morrison was an external consultant to 
McKinsey and Company until 2015. Before 
this, he was Special Adviser to the Minister 
of Public Enterprises and until 2004, CEO of 
Deutsche Bank, Johannesburg Branch as 
well as head of its Global Markets division.

Mr Morrison was elected as a Trustee in 
2016. He currently serves on the 
Remuneration and Investment Committees 
having previously served on the Stakeholder 
Relations and Ethics Committee. He was 
elected Chairperson of the Board on 
14 August 2017.

MS JOAN ADAMS SC (57)
B.IURIS LLB; (FP) SA2

Ms Adams SC has been an advocate for 
31 years. She was previously a Senior State 
Advocate and Senior Family Advocate. She 
served for five years on two presidentially 
elected Commissions of Inquiry addressing 
fraud and corruption. She was appointed 
Senior Counsel in early 2018. She is an 
accredited forensic practitioner3 and a 
member of the Gauteng Society of 
Advocates. Ms Adams SC has considerable 
experience in medical law and ethics, has 
chaired numerous professional conduct 
inquiries, and presented various ethics 
seminars including the Vista Academy 
(Vista Clinic) and the Nutrition Network of 
the Noakes Foundation. She is currently in 
the process of completing the Certified 
Director qualification at the IoDSA.    

She was elected as a Trustee in 2017 and 
serves on the Clinical Governance, Risk, 
and Stakeholder Relations and 
Ethics Committees.

DR SUSETTE BRYNARD (64)
BSc (Sciences); PhD (Education)

Dr Brynard was a lecturer and research fellow 
at the University of the Free State, specialising 
in education management. She was formerly 
part of the management team of the 
Bloemfontein College of Education. She is 
currently a director of SAMBA, a co-operative 
buy-aid. She has also been elected to the 
National Executive Council of Down Syndrome 
South Africa. She attained her post-graduate 
degrees cum laude and is doing ground-
breaking work on the education and 
development of learners with Down 
syndrome internationally, and currently 
assists the London Down Syndrome 
Consortium in their research on Alzheimer’s 
disease.

Dr Brynard was elected as a Trustee in 2017 
and currently serves on the Remuneration, 
Product, and Stakeholder Relations and 
Ethics Committees.

MR JOHN BUTLER SC (54)
B.Comm, LLB, MA (Senior Counsel,  
Member of the Cape Bar)

Mr Butler SC is a practising advocate. He 
was appointed Senior Counsel in 2008. 
He specialises in commercial practice, 
including in insolvency, company, 
insurance, finance and banking, and 
competition law. He has served as an 
Acting Judge of the High Court of 
South Africa, and as an arbitrator in 
commercial disputes. He is a former 
chairperson of the Cape Bar Council.

Mr Butler SC was appointed as a Trustee 
on 14 June 2017. He chairs the Stakeholder 
Relations and Ethics Committee, 
and serves on the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees.

Our
Trustees1
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1	 Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries UK.
2	 Fellow of the Actuarial Society of South Africa.

MR DAVID KING (57)
BSc (Hons); MBA; Health Risk Management and 
Managed Care Certificate

Mr King is a seasoned business executive with 
over 25 years’ multinational experience. He 
spent 12 years as Human Resources Director 
of Brandhouse Beverages and was 
instrumental in their becoming a formidable 
competitor in the South African drinks 
industry. He previously chaired the Board of 
Trustees of Oxygen Medical Scheme and is an 
expert in executive leadership and employee 
engagement.

Mr King was elected as a Trustee in 2016 and 
currently chairs the Remuneration and Risk 
Committees and serves on the Stakeholder 
Relations and Ethics Committee. 

MR JOHAN HUMAN (50)
B.Bus.Sc; FIA1; FASSA2

Mr Human has more than 20 years’ 
experience in actuarial and healthcare 
consulting to large corporate organisations 
and medical schemes. He is currently a 
director and co-founder of LifeHouse Finance 
(Pty) Ltd, with interests in private equity, 
infrastructure fund management and 
structured finance.

Mr Human was appointed to the Board on 
14 August 2017 after being co-opted as an 
Independent Co-opted Member to the Board 
on 5 September 2016. He currently chairs the 
Product Committee and serves on the 
Investment and Audit Committees. 

DR DHESAN MOODLEY (58)
Masters in Metabolic, Functional and Anti-aging 
Medicine; MMed (Sports Science); MBChB; MBA; 
EDP Economics

Dr Moodley is currently in private practice in 
Functional and Anti-aging Medicine. He is a 
non-executive director of the Smile Foundation, an 
NGO that conducts corrective surgery for cleft 
palate and children with burns. Previously, he was 
president of Alexander Proudfoot North America 
and Africa, CEO of Bluepeter Consulting, partner of 
Ethos Private Equity Technology Fund, associate 
partner at Accenture, and principal at Gemini 
Consulting. He has deep expertise in health 
insurance and healthcare. His past and present 
affiliations include the Health Professionals Council 
of South Africa, South African Medical Association, 
American Academy of Anti-aging Medicine, 
Young Presidents’ Organisation, World Presidents’ 
Organisation, Black Management Forum of 
South Africa, and American Chamber of Commerce.

Dr Moodley served the Scheme as Chairperson and 
a member of the Board between 2001 and 2011. In 
2016, he was re-elected as a Trustee and currently 
chairs the Clinical Governance and Investment 
Committees while serving on the Product and 
Stakeholder Relations and Ethics Committees.
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In compliance with the Act, and in line with best practice governance 
principles, the Board has implemented appropriate governance 
structures to navigate and manage the complex operating 
environment, risks and strategic objectives of the Scheme.

Board
Committees

The Board is supported by nine Board Committees constituted 
and structured according to the needs of the Scheme, to assist 
the Board to effectively fulfil its fiduciary and oversight duties. 
Board Committee Members comprise both Trustees and 
Independent Members according to each Committee’s 
requirements. Independent Board Committee Members serve 
three-year terms and are eligible for subsequent re-appointment 
for a further term but may not serve more than two consecutive 
terms. Committee Members are remunerated for their services 
in terms of the Scheme’s Remuneration Policy as voted for by 
members at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

The Committees report to the Board regularly, each with their 
own terms of reference and clear procedures for reporting. 
The terms of reference set out each Committee’s role and 
responsibilities; these are reviewed annually to ensure continued 
relevance to the business of the Scheme. The Committees make 
recommendations to the Board for approval of decisions to be 
taken.

Board Committee evaluations
Board Committees are assessed at regular intervals, either by 
external independent parties, or through self-appraisals. The last 
Board Committee evaluation was conducted by the IoDSA in 
2018 with highly satisfactory results reported in the 2018 
Integrated Report. The next evaluation will be conducted in 2021.



Our Committees’ mandates, activities, 
attendance and future focus

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is a statutory committee established in 
line with the requirements of Sections 36 (10) to (13) of the Act. 
The Audit Committee is chaired by an Independent Committee 
Member and comprises at least five highly skilled and 
experienced members with extensive financial, actuarial, 
governance, legal, and IT expertise. At least two members of 
the Committee are Trustees and the majority are Independent 
Committee Members. The Committee assists the Board in 
discharging its responsibilities relating to safeguarding assets, 
operating adequate and effective internal control systems, and 
preparing fairly presented financial statements in compliance 
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 
accounting standards.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:

	❚ Providing oversight for and ensuring the integrity of the 
Scheme’s Integrated Report, Financial Statements and 
related procedures;

	❚ Considering the impact of any financial, fraud, information 
technology, regulatory and other risks on the integrity of 
the Scheme’s financial results;

	❚ Reviewing the basis on which the Scheme has been 
determined to be a going concern;

	❚ Reviewing the solvency requirements of the Scheme;
	❚ Reporting to the Board on the acceptability of the Scheme’s 

accounting policies;
	❚ Considering and recommending the appointment and/or 

termination of the external auditor, including their audit 
fee, independence and objectivity, and determining the 
nature and extent of any non-audit services;

	❚ Overseeing external and internal auditors;
	❚ Evaluating the expertise and experience of the Internal 

Audit and outsourced finance functions;
	❚ Evaluating the independence and objectivity of the Internal 

Audit function;

	❚ Evaluating the performance of the Chief Financial 
Officer;

	❚ Monitoring the effectiveness and appropriateness of 
the combined assurance model;

	❚ Monitoring matters relating to the sustainability of 
the Scheme to the extent that these impact the 
financial results; and

	❚ Considering and recommending annual contribution 
increases for approval by the Board.

Combined assurance
The Scheme’s combined assurance model, which was 
approved by the Committee during the year, is based on 
three lines of defence:

First Line – Scheme management

Second Line – Group Risk Management, Compliance 
and Forensics

Third Line – Internal audit, external audit and an 
independent actuarial firm

The combined assurance assessment showed that 
adequate assurance was provided and received in 
respect of all significant risks for the 2020 benefit year. 
The Trustees are comfortable with the level and type of 
assurance the Scheme obtains.

Activities during 2020
The Committee continued to support the Trustees in 
fulfilling their governance and oversight responsibilities 
during the year. It is satisfied that its activities, reporting 
and recommendations to the Board during 2020 have 
fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms 
of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2020, the Committee comprised two 
Trustees and three Independent Committee Members, 
one of whom chaired the Committee.

During 2020, the Committee met four times, and also attended 
ad-hoc Board meetings to engage on the financial sustainability 
implications of COVID-19 on the Scheme. The external and internal 
auditors met regularly with the Committee without the administrator 
and managed care provider and Scheme management present. The 
external auditor, internal auditor, Principal Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Chief Operations Officer, Head of Governance and 
Compliance, and heads of the outsourced administration functions 
attend all Committee meetings by invitation to provide information 
and insight into their areas of responsibility, and have unrestricted 
access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. The Committee 
may consult any expert or specialist to assist in performing its duties.  
To this end, the independent actuarial function is regularly invited to 
Committee meetings to provide information and comfort in 
accordance with the applicable agreements in place.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 26
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Independent Member/
Chairperson

Mr Eric Mackeown ü ü ü ü

Committee Members Mr Johan Human (Trustee) # ü ü ü ü

Mr John Butler (Trustee)  ü ü ü ü

Ms Susan Ludolph 
(Independent Member)

ü ü ü ü

Dr Alewyn Burger 
(Independent Member) ◊

ü ü ü ü

#	� Term ended on 13 August 2020. Re-appointed as a Trustee effective 14 August 2020.
	� Term ended on 13 June 2020. Re-appointed as a Trustee effective 14 June 2020.
◊	� Appointed as an Independent Audit and Risk Committee Member effective 

01 January 2020.

Future focus areas
The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate. This will include careful 
consideration of how the Scheme’s required solvency levels 
should be balanced against providing future COVID-19-related 
benefits, managing higher utilisation and keeping contributions 
affordable. 
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CLINICAL GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
While there is no statutory requirement for this Committee, it 
has been established in terms of Scheme Rule 19.3, which 
gives power to the Board to appoint and delegate authority to 
a subcommittee consisting of such Board members and other 
experts as it may deem necessary. In this instance, the 
Committee was established to ensure compliance with the Act, 
and to align with best practice governance principles. The 
Committee comprises members with the requisite skills to 
consider the clinical complexities in healthcare funding.

The Committee’s primary purpose is to assist the Board in the 
general oversight of funding policies and practices, clinical 
governance and providing access to evidence-based, clinically 
appropriate, cost-effective, affordable, quality healthcare in a 
consistent and equitable manner. It oversees the functions 
performed by Discovery Health in terms of the managed care 
agreement. In this regard, it has insight into clinical and 
utilisation risk management, funding policies and protocols, 
management of clinical exceptions and ex-gratia requests and 
decisions, clinical pilot projects, member complaints, appeals 
and disputes, research and development of clinical best 
practice, and health benefit formulation.

It also oversees engagement strategies with healthcare 
professionals facilitated by Discovery Health, which foster 
shared purpose and value, aiming to reduce inefficiencies in 
healthcare delivery while also improving quality of care and 
ultimately health outcomes.

The Committee also engages with Health Quality Assessment 
(HQA), an independent industry body that performs and 
produces an annual assessment and report of clinical quality in 
the medical schemes industry. The Scheme is represented in 
the HQA Board of Directors and its Clinical Advisory Committee 
by the Scheme’s Chief Medical Officer, and also indirectly 
through Discovery Health representatives. Through this 
representation, the Scheme is directly involved in the strategic 
evolution of HQA as an independent organisation for the 
measurement and reporting of outcomes measures, as 
recommended by the Health Market Inquiry (HMI).

Activities during 2020
In accordance with its annual work plan, the Committee held 
four meetings over the course of 2020, during which the 
Committee considered and provided input on, and monitored 
implementation of, the Strategic (Utilization) Risk Management 
(SRM) strategic plan for the year. To do this, the Committee 
considered SRM reports and evaluated the implementation 
and impact of key strategic initiatives on key stakeholders and 
the broader healthcare system. Key initiatives included the 
Oncology medicines Designated Service Provider (DSP), the Day 
Surgery Network, and the array of value-based care (VBC) 
initiatives implemented by the Scheme in recent years. 

This year, the Committee was particularly focused on 
monitoring the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
specifically with respect to its impact on South Africa, and the 
Scheme’s response which included various initiatives ensuring 
the Scheme was afforded relevant and enhanced COVID-19 
benefits as well as other support mechanisms to mitigate 
adverse impacts of the pandemic on Scheme members, 
employer groups, healthcare professionals and healthcare 
providers like hospital groups.  

As per its terms of reference, in support of the Product 
Committee, the Clinical Governance Committee also 
considered proposed benefits for implementation in 2021, 
and evaluated these through a clinical lens. 

The Committee is satisfied that its activities, recommendations 
and reporting to the Board of Trustees during 2020, have 
fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its terms of 
reference. 

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2020, the Committee comprised two Trustees 
(one of whom chaired the Committee),  two Independent 
Members and the Chief Medical Officer of the Scheme. Regular 
attendees of Committee meetings include experts from 
Discovery Health’s clinical and risk management teams. 
The Committee also hosted external speakers such as 
representatives from contracted hospital groups and the HQA 
on specific topics of interest to the Committee.

CLINICAL GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 02
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% Scheme executive. All other Committee Members are non-executive.

Future focus areas
The Committee continues to focus on the Scheme’s 
strategy of partnering with healthcare providers to 
progressively scale up VBC, with the objective of improving 
members’ health outcomes, while ensuring the 
sustainability of providers and the healthcare system 
broadly. In this regard, the Committee monitors and 
evaluates the impact of benefits, funding policies, and risk 
management initiatives on members, healthcare 
professionals and other health care providers. Key focus 
areas in 2021 will be informed by the Scheme’s burden of 
disease and cost drivers and include benefit 
enhancements and VBC programmes for chronic 
conditions that impact the Scheme’s disease burden and 
cost drivers; these include diabetes mellitus, mental 
health, oncology, and spinal surgery, among others.  

Informed by the experience of COVID-19, the Committee 
will focus on exploring innovations in health care delivery 
models and on monitoring the various settings of care 
initiatives, such as the home-based Connected Care 
benefits being implemented in 2021.    

The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate.

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued
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DISPUTE COMMITTEE
The independent Dispute Committee hears and adjudicates on 
all formally lodged member and forensic-related provider 
disputes in a transparent and equitable manner.

The Committee’s purpose is to make fair and consistent 
decisions, carefully considering the provisions of the Act, all 
applicable laws and the Scheme Rules, which are binding on 
the Committee. The Committee is not empowered to make 
discretionary rulings or those contravening applicable 
legislation and the latest registered Scheme Rules. In the event 
of a member being dissatisfied with a ruling made by the 
Committee, they are able to lodge a complaint with the CMS in 
terms of Section 47 of the Act.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:

	❚ Receiving submissions from members or practitioners 
involved in the dispute, as well as the Scheme’s 
representatives. 

	❚ Convening dispute hearings in person, virtually, 
telephonically or in writing. Since the advent of the national 
state of disaster and lockdown restrictions , all hearings 
have been convened virtually;

	❚ Ensuring that it has sufficient information regarding 
disputes to adjudicate cases objectively;

	❚ Adjudicating disputes and drafting rulings with due regard 
for all facts presented at hearings and in line with relevant 
legislation and the Scheme Rules; and

	❚ Ensuring that the process at hearings and in adjudicating 
disputes is managed as efficiently as possible and without 
undue delay.

Activities during 2020
In 2020, 757 disputes were lodged in terms of Rule 27, with 
692 or 91% of disputes being settled or withdrawn prior to a 
hearing. Only 43 cases proceeded to a hearing before the 
Dispute Committee.

As the Committee’s work covers the full spectrum of 
stakeholder concerns, its activities are overseen by the 
Stakeholder Relations and Ethics Committee, on behalf of the 
Board. The Committee is satisfied that its activities during 2020 
have fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its 
operating framework.

Composition and meetings in 2020
All Dispute Committee panellists have either legal or medical 
expertise. Each panel consists of three members drawn from 
the greater Committee according to availability, and must 
include at least one legal and one medical expert. A practising 
attorney is always the Chairperson of each hearing. Dispute 
Hearings are scheduled as and when required, and individual 
panels can be constituted several times a week if needed. 
Committee Members are independent and not employed by 
the Scheme but are remunerated for their time and input in 
objectively hearing and adjudicating cases, regardless of the 
outcome of the hearings. During 2020, as before, all hearings 
were properly constituted. Due to the frequency of hearings 
and variation of panellists, an attendance register is not shown.

Future focus areas
The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate. Access to the 
Committee is not only available to members, but also to 
healthcare practitioners in respect of forensic (fraud, 
waste and abuse-related) disputes; the Committee heard 
its first healthcare practitioners’ matters in early 2021. 

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee recommends and oversees the 
implementation and maintenance of investment policies and 
mandates. It advises the Trustees on strategic and operational 
matters relating to investing the Scheme’s reserves, and 
ensuring that investments made are in the best interest of 
members and within the risk appetite of the Scheme, as 
determined by the Trustees. The Committee assists the Board 
and supports the Scheme management with investment 
analysis and management of service provider inputs. It also 
makes recommendations to the Board for consideration and 
final approval.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:

	❚ Recommending an Investment Policy for the Scheme to the 
Trustees, with due regard to the requirement that the 
assets invested should maximise returns while maintaining 
solvency;

	❚ Monitoring the effectiveness and implementation of the 
Investment Policy;

	❚ Making recommendations to the Trustees regarding 
strategic and long-term asset allocation and approving 
plans for implementation;

	❚ Approving any short-term asset allocation and plans for 
implementation;

	❚ Reviewing investment strategies, capital and equity market 
assumptions, performance of the investment portfolio and 
of asset managers against established benchmarks, and 
reporting to the Trustees quarterly on the performance of 
the portfolio;

	❚ Monitoring the performance of each asset class with a view 
to maximising the total return, while considering the risk 
appetite of the Scheme;

	❚ Reporting to the Trustees annually on overall investment 
performance;

	❚ Making recommendations to the Trustees on the 
appointment of asset consultants and asset managers, 
including fees payable and the terms of appointment;

	❚ Assisting the Trustees to decide whether to withdraw funds 
from portfolios to support daily operations;

	❚ Supervising the safekeeping and handling of the Scheme’s 
investments;

	❚ Monitoring all reported investment activities in line with the 
Scheme’s Investment Policy and statutory requirements, 
and where there is deviation from the Investment Policy, 
investigating the reasons for this and recommending 
corrective action to the Trustees; and

	❚ Assisting the Trustees in preparing their annual report on 
investment performance and compliance.

Activities during 2020
	❚ Considered the Scheme’s asset allocation across various 

asset classes, taking into account the prevailing economic 
outlook, and oversaw the implementation of the asset 
allocation plan.

	❚ Considered the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
on the Scheme generally, and specifically considered the 
Scheme’s investment strategy with respect to changes in 
the Scheme’s cashflow patterns.

	❚ Reviewed the investment strategies and performance of 
asset managers relative to their benchmarks.

	❚ Completed a process optimising asset allocation across 
various equity portfolio management styles resulting in 
changes to the splits across the management styles as well 
as the appointment of All Weather Capital as a new 
manager.

	❚ Reviewed and amended the equity benchmark in light of 
the concentration risk that arises from Naspers and Prosus. 

	❚ Terminated inflation-linked bond mandates and 
transitioned these assets into new flexible fixed-income 
mandates.

	❚ Reviewed the results of the Scheme’s annual due diligence 
exercise conducted across its asset managers, which 
included onsite visits by the Scheme. Recommended an 
updated Investment Policy document to the Board for 
approval.

	❚ Reviewed the effectiveness of services provided by the 
investment consultant.

The Committee is satisfied that its activities, recommendations 
and reporting to the Board during 2020 have fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2020, the Committee consisted of three Trustees 
and one Independent Member. The Committee receives 
investment advice and quarterly reports from the Scheme’s 
investment consultants, Riscura, who attend all Committee 
meetings. Asset managers are invited to attend meetings on a 
rotational basis to report on their strategy and performance.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 13
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Committee 
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Mr Johan Human (Trustee) ü ü ü ü ü

Mr Neil Morrison (Trustee) ü ü ü ü ü

Ms Philile Maphumulo 
(Independent Member) #
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A	 Ad hoc meetings: Ad hoc meetings may be shorter than scheduled Board or 
Committee meetings or are convened for a specific purpose. Trustees and 
Committee Members are remunerated according to the duration of such 
meetings.
•	 A meeting was convened on 22 April 2020 to discuss the equity hedging 

strategy in light of COVID-19.
#	� Resigned as Independent Committee Member effective 29 February 2020.
–	 Not required to attend.

Future focus areas
During 2021, the Committee will review the Scheme’s 
asset allocation across the various asset classes to 
account for changes in market conditions and the 
Scheme’s risk appetite. This will include continuing to 
optimise asset allocation across the various equity 
portfolio management styles.

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Committee oversees the nomination and vetting process 
to elect suitably fit and proper persons as Trustees. In terms of 
the Scheme Rules, the Trustees may appoint an independent 
third-party service provider to assist the Nomination 
Committee in carrying out its functions. For the 2020 election, 
the Trustees approved the appointment of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ (PwC’s) Forensic Services division as 
the independent third-party service provider to assist the 
Nomination Committee.

Activities during 2020
The following activities were initiated by the Committee for the 
2020 Trustee elections. This process will continue into 2021, 
with Deloitte & Touche as an independent third-party service 
provider to assist the Nomination Committee to:

	❚ Oversee the procedural aspects of the nominations process, 
including approving communications to members;

	❚ Ensure that the Independent Electoral Body applies a 
vetting process ensuring that candidates standing for 
election are fit and proper. During the process, each 
nominee is subject to stringent vetting criteria; and

	❚ Review and discuss the draft candidate list compiled by the 
Independent Electoral Body (IEB), and provide the final list 
of candidates for election to the Trustees.

The Committee reported to the Board on its activities for the 
2020 election and fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance 
with its terms of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
The Board, at their meeting on 8 April 2020, approved the 
re-appointment of the Nomination Committee Members for 
the purposes of the 2020 nominations and elections processes. 
The Committee comprises three Members who are 
independent of the Board and Board Committees. Committee 
meetings are attended by the IEB and its representatives.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 27
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–	� Not required to attend. On 06 March 2020, the Nomination Committee met 
to observe the IEB’s nominations closure procedures. Not all members of the 
Committee were required to be present.

Future focus areas
Trustee elections were not held 2020 due to the COVID-19 
restrictions relating to public gatherings. The necessary 
approvals were sought and received from the CMS and 
the 2020 Trustee elections will be held in 2021. The 
Nomination Committee will oversee this process from a 
governance perspective in terms of its mandate. The IEB 
has appointed Deloitte & Touche to apply nomination and 
vetting processes, ensuring that candidates who stand for 
election are fit and proper.

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued

PRODUCT COMMITTEE
While there is no statutory requirement for this Committee, it 
was established in terms of Scheme Rule 19.3, as the Trustees 
consider it necessary for ensuring compliance with the 
legislative and regulatory requirements of the Act, as well as 
compliance with best practice governance principles pertaining 
to benefit and product development. The Committee 
comprises members with the requisite skills including actuarial 
and medical expertise. At the end of 2020, the Committee 
comprised three Trustees, one of whom is the Chairperson of 
the Clinical Governance Committee which facilitates the 
required overlap between the two Committees. The Principal 
Officer is also a member of this Committee.

The Committee oversees product development, amendments 
to benefits, proposed benefit plans, and the development of 
annual product communication and marketing materials, with 
due regard for clinical appropriateness, financial affordability 
and sustainability, and stakeholders’ (particularly members’ 
and healthcare providers’) interests.

Activities during 2020
The Committee held three Product Committee meetings during 
2020, and also participated and executed its functions in many 
more Board meetings urgently convened to consider new 
COVID-19 benefits for launch outside of the regular Product 
Committee and Board approval schedule; expedited benefit 
launches were needed to facilitate an agile response to the 
fast-paced evolution of the South African COVID-19 epidemic.  
In accordance with the Committee’s annual work plan, the 
Committee considered matters pertaining to the Scheme’s 
operating position and surplus, impact of current benefits and 
proposed 2021 product and benefit enhancements, relative to 
the Scheme’s market position, all in the context of prevailing 
and proposed policy and regulatory matters, including 
monitoring developments related to NHI, and the potential 
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impact of the proposed Low-Cost Benefit Options framework 
development and other relevant developments.

The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2019, the Committee comprised three Trustees, 
one of whom chaired the Committee, and the Principal Officer. 
The Committee obtains regular reports and presentations from 
Discovery Health, and relevant individuals are regularly invited 
to Committee meetings for this purpose.

The Product and Audit Committees jointly considered the 
actuarial valuation and contribution increases, and invited the 
Scheme’s external auditors, PwC, and the Scheme’s 
independent actuaries, Insight Actuaries & Consultants, to 
attend the meeting.

PRODUCT COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 17
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Attendees Adv Joan Adams (CGC) * – ü –

Dr Nonkululeko Mlaba (CGC) * – ü –

Prof Selma Smith (CGC) * – ü –

%	�Scheme executive. All other Committee Members are non-executive. 
Ms Mbewu was Acting Principal Officer until she was appointed 
Principal Officer, effective 01 July 2020.

*	� Attended in their capacity as members of the Clinical Governance 
Committee.  

–	 Not required to attend.

Future focus areas
The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate to ensure the 
Scheme remains the leading open medical scheme in the 
industry. This is done through continuous product and 
benefit innovations and enhancements while also 
ensuring the Scheme is sustainable and compliant with 
the regulated reserves, and able to meet the needs of 
members in the case of significant unforeseen events, as 
was the case with COVID-19.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Committee assists the Board in ensuring that the Scheme’s 
remuneration practices are fair, responsible and transparent. It 
also assists with overseeing human resources strategies and 
policies, and ensuring compliance with these policies. It further 
oversees the remuneration of Trustees and Independent 
Committee Members and makes recommendations to the 
Board regarding remuneration structures for Trustees and 
Independent Committee Members. Finally, it ensures that 
reporting disclosures relating to remuneration are made 
according to regulatory guidelines, and that a formal, rigorous 
and transparent process is followed for appointing senior staff.

The responsibilities of the Committee include:

	❚ Reviewing and approving the employee remuneration 
framework, remuneration packages and annual increases 
applicable to employees, including executives;

	❚ Recommending to the Board the remuneration structure 
and fees for Trustees for approval by the Scheme’s 
members;

	❚ Recommending to the Board the remuneration structure 
and fees for Independent Committee Members;

	❚ Ensuring that remuneration policies are established and 
administered in the Scheme’s long-term interests; and

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued

	❚ Ensuring, where possible1, that succession plans are in place 
to maintain an appropriate balance of skills in the Scheme’s 
management and governance structures.

 Activities during 2020
	❚ Recommended Trustee and Independent Committee 

Member remuneration to the Board for approval and 
advised the Board on regulatory aspects of remuneration 
implementation, with due regard to the fact that the 
Scheme’s AGM was not held.

	❚ Considered and recommended the Trustee and 
Independent Committee Member Remuneration Policy to 
the Board for approval and advised the Board on regulatory 
aspects of policy implementation, with due regard to the 
fact that the Scheme’s AGM was not held.

	❚ Considered and recommended employee remuneration to 
the Trustees for approval.

	❚ Considered and recommended Scheme human resources 
policies to the Board for approval.

	❚ Considered and approved training and development 
requirements for Scheme employees.

	❚ Considered plans to address the impact of COVID-19 on 
Scheme employees.

	❚ Assessed and provided input into the Scheme’s culture and 
values alignment plans.

The Committee is satisfied its activities, recommendations and 
reporting to the Board during 2020 have fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

1  �At least half of the Trustees must be elected by members at any time. Succession 
planning is therefore not possible for these positions.
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Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2020, the Committee comprised four Trustees 
and an Independent Committee Member. The Principal Officer 
attends Committee meetings by invitation.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 21
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Future focus areas
The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate. Key focus areas 
will include:

	» Exercising oversight of the revised performance 
management approach with the intention of full 
implementation in 2021;

	» Continuing to engage with the Principal Officer and 
Board on the Scheme’s Remuneration Policy and 
ensuring the appropriateness of remuneration and 
reward arrangements and/or systems; and

	» Reviewing the Scheme’s remuneration practices, where 
appropriate, and ensuring these comply with changing 
legislative and regulatory requirements, including 
those relating to King IV.

RISK COMMITTEE
The Committee oversees risk management, compliance, IT 
governance, fraud, ethics, whistleblowing, legal and regulatory 
matters, non-healthcare expenses, outsourcing and operations.

The purpose of the Risk Committee is to exercise ongoing 
oversight of risk management, and the Committee’s 
responsibilities include:

	❚ Assessing the risks and opportunities emanating from the 
triple context in which the Scheme operates and the 
capitals that the Scheme utilises and affects, by fostering an 
environment where consideration of risk is embedded in 
the Scheme’s culture, business planning, decision-making 
and day-to-day activities;

	❚ Assessing both the potential opportunities and negative 
effects inherent in risks which may impact on organisational 
objectives;

	❚ Assessing the organisation’s dependence on resources and 
relationships represented by the various forms of capital;

	❚ Designing and implementing appropriate risk responses by 
continually assessing mitigation plans and their 
implementation by management, and recommending 
measures which may enhance the risk management 
process;

	❚ Establishing and implementing business continuity 
arrangements that allow the organisation to operate under 
volatile conditions and to withstand and recover from acute 
shocks; and

	❚ Integrating and embedding risk management in the 
business activities and culture of the organisation through 
continual risk monitoring and identification.

Compliance management
The Trustees recognise their responsibility to internal and 
external stakeholders in terms of the regulatory requirements 
applicable to the Scheme.

The Scheme has implemented a co-ordinated compliance 
framework to ensure all operations are conducted in 
accordance with applicable legal, regulatory and supervisory 
requirements and guidelines. The Scheme outsources certain 
compliance activities to the Discovery Group Compliance 
function. The framework is structured to facilitate the process 
of obtaining information from Discovery Health to monitor and 
oversee the outsourced operations, and a compliance 
monitoring plan is approved on an annual basis.

Changes to regulations that could impact the Scheme’s strategy 
and operations are monitored. Where required, action plans 
implemented by management are monitored and reported to 
the Committee.

Risk management
The Trustees recognise that risk management is an integral 
part of the strategy-setting process and delegates the 
responsibility of designing, implementing and monitoring the 
risk management process and system to Scheme management. 
Risk management is facilitated by the Chief Operations Officer 
who ensures that risk management is embedded in daily 
management activities.

The Trustees are satisfied that the risk management process is 
effective in continuously identifying and evaluating risks, and 
ensuring that these risks are managed in line with business 
strategy.

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued
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Activities during 2020
	❚ Participated in the annual risk assessment, which included 

representatives of the Committee, the Scheme Office, and 
the administrator and managed care provider.

	❚ Regularly reviewed risk management reports and key risk 
indicators, and performed the review of the risk 
management framework and risk appetite recommended 
to the Trustees for approval. 

	❚ Regularly reviewed compliance reports and monitored 
exposure and actions taken to mitigate compliance risks.

	❚ Received reports to assist in managing the Scheme’s IT 
governance obligations. This included a focus on 
cybersecurity and business continuity.

	❚ Considered specific risks related to data sharing across the 
industry to ensure that Scheme and member data are 
protected.

	❚ Approved the Scheme’s fraud risk management strategy. 
	❚ Reviewed and monitored reports on the service levels 

delivered by Discovery Health.
	❚ Assessed the value added to the Scheme by Discovery 

Health.
	❚ Reviewed the Scheme’s non-healthcare expenses against 

budget.
	❚ Reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval, the 

new accredited administration  and other administration 
services agreements to be entered into by the Scheme and 
Discovery Health, arising from the implementation of CMS 
Circular 77 of 2019.

	❚ Reviewed the Committee’s terms of reference.

The Committee is satisfied its activities recommendations and 
reporting to the Board during 2020 have fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2019, the Committee comprised two Independent 
Members, two members of the Scheme Office, and two 
Trustees, one of whom chaired the Committee. The external 
auditors, PwC, as well as the Discovery Group Risk 
Management function and Discovery Group Compliance 
function attend every Committee meeting. Representatives 
from Discovery Health also attend to provide detailed 
operational insight.

RISK COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 12
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Ms Charlotte Mbewu  
(Principal Officer) # %
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(Chief Risk Officer) %
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A - Ad hoc meetings: Ad hoc meetings may be shorter than scheduled Board or 
Committee meetings or are convened for a specific purpose. Trustees and 
Committee Members are remunerated according to the duration of such 
meetings.
•	 The meeting on 8 July 2020 was for the Scheme’s annual risk register review,  

to which Committee Members were invited.
•	 A meeting was convened on 26 November 2020 to discuss Circular 77 of 

2019: Administration Agreements.

∞	�Appointed as an Independent Audit and Risk Committee Member effective 
01 January 2020.

#	� Ms Mbewu was Acting Principal Officer until she was appointed Principal 
Officer, effective 01 July 2020. 

%	Scheme Executive. All other Committee Members are non-executive.

Future focus areas
The Committee will continue to exercise due care and 
responsibility in fulfilling its mandate. Key focus areas 
will include maintaining high-quality affordable benefits, 
developments in the regulatory landscape and cyber 
data risks.
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND 
ETHICS COMMITTEE

The purpose of the Stakeholder Relations and Ethics 
Committee is to assist the Trustees to oversee stakeholder 
relationship management, responsible corporate citizenship 
and the ethics activities of the Scheme. The roles and 
responsibilities of the Committee are as follows:

Ethics and society:
	❚ Assist the Trustees to ensure that the Scheme has an ethical 

culture and is a good corporate citizen.
	❚ Oversee, monitor and evaluate the ethics of the Scheme in 

a way that supports an ethical culture.
	❚ Oversee, monitor and evaluate the corporate citizenship of 

the Scheme such that the Scheme is, and is seen to be, a 
responsible corporate citizen.

	❚ Oversee and monitor the development of adequate 
processes and procedures for managing the Scheme’s 
ethics and corporate citizenship.

	❚ Provide feedback to the Board regarding risks related to 
ethical and societal issues, and provide mitigation steps or 
enhanced process recommendations to mitigate these risks.

Stakeholder relations:
	❚ Identify material stakeholder groupings and individuals, 

along with their legitimate needs, interests and 
expectations.

	❚ Oversee and monitor the development of adequate 
processes and procedures for engaging with the Scheme’s 
material stakeholders.

	❚ Oversee, monitor and evaluate management of and 
engagement with the Scheme’s material stakeholders.

	❚ Provide feedback and updates to the Board regarding 
stakeholder interactions, risks identified, or opportunities 
for new channels of engagement.

The Committee may rely on other Board Committees in its 
oversight responsibilities.

Our committees’ mandates, activities, attendance and future focus continued

Activities during 2020
	❚ Considered the impact of COVID-19 and how best to 

support the Scheme’s members and other stakeholders, 
and reviewed the impact of the Scheme’s and other 
organisations’ interventions to understand the widespread 
national effects of the pandemic from a stakeholder 
perspective. 

	❚ Reviewed reports relating to the Committee’s social and 
ethics mandate, including overall stakeholder engagement 
and risk, social media engagement, disputes and 
complaints, the Scheme’s workplace, Treating Customers 
Fairly (TCF) and high-risk cases.

	❚ Reviewed stakeholder responses to year-end benefit 
changes along with stakeholder engagement plans, where 
required.

	❚ Considered the consequences to members and the Scheme 
of postponing the Scheme’s AGM and Trustee nominations 
and elections due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

	❚ Considered information regarding the activities of the 
Dispute, Relationship Management and Research 
Governance Committees, and ratified appointments to the 
Dispute Committee.

	❚ Discussed impending regulatory changes which may affect 
the Scheme’s members, other stakeholders, and the 
operations of the Scheme.

	❚ Reviewed the establishment of new industry bodies and 
patient advocacy groups and considered the Scheme’s 
relationship to these.

	❚ Considered the progress of the implementation of some of 
the recommendations of the HMI and how these would 
affect members, as well as activity regarding the NHI Bill.

	❚ In early 2021, closely considered the interim report of the 
Section 59 Investigation Panel and its implications for the 
Scheme and our stakeholders.

The Committee is satisfied that its activities, recommendations 
and reporting to the Board during 2020 have fulfilled its 
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

Composition and meetings in 2020
At the end of 2020, the Committee comprised five Trustees, 
one of whom chaired the Committee, and the Principal Officer. 
The Committee requires that one of its members is a medical 
professional.

The Committee obtains regular reports from Discovery Health, 
which engages in some stakeholder relations activity on the 
Scheme’s behalf. Individuals from Discovery Health are 
regularly invited to Committee meetings in this regard. External 
experts are also occasionally invited to address the Committee.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE
attendance in 2020 27
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Trustee/
Chairperson

Mr John Butler ü ü ü

Committee 
Members

Mr Dave King (Trustee) ü ü ü

Dr Dhesan Moodley (Trustee) ü ü ü

Adv Joan Adams (Trustee) ü ü ü

Mr Neil Morrison (Trustee) ∞ ü ü –

Dr Susette Brynard (Trustee) ü ü ü

Ms Charlotte Mbewu (Principal Officer) % # ü ü ü

Attendees Mr Johan Human (Trustee) * – ü –

∞	�Resigned as Committee Member effective 30 April 2020.  Mr Morrison 
attended the meeting of 21 May 2020 on the invitation of the Chairperson, 
and was not remunerated for attendance.  

%	�Scheme Executive. All other Committee Members are non-executive.
#	� Ms Mbewu was Acting Principal Officer until she was appointed Principal 

Officer, effective 01 July 2020.
*	� Mr Human attended the meeting of 21 May 2020 on the invitation of the 

Chairperson, and was not remunerated for attendance. 
–	 Not required to attend. 

Future focus areas
In addition to its usual focus areas, the Committee will be 
closely monitoring COVID-19, its effects on stakeholders 
and society and any regulatory and other developments 
emerging from the country’s response to the pandemic.
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ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE 
The Accreditation Committee is an ad-hoc committee established on 
30 January 2020 by the Trustees to deliberate on matters raised by the 
CMS with regards to the accreditation of Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, and 
provide feedback to the Trustees. The Committee was established in 
terms of Rule 19.3 of the Scheme Rules, which gives power to the Board:  

“To appoint and delegate authority to a subcommittee consisting of such 
Board Members and other experts as it may deem necessary. This 
Committee will be responsible to provide feedback to the Board. The 
Board remains responsible and accountable for the fulfilment of its 
functions despite the appointment of any subcommittee.”

Activities during 2020
The Committee met once to consider aspects of the accreditation 
standards required, and provided feedback to the Trustees accordingly.  
Subsequently, the Committee received and evaluated periodic progress 
updates on the Discovery Health accreditation project through email 
correspondence. All related feedback has also been reported directly by 
Discovery Health to the Trustees.

Composition and meetings in 2020
The Committee comprises four Trustees and was convened once 
during 2020. 

ACCREDITATION COMMITTEE 
attendance in 2020 20

 F
eb

Trustee/Chairperson Dhesan Moodley ü

Committee Members Adv Joan Adams ü

Mr Johan Human ü

Mr John Butler ü

Future focus areas
This Committee will be dissolved when concerns and queries raised 
by the CMS have been concluded.

Independent Member terms1

INDEPENDENT BOARD 
COMMITTEE MEMBER Designation

Appointed/
Elected Start of Term End of Term

Eric Mackeown Chair of the Audit Committee, 
Independent Risk and 
Investment Committee 
Member

Appointed 01 Sep 19 31 Aug 22

Alewyn Burger Independent Audit and Risk 
Committees Member

Appointed 01 Jan 20 31 Dec 22

Ndumiso Luthuli Independent Remuneration 
Committee Member

Appointed 18 Apr 18 17 Apr 21

Nonkululeko Mlaba Independent Clinical 
Governance Committee 
Member

Appointed 28 Aug 18 27 Aug 21

Selma Smith Independent Clinical 
Governance Committee 
Member 

Appointed 01 Jan 16 31 Dec 18
Re-appointed 01 Jan 19 31 Dec 21

Susan Ludolph Independent Audit and Risk 
Committees Member

Appointed 19 Jan 16 19 Jan 19
Re-appointed 20 Jan 19 19 Jan 22

Peter Goss Chair of the Nomination 
Committee

Appointed 22 Oct 15 22 Jun 17
Re-appointed 28 Aug 18 30 Sep 212

Tom Wixley Nomination Committee 
Member

Appointed 22 Oct 15 22 Jun 17
Re-appointed 28 Aug 18 30 Sep 212

Roy Shough Nomination Committee 
Member

Appointed 22 Oct 15 22 Jun 17
Re-appointed 28 Aug 18 30 Sep 212

1	 �Due to the variation of Disputes Committee panellists, members are not listed. Each Disputes Panel consists of three Independent Members drawn 
from the greater Disputes Committee, each of whom have either legal or medical expertise. Dispute Hearings are scheduled as and when required, 
and draw from the legal and medical panellists available at the time. The Committee can be constituted several times a week if required to attend to 
increased caseloads.  

2	 �Amended from the date 26 June 2020 reported in the 2019 Integrated Report. The change is due to COVID-19 restrictions on public gatherings which 
prevented Trustee elections being held as planned; these have since been postponed to 2021. As the Board constitutes the Nomination Committee 
only when required for Trustee elections, these Committee Member terms are not for a fixed three-year period.
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DR ALEWYN BURGER (69)
MSc (Mathematical Statistics);  
PhD (Mathematical Statistics);  
Advanced Executive Programme (UNISA); Advanced 
Management Program (Harvard Graduate School)

Member of the Audit and Risk Committees

Extensive experience in IT architecture, implementation 
and operations, as well as governance, planning, 
strategy, research and development at global CTO, CIO 
and global group executive director level. Previously 
chaired an IT risk governance committee and is an IT 
expert Board Member.

MR ERIC MACKEOWN (63)
CA(SA)

Chairperson of the Audit Committee and 
Member of the Risk and Investment 
Committees

More than 40 years’ experience in the Accounting 
and Auditing profession. Was lead audit partner 
for numerous major multinational and JSE-listed 
companies. Thorough and deep understanding of 
the health and medical aid industries.

DR PETER GOSS (53)
Professor of Practice (Governance, Fraud Risk, 
Forensic Auditing): University of Johannesburg; 
PhD (Criminal Justice), College of Law, UNISA

Chairperson of the Nomination Committee

Established corporate governance adviser and 
forensic auditor with a career spanning over 30 
years. Author of three books on Corporate 
Governance, Fraud and Corruption Risk 
Governance, and the Forensic Investigation 
Process.

MRS SUE LUDOLPH (57)
CA(SA)

Member of the Audit Committee

Technical expert in IFRS and financial and integrated reporting, 
including standard setting for accounting in South Africa. 
Established and implemented the strategy and work plan for 
South Africa’s first top 100 CFO Forum to guide, influence and 
lead on issues affecting CFOs and business. Independent 
non-executive director of Fortress REIT from December 2018, a 
member of their Audit and Risk Committees and appointed 
Chairperson of the Risk Committee from December 2019. Judge 
for the PwC Building Public Trust Awards from 2014 to 2018. 

DR NONKULULEKO MLABA (49)
MBBCh; MPH; PGDHE; FC Rad Onc (SA)

Member of the Clinical Governance Committee

Seasoned healthcare professional with a medical degree 
and postgraduate public health and health economics 
qualifications, working as a specialist radiation oncologist at 
Charlotte Maxeke Academic Hospital. Deep understanding 
of managed healthcare, healthcare regulation and clinical 
research.

MR ROY SHOUGH (70)
CA(SA); HDip BDP

Member of the Nomination Committee

Acknowledged as a leading expert in 
corporate governance, particularly in 
relation to governance processes as well 
as the role, responsibilities and 
effectiveness of boards, directors and 
board committees, and senior executives 
in governance and risk management.

DR SELMA SMITH (59)
MBChB; M Prax Med3; FCFP(SA)4 

Member of the Clinical Governance 
Committee

Specialist family physician and expert in 
family medicine and primary care in the 
public sector. Has held directorships on the 
governing bodies of educational institutions 
focused on improving outcomes in family 
medicine in South Africa.

MR TOM WIXLEY (80)
BCom; CA(SA)

Member of the Nomination Committee

More than 40 years’ experience in 
accounting and auditing. Former director 
of numerous public companies. Expert 
in corporate governance and 
published author. 

Independent Board Committee Members1

MR NDUMISO 
LUTHULI (45)
B.Proc; LLB; BCL2; MBA

Member of the 
Remuneration Committee

Member of the Johannesburg 
Society of Advocates, practising 
commercial, administrative and 
constitutional law.

1	 Note: all ages as at 31 December 2020.
2	 Bachelor of Civil Law.

3	 Masters in Family Medicine.
4	 Fellow of the College of Family Physicians of South Africa.
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In accordance with King IV Principle 14, which states “The governing body should ensure 
that the organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly and transparently so as to promote 
the achievement of strategic objectives and positive outcomes in the short, medium and 
long term”, the Board is responsible for the development and implementation of a 
Remuneration Policy for the Trustees and Board Committee Members.

Our approach to 
remuneration

The Board of Trustees has delegated oversight of Scheme 
remuneration to a Remuneration Committee, which is a Board 
Committee established in terms of the DHMS Board charter.  
The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its remuneration 
governance and oversight obligations and responsibilities in 
terms of the Act, Scheme Rules and best practice governance 
principles.

As and when required, the Committee uses independent 
expert consultants and independent market 
benchmarking to assist the Committee to develop and 
implement best remuneration practices, as detailed in the 
approved Remuneration Policy. Trustee remuneration 
disclosure occurs in three forums:

	❚ At the AGM;
	❚ To the CMS, the Scheme’s Regulator; and
	❚ In the Scheme’s Integrated Report.

Trustee remuneration is based on a professional hourly rate, 
discounted due to the Scheme’s non-profit status. This forms 
the foundation of all Trustee and Board Committee 
remuneration, and is the rate that members are required to 
vote on annually via ballot at the AGM.

The purpose of the Remuneration Policy is to:

	❚ Provide the guiding principles underpinning the 
Scheme’s employee remuneration philosophy;

	❚ Set out the guiding principles and application for each 
component of reward (i.e. short- and long-term 
incentives);

	❚ Stipulate the role and function of the Remuneration 
Committee; and

	❚ Define the remuneration procedures of the Scheme.

The Remuneration Policy is based on the requirement set out 
by the CMS in Circular 41 of 2014 and was presented to 
members for the first time at the 2014 AGM, where it was 
approved by a majority of members in attendance. The Policy 
is reviewed annually by the Committee for Board approval, and 
is tabled each year at the AGM for a non-binding vote by 
members.

The total remuneration paid to Trustees is determined by 
the following elements:

	❚ Number of meetings planned per year;
	❚ Preparation time for each meeting;
	❚ Duration of meetings;
	❚ Estimated time between meetings required by the 

Chairpersons; and
	❚ The number of actual meetings attended.

In addition to their other duties, Trustees are members of 
Board Committees, each of which differs regarding preparation 
time, duration of meetings, and number of meetings in 
the year.

The total annual fees payable to Trustees and Board 
Committee Members is calculated based on the number 
of planned Board and Board Committee meetings as per 
the annual meeting plan and is split into:

	❚ An annual base fee (70% of the total annual fees, paid 
as a quarterly retainer in arrears); and

	❚ A fee per meeting (30% of the total annual fees, paid at 
the end of the month in which the meeting took place).

If an unplanned ad hoc meeting is required outside of the 
annual meeting plan, the attendee is remunerated at the 
hourly rate.

Trustee and/or Board Committee Member fees are exclusive of 
VAT. Where Trustees and/or Board Committee Members are 
registered for VAT, they issue a tax invoice to the Scheme 
clearly reflecting the VAT amount in addition to their total fees 
for the period.

https://www.discovery.co.za/assets/discoverycoza/medical-aid/annual-general-meeting/dhms-remuneration-policy.pdf


Staff movements during 2020/21 

In April 2021, Ms Joy Malete joined us as our new Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). Ms Malete is a qualified CA (SA) 
with over nine years cumulative working experience 
and over six years post articles experience, five of 
which were in management positions.  

Scheme Secretariat 

The Scheme has an appropriately qualified and 
experienced secretariat function within its operational 
structure that provides the Board with support 
regarding their duties, responsibilities and powers. 
In addition, the secretariat function ensures that all 
rules and legislation applicable to the Scheme are 
adhered to by the Board and its Committees during 
meetings, and that Board decisions are implemented. 
The Scheme Secretariat is also responsible and 
accountable for all governance-related records and 
documentation for the Scheme.

Delegation of authority 

The Board has implemented a formal delegation of 
authority that provides a framework for achieving our 
strategic priorities within compliance requirements, 
while also balancing the interests of our stakeholders, 
minimising and avoiding conflicts of interest, and 
practicing good corporate behaviour. The delegation 
of authority contributes to the effective exercise of 
authority and responsibility required for optimal 
operation of the Scheme, promoting independent 
judgement and ensuring a balance of power. The 
delegation of authority is reviewed and updated 
whenever necessary to ensure relevance to operating 
requirements and alignment with the accountabilities 
and authorities of Scheme employees.

As one of their fiduciary duties, the Trustees appoint and 
delegate accountability for the day-to-day management 
of the Scheme to the Principal Officer, who is the chief 
executive and accounting officer of the Scheme. 

Managing the 
Scheme Office

Remuneration and human 
resources planning 

The Trustees and the Remuneration 
Committee direct and oversee remuneration 
for employees of the Scheme Office. 
Remuneration is carefully structured and 
independently benchmarked according to 
experience and skills required and is informed 
by best practice.

The Scheme must attract and retain high-
calibre staff to manage and oversee its 
complex operations. In 2020, the Scheme 
Office consisted of twelve staff members, 
including a team of six executives who report 
to the Principal Officer and are supported by 
the Scheme Secretariat and administration 
departments. This lean employee complement 
makes succession planning challenging and, as 
a result, the operational model applied by the 
Scheme Office requires significant overlap in 
executive team capabilities. In turn, this must 
be supported by a mature knowledge 
management and retention strategy to 
mitigate this risk, including a notice period 
sufficient to allow for transition and 
recruitment of scarce skills.

The Principal Officer must be fit and proper to 
hold this office and may appoint any staff 
required for the proper execution of the 
business of the Scheme.

The Board delegates collective management 
responsibilities to the Principal Officer and 
determines the terms and conditions of service 
of any person employed by the Scheme. The 
Principal Officer is required to execute the 
decisions of the Board and bears ultimate 
responsibility for all management functions.

Guided by the Act, its Regulations, the Scheme 
Rules along with other applicable laws, codes and 
standards, the Board’s delegation of authority to 
the Principal Officer is supported by an executive 
management team in executing the strategic 
objectives of the Scheme. The team works in 
collaboration with Discovery Health, which 
provides it with administration and managed 
care services, to implement strategy.

The management team’s expertise encompasses 
a diverse array of capabilities related to medicine, 
actuarial science, risk management, accounting, 
business management, strategic development, 
financial management, investment, governance, 
law, ethics, compliance and research.
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PR IN C IPAL  OFF ICER
Ms Charlotte Mbewu1 
BCom (Hons) Accounting; CA (SA)

Council member of iFHP2, and a member of 
SAICA Medical Schemes Project Group.

Accounting (Chief Executive) Officer of the Scheme.

HEA D:  LEGAL  AND ETHICS  (HL E )
Mr Howard Snoyman
LLB; MSc. Med (Bioethics and Health Law); Dip Sports 
Management; Adv Dip Sports Management; Certified 
Deal Architect3; Certified Ethics Officer ; Certified Fraud 
Examiner (in progress); MicroMasters (Healthcare 
Administration) (in progress).

Board member of the Marketing Code Authority, member 
of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditor’s (IRBA) 
Committee for Auditor Ethics.

The HLE advises on, formulates and oversees strategic and 
operational legal and ethics frameworks and activities, 
including escalated member disputes and complaints, and 
ensures the incorporation of all relevant requirements into 
the legislative universe of the Scheme.

1

HEA D:  COMPL IANCE  AND  
GOV ER NANCE  (HCG)
Mrs Lusani Nelufule-Mugivhi
LLB; Postgraduate Diploma in Compliance Management

Board member of the Corporate Counsel Association of South Africa.

The HCG provides a central source of guidance to the Scheme on 
governance matters and ensures the management, co-ordination and 
responsibility for the Scheme Secretariat function, as well as compliance 
with the Scheme’s legislative and regulatory obligations.

2

CHIEF  MEDICAL  OFF ICER  (CMO)
Dr Unati Mahlati
MBChB; FCPHM4; MMed; MBA (in progress)

Board member of HQA5.

The CMO advises on and oversees strategic and operational 
clinical governance and risk management, product 
development and marketing. The CMO also ensures that 
Scheme resources in this regard are fully optimised in the 
best interest of members and sustainability.

3

CHIEF  OPERAT IONS  OFF ICER 
(COO)
Mr Selwyn Kahlberg
BSc (Hons) Actuarial; CFA; FASSA; FIA

The COO advises on and oversees investment, enterprise 
risk management and outsourced operations, and ensures 
the optimisation of Scheme investment performance in the 
best interest of members, as well as operational efficiency 
and adherence to the defined risk appetite of the Scheme.

4

HEAD:  SPEC IAL  PROJECTS  AND 
STAKEHOLDER  RELAT IONS 
(HSPSR )
Ms Michelle Culverwell
BA (Hons); MBA in Executive Management

Member of the HFA6 Technical Advisory Committee.

The HSPSR advises on and oversees effective stakeholder 
relations, ethics and responsible corporate citizenship, and 
engages in special projects to enhance the strategic 
direction and sustainability of the Scheme.

5

C HI EF  F I NA NC I A L  OFF I C ER  (CFO)
Mrs Joy Malete7 
CA(SA); CIMA; BCom (Hons) Accounting

The CFO advises on and oversees strategic and operational 
finance and audit matters, and ensures that Scheme 
resources are optimised fully in the best interest of members.

1	 �Previously the CFO, Ms Mbewu was appointed Acting Principal Officer 
from 1 December 2019 after the resignation of the previous Principal 
Officer. On 1 July 2020, after a rigorous recruitment process followed by 
the Board of Trustees, she was appointed Principal Officer. She acted as 
CFO until 11 April 2021.

2	 iFHP: International Federation of Health Plans. 
3	 �The Vested® Certified Deal Architect (CDA) programme, offered by the 

University of Tennessee, certifies individuals as experts in the field of 
collaborative contracting and negotiations.

4.	 Fellow of the College of Public Health Medicine of South Africa.
5.	 HQA: Health Quality Assessment.
6.	 HFA: Health Funders Association.
7	 Ms Malete was appointed CFO from 12 April 2021.

Executive 
team
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Regulatory and industry matters  
dealt with in 2020
FR A UD,  W A STE  AND ABUSE

In recognition of the severe impact of fraud, waste and abuse 
(FWA) on medical schemes and their members, the CMS held 
its inaugural annual FWA Summit in early 2019. DHMS 
attended and, together with other industry stakeholders, 
signed an industry charter pledging to combat FWA. An 
industry code of good practice for managing incidents of FWA 
is in development, and the HFA has submitted its code for 
consideration for incorporation into the industry-wide 
approach.

During 2019, the CMS convened an inquiry into the scope and 
use of Section 59 of the Act which confers on medical schemes 
powers to recover funds unduly paid to either members or 
healthcare practitioners. Various healthcare professionals, 
facilities, medical schemes and medical scheme administrators 
testified at the inquiry, as did Discovery Health and DHMS. The 
Scheme and Discovery Health were able to explain in detail the 
processes and principles of its activities to combat FWA, and to 
demonstrate that these are legal and ethical, together with 
making written submissions in support of the testimony.

The publication of the investigation report was delayed during 
2020; however an interim report was published for stakeholder 
comments in early 2021 and Discovery Health made a 
submission to the Panel on 5 April 2021 in this regard. The 
Scheme and Discovery Health support the objectives of the 
Panel and are committed to the development and 
implementation of an industry framework and code of good 
practice to ensure clear standards of procedural fairness.

C OVI D -19 

Throughout 2020 and into 2021, the pandemic has driven 
significant industry activity. This has been characterised by 
high levels of co-operation, with proactive steps taken to 
support all South African citizens, including Scheme 
members and other stakeholders. In recognition of the 
economic impact of the pandemic, particularly during and 
after the hard lockdown, the Trustees approved the 
submission of exemption applications in respect of certain 
provisions of the Act and Scheme Rules, enabling the 
Scheme to provide much needed economic relief to 
members. Qualifying members were afforded the 
opportunity to utilise their positive medical savings account 
balances to pay for monthly Scheme contributions, and 
concessions were granted to qualifying small and medium 
enterprise employer groups. Several COVID-19 benefits 
were launched to facilitate members’ access to diagnostic 
testing and treatment and care, with some exceeding the 
Prescribed Minimum Benefits (PMBs). Through HFA, 
engagements have taken place with the CMS and the 
Department of Health to ensure rapid adoption of updated 
PMB guidelines for funding COVID-19 care through risk 
benefits. DHMS has also been highly supportive of the 
country’s initiatives to timeously procure and distribute 
effective COVID-19 vaccines to all South Africans, to protect 
the population and restore the economy. The Scheme 
continues to contribute to these efforts through HFA 
representation. 

CMS MATTERS

Certain provisions of Rule 11 of the Scheme Rules remain 
unregistered with the CMS. This Rule deals with preventing 
members from re-joining the Scheme immediately after 
committing fraud or intentional non-disclosure against it. To 
protect the Scheme’s greater membership, the Scheme 
believes that such members should be prohibited from 
re-joining for a certain time period. During 2016, the Scheme 
lodged two appeals, both of which were unsuccessful. 
Following legal advice, on 17 May 2017 the Trustees lodged a 
High Court Application for Review of the “non-registration” of 
this Rule in terms of the Promotion of Administrative Justice 
Act. The High Court Review has yet to be set down.

A Scheme Rule, once registered, remains registered until either 
the Scheme’s Board of Trustees amends or rescinds the Rule 
and the amended Rule is then registered by the CMS, or a 
Court rescinds the Rule in question upon application by the 
Registrar of the CMS.

Scheme Rule 14.7 dealing with the rejection of claims from 
providers where these place the Scheme at risk, was submitted 
to the CMS in 2012 and was registered. Subsequent iterations 
of the Rule were the subject of debate with the CMS and were 
not registered. The matter was taken on appeal in terms of 
Section 49 of the Act and was set down for hearing on 13 July 
2018. Just prior to the appeal hearing, the CMS conceded that 
the Rule was in effect still registered and, by agreement, the 
hearing was no longer necessary. 

The effect of this concession is that the Rule, as it stood when 
last registered in 2012, remains legally registered and 
enforceable. At the time of writing, iterations of the Rule from 
2014, up to and including 2020, remain unstamped 
(unregistered) by the CMS, however this does not affect the 
validity of the 2012 registration (also stamped and thus 
re-registered in 2013).

Several COVID-19 benefits were 
launched to facilitate members’ 
access to diagnostic testing and 
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The explanatory notes to Annexure A of the Regulations to the 
Act acknowledge that, due to constantly changing medical 
practice and health technology, PMBs must be reviewed every 
two years taking cognisance of the impact, effectiveness and 
appropriateness of the PMB package. The PMB Review project, 
convened by the CMS with industry stakeholders including 
medical schemes and administrators represented in the Advisory 
and Costing Committees, is ongoing since 2017. Thus far a draft 
Primary Health Care Package has been published, and is currently 
being costed.    

In December 2019, CMS Circulars 80 and 82 announced that no 
further Low-Cost Benefit Options (LCBO) exemptions would be 
granted by the CMS, and that all existing products exempted from 
the requirements of the Act in terms of the Demarcation 
Exemption Framework must be wound up before March 2021.

The CMS subsequently held a number of stakeholder 
engagements and has established two advisory committees 
incorporating stakeholders from both the insurance and medical 
scheme industries to develop a roadmap for the products. In 
Circular 56 of 2020, the CMS extended the exemption period to 
31 March 2022. As of early 2021, the work of these committees to 
assist the CMS to establish the best way forward, while protecting 
the many lives currently covered by these products, is in progress. 
DHMS will engage with this important work through the HFA 
wherever appropriate, and supports the development of an LCBO 
framework.  LCBOs will expand necessary access for low-income 
and uninsured households, ensuring access to quality and 
appropriate care while expanding and improving the risk pools of 
medical schemes and also reducing pressure on public sector 
resources and infrastructure.

The inspection initiated by the CMS in 2017 was completed in 
2018. The Scheme co-operated fully with the Inspector, has 
submitted a response to the CMS, and awaits finalisation of the 
matter.

C OM PET I T I ON C OM M I SS I ON ’S 
HEA L TH M A RK ET  I NQUI RY  (HM I ) 
I NTO THE  PR I VA TE  HEA L THC A RE 
I ND USTRY 

On 30 September 2019, the final report of the inquiry 
by the Competition Commission into the private health 
industry to determine whether there are aspects of the 
market which distort, restrict or prevent competition 
was published. The Scheme supports the 
implementation of the HMI’s recommendations 
wherever these contribute to improved functioning 
within the industry, to the benefit of all South Africans. 
In September 2020, the Competition Commission 
indicated that it had begun discussions with the CMS 
and the Department of Health about establishing a 
multi-stakeholder working committee for the 
development of a multi-lateral tariff negotiating 
framework and  voluntary outcomes monitoring and 
reporting functionality1. The HMI also confirmed that 
administrators are within their rights to negotiate 
collectively for the restricted schemes they administer 
in addition to a single open scheme, as there is no 
mutual competition between such schemes.

DISCOVERY  HEALTH ACCREDITAT ION 

All administrators and managed care providers in the industry must 
renew their CMS accreditation every two years. In December 2019, 
the CMS informed the Scheme that administration accreditation was 
granted to Discovery Health to perform administration services for a 
further two-year period, extending this to 31 December 2021. The 
accreditation was subject to conditions which Discovery Health was 
required to fulfil. The Trustees and Principal Officer closely 
monitored the fulfilment of these conditions in line with their 
governance responsibilities and fiduciary duties. In 2020, Discovery 
Health submitted evidence of compliance to the CMS and awaits 
further feedback.

NAT IONAL  HEALTH INSURANCE  (NHI ) 
AND THE  DRAFT  MEDICAL  SCHEMES 
AMENDMENT B ILL 

In Chapter 2 of the Bill of Rights, Section 27, the South African 
Constitution provides that all citizens have the right of access to 
healthcare. In accordance with this principle, the NHI policy seeks to 
progressively move the country towards universal health coverage 
to ensure access to affordable quality healthcare for all citizens.

The NHI policy was approved by Cabinet in June 2017, and two draft 
NHI Bills were released for public consultation in June 2018 and July 
2019. The Scheme and Discovery Health made joint submissions on 
both Bills and engaged in other consultative forums including the 
HFA and Business Unity South Africa, which also made submissions. 
These submissions support the provision of universal healthcare to 
all South Africans within a social solidarity framework, but protect 
the rights of individual citizens to purchase and access cover beyond 
their mandatory contributions to the NHI Fund. 

The Parliamentary Committee on Health (PCH) conducted extensive 
stakeholder engagements and has received over 100 000 
submissions, which are under review as of early 2021.  DHMS and 
Discovery Health have requested to present to the PCH on their 
submission and await scheduling of this matter.

1	 �Initially, this will be hosted by the Health Quality Assessment (HQA).

The Scheme supports the 
implementation of the HMI’s 
recommendations wherever 
these contribute to 
improved functioning within 
the sector, to the benefit of 
all South Africans.

“
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FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

https://www.medicalschemes.co.za/


INVESTMENT INCOME 

R1 690 million
(2019: R1 698 million)

NET SURPLUS 

R9 006 million
(2019: R1 563 million) 

MEMBERS’ FUNDS 

R28.2 billion
(2019: R19.2 billion) 

SOLVENCY LEVEL

36.9%
(2019: 27.5%)

CREDIT RATING

AAA
The Scheme has achieved the 
highest possible rating for a medical 
scheme in South Africa for the 

21ST CONSECUTIVE YEAR

The Scheme’s limited sources of financial capital (derived only from member contributions and returns from 
investing member funds) requires a careful balancing of the resources required to meet our strategic objectives, 
and the financial sustainability and solvency requirements of the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS). 

The Scheme has a fiduciary obligation to maximise investment returns with due regard for related risks, requiring that we consider 
issues that can impact longer-term investment performance. The Trustees have adopted a framework for responsible investment 
that encompasses both strategic and tactical elements while remaining cognisant of legislative requirements.

Overview

For the year ended 31 December 2020, DHMS delivered a 
positive net healthcare result of R7 451 million (2019: 
R136 million). This sharp year-on-year increase in surplus is 
attributable to members deferring healthcare during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The Scheme expects a reversal of this 
during the next two years, as pent-up healthcare needs – 
likely exacerbated by worsened states of health due to 
postponing care – result in steep increases in utilisation.

Despite volatile and uncertain investment markets, the 
Scheme generated a healthy investment income of 
R1 690 million (2019: R1 698 million), contributing to the 
net surplus of R9 006 million (2019: R1 563 million) for 
the year.

This solid financial performance increased members’ funds 
to R28.2 billion (2019: R19.2 billion) with a solvency level of 
36.9% (2019: 27.5%), exceeding the regulatory requirement 
of 25%. Receiving a credit rating of AAA from the 
independent credit rating agency, Global Credit Rating Co 
(GCR), the Scheme has achieved the highest possible rating 
for a medical scheme in South Africa for the 21st consecutive 
year, confirming the Scheme’s financial strength and ability 
to pay claims. Despite challenging and unusual market 
conditions, it is the Trustees’ view that DHMS ended 2020 in 
a strong financial position, and remains well-positioned to 
continue to meet members’ needs despite expected 
increases in utilisation.

1	 �At 31 December 2020. 

07 OUR PERFORMANCE
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Scheme performance
for the 2020 financial year



Ensuring the Scheme’s sustainability

The Scheme’s financial strength, its ability to pay claims, and its long-term sustainability are 
crucial to members. A summary of key sustainability outcomes metrics for the Scheme is 
presented below, together with an explanation of why we consider these to be important.

Key performance information

G R O W T H  A N D  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y

1	 �Membership growth across medical schemes is currently affected by affordability and a challenging economic climate, including job losses.
2	 �An increase of less than one year per annum is favourable as it indicates that young people are joining the Scheme.
3	 �Based on beneficiaries’ dates of birth.
4	 �Based on beneficiaries, according to the Council for Medical Schemes Quarterly Report for the period ended 30 September 2020 (www.medicalschemes.co.za/publications/#2009-2010-wpfd-annual-reports).
5	 �To ascertain the contribution differential between DHMS and competitors, we calculate an average contribution within each plan category for a single member and for a family unit comprising one principal 

member, one adult dependant and one child dependant (i.e. a family of three). These average contributions are then weighted (for DHMS and the next eight largest open schemes) according to the 
distribution of members across DHMS plans. This ensures that plans with similar benefits are being compared on a like-for-like basis, thereby providing a reasonable estimate of the lower contribution that a 
typical member of DHMS pays relative to members of similar options in competitor schemes. The data is sourced from published contributions for 2021 and uses a maximum average contribution increase 
of 2.95% for DHMS in 2021 (0% for the first six months of 2021, and a maximum of 5.9% for the second six months).

RELAT IVE 
CONTR IBUT ION LEVELS
Reflects value for money for members, 
effective risk management and value 
added by the administrator and 
managed care provider.

AVERAGE CONTRIBUTIONS 
FOR 2021 

17.3%  
lower than the next eight largest 
open schemes5

(2020: 16.7%)

PL A N M OVEMENTS
Low movement between plans indicates 
member satisfaction, stability in benefit 
design and appropriate pricing.

PLAN 
MOVEMENTS

PLANS DID NOT 
CHANGE FOR 2021
(2020: 94.27%)

96.44%

PLANS WERE 
UPGRADED  
(2020: 2.81%)

1.96%
PLANS WERE 
DOWNGRADED  
(2020: 2.91%)

1.60%

M EM BERSHI P  S I ZE
Greater risk pooling makes for more 
predictable claims experiences and pricing 
accuracy, leading to stable performance.

1 330 513
PRINCIPAL MEMBERS  
at 31 December 2020
(2019: 1 351 720)

2 758 340 
BENEFICIARIES  
at 31 December 2020
(2019: 2 808 106)

57.0%
SHARE OF OPEN SCHEME MARKET4

(2018: 56.7%)

MEMB ERSHIP  GROWTH
Growth in the number of young and healthy 
members improves risk pooling through 
cross-subsidisation principles, which reflects 
the attractiveness and competitiveness of 
the Scheme.

AVERAGE NET 
MEMBERSHIP 
DECLINE1

1.57%
(2019: 0.06% 
growth)

AVERAGE 
BENEFICIARY 
DECLINE1

1.77%
(2019: 0.39% 
decline)

AVERAGE 
AGE AT 
YEAR-END2

35.86
(2019: 35.33) 10.98%

PENSIONER 
RATIO3

(2019: 10.35%)5.19%
ANNUALISED 
LAPSE RATE
(2019: 5.41%)
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F I N A N C I A L  S T R E N G T H  A N D  M A N A G E M E N T

VALUE-ADDED ADMIN ISTRAT ION 
AND MANAGED CARE
FOR EVERY R1.00 SPENT BY DHMS ON 
ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGED 
CARE FEES IN 20193, OUR MEMBERS 
RECEIVED 

R2.03 
(2018: R2.12)
in value from the activities of Discovery Health. 
This is equivalent to nominal added value of 
R7.09 billion in 2019 (2018: R7.34 billion)

ADMINISTRATION FEES 

7.23%  
of gross contributions
(2019: 7.38%)

MANAGED CARE FEES 

2.54%  
of gross contributions
(2019: 2.53%)

1	 �Rating affirmed in April 2021, and refers to how many times the Scheme is able to cover its monthly claims expense with its liquid investments.
2	 �Claims experience in 2020 was substantially reduced due to deferred healthcare seeking during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
3	 �As the assessment uses industry information, results are only available for the preceding year.

A B SOL UTE  RESERVES
Demonstrates our ability to meet large, 
unexpected variation in claims.

ACCUMULATED FUNDS EXPRESSED 
AS A PERCENTAGE OF GROSS 
ANNUAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

36.9% 
(2019: 27.5%) 
exceeding the statutory solvency 
requirement of 25%

AAA
INDEPENDENT CREDIT RATING 
FOR CLAIMS PAYING ABILITY1

(2020: AAA)

PRUD ENT  I NVESTMENT 
M A NA GEM ENT
Ensuring that investment returns, to bolster 
member funds, are maximised within an 
acceptable and conservative level of risk.

PR IC I NG SUFF I C I ENC Y
Surplus year-on-year reflects contribution 
levels that are in line with expected 
membership and claims.

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR OF2 

R9 006 million
(2019: R1 563 million)

5.77% 
GROSS RETURN ON INVESTMENTS 
(2019: 7.02%)
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1	 �According to the Q3 2020 CMS report, at the end of September 2020, a total of 8 901 342 beneficiaries were covered, down from 8 953 000 at the end of 2019.
2	 �Year-on-year change (2019 – 2020).

DECREASE2

1.57%
DECREASE2

1.77%

INCREASE2

6.70%
INCREASE2

46.88%

Historical performance indicators

Consistent with the stagnant South African economy and the impact of COVID-19, the medical 
scheme industry is experiencing a slight decline1. Despite this environment, the Scheme’s 
number of principal members and total lives under management remain stable, and members’ 
funds are sufficient to assure members that the Scheme is able to take care of them.

1 297 466

1 323 427

1 350 854

1 351 720

1 330 513

1 400 1 3501 3001 2501 2001 1501 1001 0501 000

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

SCHEME PRINCIPAL MEMBERS

54 056 212

59 710 735

64 649 012

69 855 135

74 537 501

80 00070 00060 00050 00040 00030 00020 00010 0000

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

GROSS CONTRIBUTIONS (R’000)

2 735 191

2 777 946

2 819 139

2 808 106

2 758 340

80 00070 00060 00050 00040 00030 00020 00010 0000

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

SCHEME LIVES

14 234 461

16 684 435

17 646 355

19 209 355

28 215 476

30 00025 00020 00015 00010 0005 0000

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

MEMBERS’ FUNDS (R’000)
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KEY PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 
continued

Classic Smart

Essential Smart

Executive

Classic Priority

Essential Priority

Classic Saver

Essential Saver

Coastal Saver

Classic Delta* Saver

Essential Delta* Saver

KeyCare Plus

KeyCare Core

KeyCare Access

Classic Core

Essential Core

Coastal Core

Classic Delta* Core

Essential Delta* Core

Classic Comprehensive

Classic Comprehensive Zero MSA

Essential Comprehensive

Classic Delta* Comprehensive

Essential Delta* Comprehensive

KEYCARE SERIES

14.5%

CORE SERIES

13.9%

COMPREHENSIVE 
SERIES

9.6%

PRIORITY SERIES

6.7%

EXECUTIVE SERIES

0.6%

SMART SERIES

5.1%

SAVER SERIES

49.6%

17
BENEFIT 
OPTIONS 
(2019: 17)

6
NETWORK 
EFFICIENCY 
DISCOUNT 
OPTIONS*
(2019: 6)

D
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on
Distribution of Scheme 

beneficiaries on 
various plans
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1	 �Rule 27 of the DHMS Rules deals with complaints and disputes. The Rules are available to members on www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/scheme-rules.
2	 �To ascertain the contribution differential between DHMS and competitors, we calculate an average contribution within each plan category for a single member and for a family unit comprising one principal 

member, one adult dependant and one child dependant (i.e. a family of three). These average contributions are then weighted (for DHMS and the next eight largest open schemes) according to the distribution 
of members across DHMS plans. This ensures that plans with similar benefits are being compared on a like-for-like basis, thereby providing a reasonable estimate of the lower contribution that a typical 
member of DHMS pays relative to members of similar options in competitor schemes. The data is sourced from published contributions for 2021 and uses a maximum average contribution increase of 2.95% 
for Discovery Health Medical Scheme in 2021 (0% for the first six months of 2021, and a maximum of 5.9% for the second six months).

3	 Reduced from 87.3% in 2019 due to the deferral of healthcare by members and a reduction in claims experience. 

Maintaining the balance between competitive 
contributions and providing affordable quality healthcare 
to our members, while also retaining regulatory reserve 
requirements remains a challenge.

The Scheme remained highly competitive with average 
contributions for 2021 being 17.3% lower2 on a plan-for-
plan basis (2020: 16.7%) than the next eight largest open 
schemes; this is predominantly due to our ability to 
contain the impact of healthcare inflation. With a 
maximum average contribution increase of 2.95% for 
DHMS members compared to 4.93% across the next eight 
largest open schemes, our members experienced lower 
contribution increases than the weighted average across 
the next eight largest open schemes.

As a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Scheme 
experienced a sharp reduction in utilisation, with deferral 
of healthcare resulting in 76.5%3 of contributions being 
used to fund claims for members’ direct benefit. The 
remainder of the funds are used to build reserves and 
support and benefit members in areas such as innovation, 
managed care, administration, financial advisers and the 
daily operations of the Scheme.

Driven by contribution increases required to match 
healthcare inflation, gross contribution income rose 6.7% 
to R74.5 billion (2019: R69.9 billion). The most significant 
net membership growth was recorded in mid- to low-tier 
options, where the Smart series recorded net membership 
growth of 16 512 (2019: 17028). At a net principal 
membership decline of 14 452 (2019: 11628), the 
Comprehensive series of plans experienced the 
largest reduction. 

GROSS CONTRIBUTION INCOME

We thoroughly investigate and review all 
formal disputes lodged by Scheme 
members, aiming to resolve as many as 
possible internally to prevent members 
having to resort to laying complaints with 
the CMS.

The number of CMS complaints made by 
DHMS members reduced by 26% to 
401 in 2020 (2019: 604), a fraction of the 
47 675 525 claims made by Scheme 
members in 2020 (2019: 51 206 844). 
The ratio of internal disputes to CMS 
complaints has continued to improve from 
39% in 2015, to 51.7% in 2016, 97% in 
2017, 119% in 2018, 130% in 2019, and 
134% in 2020.

The internal disputes mechanism 
continues to prove effective in resolving 
the majority of cases amicably, with a high 
rate of withdrawals and settlements 
achieved without the member requiring a 
hearing. In 2020, 757 disputes were 
lodged in terms of Rule 271, with 692 or 
91% of disputes being settled or 
withdrawn prior to a hearing. Only 43 
cases proceeded to a hearing before the 
Dispute Committee.

During 2020, the Disputes Committee 
process was made available to healthcare 
providers wishing to escalate a 
disagreement with the Scheme, and the 
first hearings of this nature were held in 
early 2021.

MEMBER DISPUTES AND 
CMS COMPLAINTS
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2016 2017 2018 2021

NEXT 8 LARGEST
OPEN SCHEMES

17.3%
lower

DISCOVERY HEALTH
MEDICAL SCHEME

2019 2020

DHMS contributions are 17.3% lower than the 
next eight largest open medical schemes in 2021

DHMS is more affordable across all plan categories in 2021

 DHMS

 Next eight largest open medical schemes

Income-capitated Hospital Limited
day-to-day

Extensive
day-to-day

(17.3%)

Weighted
average

(23.8%)

(19.4%)
(2.1%)(4.1%)



11.6%
MORE SEVERE 
ADMISSIONS

9.4%
LOWER COST 
PLPM, PAID 
FROM RISK 
(YEAR-TO-DATE 
OCTOBER 2020)

100(10) (20)(30)(40)(50)

Unprecedented claim patterns in 2020
Risk cost per life per month (PLPM),
year-on-year change

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

7.9%

(0.7%)

9.0%

3.9%

(41.6%)

(23.7)

(10.0%)

(17.2%)

(16.6%)

(0.5%)

1.51.20.90.60.30

Higher severity admissions in 2020

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

1.08

1.19

1.06

1.09

1.20

1.23

1.25

1.26

1.26

1.21

1.19

Net claims incurred decreased by 7.63% to R44.8 billion (2019: R48.5 billion), a 
lower rate of increase than the previous year attributable to the impact of 
COVID-19 on healthcare-seeking behaviour. The Scheme expects a concomitant 
increase in claims between 2021 and 2022, likely with a more severe disease 
case mix, as pent-up healthcare needs drive increased utilisation. 

The gross claims ratio1 reduced to 76.5 % (2019: 87.3 %) through a combination 
of reduced claims because of COVID-19 and robust risk management 
interventions implemented by the Scheme’s administrator and managed care 
provider, Discovery Health. 

Healthcare inflation continues to be a concern for medical schemes, 
with inflation consistently above consumer price index (CPI) inflation. The 
primary driver of healthcare inflation is the extent of healthcare services 
utilisation due to demand- and supply-side effects. Higher supply-side 
utilisation is driven by an increase in available services, such as new hospitals, 
and technological developments in healthcare. Increases in demand-side 
utilisation, on the other hand, pertain to deterioration in the demographic 
profile of beneficiaries. 

COVID-19 has had a material impact on the entire healthcare system during 
2020, dampening the expected influence of demand- and supply-side effects 
due to:  

	❚ The extensive government regulations issued under the Disaster 
Management Act which limited freedom of movement.

	❚ Reduced capacity within hospitals to treat non-COVID-19 and non-
emergency cases due to the high number of hospital beds used for treating 
COVID-19 cases.

	❚ Members reducing infection risks by deferring, or choosing to forgo 
treatment that would ordinarily have taken place in hospitals or at a 
provider’s practice.

	❚ The higher degree of severity in hospital admissions (increased by 11.6% 
compared to 2019), despite a lower total number of hospital admissions.  

	❚ Additional costs incurred for Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) used by 
healthcare practitioners when treating patients.

NET CLAIMS INCURRED

1	 �The percentage of risk contributions utilised to fund relevant healthcare expenditure 
(net claims incurred, accredited managed healthcare services fees and net income/
(loss) on risk transfer arrangements).
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20.0%

15.0%

10.0%

0.5%

0%

5.0%

10.0%
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Average

age
11 – 20

Average
age

11 – 19
  COVID effect          (9.6%)  

  Supply-side impact 1.7% 1.8% 2.4% 2.1% 2.9% 1.9% 0.5% 2.2% 1.9% 1.5% 1.9% 1.9%

  Demand-side impact 2.7% 2.6% 3.0% 3.2% 3.1% 3.9% 4.0% 4.4% 4.1% 4.3% 3.5% 3.4%

  Tariff increase 5.2% 5.2% 5.7% 6.0% 6.0% 5.2% 6.5% 5.2% 4.7% 3.6% 5.3% 5.5%

  Total utilisation 4.5% 4.4% 5.4% 5.2% 6.0% 5.8% 4.5% 6.6% 5.9% 5.8% 5.4% 5.4%

―  CPI at September of the prior year 3.1% 5.8% 5.4% 6.0% 5.9% 4.6% 6.1% 5.1% 4.9% 4.1% 5.1% 5.2%

―  Total plan mix adjusted increase 9.7% 9.5% 11.1% 11.2% 12.1% 11.0% 11.0% 11.9% 10.7% (3.8%) 9.4% 10.9%

A summary of the composition of 
healthcare inflation (annualised 
over the period 2011 to 2020) is 

illustrated in the diagram alongside.

COVID-19 has had a material impact on the 
entire healthcare system during 2020, 
dampening the expected influence of 

demand- and supply-side effects. 

Annualised inflation
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1	 �Source: The Value-Added Assessment report presented to the Board of Trustees; 
figures are only available for the preceding year.

Gross administration expenditure comprises 
administration fees and other operational 
Scheme expenditure, of which the most 
significant component is administration fees 
paid to the Scheme’s administrator, 
Discovery Health. During 2020, gross 
administration fees increased by 4.5% to 
R5.4 billion (2019: R5.2 billion), driven by an 
increase in the average administration fee 
per member of 5.25% to R336.84 (2019: 
320.05), primarily reflecting the impact of an 
annual CPI-linked increase.

The graph alongside depicts the continued 
decrease in gross administration expenses 
as a percentage of gross contribution 
income, compared to the weighted average 
of other open medical schemes.

The Scheme’s analysis of the CMS Annual 
Report 2019 – 2020 shows that, at 7.6% for 
2019, DHMS continued to rank below the 
weighted average gross administration 
expenditure for open schemes when 
considered as a proportion of gross 
contribution income, which was 8.1% 
excluding the Scheme. This means that the 
Scheme’s gross administration expenditure 
is the seventh lowest out of 20 open medical 
schemes in the market.

The Scheme’s members benefit through 
continuously reducing administration 
expenditure that is among the lowest in 
the industry.

GROSS ADMINISTRATION 
EXPENDITURE

The increase in accredited managed care services costs of 
6.64% to R1.88 billion (2019: R1.77 billion) is predominantly 
attributable to the increase of 7.40% from R109.59 to 
R117.70, in accredited average managed care costs per 
member per month.

This reflects the annual CPI-linked increase and the full-year 
impact of an expansion in services provided by Discovery 
Health during 2019 as well as further expended services 
during the year, including diabetes management services 
and COVID-19 management services. Managed care costs 
as a percentage of gross contribution income remained the 
same with the 2020 ratio at 2.53%.

An analysis of the CMS Annual Report 2019 – 2020 
demonstrates that the Scheme’s managed care cost as a 
proportion of gross contribution income was 2.5%, 
compared to the weighted average of 3.0% (which excludes 
the Scheme). 

Our managed care costs are slightly higher than those of 
other open schemes, reflecting the complexity of the 
Scheme’s benefits, the breadth of managed care services 
offered, the claims cost savings generated by the managed 
care services, and the overall value for money provided to 
our members by our administrator and managed care 
provider.

In 2019, claims cost savings of R213.84 (2018: R199.73) per 
average beneficiary per month were realised through claims 
review processes, protocols implemented, price negotiations 
and drug utilisation reviews1. This equates to a saving of 
R3.05 (2017: R2.68) for every Rand paid in managed care 
costs, an exceptional return on investment of 305%.

ACCREDITED MANAGED CARE SERVICES 
COSTS
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The Scheme’s investment portfolio is suitably 
diversified and managed to optimise returns 
within our approved risk appetite. Asset 
allocation is managed and monitored from 
an asset and liability perspective, while 
ensuring sufficient liquid funds are available 
to meet claims and other liabilities as these 
fall due. Given the short-term nature of 
Scheme liabilities, a significant portion of our 
assets are invested in money market and 
cash investments, with smaller allocations to 
bonds (local and foreign) and equities.

The Scheme earned a gross investment 
return of 5.77% for 2020 (2019: 7.02%). 
The Scheme’s diversified investment 
strategy resulted in outperformance of its 
strategic benchmark.

INVESTMENT RESULTS

The Medical Schemes Act 131 of 1998, as amended (the Act) requires the Scheme to maintain 
accumulated funds of 25% of gross annual contributions for the accounting period, in terms of 
Regulation 292.

At 31 December 2020, the Scheme’s solvency level of 36.93% (2019: 27.5%) of gross annual 
contributions was R8.9 billion (2019: R1.8 billion), exceeding the statutory solvency requirement.

R’000 2020 2019

Total Members Funds 28 215 476 19 209 355 

Less: cumulative unrealised net gain on re-measurement of investments -686 683 - 

Total net assets (Regulation 29) 27 528 792 19 209 355 

Gross annual contributions 74 537 501 69 855 135 

Solvency ratio 36.93% 27.50%

Average accumulated funds per member at year-end 20 690 14 211

SOLVENCY

The Scheme has a duty to timeously collect all contributions due. The table below 
indicates the high level of contribution collection management achieved during the year, 
with average outstanding collection days at 11.95 for 2020 (11.11 in 2019). At year-end, 
only a very small proportion of contributions had not yet been collected.

Year ended 2020 2019

Gross contributions 74 537 501 69 855 135

Total outstanding - excluding December contributions 52 343 23 653 

% Outstanding 0.07 0.03

PRUDENT FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

SCHEME’S 
SOLVENCY LEVEL

36.93%
(2019: 27.5%)
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RESERVE ACCOUNTS

OUTSTANDING CLAIMS

Circular 11 of 2006 (the Circular) issued by the CMS deals with issues to be addressed in the audited financial statements of medical 
schemes. This includes the requirement that all instances of non-compliance be disclosed in the audited financial statements, 
irrespective of whether the external auditor considers them to be material or not.

During 2020, the Scheme did not comply with the following Sections and Regulations of the Act:

MATTERS OF NON-COMPLIANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

SUSTA I NA B I L I TY  OF  BENEF I T  PL A NS
In terms of Section 33 (2) of the Act, each benefit plan is required to be self-supporting in terms of membership and financial 
performance, and be financially sound.

For the year ended 2020 the following plans did not comply with Section 33 (2): 

Benefit plan Net healthcare result (R’000) �Net (deficit)/surplus (R’000)

Executive (103 856) (95 203)

KeyCare Plus (213 255) 74 378

The performance of all benefit options is monitored on a continuous basis with a view to improving their financial outcomes. 
Different strategies are continually evaluated to address the deficit in these plans while considering the overall financial 
stability of the Scheme.

When structuring benefit options, the financial sustainability of all the options and the requirements of the CMS are 
considered. The different financial positions reflect the different disease burdens in each option, among many other factors. 
The Scheme’s strategy on the sustainability of plans has to balance short- and long-term financial considerations, fairness to 
both healthy and sick members, and continued affordability of cover for members with different levels of income and 
healthcare needs. While the Scheme is committed to complying wherever possible with the applicable legislation, it also 
focuses intensively on the overall stability and financial position of the Scheme as a whole and not only individual benefit plans.

In addition, DHMS continually provides the CMS with updates on both the Scheme and individual benefit option performance 
through the monthly management accounts and quarterly monitoring meetings.

A NNUA L  GENERA L  M EET I NG NOT  HELD
In terms of Scheme Rule 25.1.1, the Scheme must convene an annual general meeting on or before 30 June each year. As a 
result of COVID-19 restrictions on gatherings, the Scheme applied for an exemption to deviate from this rule under Section 32 
of the Act to postpone the 2020 AGM. The CMS granted the exemption in line with Section 8 (h) of the Act on 14 May 2020.
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MATTERS OF NON-COMPLIANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 continued

IN V ESTMENTS  IN  EMPLOYER 
GROUPS  AND MEDICAL  SCHEM E 
A DMIN ISTRATORS
Section 35 (8) (a), (c) and (d) of the Act states that a medical 
scheme shall not invest any of its assets in the business of 
an employer who participates in the Scheme, or any 
administrator or any arrangement associated with the 
Scheme. The Scheme has investments in certain employer 
groups and companies associated with medical scheme 
administration within its diversified investment portfolio. 
This situation occurs industry-wide. CMS has granted DHMS 
exemption for a period of three years effective from 
1 December 2019.

IN V ESTMENTS  IN  OTHER  ASSE TS 
IN  TER R ITOR IES  OUTS IDE  THE 
REPUB L IC  OF  SOUTH AFR ICA
The Scheme’s offshore bond managers utilise derivative 
instruments to aid with efficient portfolio construction and 
management, and to reduce the overall risk within our 
portfolios. The derivatives used are highly liquid and are 
either exchange traded or governed by International Swaps 
and Derivatives Association agreements. The derivative 
instruments are not used for speculation and there is no 
gearing or leverage applied. 

Investments in derivatives in territories outside the 
Republic of South Africa are, however, prohibited in terms 
of Category 7 (b) of Annexure B to the Regulations of the 
Act. The CMS has granted DHMS an exemption for a period 
of three years effective from 1 December 2019.

C ONTR I BUT I ONS  REC E I VED  A FTER  DUE 
D A TE
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or 
contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later 
than three days after payment becomes due. There are instances 
where the Scheme received contributions after the three-day 
period, however, there are no contracts in place agreeing to this 
practice. It is important to note that the Scheme has no control 
over the timely payment of contributions. The legal obligation 
resides with the members/employers to pay contributions within 
the prescribed period. The Scheme employs robust credit control 
processes dealing with the collection of outstanding contributions, 
including the suspension of membership for non-payment.

BROK ER  FEES  PA I D
In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid on 
a monthly basis on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant 
monthly contribution in accordance with the maximum amount 
payable per Regulation 28 (2), limited to one broker as required by 
Regulation 28 (8).

In some instances brokers were compensated prior to receipt of 
the relevant monthly contribution, the amount paid was more than 
the prescribed amount and more than one broker per member 
was paid. In the instances where brokers were paid above the 
prescribed amount or more than one broker was paid, the value is 
negligible and represents less than 0.01% of the total broker fees 
paid for the year. The exceptions relate to transactions that do not 
occur frequently and the administrator has developed exception 
reporting to identify and correct these transactions, and has a 
well-established claw-back system to rectify commission 
overpayments.

PRESCR IBED MIN IMUM 
BENEF ITS
Section 29 (1) (o) and Regulation 8 provide the 
scope and level of minimum benefits that the 
Scheme must provide to members and 
dependants. During the year under review 
there were isolated instances where the 
Scheme did not pay claims in accordance with 
the scope and level of minimum benefits. The 
claims are being reprocessed to ensure they 
are correctly paid.

CLA IMS  PA ID  IN  EXCESS  OF 
30  DAYS
Section 59 (2) of the Act states: “A medical 
scheme shall, in the case where an account 
has been rendered, subject to the provisions 
of this Act and the rules of the medical scheme 
concerned, pay to a member or a supplier of 
service, any benefit owing to that member or 
supplier of service within 30 days after the day 
on which the claim in respect of such benefit 
was received by the medical scheme”.

During the year, there were instances where 
claims were not paid within 30 days. These 
represent less than 1% of total claims paid for 
the year. There is a defined process to identify 
claims that have not been paid within 30 days 
to ensure that the claims are paid 
expeditiously. 
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MATTERS OF NON-COMPLIANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 continued

DISCL OSURE  OF  PERSONAL  IN FORM A T I ON
Regulation 15J (2) (b) requires the Scheme to ensure that there are provisions for ensuring confidentiality of clinical 
and proprietary information, including the diagnosis and treatment pertaining to any beneficiary. POPIA Condition 7 
requires that personal information should be kept secure against the risk of loss, unauthorised access, interference, 
modification, destruction or disclosure.

During the year under review, a dashboard meant for one employer was mistakenly sent to another employer 
contact. The dashboard contained information on COVID-19 risk assessments and contact tracing for 19 employees. 
The data included personal identification information. The data was only sent to a specific person who confirmed 
deletion of the information. The information was not shared for criminal or malicious intent.

CON TR IBUT ION NOT  B ILLED FOR  NEW D EPEND A NTS
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not 
later than three days after payment becomes due. Contributions must be received within a prescribed time when 
becoming due. The failure in not including dependants in the billing process constitutes non-compliance with the Act.

136 memberships were added through the online platform (new business system) and contributions since 2015 were 
not billed, resulting in a gross financial loss for the Scheme of R633 318, the majority of which has been written off.

The underwriting system has been enhanced to recognise active and historical additions, to ensure there are no 
duplicates. The data issues created by the addition of dependants through the online platform has been corrected, to 
ensure the system does not create historical records that cause data discrepancies. 

COMMISS ION PA ID  TO BROKERS  WI TH  EXP I RED  C M S A C C RED I TA T I ON
Section 65 (3) states that no broker shall be compensated for providing broker services unless the CMS has granted 
accreditation to such broker.

There was a total of 151 brokers over a two-year period where commission was paid to brokers whose accreditation 
had expired. The total value of these payments was R1.5 million. Commission paid to brokers with expired 
accreditation has been reversed and a process is underway to recover these amounts.

Enhancements to the commission system have been made to ensure this is not repeated.

COVID-19  IN IT IAT IVES
The Scheme introduced specific initiatives to support stakeholders 
in managing the adverse impact of COVID-19. For the Scheme to 
offer these initiatives, exemptions from the following provisions of 
the Act were obtained from the CMS.

Payment of contributions from positive Personal 
Medical Savings Account balances
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions 
shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later than three days 
after payment becomes due. Individual member contributions that 
were offset against Personal Medical Savings Accounts amounted to 
R165 474 000 affecting 15 202 policies. The CMS granted DHMS a 
three-month exemption on 9 April 2020 effective from 1 April 2020. 
An extension was granted on 4 November 2020 up to 
31 December 2020.

SME employer contribution concessions
Also relating to Section 26 (7) and Section 35 (8) (a) of the Act, 
financial relief to SMEs through contribution concessions amounted 
to R206 872 000 affecting 532 SMEs. The concession balance at 
31 December 2020 was R86 172 000. Four SMEs with a balance of 
R71 000 defaulted on their repayments. The CMS granted DHMS a 
three-month exemption on 9 April 2020 effective from 1 April 2020.

Payment of commissions to brokers prior to receipt of 
contributions
In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid on 
a monthly basis on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant 
monthly contribution. The CMS granted DHMS a three-month 
exemption on 11 June 2020 effective from 1 April 2020.
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS PER BENEFIT PLAN
for the year ended 31 December 2020

EXECUTIVE CLASSIC ESSENTIAL COASTAL KEYCARE CLASSIC 
SMART COMP SMART

2020 COMP CORE SAVER PRIORITY  COMP SAVER CORE  PRIORITY SAVER CORE PLUS CORE START CLASSIC ESSENTIAL TOTAL
Number of members at the end of 
the accounting period 8 237 111 632 48 210 308 970 78 484 12 738 141 708 49 036 5 203 172 053 76 359 208 859 15 950 6 151 467 47 602 38 854 1 330 513
Number of beneficiaries at the end 
of the accounting period 17 057 239 654 104 414 680 184 174 025 23 272 302 754 107 039 10 653 386 250 172 129 365 712 26 389 8 007 958 94 353 45 490 2 758 340
Average number of members for 
the accounting period 8 523 115 662 48 088 312 996 80 299 13 136 140 056 46 523 5 272 174 589 76 506 209 314 14 803 5 999 482 45 855 35 136 1 333 237
Average number of beneficiaries 
for the accounting period 17 769 249 252 104 137 686 963 177 914 24 101 297 985 101 650 10 771 391 360 172 318 366 263 24 422 7 776 1 000 90 658 40 654 2 764 994
Average risk contributions per 
member per month (R’) 9 308.46 7 460.05 4 212.66 3 976.25 5 001.79 6 353.44 3 263.98 3 334.08 4 541.26 3 603.93 3 562.39 2 170.62 1 781.75 1 333.03 7 854.32 3 077.32 1 639.59 3 827.95
Average risk contributions per 
beneficiary per month (R’) 4 464.68 3 461,73 1 945.31 1 811.67 2 257.50 3 462.90 1 534.10 1 525.93 2 222.50 1 607.74 1 581.64 1 240.47 1 080.01 1 028.34 3 781.86 1 556.52 1 417.02 1 845.78
Average net claims incurred per 
member per month (R’)  9 713.36 6 365.06 2 817.39 2 733.99 3 655.11 4 985.35 1 922.66 2 093.59 2 661.56 2 608.98 2 636.55 1 875.14 1 127.20 637.11 2 606.71 1 869.42 785.08 2 801.20
Average net claims incurred per 
beneficiary per month (R’) 4 658.88 2 953.62 1 301.01 1 245.67 1 649.69 2 717.23 903.67 958.19 1 302.57 1 163.89 1 170.58 1 071.61 683.26 491.49 1 255.13 945.56 678.51 1 350.69
Average administration costs per 
member per month (R’) 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 366.87 198.81 106.70 198.81 366.87 366.87 366.87 336.84
Average administration costs per 
beneficiary per month (R’) 175.96 170.24 169.41 167.15 165.58 199.96 172.43 167.91 179.55 163.66 162.88 113.62 64.68 153.37 176.65 185.56 317.07 162.42
Average managed care: 
Management services per member 
per month (R’)  116.67 116.67 116.67 116.67 116.67 116.67 116.68 116.68 116.67 116.67 116.67 116.53 116.54 116.54 116.67 116.68 116.69 116.65
Average managed care: 
Management services per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  55.96 54.14 53.88 53.16 52.66 63.59 54.84 53.40 57.10 52.05 51.80 66.60 70.64 89.90 56.18 59.02 100.85 56.25
Average family size 2.07 2.15 2.17 2.20 2.22 1.83 2.14 2.18 2.05 2.24 2.25 1.75 1.65 1.30 2.05 1.98 1.17 2.07
Loss ratio (%) 105.67% 86.96% 69.68% 71.71% 75.43% 80.37% 62.49% 66.31% 61.20% 75.64% 77.30% 91.00% 69.80% 56.19% 36.08% 64.52% 55.01% 76.18%
Total non-healthcare expenses as a 
percentage of risk contributions (%) 5.19% 6.51% 11.16% 12.18% 9.71% 7.67% 14.49% 13.95% 10.66% 13.29% 13.14% 12.69% 9.69% 18.95% 6.13% 15.02% 26.31% 11.52%
Average non-healthcare expenses 
per member per month 482.87 485.46 470.02 484.26 485.80 487.22 473.07 464.98  484.02  479.02  468.06 275.35 172.57 252.59 481.65 462.31 431.34 441.05
Average non-healthcare expenses 
per beneficiary per month 231.60 225.27 217.05 220.64 219.26 265.56 222.35 212.81 236.88 213.69 207.81 157.36 104.60 194.86 231.92 233.84 372.79 212.67
Average age of beneficiaries (years) 46.74 43.94 41.27 35.01 40.41 50.17 32.33 38.35 39.60 36.07 39.98 30.68 35.68 34.94 42.84 31.76 34.92 35.86
Pensioner ratio (beneficiaries over 
65 years) 27.22% 21.51% 17.60% 9.44% 15.76% 33.82% 6.81% 13.36% 15.43% 10.02% 15.12% 7.85% 13.10% 8.74% 18.50% 4.97% 4.55% 10.98%
Average relevant healthcare 
expenses per member per month  9 836.17 6 487.21 2 935.17 2 851.39 3 773.07 5 106.09 2039.65 2 210.82  2 779.20  2 726.14  2 753.66  1 975.21  1 243.74  749.07 2 833.51  1 985.36  901.90  2 916.25 
Average relevant healthcare 
expenses per beneficiary per month 4 717.78 3 010.30 1 355.40 1 299.16 1 702.93 2 783.04 958.65 1 011.84  1 360.14  1 216.15  1 222.58  1 128.81  753.90  577.86 1 364.34  1 004.20  779.47  1 406.17 
Net surplus/(deficit) per benefit plan  (95 203) 786 843 529 535 2 712 146 793 731 132 447 1 402 896 431 492 86 019 1 005 732 413 710 74 377.83 85 515 31 894 26 841 408 686 179 457 9 006 120
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OPERATIONAL STATISTICS PER BENEFIT PLAN continued
for the year ended 31 December 2020

EXECUTIVE CLASSIC ESSENTIAL COASTAL KEYCARE CLASSIC 
SMART COMP SMART

2019 COMP CORE SAVER PRIORITY  COMP SAVER CORE  PRIORITY SAVER CORE PLUS CORE START CLASSIC ESSENTIAL TOTAL
Number of members at the end of 
the accounting period  9 208  124 221  49 266  309 501  84 204  14 133  137 403  44 796  5 741  180 347  78 975  221 607  14 819  6 620  935  39 160  30 784  1 351 720 
Number of beneficiaries at the end 
of the accounting period  19 475  270 914  106 212  679 976  188 130  26 159  290 458  97 184  11 788  405 809  177 397  388 027  24 183  8 659  1 972  76 059  35 704  2 808 106 
Average number of members for 
the accounting period  9 466  127 688  49 132  310 504  85 653  14 448  133 406  42 986  5 836  181 471  78 826  218 098  14 042  6 403  970  36 868  26 962  1 342 758 
Average number of beneficiaries 
for the accounting period  20 131  279 510  106 116  680 656  191 645  26 834  281 736  93 224  11 956  408 459  177 269  381 637  22 735  8 488  2 061  71 594  31 056  2 795 107 
Average risk contributions per 
member per month (R’)  8 473.04  6 770.47  3 865.58  3 654.46  4 617.93  5 791.61  2 996.50  3 073.05  4 166.48  3 284.21  3 231.67  1 981.96  1 656.47  1 235.29  6 692.64  2 787.30  1 497.35  3 551.29 
Average risk contributions per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  3 984.17  3 092.93  1 789.77  1 667.10  2 063.90  3 118.36  1 418.89  1 417.01  2 033.55  1 459.11  1 437.03  1 132.65  1 023.11  931.88  3 149.88  1 435.37  1 299.95  1 706.02 
Average net claims incurred per 
member per month (R’)  10 706.07  6 966.25  2 982.63  2 846.13  3 910.46  5 177.17  1 955.29  2 176.74  2 673.64  2 772.68  2 714.29  1 878.11  1 099.19  501.39  6 837.40  1 928.57  704.26  3 010.95 
Average net claims incurred per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  5 034.18  3 182.36  1 380.96  1 298.36  1 747.71  2 787.53  925.86  1 003.71  1 304.93  1 231.85  1 206.96  1 073.30  678.91  378.24  3 218.00  993.15  611.42  1 446.45 
Average administration costs per 
member per month (R’)  349.40  349.38  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  349.40  189.34  101.62  189.34  349.40  349.40  349.40  320.05 
Average administration costs per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  164.29  159.60  161.77  159.39  156.16  188.13  165.45  161.11  170.53  155.23  155.37  108.20  62.76  142.84  164.44  179.93  303.34  153.75 
Average managed care: 
Management services per member 
per month (R’)  110.32  110.27  109.53  109.53  109.59  110.09  109.50  109.51  109.53  109.51  109.50  109.44  109.45  109.45  109.82  109.46  109.62  109.59 
Average managed care: 
Management services per 
beneficiary per month (R’)  51.87  50.37  50.71  49.97  48.98  59.28  51.85  50.50  53.46  48.65  48.69  62.54  67.60  82.57  51.69  56.37  95.17  52.65 
Average family size  2.12  2.18  2.16  2.20  2.23  1.85  2.11  2.17  2.05  2.25  2.25  1.75  1.63  1.31  2.11  1.94  1.16  2.08 
Loss ratio (%) 127.54% 104.38% 79.99% 80.87% 87.05% 91.15% 68.90% 74.39% 66.79% 87.75% 87.37% 99.34% 72.97% 48.90% 103.65% 71.61% 55.26% 87.73%
Total non-healthcare expenses as a 
percentage of risk contributions (%) 5.54% 6.98% 11.80% 12.84% 10.24% 8.19% 15.26% 14.63% 11.26% 14.15% 14.04% 13.55% 10.32% 20.03% 7.01% 16.01% 27.72% 12.04%
Average non-healthcare expenses 
per member per month  469.71  472.33  455.99  469.08  472.68  474.22  457.26  449.54  469.26  464.85  453.59  268.48  170.90  247.40  469.05  446.34  415.00  427.45 
Average non-healthcare expenses 
per beneficiary per month  220.86  215.77  211.12  213.98  211.25  255.33  216.52  207.29  229.04  206.52  201.70  153.43  105.56  186.63  220.76  229.85  360.29  205.35 
Average age of beneficiaries (years)  45.79  43.01  40.80  34.29  39.50  49.41  31.84  37.85  38.43  35.33  39.35  29.98  35.70  34.43  41.68  31.15  34.19  35.33 
Pensioner ratio (beneficiaries over 
65 years) 25.11% 20.00% 16.99% 8.56% 14.49% 32.36% 6.38% 12.75% 13.81% 9.07% 14.19% 7.04% 12.86% 8.20% 16.65% 4.36% 4.05% 10.35%
Average relevant healthcare 
expenses per member per month  10 806.46  7 067.29  3 092.15  2 955.45  4 019.69  5 279.20  2 064.60  2 286.11  2 782.96  2 881.96  2 823.61  1 968.89  1 208.64  604.06  6 936.93  1 996.06  827.49  3 115.42 
Average relevant healthcare 
expenses per beneficiary per month  5 081.39  3 228.52  1 431.67  1 348.23  1 796.53  2 842.47  977.62  1 054.14  1 358.29  1 280.40  1 255.57  1 125.18  746.51  455.69  3 264.85  1 027.91  718.40  1 496.64 
Net surplus/(deficit) per benefit plan  (309 257)  (1 055 160)  248 429 1 155 784  211 704  20 574  887 873  227 538  69 653  38 527  55 241  (396 536)  64 135  37 469  (7 091)  198 392  115 724  1 563 000 
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On 15 March 2020, the President of 
South Africa declared a National State of 
Disaster as a result of the global COVID-19 
pandemic, which continues to date. Given the 
uncertainties about the continuing impact of 
COVID-19 on the Scheme, our members and 
the healthcare system, various scenarios 
including high, medium and low infection 
rates and vaccination costs have been 
modelled to assess the impact. Based on the 
most likely scenario, the Trustees believe 
there will be no impact on the Scheme’s ability 
to pay claims as they arise.

GOING CONCERN

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc has audited the 
Scheme’s Financial Statements. The Audit 
Committee is satisfied that the external 
auditor is independent of the Scheme.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

Personal Medical Savings Accounts (PMSAs) 
enable members to manage their day-to-day 
healthcare expenses. If members select a 
plan with a PMSA, they pay either 15% or 
25% of their gross contributions, depending 
on plan choice, into their PMSA. The Scheme 
advances the full annual amount to 
members for immediate use, although 
members only contribute monthly. 

PMSAs provide a variety of benefits to 
members for medical expenses such as 
day-to-day medicines, visits to general 
practitioners and specialists, dental care 
and optometry. 

The balance remaining in the PMSA at the 
end of each calendar year is carried over to 
the following year for the benefit of the 
member. PMSAs are reported with the 
balance of the Scheme’s assets.

The Scheme’s liability to members in respect 
of PMSAs is reflected as a current liability in 
the Financial Statements (Note 8) and is 
repayable in terms of Regulation 10 of 
the Act.

PERSONAL MEDICAL 
SAVINGS ACCOUNTS
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Discovery Health’s 
business model: 
shared value health 
insurance

Discovery Health shares the 
Scheme’s commitment to 
deliver an integrated value-
driven healthcare system, 
centred on meeting the needs 
of our members and providing 
access to the best quality care 
at the best value for money. 
Discovery Health’s pioneering 
shared value health insurance 
model incentivises people to 
be healthier, and utilises 
initiatives to slow down the 
progression of disease, 
reducing claims costs. It also 
incentivises healthcare 
professionals through 
value-based contracting, with 
an emphasis on quality of 
care. This model supports the 
Scheme’s sustainability, with 
shared value healthcare 
ultimately leading to a better 
healthcare system.

Be
tt

er
 h

ea
lth

ca

re
Healthy behaviour

Aligned incentives

MEMBERS
	❚ Better health

	❚ Lower contributions

SCHEME
	❚ Growth and 

sustainability

SOCIETY
	❚ Healthier and more 

productive workforce
	❚ Higher revenues for 

healthcare providers 
engaged in high-quality care

S H A R E D   V A L U E 
H E A L T H 

I N S U R A N C E

We outsource administration 
and managed care services to 
Discovery Health. The Trustees are 
confident that Discovery Health is 
the best administrator and 
managed care provider in the 
industry, based on the measures 
applied to evaluating their 
services to the Scheme and 
our members.

In accordance with the Act and the 
Scheme Rules, the Trustees appoint an 
accredited administrator and managed 
care provider to deliver approved 
services to the Scheme and our 
members. We elect to use a single 
provider as the Trustees believe that 
an integrated model (as opposed to 
one using multiple service providers) 
delivers best value for money and 
optimal efficiency. 

Robust relational governance practices 
underpin the Scheme’s relationship 
with Discovery Health. From time to 
time, the Trustees commission 
independent assessments of these 

practices, benchmarked against local 
and international governance practice, 
contracting principles, independence 
requirements, and the ability to meet 
members’ needs. These assessments 
provide the Trustees with assurance 
that the Scheme is applying best 
practice in governing this outsourced 
relationship, and any areas identified 
for improvement are actively 
implemented and monitored.

With respect to the Scheme’s 
relationship with Discovery Health, the 
Vested® model operationalises the 
Scheme’s governance and oversight 
role and embeds its independence. It 
also allows us to leverage Discovery 
Health’s expertise, systems, innovation 
and value-added services in the best 
interests of the Scheme and our 
members. The relationship is overseen 
by our operational Relationship 
Management and Innovation 
Committees, which are mandated to 
monitor, review and improve the 
relationship and the innovation that 
the Vested model promotes.
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How Discovery Health supports 
the Scheme’s value creation

https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/about-discovery-health


Discovery Health’s initiatives for our members

Discovery Health supports members, 
health practitioners and South Africa 
throughout COVID-19 pandemic 

During 2020, Discovery Health supported DHMS by launching 
several initiatives to support members through COVID-19. 
DHMS has led the market with the early release of benefits, 
extensive communication, and a proactive process for 
protecting members from infection, wherever possible. 

This included providing support to employer groups for 
high-risk employees, as well as in their COVID-19 response 
and business continuity planning. Contribution relief options 
of some R372 million were also made available to members 
and SMEs, between 17 April and 31 December 2020.

The success of Discovery Health’s initiative to provide 
care-at-home and assist high-risk members to monitor their 
health via pulse oximeter devices, achieved a 56% reduction 
in mortality in this member group. The benefit and its results 
are currently being documented and will be peer-reviewed 
for clinical publication.

Value for money for members
Our members benefit when our administrator and managed care provider 
adds more value than the fees paid to it by the Scheme. The value for 
money that Discovery Health provides includes access to highly effective 
managed care programmes, innovative provider networks, a wide range of 
benefit plans, and a significantly lower average contribution paid by our 
members when compared with the next eight open schemes.

A pragmatic and replicable methodology for measuring the value added 
by Discovery Health has been applied since 2014, and the Trustees assess 
the results annually. The Scheme engaged Deloitte Actuarial Consultants 
to perform an actuarial peer review on the reasonability of the data, 
methodology and results. Deloitte concluded that the methodology is 
appropriate, that the change in value added from 2018 to 2019 is 
reasonable, and that they did not encounter any significant anomalies in 
the data and calculations reviewed. The results are expressed as the value 
added by Discovery Health for each rand paid to it1:

R2.03
2019

R2.12
2018

R2.02
2017

R2.00
2016

R1.85
2015

R1.73
2014

The assessment takes 
account of value added 
from providing basic 
administration services, 
managing claims costs, 
making members 
healthier, attracting 
and retaining 
members, additional 
services offered, 
and innovation.

1	 Value added of greater than one means that Scheme members receive more value than has been paid on their behalf. In 2019, for every R1.00 spent by DHMS on 
administration and managed care fees, members of DHMS received R2.03 (2018: R2.12) in value from the activities of Discovery Health. As the assessment uses industry 
information, results are only available for the preceding year.

Discovery Health’s innovative and integrated approach provides state-of-the art medical 
scheme risk management and service delivery, which extends their services to DHMS well 
beyond traditional administration and managed care services. Their ongoing investments in 
digital capabilities, along with their strategic focus on improving value through efficiency and 
quality of care initiatives, promote better healthcare outcomes. This is supported by their focus 
on comprehensive care, health support and the latest medical technologies and treatments.

Enabled by Discovery Health’s integrated digital health platforms such as HealthID and Dr 
Connect, and more recently the Connected Care app, the Scheme will implement Connected 
Care benefits in 2021. Connected Care facilitates remote management of patients by their 

providers across the continuum of care, including acute and chronic disease outpatient 
management, and management of patients who would otherwise be admitted to hospital 
facilities. These are essential capabilities in the context of COVID-19. 

In early 2021, the Scheme also introduced benefits for the Tytocare medical device – a digital 
diagnostic tool that transmits high-quality pictures and sounds – to enhance the efficacy of 
video-consultations by simulating an in-person clinical examination. This innovation, together 
with e-scripting and medicine courier services, will enable seamless, efficient and convenient 
access to high-quality care in members’ homes.  
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DIGITAL INITIATIVES

Member App

Discovery HealthID

The member app enables easy access to features 
enabling members to manage their health plans and 
healthcare needs, for example:

❚	 Submitting and tracking claims, including a 
summary of hospital claims, and searching past 
claims (12 months).

❚	 Viewing and tracking health plan benefits and 
personal medical savings account balances (where 
applicable).

❚	 Viewing approved chronic conditions and related 
benefit usage.

❚	 Finding a suitable healthcare professional or 
facility, and viewing personal health records.

❚	 Ordering and tracking medicine, and comparing 
prices with generic alternatives.

❚	 Accessing instant help through Emergency Assist.
❚	 Finding and downloading important documents.

The app can be downloaded here, and a video about 
how the app can assist members is available here. 
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HEALTH’S 

INITIATIVES FOR 
OUR MEMBERS Diabetes Care

Connected Care

Spinal Surgery 
Network / spinal care

Oncology

Colorectal centre 
of excellence

Mental health

COVID-19
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http://discv.co/Discovery_App
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rg7jaIjPIZc
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/health-id
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/connected-care-benefit-guide-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/diabetes-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/discovery_coza/web/linked_content/pdfs/health/benefit_information/oncology_book.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/podcast-understanding-cancer
https://www.discovery.co.za/wcm/discoverycoza/assets/medical-aid/benefit-information/2021/mental-health-care-programme-2021.pdf
https://www.discovery.co.za/portal/provider/coronavirus-information
https://www.discovery.co.za/corporate/covid19-free-online-covid-19-consultations
https://www.discovery.co.za/portal/provider/coronavirus-webinar


Discovery Health’s client 
journeys1 demonstrate its 
capabilities and the impact 
of the pandemic

At 31 December 2020, Discovery Health 
administered approximately 3.55 million 
beneficiaries, including 2.76 million for DHMS. As 
such, Discovery Health services and interacts 
with millions of individuals during the course of 
any given year. The comprehensive and 
world-class service offerings, programmes and 
platforms Discovery Health provides gives DHMS 
assurance that our members always have access 
to the best services and information available to 
suit their health and care needs.

Discovery Health’s interactions in 2020 compared 
to the prior year (below) indicate some stark 
contrasts with typical experience, and are 
indicative of the significant shifts in member 
behaviour during the pandemic.

COVID-19 IMPACT 

1	 For members of all schemes administered by Discovery Health.

2 200
HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS 
APPROVED PER DAY
down 800 per day from 2019 

5 900
WELLNESS SCREENINGS 
PER YEAR
down 145 100 from 2019 

472 600
MOBILE USERS
up 46 200 from 2019

1 million
SOCIAL MEDIA 
FOLLOWERS
up 569 000 from 20192 

29 710 calls
received per day

R7.8 billion
billed in contributions 
per month

267 000 claims
received per day

R35.9 million
paid in claims per hour

SERV ICE 
 AND  

CLA IMS
BENEF IT 

MANAGEMENT

74 560
HIV programme 
members

71 550 
oncology 
programme 
members

MEMBER 
PROF ILES

Average member 
accesses website

2 times per 
month

Average member 
makes 

20 claims 
per year

27% members
with a chronic 
condition

NEW  
BUS INESS

A new membership 
activated every

29 seconds

In 2020…

2	 The change in social media use and followers is attributable to the publication of COVID-19-related 
information on social media by Discovery Health and DHMS, increasing comfort with the use of technology 
platforms for interactions, and increased numbers of people working from home, among other factors. 
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DIG ITAL 
SUPPORT

417 900
website users  
each month

21%
of calls Interactive 
Voice Response 
assisted

5 180
current HealthID 
users

569 250
digital membership 
cards downloaded

FINANCIAL 
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08 FINANCIALS

The Financial Statements comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position at 31 December 2020, and the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement 
of Changes in Funds and Reserves and the Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes to 
the Financial Statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The annual Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Medical Schemes Act, No 131 of 1998, as amended, 
(the Act) and include amounts based on judgements 
and reasonable estimates.

The Trustees consider that in preparing the annual Financial 
Statements they have used the most appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied, and that all applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards have been 
followed. The Trustees are satisfied that the information 

contained in the annual Financial Statements fairly presents the 
results of operations for the year and the financial position of the 
Scheme at year-end. The Trustees have also reviewed the other 
information included in the Integrated Report and are responsible for 
both its accuracy and its consistency with the Financial Statements.

The Trustees are responsible for the Scheme’s systems of internal 
control and incorporate risk management and internal control 
procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing 
the business are being controlled. Reliance is placed on Discovery 
Health (Pty) Ltd’s system of internal controls.

Even an effective system of internal control, no matter how well 
designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of 
circumvention and the overriding of controls. An effective system of 
internal control therefore aims to provide reasonable assurance 
with respect to the reliability of financial information and, in 
particular, the presentation of the Financial Statements. To the best 
of their knowledge and belief, based on the above, the Trustees are 
satisfied that no material breakdown in the operation of the 
systems of internal control and procedures has occurred during the 
year under review.

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the Scheme’s budget for the 
year ending 31 December 2021. In considering this budget, the 
Trustees considered the impact of COVID-19 vaccine related 
expenses on the Scheme.

The Scheme’s strong financial position and reserve levels allow the 
Scheme to absorb the potential negative impact of COVID-19, with a 
potential negligible impact the Scheme’s 2021 solvency level and 
based on the expected claims experience through 2021 is not 
envisaged to impact the Scheme’s ability to pay claims as they arise. 
The Trustees also concluded that there was no need to adjust the 
2020 Financial Statements.

On the basis of this review and in light of the current financial 
position and available cash resources, the Trustees have no reason to 
believe that the Scheme will not be a going concern for the 
foreseeable future. The going concern basis has therefore been 
adopted in preparing the Financial Statements and these Financial 
Statements support the viability of the Scheme.

The Scheme’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated, 
have audited the Financial Statements and their unmodified report is 
presented on pages 89 – 91. The Financial Statements, which are 
presented on pages 92 – 160, were approved by the Board of Trustees 
on 14 April 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1   D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting records are 
maintained and for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual Financial 
Statements of Discovery Health Medical Scheme (the Scheme). 

Statement of responsibility 
by the Board of Trustees

CHARLOTTE MBEWU 
Principal Officer

NEIL MORRISON 
Chairperson

JOHAN HUMAN 
Trustee
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020. The Audit Committee (the Committee) is an 
independent statutory committee. Duties are delegated to the 
Committee by the Board of Trustees.

Audit Committee terms of reference 
and assessment
The Committee’s role and responsibilities include statutory duties as 
per the Act and further responsibilities assigned to it by the Board. 
The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference that have 
been approved by the Board of Trustees and are reviewed at least 
annually. The Committee executed its duties and conducted its 
affairs in accordance with its terms of reference and applicable laws 
and regulations in force during the financial year, and has 
discharged the responsibilities contained therein.

Members of the Committee collectively keep up to date with key 
developments affecting their required skill set.

The Committee is assessed at least every two years either by 
external independent parties, or through self-appraisals. The next 
evaluation will be conducted in 2021.

Audit Committee Members, meeting 
attendance and assessment
The membership and attendance of the Members of the Committee 
has been set out on page 50.

EXT ER N A L  A UDITOR APPOINTMENT 
AND  IN DEPENDENCE
The Committee considered the matters set out in Section 36 of the 
Act and nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. for appointment 
as external auditor of the Scheme. Linda Pieterse was approved 
by the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS) as the statutory auditor 
of the Scheme for the financial period 1 January 2020 to 
31 December 2020 in accordance with section 36 (2) of the Act 
on 23 September 2020.

The Committee has satisfied itself that the External Auditor is 
independent of the Scheme as set out in Section 36 (3) of the Act. 
Requisite assurance was sought and provided by the Auditor that 
internal governance processes within the audit firm support and 
demonstrate its independence.

The Committee ensured that the appointment of the Auditor 
complied with the Act and Scheme Rules relating to the 
appointment of auditors. Pursuant to the issuance of Circular 45 of 
2020: Authorisation of Auditors and IFRS advisors, the CMS, having 
noted the impact that mosts schemes had not held their 2020 
annual general meetings (AGMs), agreed that the application form 
and Trustee Resolution suffices for this process. This will be ratified 
at the 2021 AGM for completeness.

The Committee, following consultation with the Scheme’s Executive 
Officers, approved the engagement letter, audit plan, budgeted 
audit fees and representation letter for the year ended 
31 December 2020. The Committee approved the actual audit fees 
for the year ended 2019.

There is a formal policy in respect of the provision of non-audit 
services by the external auditors of the Scheme and a formal 
procedure governs the process whereby the auditor is appointed to 
provide any non-audit services. The Chairperson of the Committee 
approves the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the 
external auditor provides in terms of the agreed pre-approval policy 
and a schedule of approved non-audit services is reviewed annually 
by the Committee. Fees in respect of audit and non-audit services 
are reflected in Note 16 to the Financial Statements.

During the year, the Committee met with the external auditors 
without management being present. The Committee Chairperson 
also met separately with the external auditors.

I NTERNA L  A UD I TORS  ( I A )
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the IA function is 
independent and has the necessary resources, standing and 
authority to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, the 
Committee oversees co-operation between IA and the external 
auditors, and serves as a link between the Board of Trustees and 
these functions.

The Committee considered and approved the IA charter.

The IA annual audit plan was approved by the Committee. The 
results of the work carried out by IA in terms of the audit plan were 
reviewed and the effect of any action plans to mitigate risks of any 
matters reported were considered by the Committee.

IA has responsibility for reviewing and providing assurance on the 
adequacy of the internal control environment across all of the 
Scheme’s operations. The Chief Audit Executive (CAE) is responsible 
for reporting the findings of the internal audit work, against the 
agreed IA plan to the Committee on a regular basis.

The CAE has direct access to the Committee, primarily through its 
Chairperson.  

The Committee has assessed and was satisfied with the 
performance of the CAE and the IA function.

During the year, the Committee met with the CAE without 
management being present. The Committee Chairperson also met 
separately with IA.

F I NA NC I A L  STA TEM ENTS  A ND 
A C C OUNTI NG POL I C I ES
The Committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the 
Scheme’s annual Financial Statements and is satisfied that they are 
appropriate and comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, the Act and circulars issued by the CMS.

I NTERNA L  F I NA NC I A L  C ONTROL S
The Committee is responsible for assessing the Scheme’s system of 
internal financial and accounting control. In this regard the 
Committee has, among other things, evaluated the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Scheme’s systems of internal control and made 
appropriate recommendations to the Board of Trustees. This 
included a formal documented review by the IA function of the 
design, implementation and effectiveness of the administrator’s 
system of internal financial controls pertaining to the Scheme. 
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Based on the results of this review, it is the view of the Committee 
that Reasonable Assurance* can be placed on the internal controls 
and risk management and that High Assurance** can be placed on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal financial 
controls, relative to the fair presentation of the Financial 
Statements.
* 	 Reasonable Assurance – The existing control framework provides reasonable assurance 

that material risks are identified and managed effectively.
**	 High Assurance – The existing control framework provides a high level of assurance that 

the annual Financial Statements are fairly presented.

EVA L UA T ION  OF  THE  EXPERT ISE  AND 
EXP ER IEN CE  OF  THE  CHIEF  F INANCIA L 
OFF ICER  A N D F INANCE  FUNCT ION
The Committee is satisfied with the expertise and experience of the 
Scheme’s Chief Financial Officer. The Committee further reviewed 
and satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise, 
resources and experience of the administrator’s finance function 
pertaining to the Scheme.

WH ISTL E  B L OWING
The Committee receives and deals with any concerns or complaints, 
whether from within or outside the Scheme, relating to the 
accounting practices and IA of the Scheme, the content or auditing 
of the Scheme’s Financial Statements, the internal financial controls 
of the Scheme and related matters. The administrator’s forensic 
department assists the Committee in discharging this responsibility. 
No such concerns or complaints were received during the year.

ETHICS  A N D COMPL IANCE
The Committee is responsible for reviewing any major breach of 
relevant legal and regulatory obligations. The Committee is satisfied 
that there has been no material non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, except for the matters of non-compliance with the Act 
as detailed in Note 33 to the Financial Statements. Certain Members 
of the Audit Committee also serve as Members of the 
Risk Committee.

R IS K  MA N A GEMENT
The Committee monitors the risk management processes and 
systems of internal control of the Scheme through review of reports 
from and discussions with the Scheme’s internal and external 
auditors and the risk management function.

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
systems are in place for the monitoring of risk and compliance with 
laws, regulations and codes of conduct that may affect the integrity 
of the Financial Statements.

The Committee is satisfied that the system and the process of risk 
management is effective.

GOI NG C ONC ERN
The Committee has reviewed the going concern basis for 
the preparation of the Scheme’s Financial Statements taking 
into account the operational and financial position as at 
31 December 2020 as well as the Scheme’s budget for the 
year ended 31 December 2021.

Total members’ funds exceeded R28.2 billion with a solvency level of 
36.93% at 31 December 2020. Further, the Scheme had sufficient 
financial resources (cash and cash equivalents and financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss) at 31 December 2020 to cover 
monthly claims expenditure 7.49 times.

On the basis of this review and taking note of the current net 
surplus of R9 billion, the Committee considers that:

1.	 The Scheme’s assets currently exceed its liabilities; and
2.	� The Scheme will be able, in the ordinary course of the Scheme’s 

business, to settle its liabilities as they arise for the foreseeable 
future.

The Committee agreed that based on the assessment conducted, 
the Board of Trustees could be advised that there is no reason to 
believe that the Scheme will not be a going concern in the 
foreseeable future.

MR E MACKEOWN 
Chairperson: Audit Committee

14 April 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T O  T H E  M E M B E R S  O F  D I S C O V E R Y  H E A L T H  M E D I C A L  S C H E M E

Report on the Financial Statements
OPIN ION
We have audited the Financial Statements of Discovery Health 
Medical Scheme (the Scheme), set out on pages 92 to 160, which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position at 31 December 2020, 
and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of 
Changes in Funds and Reserves and the Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the Financial Statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, these Financial Statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Scheme at 
31 December 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Medical Schemes 
Act of South Africa.

BAS IS  FOR  OP IN ION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

I ND EPEND ENC E
We are independent of the Scheme in accordance with the 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of 
financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with 
the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards).

K EY  A UD I T  M A TTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial 
Statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Outstanding Claims Provision – The outstanding claims provision of 
R1 769 008 000 at year-end as described in Note 6 to the Financial 
Statements, is a provision recognised for the estimated cost of 
healthcare benefits that have been incurred prior to year-end but 
that were only reported to the Scheme after year-end.

The outstanding claims provision is calculated by the Scheme’s 
actuaries which is reviewed by management and the Audit 
Committee and recommended to the Board of Trustees for 
approval.

The Scheme’s actuaries use an actuarial model, based on the 
Scheme’s actual claim development patterns throughout the year, 
to project the year-end provision. This model applies a combination 
of the Basic Chain Ladder (BCL) and Cost Per Event (CPE) methods. 
The claim service date, processing date and amount are used to 
derive claim development patterns. These historical patterns are 
then used to estimate the outstanding claims provision.

We identified this to be a matter of most significance to the audit 
because of the uncertainty in the projected claims pattern. A change 
in the projected claims pattern can cause a material change to the 
amount of the provision.

We obtained an understanding from the Scheme’s actuaries 
regarding the process to calculate the outstanding claims provision. 
The actuarial methods applied by the Scheme are generally applied 
within the medical scheme industry.

We obtained the actual claims data from the member 
administration system covering the year ended 31 December 2020. 
The actual claims data includes the impact of COVID-19 and 
therefore the impact was taken into account in the claims patterns 
in the outstanding claims provision.

For a sample of actual claims received by the Scheme in the 
31 December 2020 financial year, we tested the accuracy of the 
service and process dates. No material inconsistencies were noted.

We substantively tested a sample of claims against the relevant 
Scheme Rules and assessed completeness of the claims data.

The claims data that were included in the Scheme’s actuarial model 
was agreed to the above actual claims data with no material 
inconsistencies noted.

To assess the reasonableness of the Scheme actuaries’ estimation 
process, we compared the actual claim results in the current year to 
the prior year provision. Based on our assessment, the estimation 
process was considered reasonable.

Our internal actuarial experts independently calculated the 
Scheme’s outstanding claims provision, taking into account the 
claims data as tested above. We compared our results with that of 
the Scheme and found the amounts to approximate each other.

We obtained the actual claims run-off report up to 31 March 2021 
from the Scheme’s management. For a sample of claims from the 
report, we tested the occurrence and accuracy of the claims as well 
as the accuracy of the related service dates and we identified no 
material inconsistencies.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued

OTHER  IN FORMAT ION
The Scheme’s Trustees are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “Discovery Health Medical Scheme Integrated 
Report 2020”. The other information does not include the Financial 
Statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPON SIB IL IT IES  OF  THE  SCHEME ’S 
TRU STEES  FOR  THE  F INANCIAL 
STA TEMEN TS
The Scheme’s Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the Financial Statements, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the Scheme’s Trustees determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Scheme’s Trustees are 
responsible for assessing the Scheme’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the 
Scheme’s Trustees either intend to liquidate the Scheme or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR ’S  RESPONSIB IL IT IES  FOR  THE 
AUDIT  OF  THE  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:
	❚ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

	❚ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Scheme’s internal control.

	❚ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Scheme’s Trustees.

	❚ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustees’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Scheme’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Scheme to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

	❚ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Scheme’s Trustees regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the Scheme’s Trustees, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report, unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
NON-C OM PL I A NC E  WI TH  THE  M ED ICAL 
SC HEM ES  A C T  OF  SOUTH A FR I C A
As required by the Council for Medical Schemes, we report the 
following material instances of non-compliance with the requirements 
of the Medical Schemes Act of South Africa, as amended, that have 
come to our attention during the course of our audit:

1. �Section 29 (1) (o) and Regulation 8 of the Medical Schemes Act of 
South Africa: 
During the financial year, there were instances where the Scheme 
did not pay claims in accordance with the scope and level of 
minimum benefits.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT continued

2. �Regulation 28 (2), 28 (5), 28 (8) and Section 65 (3) of the Medical 
Schemes Act of South Africa: 
There were instances where some brokers were compensated 
prior to receipt of the relevant monthly contribution, the amount 
paid was more than the prescribed amount, more than one 
broker per member was paid and brokers with expired Council 
for Medical Scheme accreditation were paid.

These material non-compliance findings are disclosed in Note 32  
of the Financial Statements.

AUDIT  TEN URE
As required by the Council for Medical Schemes’ Circular 38 of 2018, 
Audit Tenure, we report that PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been 
the auditor of Discovery Health Medical Scheme for 20 years.

The engagement partner, Linda Pieterse, has been responsible for 
Discovery Health Medical Scheme’s audit for two years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: L. Pieterse 
Registered Auditor 
Waterfall

23 April 2021
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A T  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

R’000 Notes 2020 2019

ASSETS
Non-current assets 16 270 481 18 426

Property and equipment 1 11 144 12 630
Long-term employee benefit plan asset 25 6 427 5 796
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 16 252 910 –

Current assets 22 004 691 27 818 342

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3 15 177 582 23 191 456
Derivative financial instruments 7 193 030 75 179
Trade and other receivables 4 2 625 411 2 560 425
Cash and cash equivalents 5 4 008 668 1 991 282

Total assets 38 275 172 27 836 768

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES
Members’ funds 28 215 475 19 209 355

Accumulated funds 28 215 475 19 209 355

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 9 394 9 933

Leases 2 9 394 9 933

Current liabilities 10 050 303 8 617 480

Leases 2 1 832 1 713
Derivative financial instruments 7 34 723 14 689
Outstanding claims provision 6 1 769 008 1 526 497
Personal Medical Savings Account liabilities 8 6 675 945 5 522 613
Trade and other payables 9 1 568 795 1 551 968

Total funds and liabilities 38 275 172 27 836 768
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

R’000 Notes
2020 2019

Restated

Risk contribution income 10 61 242 728 57 222 228

Relevant healthcare expenditure (46 656 654) (50 199 101)
Net claims incurred 11 (44 815 954) (48 515 757)

 Risk claims incurred 11 (44 957 497) (48 672 460)
 Third-party claim recoveries 11 141 543 156 703

Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer) 12 (1 883 081) (1 765 827)

Net income on risk transfer arrangements 13 42 381 82 483

 Risk transfer arrangement fees paid  (260 068)  (299 464)
 Recoveries from risk transfer arrangements 302 449 381 947

Gross healthcare result 14 586 074 7 023 127

Broker service fees 14 (1 489 823) (1 444 563)
Expenses for administration 25  (5 389 056)  (5 156 926)
Other operating expenses 15 (177 363)  (179 943)
Net impairment losses on healthcare receivables 17 (79 096) (106 108)

Net healthcare result 7 450 736 135 587

Other income 1 920 700 1 757 601

Investment income 21 1 690 370 1 697 827
Net gains on financial assets 22 212 981 44 250
Sundry income 23 17 349 15 524

Other expenditure  (365 316)  (330 188)

Asset management fees (78 608)  (76 610)
Other expenses 23 (2 372) (5 938)
Finance costs 24 (1 429) (1 373)
Interest paid on savings accounts 24 (282 907) (246 267)

Total comprehensive income for the year 9 006 120 1 563 000
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

R’000 Notes 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash flows generated from operations before working capital changes 27 7 470 530  181 892
Working capital changes:
Increase in trade and other receivables 27 (144 082) (308 631)
Increase in outstanding claims provision 242 511 27 270
Increase in Personal Medical Savings Account liabilities 1 153 332 481 781
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 27 16 825 (3 068 085)

Cash generated/(utilised) by operations 8 739 116 (2 685 773)
Payments for financial assets 3 (11 887 221) (4 783 355)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets 27  3 763 349  2 238 283
Increase in long-term employee plan asset (3 472) (3 271)
Cash transferred from other medical schemes – –
Interest received 21 1 534 060 1 513 838
Dividend income 21 156 310 183 989
Interest paid 24 (283 043) (246 309)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 2 019 099 (3 782 598)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for property and equipment 27 – –

Net cash outflow from investing activities – –

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payment of lease liabilities 2 (1 713) (1 601)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (1 713) (1 601)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2 017 386 (3 784 199)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1 991 282 5 775 481

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4 008 668 1 991 282

R’000 Notes

2020 2019

Accumulated
funds

Accumulated
funds

Balance at beginning of the year  19 209 355  17 646 355
Total comprehensive income for the year 9 006 120  1 563 000

Total member funds at the end of the year 28 215 475 19 209 355

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

94 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



ACCOUNTING POLICIES
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

General information
The Discovery Health Medical Scheme (the Scheme) offers the 
insurance of hospital, chronic illness and day-to-day benefits and is 
administered by Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Discovery Limited, listed in the insurance sector of the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE).

The Scheme is an open medical scheme registered in terms of the 
Medical Schemes Act No. 131 of 1998, as amended (the Act), and is 
domiciled in South Africa.

Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which are set by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Financial 
Statements are also prepared in accordance with the Act, which 
requires additional disclosures for registered medical schemes.

The detailed accounting policies have been set out in the respective 
Note to the Financial Statements, with the general accounting 
policies applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years 
presented, except for changes required by the mandatory adoption 
of new and revised IFRS.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Scheme’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement, or areas where estimates are 
significant to the Financial Statements, are disclosed in Note 32.

The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the going 
concern principle using the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities, which include:
	❚ Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; and
	❚ Derivative financial instruments carried at fair value through 

profit or loss.

All monetary information and figures presented in these financial 
statements are stated in thousands of rand (R’000), unless 
otherwise indicated.

Change in the accounting policy relating 
to the format of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
During 2020 the Council for Medical Schemes (CMS) published 
Circular 46 of 2020: General concerns noted during the analysis of the 
2019 Annual Financial Statements (AFS) and Annual Statutory Returns 
(ASR). The CMS noted that there were instances where medical 
schemes did not comply with the full requirements in respect of the 
Prescribed format for the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
noted that should a medical scheme not have any items of other 
comprehensive income, the net surplus or deficit should be 
replaced by “Total comprehensive income”.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) has been aligned to 
the prescribed format as set out in Circular 46 of 2020, with the 
most notable changes being the disclosure of “Net impairment 
losses on healthcare receivables” and “Interest paid on savings 
accounts” on the face of the SOCI. Net impairment losses were 
previously included as part of “Other operating expenses” with 
interest paid on savings accounts included under “Finance costs”.

This change in accounting policy will be applied in preparing the 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. The 
change is applied retrospectively, with the comparative period 
presented as if this accounting policy had always been applied.

Table 2 sets out the change in disclosure of the SOCI.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

TABLE 2: COMPARISON OF STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2019
Restated

R'000

2019
Previously 
presented

R'000

Risk contribution income 57 222 228 Risk contribution income 57 222 228

Relevant healthcare expenditure (50 199 101) Relevant healthcare expenditure (50 199 101)
Net claims incurred (48 515 757) Net claims incurred (48 515 757)

Risk claims incurred (48 672 460) Claims incurred (48 672 460)
Third-party claim recoveries 156 703 Third-party claim recoveries 156 703

Accredited managed healthcare services  
(no risk transfer) (1 765 827)

Accredited managed healthcare services  
(no risk transfer) (1 765 827)

Net income on risk transfer arrangements 82 483 Net profit on risk transfer arrangements 82 483

Risk transfer arrangement fees paid (299 464) Risk transfer arrangement fees (299 464)
Recoveries from risk transfer arrangements 381 947 Recoveries from risk transfer arrangements 381 947

Gross healthcare result 7 023 127 Gross healthcare result 7 023 127

Broker service fees (1 444 563) Broker service fees (1 444 563)
Expenses for administration (5 156 926) Expenses for administration (5 156 926)
Other operating expenses (179 943) Other operating expenses (286 051)
Net impairment losses on healthcare receivables (106 108)

Net healthcare result 135 587 Net healthcare result 135 587

Other income 1 757 601 Other income 1 757 601

Investment income 1 697 827 Investment income 1 697 827
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets 44 250 Net gains/(losses) on financial assets 44 250
Sundry income 15 524 Sundry income 15 524

Other expenditure (330 188) Other expenditure (330 188)

Asset management fees (76 610) Asset management fees (76 610)
Other expenses (5 938) Other expenses (5 938)
Finance costs (1 373) Finance costs (247 640)
Interest paid on savings accounts (246 267)

Net surplus for the year 1 563 000
Other comprehensive income –

Total comprehensive income for the year 1 563 000 Total comprehensive income for the year 1 563 000
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Implementation of new standards
New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and relevant to the Scheme

STANDARD SCOPE EFFECTIVE DATE

IAS 1: Presentation of Financial 
Statements

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments clarify and align the definition 
of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the 
application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards. 
The amendments did not have a significant impact on the Scheme.

1 January 2020

IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors

Disclosure Initiative: The amendments clarify and align the definition 
of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the 
application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards. 
The amendments did not have a significant impact on the Scheme.

1 January 2020

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective and relevant to the Scheme:
The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to the existing standards have been published and are not yet effective for 
the current financial year. The Scheme has not early adopted them and it is not expected that they will have any material impact on the 
Scheme’s assets, liabilities and results but may result in additional disclosure in the Financial Statements.

STANDARD SCOPE EFFECTIVE DATE

Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial 
Instruments’, IAS 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’, IFRS 7 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures’, IFRS 4 
‘Insurance Contracts’ and IFRS 16 
‘Leases’ – interest rate benchmark 
(IBOR) reform (Phase 2)

The Phase 2 amendments address issues that arise from the 
implementation of the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including 
the replacement of one benchmark with an alternative one.

1 January 2021

Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation 
of Financial Statements’ on 
Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current

The amendment clarifies that liabilities are classified as either current or 
non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification is unaffected by expectations of the entity or events 
after the reporting date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach 
of covenant).

1 January 2022

Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business 
combinations’

The IASB has updated IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’, to refer to the 2018 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, in order to determine what 
constitutes an asset or a liability in a business combination. 

In addition, the IASB added a new exception in IFRS 3 for liabilities and 
contingent liabilities. The exception specifies that, for some types of 
liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity applying IFRS 3 should instead 
refer to IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, or 
IFRIC 21 ‘Levies’, rather than the 2018 Conceptual Framework.

The IASB has also clarified that the acquirer should not recognise 
contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the acquisition date.

1 January 2022
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

STANDARD SCOPE EFFECTIVE DATE

IFRS 17: Insurance contracts The Standard was issued in May 2017 and supersedes IFRS 4 
’Insurance Contracts‘.

The Standard creates one accounting model for all insurance contracts and 
establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of insurance contracts issued. The Standard requires insurance 
contracts to be measured using updated estimates and assumptions that 
reflect the timing of cash flows and takes into account any uncertainty 
relating to insurance contracts.

The Standard provides for a simplified approach (premium allocation 
approach) for the measurement of a group of insurance contracts only if, 
at the inception of the group, the entity reasonably expects that the 
simplification will produce measurement of the liability for remaining 
coverage that would not differ materially from that produced using the 
general measurement model and if the coverage period is one year or less.

Potential impact:
The Scheme has assessed the requirements of the standard and agreed a 
project plan to implement the standard. The main outcomes of the 
assessment are summarised below.

The coverage period for the Scheme’s contracts is one year or less with the 
premium allocation approach being applied, resulting in similar treatment 
to current accounting.

The contracts issued by the Scheme are subject to similar risks and 
managed together and fall into the same portfolio, with the level of 
aggregation set at the overall Scheme level.

The contracts issued are in line with the Scheme’s financial year and are 
recognised from 1 January of each year or inception if after 1 January other 
than for onerous contracts. With the contracts being viewed as a single 
portfolio, where pricing indicates a negative insurance service result for the 
following year, this amount shall be recognised in the current 
reporting period.

Personal Medical Savings Accounts no longer meet the requirements for a 
separate investment component under IFRS 17 and will be accounted for 
as a non-distinct investment component, with the balances being part of 
the insurance contract and included under “Insurance Contract Assets or 
Liabilities” in the Statement of Financial Position and no longer separately 
disclosed as “Personal Medical Savings Account liabilities”.

During the IASB board 
meeting held on 
17 March 2021, the IASB 
decided to defer the 
effective date to 
1 January 2023

In the context of IFRS 17, the presentation of the Statement of Financial 
Position (SOFP) using the non-current and current presentation has been 
assessed with a specific focus on the operating cycle of the Scheme and the 
uncertainty as to the period in which reserves generated under insurance 
contracts would be accessed by members for their healthcare events, 
which may only be utilised in future periods. Considering this uncertainty, 
presenting the SOFP using an order of liquidity presentation without 
segregating by current and non-current has been judged to be more 
relevant for users of medical scheme financial statements and provides 
more reliable information about the transactions and conditions on the 
financial position of medical schemes. The non-current and current 
classification of items presented on the SOFP will be presented in the 
respective note to the Financial Statements with an assessment as 
performed by management on what is expected to be recovered/settled 
within 12 months; what is expected to be recovered/settled after 
12 months; and open ended, available on demand.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

FORE IGN  CURRENCY  TRANSLAT ION
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the Financial Statements are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (functional currency). The functional and presentation 
currency of the Scheme is the South African Rand (R).

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

CLASS IF ICA T ION ,  RECOGNIT ION , 
PRESEN TA T ION AND DERECOGNIT ION OF 
F IN A N CIA L  IN STRUMENTS
The Scheme recognises a financial instrument when, and only when, 
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
The Scheme classifies its financial instruments into the following 
categories: financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, derivatives, and other receivables. Other receivables 
are receivables other than those arising from insurance contracts 
and include sundry accounts receivable and interest receivable. 
Other receivables are disclosed under “Trade and other receivables”.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments are acquired. Management determines the classification 
of financial instruments at initial recognition. All purchases and sales 
of financial instruments are recognised on the trade date, which is 
the date on which the Scheme commits to purchase the financial 
asset or assume financial liability.

Offsetting financial instruments
This applies where a legally enforceable right to set off exists for 
recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is an 
intention to realise the asset, and settle the liability simultaneously 
or to settle on a net basis.

The Scheme will disclose the net asset or liability in the Statement 
of Financial Position or accompanying notes if the above conditions 
are met.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
The Scheme derecognises a financial asset or part of a financial 
asset when:
	❚ The contractual right to the cash flows from the asset expires.
	❚ The Scheme retains the contractual right to receive cash flows of 

the asset, but assumes the obligation to pay one or more third 
parties the cash flow without material delay.

The Scheme derecognises a financial liability when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

M EM BERS ’  FUND S
The funds represent the accumulated funds of the Scheme. The 
funds are mainly held as statutory reserves in lieu of the solvency 
requirement as required by the Act.

F I NA NC I A L  L I A B I L I T I ES
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. After initial recognition the financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method. In addition, the Scheme is not permitted to 
borrow, in terms of Section 35 (6) (c) of the Act. The Scheme 
therefore has no long-term financial liabilities.

PROVI S I ONS
The Scheme recognises a provision once the following conditions 
are met:
	❚ It has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

past events.
	❚ It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
	❚ A reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Provisions are measured as the present value of management’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 
reporting date. Where the effect of discounting to present value is 
material, provisions are adjusted to reflect the time value of money.

C ONTI NGENT  L I A B I L I TY
The Scheme will disclose a contingent liability if one of the following 
conditions are met:
	❚ A possible obligation arising from past events, the existence of 

which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Scheme.

	❚ A present obligation that arises from past events but not 
recognised because:
	– It is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle an obligation.

	– The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

M EM BER I NSURA NC E  C ONTRA C TS
Contracts under which the Scheme accepts significant insurance risk 
from another party (the member) by agreeing to compensate the 
member or other beneficiary if a specified uncertain future event 
(the insured event) adversely affects the member or other 
beneficiary are classified as insurance contracts.

The contracts issued compensate the Scheme’s members for 
healthcare expenses incurred and are detailed in Note 29.

REL EVA NT  HEA L THC A RE  EXPEND I TURE
Relevant healthcare expenditure consists of net claims incurred, 
accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer) and net 
income or expense from risk transfer arrangements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

L IAB IL ITY  A DEQUACY  TEST
Liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of 
the member insurance contract liabilities as at the reporting date. 
In performing these tests, current estimates of future cash flows 
under the Scheme’s insurance contracts are used. Any deficiency 
is immediately recognised in the Scheme’s surplus or deficit for 
the year.

INCOME TA X
In terms of Section 10 (1) (d) of the Income Tax Act 58 of 1962, 
as amended, receipts and accruals of a benefit fund are exempt 
from normal tax. A medical scheme is included in the definition of 
a benefit fund and consequently the Scheme is exempt from 
income tax.

ALLOCA T ION  OF  INCOME AND 
EXP EN DITUR E  TO BENEF IT  PLANS
The following items are directly allocated to benefit plans:
	❚ Contribution income.
	❚ Claims incurred.
	❚ Risk transfer arrangement fees.
	❚ Accredited managed healthcare service fees.
	❚ Expenses for administration.
	❚ Broker service fees.
	❚ Interest paid on Personal Medical Savings Accounts.

The remaining items are allocated as detailed below:
	❚ For contributions that are not directly allocated to benefit plans 

these amounts are apportioned based on a percentage of net 
contribution income per plan.

	❚ For claims that are not directly allocated to benefit plans these 
amounts are apportioned based on a percentage of net claims 
incurred per plan.

	❚ The following items are apportioned based on the number of 
members per benefit plan:
	– Other operating expenditure;
	– Investment income;
	– Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss;

	– Other income;
	– Expenses for asset management services rendered; and
	– Interest paid, excluding Personal Medical Savings Accounts.

STRUC TURED  ENT I T I ES
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting 
or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who 
controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to 
administrative tasks only, and the relevant activities are directed by 
means of contractual agreements. A structured entity often has 
some or all of the following features or attributes:
	❚ Restricted activities.
	❚ A narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide 

investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks and 
rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity 
to investors.

	❚ Insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its 
activities without subordinated financial support.

	❚ Financing in the form of multiple contractually linked 
instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or 
other risks (tranches).

The Scheme has determined that some of its investments in pooled 
funds and in collective investments (funds) are investments in 
unconsolidated structured entities. Disclosure of these investments 
has been made in Note 31 to the Financial Statements. The 
objectives include achieving medium to long-term capital growth. 
The investment strategy does not include the use of leverage.

These funds are managed by independent asset managers who 
apply various investment strategies to accomplish their respective 
investment objectives.

The change in fair value of each fund is included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in “Net fair value gains on financial assets”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

1	 Property and equipment
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Scheme, and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the surplus or deficit during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows:
Right-of-use asset – Land and Buildings	 Shorter of estimated life or period of lease
Leasehold improvements	 Shorter of estimated life or period of lease

The term of the lease and the right-of-use asset has been determined as 10 years when assessing the term under IFRS 16.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. An asset’s carrying amount 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to dispose and value-in-use.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. These are recorded in the surplus 
or deficit.

R’000
Non-current

Right-of-use
asset

Land and
Buildings

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Gross carrying amount 12 015 2 844 14 859

Accumulated depreciation (1 803) (426) (2 229)

Balance at 31 December 2019 10 212 2 418 12 630

Gross carrying amount 12 015 2 844 14 859

Accumulated depreciation (3 004) (711) (3 715)

Balance at 31 December 2020 9 011 2 133 11 144

R’000
Non-current

Right-of-use
asset

Land and
Buildings

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Balance at 1 January 2019 11 414 2 702 14 116

Additions – – –
Depreciation charge (1 202) (284) (1 486)

Balance at 31 December 2019 10 212 2 418 12 630

Depreciation charge (1 201) (285) (1 486)

Balance at 31 December 2020 9 011 2 133 11 144

	 L EA SED A SSETS
The right-of-use asset arises from the lease agreement for the Scheme’s offices. (Refer to Note 2 for further details).

101 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



2	 Leases
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

At inception of a contract, the Scheme assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Scheme assesses whether:
	❚ The contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 

represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution right, then the 
asset is not considered to be an identified asset;

	❚ The Scheme has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period of 
use;

	❚ The Scheme has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Scheme has this right when it has the decision-making rights that are 
most relevant to changing how, and for what purpose, the asset is used. In rare cases, where all the decisions about how and for 
what purposes the asset is used are predetermined, the Scheme has the right to direct the use of the asset if either:
	– the Scheme has the right to operate the asset; or
	– the Scheme designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

At inception, or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Scheme allocates the consideration in the contract 
to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

The Scheme recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.

	 R IGHT-OF-USE  ASSET
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred. An estimate of the costs to dismantle and 
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located are also included in the cost. The total 
cost is reduced by any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the commencement date to the earlier of the 
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are 
determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

	 L EA SE  L IAB IL ITY
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Scheme’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Scheme uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed payments, increasing annually at a rate set out in the 
lease agreement.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate if there is a change in the lease term, or if the Scheme changes its assessment 
of whether it will exercise an extension option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset, or is recorded in the surplus or deficit if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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	 L EA SES  OF  LOW-VALUE  ASSETS
The Scheme has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets, with a value of less than 
R100 000.

	 DISCL OSURE
The Scheme represents right-of-use assets in “Property and equipment” and lease liabilities in “Leases” in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The Scheme recognises the lease payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets as an expense 
on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Note:

	 Nature of leasing activities
The Scheme leases land and buildings for its office space. The lease for the office space is effective from 1 July 2018 with an initial 
period of five years and includes an option to renew the lease for an additional period of the same duration, after the end of the initial 
term. It is reasonably certain that the renewal option will be exercised and the term of this lease has been determined as 10 years 
when assessing the term under IFRS 16. The lease payments are fixed and increase annually at a rate set out in the lease agreement.

This lease includes non-lease components and provides for the payment by the Scheme of operational costs incurred by the lessor and 
rates and taxes levied on the lessor. These amounts are determined annually and are recognised as an expense in the period incurred. 
Detail of this lease is presented below.

The Scheme leases IT equipment and certain office equipment with contract terms of one to two years. These leases are leases of 
low-value items.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

103 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



R’000
Land and
Buildings Total

2 Leases continued

Right-of-use asset
Gross carrying amount 12 015 12 015
Accumulated depreciation (1 803) (1 803)

Balance at 31 December 2019 10 212 10 212

Gross carrying amount 12 015 12 015
Accumulated depreciation (3 004) (3 004)

Balance at  31 December 2020 9 011 9 011

Lease liability
Gross carrying amount 12 015 12 015
Interest expense 2 006 2 006
Lease payments (2 375) (2 375)

Balance at 31 December 2019 11 646 11 646

Gross carrying amount 12 015 12 015
Interest expense 3 299 3 299
Lease payments (4 088) (4 088)

Balance at 31 December 2020 11 226 11 226

R’000 2020 2019

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year 1 832 1 713 
One to five years 11 275 10 538 
More than five years 4 171 6 741 

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December 2020 17 278 18 992

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Depreciation 1 201 1 202
Interest on lease liabilities 1 293 1.331
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 73 71

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Cash Flows
Total cash outflow for leases 1 713 1 601
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3	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

The Scheme’s investment strategy (business model objective) is determined by means of an allocation across different asset classes 
and grouping of financial assets into specific portfolios. Independent asset managers manage these portfolios under fully discretionary, 
active mandates with performance evaluated at portfolio level on a fair value basis. All asset managers are remunerated based on the 
fair value of the portfolios under management.

The business model objective is achieved through the selling of assets per the documented strategy for realisation of gains with the 
collection of contractual cash flows being incidental to the primary business model objective. The financial assets are managed 
together and grouped into specific portfolios. Based on the business model objective the financial assets are measured at fair value 
through profit and loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and the transaction costs are expensed in the 
surplus or deficit section of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The fair value of the financial instruments traded in an active market is determined by using quoted market prices or dealer quotes. 
The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques that maximise the 
use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.

Gains or losses arising from subsequent changes in fair value are recognised under “Other Income” in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income within the period in which they arise.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

The Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are summarised by 
measurement classes as follows:

31 430 492 23 191 456

	– Offshore bonds 1 975 533 876 156
	– Equities 4 658 899 4 182 545
	– Yield-enhanced bonds 8 871 310 6 620 669
	– Inflation-linked bonds 1 170 279 1 125 768
	– Money market instruments 14 323 269 9 799 918
	– Listed property 431 202 586 400

31 430 492 23 191 456

Open ended, available on demand (Included as non-current) 16 252 910 –

Expected to settle within twelve months (Included as current) 15 177 582 23 191 456

31 430 492 23 191 456

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Net healthcare result generated was R7.45 billion, an increase of 5 395% compared to 
the year ended 31 December 2019, with Total comprehensive income increasing to R9 billion after inclusion of investment and 
other income and expenditure. This performance increased accumulated funds by 47% to R28,22 billion with the statutory capital 
requirement increasing from 27.50% to 36.93%. The statutory solvency requirement exceeds the 25% minimum statutory requirement 
by R8.89 billion.
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3	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss continued

Pursuant to the improved financial position and excess solvency, there is a low expectation for the realisation of assets, with a maturity 
date longer than 12 months from the reporting date or with no defined maturity date, within 12 months of the reporting date of 31 
December 2020.

MEASUREMENT CLASS METHODOLOGY

Offshore bonds Instruments in these portfolios have maturity dates that expire within 12 months from year-end, and 
after 12 months from year-end. The Scheme’s intention is not to liquidate these portfolios however, 
in the event that operational or strategic requirements require, these portfolios may be liquidated. 
As a result these portfolios have been included as open ended.

Equities The Scheme’s intention is not to liquidate these portfolios; however, in the event that operational or 
strategic requirements require, these portfolios may be liquidated. As a result these portfolios have 
been included as open ended.

Yield-enhanced bonds The maturity date at instrument level is used to determine the expected settlement. If the maturity 
date is within 12 months from the reporting date, the instrument is considered to be settled within 
12 months. All other instruments are considered open ended.

Inflation-linked bonds The maturity date at instrument level is used to determine the expected settlement. If the maturity 
date is within 12 months from the reporting date, the instrument is considered to be settled within 
12 months. All other instruments are considered open ended.

Money market instruments Assets that are expected to be realised to fund operating activities within 12 months from the 
reporting date are considered to be settled within 12 months. All other instruments are classified as 
open ended.

Listed property The Scheme’s intention is not to liquidate these portfolios; however, in the event that operational or 
strategic requirements require, these portfolios may be liquidated. As a result these portfolios have 
been included as open ended.

Reconciliation of the balance at the beginning of the year to the balance at the end of the year:

R’000 2020 2019

At the beginning of the year 23 191 456 20 519 767
Acquisitions 11 887 221 4 783 355
Disposals (3 470 050) (2 215 835)
Net gains/(losses) on revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 22) (178 135) 104 169

At the end of the year 31 430 492 23 191 456

A register of investments is available for inspection at the registered office of the Scheme.
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4	 Trade and other receivables
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than 
those the Scheme intends to sell in the short term.

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value, plus transaction costs. The Scheme holds its insurance receivables and other 
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

“Trade and other receivables” comprise insurance receivables, arising from the Scheme’s insurance contracts with its members and 
other receivables.

	 IMPA IR MENT  OF  INSURANCE  REC E I VA BL ES  –  L OSS  EVENT
The Scheme assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an insurance receivable is impaired. An insurance 
receivable, or group of insurance receivables is impaired, and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence 
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the insurance receivable (a loss event) and 
that loss event (or events) has an adverse impact on the estimated future cash flows of the insurance receivable that can be reliably 
estimated.

Objective evidence that an insurance receivable or group of insurance receivables is impaired includes observable data that comes to 
the attention of the Scheme regarding the following loss events:
	❚ Significant financial difficulty of service providers or member debtors.
	❚ Breach of contract, such as non-payment of member contributions when due, and if these remain unpaid for extended periods.
	❚ Default or delinquency in payments due by service providers and other debtors.
	❚ Adverse changes in the payment status of members of the Scheme.
	❚ National or local economic conditions that correlate with non-payment of debtor contributions.

The Scheme first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists, individually for insurance receivables that are individually 
significant, such as service provider debtors. In the case of insurance receivables which are not individually significant, such as 
contribution debtors, receivables are grouped on the basis of similar credit characteristics, such as type of receivable and past due 
status. These characteristics are used in the estimation of future recoverable cash flows.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an insurance receivable has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount 
of the receivable is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

When a receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the related provision for impairment. Such receivables are written off after 
all the necessary collection procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Where a provision for 
impairment has not been raised, the receivable is written off directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for impairment in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance 
account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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4	 Trade and other receivables continued

	 IMPA IR MENT  OF  OTHER  RECE IVABL ES  –  EXPEC TED  C RED I T  L OSS
The Scheme applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for 
other receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, other receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and 
days past due. The Financial Risk Management Note 31 in the Financial Statements sets out information about impairment of 
other receivables.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Insurance receivables
Contribution receivables 2 200 791 2 108 912

Contributions outstanding 2 223 262 2 126 734
Less: Provision for impairment (22 471) (17 822)

Member and service provider claims receivables 98 725 102 455

Amount due 421 649 443 355
Less: Provision for impairment (322 924) (340 900)

Other risk transfer arrangements 2 695 4 253

Recoveries due from other risk transfer arrangements 489 2 647
Share of outstanding claims provision (Note 6) 2 206 1 606

Broker fee receivables 469 885

Amounts due from brokers 2 365 2 220
Less: Provision for impairment (1 896) (1 335)

Other insurance receivables 41 340 96 129

Balance due by related party 13 688 16 383

Discovery Third Party Recovery Services (Pty) Ltd (Note 25) 13 688 16 383

Forensic receivables 253 483 214 212

Amount due 265 262 227 931
Less: Provision for impairment (11 779) (13 719)

Total receivables arising from insurance contracts 2 611 191 2 543 229

Other receivables
Sundry accounts receivable 13 297 15 158
Interest receivable 923 2 038

Total receivables arising from other receivables 14 220 17 196

2 625 411 2 560 425

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of “Trade and other receivables” approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
maturities of these assets. Interest is not charged on overdue balances. The estimated future cash flow receipts have not been 
discounted as the effect would be immaterial.
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5	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid instruments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These instruments are not held for investment purposes.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
	❚ Money on call and short notice.
	❚ Balances with banks.

Cash and cash equivalents only include items held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing 
or other purposes and are carried at cost, which, due to their short-term nature, approximates fair value.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019
Current accounts 875 860 827 030
Money market instruments 3 132 808 1 164 252

4 008 668 1 991 282

At the reporting date cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost, which approximates fair value.

The money market instruments are held in an actively managed portfolio by an independent asset manager. The asset manager 
invests in line with its best investment view, subject to the investment mandate which includes investment in interest bearing – money 
market and/or interest bearing short-term collective investment scheme portfolios, subject to the Collective Investment Schemes 
Control Act 2002 (CISCA). The targeted return if the Short Term Fixed Interest (STeFI) Call Deposit Index and the weighted average term 
to final maturity never exceeds 90 days. The portfolio is highly liquid with 100% of the portfolio being available within three working 
days. 60% of the portfolio must be available for same-day value with the balance available within two working days.
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6	 Outstanding claims provision
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Claims outstanding comprise provisions for the Scheme’s best estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but not yet 
reported at the reporting date. Claims outstanding are determined as accurately as possible based on a number of factors. These 
include previous experience in claims patterns, claims settlement patterns, trends in claims frequency, changes in the claims 
processing cycle, and variations in the nature and average cost incurred per claim.

Claims handling expenses are not separately accounted for as this service is provided by the administrator and a fixed fee is paid for 
the full administration service, including claims handling. No provision for claims handling expenses is required as the Scheme has no 
further liability to the administrator at year-end.

Estimated co-payments and payments from members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts are deducted in calculating the outstanding 
claims provision. The Scheme does not discount its provision for outstanding claims since the effect of the time value of money is not 
considered material.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019
Outstanding claims provision – not covered by risk transfer arrangements 1 766 802 1 524 891
Outstanding claims provision – covered by risk transfer arrangements (Note 4) 2 206 1 606

1 769 008 1 526 497

Analysis of movement in outstanding claims
Balance at beginning of the year 1 526 497 1 499 227
Payments in respect of prior year (1 532 216) (1 508 343)

Under provision in prior year (Note 11) (5 719) (9 116)
Outstanding claims provision raised in current year 1 774 727 1 535 613

Not covered by risk transfer arrangements 1 772 521 1 534 007
Covered by risk transfer arrangements (Note 4) 2 206 1 606

Balance at the end of the year 1 769 008 1 526 497

Analysis of outstanding claims provision
Estimated gross claims 1 893 413 1 623 483
Less:
Estimated recoveries from savings plan accounts (Note 8) (124 405) (96 986)

Balance at the end of the year 1 769 008 1 526 497
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R’000 2020 2019

7 Derivative financial instruments
Note:

Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss
Current assets
− Derivative financial instruments 193 030 75 179

Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss
Current liabilities
− Derivative financial instruments (34 723) (14 689)

Derivative financial asset at the end of the year 158 307 60 490

Reconciliation of the balance at beginning of the year to the balance at the end of the year:
Derivative financial asset/(liability) at the beginning of the year 60 490 142 856

Net realised gain on derivative financial instruments (Note 27) (293 299) (22 447)
Realised gains on derivative financial instruments (333 865) (27 448)

− Zero-cost currency collars – –
− Zero-cost equity fences (333 865) (27 448)

Realised losses on derivative financial instruments 40 566 5 001

− Zero-cost equity fences 5 001
− Zero-cost currency collars 40 566 –

Net fair value (loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments (Note 22) 391 116 (59 919)

Gains on revaluation of derivative financial instruments to fair value 403 665 52 598

− Zero-cost equity fences 309 412 27 810
− Zero-cost currency collars 94 253 24 788

Losses on revaluation of derivative financial instruments to fair value (12 549) (112 517)

− Zero-cost equity fences (12 549) (112 517)
− Zero-cost currency collars – –

Derivative financial asset at the end of the year 158 307 60 490

The Trustees approved a strategy to protect the value of the Scheme’s investments by entering into zero-cost equity fences, which 
protects the Scheme’s equity portfolios against a fall in equity markets, and zero-cost currency collars to protect the Scheme’s offshore 
US Dollar denominated bond portfolios against rand appreciation.

Some of the Scheme’s equity managers entered into futures contracts to generate an equity-related return on cash held in the 
equity portfolios.

Some of the Scheme’s bond managers entered into bond futures to hedge the bond portfolios and provide protection against 
market risk.

Details of the Scheme’s derivatives and the impact of these instruments on investment return are set out in the Financial Risk 
Management Report (Note 31).
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8	 Personal Medical Savings Account liabilities
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

The Scheme Rules for Personal Medical Savings Accounts (PMSAs) were amended, effective from 1 January 2018. The effect of the 
amendment is that a trust relationship is no longer established. Prior to the 2018 reporting period, PMSAs were disclosed as trust 
liabilities. From 1 January 2018, the Scheme Rules have been amended to no longer establish a trust relationship, therefore no longer 
requiring disclosure as a trust liability.

Members’ PMSAs represent savings contributions (which are a deposit component of the insurance contracts), and accrued interest 
thereon, net of any savings claims paid on behalf of members in terms of the Scheme’s registered Rules. The deposit component has 
been unbundled since the Scheme can measure the deposit component separately and the Scheme’s accounting policies do not 
otherwise require recognition of all obligations and rights arising from the deposit component.

The savings accounts contain a demand feature and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, which is the amount 
payable to a member on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid. Subsequent to initial 
measurement, the liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Unspent savings at year-end are carried forward to meet future expenses for which the members are responsible. In terms of the Act, 
balances standing to the credit of members are refundable only in terms of Regulation 10 of the Act.

Advances on savings contributions are funded from the Scheme’s funds and the risk of impairment is carried by the Scheme.

Interest payable on members’ PMSAs is expensed when incurred.

Unclaimed PMSA balances that have prescribed, that is funds older than three years, are written back and included under “Sundry 
income” on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Balance on Personal Medical Savings Accounts at the beginning of the year 5 522 613 5 040 832
Add:
Personal Medical Savings Accounts contributions received or receivable (Note 10) 13 294 773 12 632 907
Interest on Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 24) 282 907 246 267
Transfers received from other medical schemes 16 479 22 456
Less:
Claims paid to or on behalf of members (Note 11) (11 785 757) (12 004 885)
Refunds on death or resignation (487 217) (413 396)
Unclaimed Personal Medical Savings Accounts written off to Scheme funds (Note 23) (2 379) (1 568)
COVID-19 support: Contributions funded from PMSA (165 474) –

Balance due to members on Personal Medical Savings Accounts at the end of the year 6 675 945 5 522 613

It is estimated that claims to be paid out of members’ PMSAs in respect of claims incurred in 2020 but not reported will amount to 
approximately R124 404 720 (2019: R96 986 357) (Note 6).

PMSAs contain a demand feature and members can call on the funds at any time, and these balances are categorised as “Available on 
demand”. At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of members’ PMSAs were deemed to be equal to their fair values, which is the 
amount payable on demand.

Interest is determined from time to time by the Scheme at its discretion and added to the funds allocated to the member’s PMSA in 
terms of the Scheme Rules. The Scheme does not charge interest on negative (overdrawn) PMSA balances.

The Scheme introduced the payment of contributions from positive MSA balances to assist in the adverse impact of COVID-19 on its 
stakeholders. Individual member contributions that were offset against Personal Medical Savings Accounts amounted to R165 474 325 
affecting 15 202 policies. CMS granted DHMS an exemption on 9 April 2020 for a period of three months effective from 1 April 2020. 
An extension of the exemption was granted on 4 November 2020 for the period up to 31 December 2020.
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9	 Trade and other payables
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

	 UN A L L OCATED FUNDS
Unallocated funds arise on the receipt of unidentified deposits in favour of the Scheme.

Unallocated funds that have legally prescribed, those are funds older than three years, are written back and included under “Sundry 
income” in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

A liability for unallocated funds that have not legally prescribed is recognised and disclosed under “Trade and other payables”. The 
liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Insurance payables
Contributions received in advance 190 991 164 395
Contribution refunds due to employers 711 689

Reported claims not yet paid 635 017 634 337

Balance at the beginning of the year 634 337 628 147
Net movement for the year 680 6 190

Broker fee creditors 95 036 93 250

Accredited brokers 95 036 93.250

Total liabilities arising from insurance contracts 921 755 892 671

Financial liabilities
Balances due to related parties (Note 25) 602 596 609 002

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd 602 483 598 846
Discovery Life Limited 30 120
Discovery Vitality (Pty) Ltd – 9 898
Discovery Central Services (Pty) Ltd 83 138

Unallocated funds 13 621 10 382

Total accruals 30 823 39 913

General accruals 30 652 39 757
Leave pay provision 171 156

Total arising from financial liabilities 647 040 659 297

1 568 795 1 551 968

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of insurance and other payables approximate their fair values due to the short-term 
maturities of these liabilities.
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10	 Risk contribution income
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Gross contributions comprise risk contributions and Personal Medical Savings Account contributions. Contributions on member 
insurance contracts are accounted for monthly when their collection in terms of the insurance contract is reasonably assured. Risk 
contributions represent gross contributions after the deduction of Personal Medical Savings Account contributions. Risk contributions 
are earned from the date of attachment of risk, over the indemnity period on a straight-line basis. The earned portion of risk 
contributions received is recognised as revenue.

Risk contributions are shown before the deduction of broker service fees.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Gross contributions per registered Scheme Rules 74 537 501 69 855 135
Less:
Personal Medical Savings Account contributions (Note 8) (13 294 773) (12 632 907)

61 242 728 57 222 228

11	 Net claims incurred
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

	 CL A IMS  INCURRED
Gross claims incurred comprises of the total estimated cost of all claims arising from healthcare events that have occurred in the year 
and for which the Scheme is responsible, whether or not reported by the end of the year.

Risk claims incurred comprise:
	❚ Claims submitted and accrued for services rendered during the year.
	❚ Payments under provider contracts for services rendered to members.
	❚ Over or under provisions relating to prior year claims estimates.
	❚ Claims incurred but not yet reported.
	❚ Claims settled in terms of risk transfer arrangements.

Net of:
	❚ Claims from members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts.
	❚ Recoveries from members for co-payments.
	❚ Recoveries from third parties.
	❚ Discount received from service providers.

Anticipated recoveries under risk transfer arrangements are disclosed separately as assets, and are assessed in a manner similar to the 
assessment of the outstanding claims provision and claims reported not yet paid.
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11	 Net claims incurred continued

	 R E IMB UR SEMENTS  FROM THE  ROA D  A C C I D ENT  FUND
The Scheme grants assistance to its members in defraying expenditure incurred in connection with the rendering of any relevant 
health service. Such expenditure may be in connection with a claim that is also made against the Road Accident Fund, administered in 
terms of the Road Accident Fund Act No 56 of 1996. If the member is reimbursed by the Road Accident Fund, they are obliged, 
contractually, to cede that payment to the Scheme to the extent that they have already been compensated.

Due to the uncertainty around the confirmation and measurability of the Road Accident Fund amounts, the Scheme accounts for these 
amounts on a cash basis. These amounts are recognised as a reduction of net claims incurred.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Current year claims per registered Scheme rules 56 500 744 60 650 075

Claims not covered by risk transfer arrangements 56 198 295 60 268 128
Claims covered by risk transfer arrangements (Note 13) 302 449 381 947

Movement in outstanding claims provision 242 511 27 270

Under provision in prior year (Note 6) 5 719 9 116
Adjustment for current year 236 792 18 154

56 743 254 60 677 345
Less:
Claims charged to members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8) (11 785 757) (12 004 885)

Claims incurred 44 957 497  48 672 460
Third-party claim recoveries (141 543) (156 703)

44 815 954 48 515 757

12	 Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer)
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer) fees comprise amounts paid or payable to a third party for managing the 
utilisation, costs and quality of healthcare services to the members of the Scheme and are expensed as incurred.

Accredited managed healthcare services are part of healthcare expenditure as they directly impact on the delivery of cost-effective and 
appropriate healthcare benefits to beneficiaries of the Scheme.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

The accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer) have been grouped into the following 
categories of services.

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd
Active Disease Risk Management Services and Disease Risk Management Support Services 601 002 561 058
Hospital Benefit Management Services 557 702 520 453
Managed Care Network Management Services and Risk Management Services 535 040 507 555
Pharmacy Benefit Management Services 189 337 176 761

1 883 081 1 765 827
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13	 Net income on risk transfer arrangements
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Risk transfer arrangements are contractual arrangements entered into by the Scheme and third parties who undertake to indemnify 
the Scheme against all or part of the loss that the Scheme may incur as a result of carrying on the business of a medical scheme. Risk 
transfer arrangements do not reduce the Scheme’s primary obligations to its members and their dependants. The arrangements only 
decrease the loss the Scheme may incur as a result of carrying on the business of a medical scheme.

Risk transfer arrangement fees (including “Managed care: healthcare services”) are recognised as an expense over the indemnity period 
on a straight-line basis.

The claims incurred under member insurance contracts and the equivalent claims recoveries are presented in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a gross basis. Amounts recoverable under such contracts are therefore recognised in the same year as 
related claims. The claims incurred liability under risk transfer arrangements and the equivalent receivable are also presented in the 
Statement of Financial Position on a gross basis.

Assets relating to risk transfer arrangements include balances due under risk transfer arrangements for outstanding claims provisions, 
and claims reported not yet paid. Amounts recoverable under risk transfer arrangements are estimated in a manner consistent with 
the outstanding claims provision, claims reported not yet paid and settled claims associated with the risk transfer arrangement.

Amounts recoverable under risk transfer arrangements are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. These assets are deemed 
impaired if there is objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that the Scheme may not 
recover all amounts due and that the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Scheme will receive under the 
risk transfer arrangement. The Scheme gathers the objective evidence that a risk transfer arrangement asset is impaired using the 
same process adopted for insurance receivables. The impairment loss is also calculated following the same method used for these 
receivables. These processes are described in the “Trade and other receivables” note in the Financial Statements.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Risk transfer arrangement fees (260 068) (299 464)
Recoveries under risk transfer arrangements (Note 11) 302 449 381 947

42 381 82 483

14	 Broker service fees
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Broker service fees are fees paid as acquisition costs for the introduction and provision of ongoing services to members and are 
expensed as incurred.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Brokers’ fees 1 489 823 1 444 563

1 489 823 1 444 563
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15	 Other operating expenses
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Fees paid to the Scheme administrator are included in “Expenses for administration” and are expensed as incurred. Other operating 
expenses include expenses, other than administration fees, and are expensed as incurred.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Association fees 1 779 1 423
Audit fees 9 345 10 497

Audit services for the year ended 2020 3 182 –
Audit services for the year ended 2019 4 296 1 709
Audit services for the year ended 2018 – 3 713
Other services 1 867 5 075

Audit Committee and Risk Committee fees (Note 16) 1 431 1 817

Audit Committee 1 145 1 270
Risk Committee 286 547

Bank charges 10 388 9 938
Benefit management services (Note 25) 11 703 –
Clinical Governance Committee fees (Note 16) 544 644
Council for Medical Schemes 52 292 52 255
Debt collecting fees 2 693 3 104
Depreciation 1 486 1 486
Dispute Committee fees 1 701 1 587
Fidelity Guarantee Insurance 471 252
General meeting costs 2 982 6 374
Investment Committee fees (Note 16) 236 418
Investment reporting fees 4 523 3 865
Legal fees 325 509
Nomination Committee fees (Note 18) 250 515
Office operating costs 4 162 3 788
Other expenses 24 549 27 940
Principal Officer fees – Remuneration 4 647 4 849
Principal Officer fees – Unvested long-term employee benefit 285 4 039
Printing, postage and stationery 47 122
Professional fees 8 577 8 154
Remuneration Committee fees (Note 16) 161 95
Scheme Office costs 950 2 968
Staff costs (Note 19) 23 799 23 578
Sundry amounts written off 9 6
Trustees’ remuneration and consideration expenses (Note 20) 8 028 9 720

177 363 179 943
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16	 Board Committee fees and considerations
Note:

2020 
R’000 Audit Risk

Clinical
Governance Investment Remuneration Total

S Ludolph 194 194
N Luthuli 161 161
P Maphumulo 37 37
N Mlaba 249 249
S Smith 295 295
E Mackeown 721 128 199 1 048
A Burger 230 158 388

Total 1 145 286 544 236 161 2 372

2019 
R’000 Audit Risk

Clinical
Governance Investment Remuneration Total

S Green 200 149 349
S Ludolph 194 85 279
N Luthuli 95 95
P Maphumulo 147 85 199 431
N Mlaba 256 256
S Smith 227 227
E Mackeown 228 100 61 389
B Stott 501 128 158 787
Z Van Der Spuy – fees 126 126
Z Van Der Spuy – travel 35 35

Total 1 270 547 644 418 95 2 974

For detail of the Chairperson of the respective Committee refer to pages 47 – 48 and page 60.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

118 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



17	 Net impairment losses on healthcare receivables
Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Insurance receivables
Contributions that are not recoverable 4 648 3 089

Movement in provision 4 648 3 089

Members’ and service providers’ portions that are not recoverable 56 602 100 014

Movement in provision 56 602 100 014

Amounts due by brokers that are not recoverable 562 71

Movement in provision 562 71

Forensic debtors that are not recoverable (1 940) 2 409

Movement in provision (1 940) 2 409

Payables/receivables written off directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 19 224 525

79 096 106 108

18	 Other committee fees
Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Nomination Committee fees
P Goss – Independent Member (Chairperson) 154 223
T Wixley – Independent Member 25 146
R Shough – Independent Member 71 146

250 515

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

119 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



19	 Staff costs
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

	 PEN S ION  OBL IGAT IONS
All employees of the Scheme are members of defined contribution plans. Defined contribution plans are plans under which the 
Scheme pays fixed contributions to separate legal entities.

The Scheme has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The Scheme has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. Contributions to the defined contribution funds are recognised in the net surplus or deficit for 
the year in which they are incurred.

	 OTHER  POST-EMPLOYMENT  OBL I GA T I ONS
The Scheme has no liability for the post-retirement medical benefits of employees.

	 OTHER  L ONG-TERM EMPLOYEE  BENEF I T
The long-term employee benefit plan refers to awards made to qualifying employees.

The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled 
directly. The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method.

	 L EA V E  PA Y  ACCRUAL
The Scheme recognises in full employees’ rights to annual leave entitlement in respect of past service.

	 B ON USES
Management and staff bonuses are recognised as an expense in staff costs as incurred.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Salaries and bonuses 18 944 19 822
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 1 273 1 165
Medical and other benefits 1 001 843
Long-term employee benefit service cost 2 558 1 697
Increase in leave pay accrual 23 51

23 799 23 578

Number of employees at 31 December 12 12
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20	 Trustees’ remuneration and considerations
Note:
The following table records the remuneration and consideration paid to Trustees during the year:

Committee fees

2020
R’000

Services
as Trustee Audit Risk Investment

Clinical
Governance Product

Re-
muneration

Stakeholder
Relations

and Ethics Travel Training Total

N Morrison (Chairperson) 895 229 98 49 1 271
D Moodley 574 277 311 147 147 10 1 466
D King 543 179 107 128 23 980
J Adams SC 567 170 261 15 147 3 1 163
J Butler SC 557 196 98 183 27 1 061
J Human 574 196 229 184 41 1 224
S Brynard 486 115 98 128 36 863

Total 4 196 392 349 735 572 461 401 782 137 3 8 028

The following table records the remuneration and consideration paid to Trustees during the prior year:

Committee fees

2019
R’000

Services
as Trustee Audit Risk Investment

Clinical
Governance Product

Non-
Healthcare

Expenses
Re-

muneration

Stakeholder
Relations

and Ethics Travel Training Total

N Morrison (Chairperson) 1 002 228 77 98 147 2 1 554
D Moodley 601 278 311 147 147 28 2 1 514
D King 644 80 66 117 128 109 2 1 146
D Naidoo 272 83 66 114 66 77 10 688
J Adams SC 583 136 171 261 49 6 1 206
J Butler SC 534 90 77 110 184 116 2 1 113
J Human 661 196 98 182 184 194 2 1 517
S Brynard 477 128 96 128 131 22 982

Total 4 774 505 415 802 572 525 297 421 783 578 48 9 720
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21	 Investment income
	 ACCOUNTING POLICY:

Investment income comprises dividends and interest received and accrued on investments at fair value through profit or loss and 
interest on cash and cash equivalents.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method, taking into account the principal amount outstanding and the 
effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the Scheme.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment is established – this is on the “last day to trade” for 
listed shares and on the “date of declaration” for unlisted shares.

Note:

R’000 2020 2019
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 1 462 783 1 473 813

Dividend income 156 310 183 989
Interest income 1 306 473 1 289 824

Cash and cash equivalents interest income 227 587 224 014

Investment income per Statement of Comprehensive Income 1 690 370 1 697 827

The Scheme’s total interest income is summarised below.

Financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss:
Cash and cash equivalents interest income 227 587 224 014

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Interest income 1 306 473 1 289 824

Total interest income 1 534 060 1 513 838

22	 Net gains/(losses) on financial assets
Note:

R’000 2020 2019
Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 3): (178 135) 104 169

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 470 681 219 791

– Equities 301 446 69 580
– Money market instruments 23 499 57 636
– Inflation-linked bonds 2 568
– Offshore bonds 124 434 29 167
– Yield-enhanced bonds 18 734 63 408

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: (648 816) (115 622)

– Equities (341 765) (67 092)
– Offshore bonds (69 227) –
– Money market instruments (8 625) –
– Inflation-linked bonds (15 549) (26 242)
– Listed property (211 580) (22 288)
– Yield-enhanced bonds (2 070) –

Net fair value (losses)/gains on derivative financial instruments (Note 7): 391 116 (59 919)

Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments 403 665 52 598
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments (12 549) (112 517)

212 981 44 250
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23	 Sundry income
Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Prescribed amounts written back 14 970 13 956
Unclaimed Personal Medical Savings Accounts written off to Scheme funds (Note 8) 2 379 1 568

17 349 15 524
Reversal of stale cheques written back (2 372) (5 938) 

14 977 9 586

24	 Finance costs
Note:

R’000 2020 2019

Financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss:
Interest on Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8) 282 907 246 267

1 429 1 373

Interest paid – other 136 42
Interest on lease liability (Note 2) 1 293 1 331

284 336 247 640

25	 Related party transactions
The Scheme is governed by the Board of Trustees, the majority of which are elected by the members of the Scheme.

	 KEY  MA N AGEMENT  PERSONNEL  A ND  THE I R  C L OSE  FA M I L Y  M EM BERS
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Scheme. Key management personnel include the non-executive Board of Trustees and the Executive Officers of the Scheme. The 
disclosure deals with full-time Executive Officers who are compensated on a salary basis, and non-executive Board of Trustees who are 
compensated on a fee basis.

Close family members include close family members of the Board of Trustees and Executive Officers of the Scheme.

	 PA RT IES  WITH  S IGNIF ICANT  INFL UENC E  OVER  THE  SC HEM E
	 Administrator

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd has significant influence over the Scheme, as Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd participates in the Scheme’s financial 
and operating policy decisions, but does not control the Scheme. Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd provides administration, managed care 
services and wellness programmes. As Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd is a related party, its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries within the 
Discovery Ltd group are related parties to the Scheme. Discovery Ltd’s Annual Report provides detail of its group structure.
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25	 Related party transactions continued

	 PA R T IES  WITH  S IGNIF ICANT  INFL UENC E  OVER  THE  SC HEM E  con t inued

	 Transactions with related parties
The following provides the total amount in respect of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial year.

Transactions with key management personnel and their close family members which includes Trustees and Executive Officers:

R’000 2020 2019

Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions

Compensation

Short-term employee benefits (23 053) (31 819)
Unvested long-term employee benefit (2 843) (5 736)

Contributions and claims

Gross contributions received 1 230 1 161
Claims paid from the Scheme (282) (299)
Claims paid from the Personal Medical Savings Account (318) (258)
Interest paid on Personal Medical Savings Accounts (22) (3)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Long-term employee benefit plan asset 6 427 5 796

Plan asset 10 797 19 198
Plan liability (4 370) (13 402)

Long-term employee benefit plan asset 6 427 5 796

Balance at the beginning of the year 5 796 8 261
Additions 4 618 3 504
Withdrawals (1 144) (233)
Unvested long-term employee benefit (2 843) (5 736)

Contribution debtors 92 93
Personal Medical Savings Account balances (96) (68)

The terms and conditions of the related party transactions were as follows:

TRANSACTIONS NATURE OF TRANSACTIONS AND THEIR TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Compensation This constitutes remuneration and consideration paid to Trustees and Executive Officers, 
short-term employee benefits and unvested long-term employee benefits.

Contributions received This constitutes the contributions paid by the related party as a member of the Scheme, 
in their individual capacity. All contributions were on the same terms as applicable to 
other members.

Claims incurred This constitutes amounts claimed by the related parties, in their individual capacity as 
members of the Scheme. All claims were paid out in terms of the Rules of the Scheme, 
as applicable to other members.

Contribution debtors This constitutes outstanding contributions receivable. The amounts are due immediately. 
No impairment provisions have been raised on these amounts.

Personal Medical Savings Account 
balances

The amounts owing to the related parties relate to Personal Medical Savings Account 
balances to which the parties have a right. In line with the terms applied to other members, 
the balances earn monthly interest on an accrual basis, at interest rates determined by the 
Scheme from time to time at its discretion. The amounts are all current and would need to 
be payable on demand as applicable to other members.
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25	 Related party transactions continued

R’000 2020 2019

TRA N SA CT IONS  WITH  ENT IT IES  T HA T  HA VE  S I GNI F I C A NT 
IN FL UEN CE  OVER  THE  SCHEME
Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Administrator
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Administration fees paid (5 389 056) (5 156 926)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd (Note 9)* (445 612) (429 839)

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Managed care organisation
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer ) (Note 12) (1 866 263) (1 763 579)
Diabetes management services (Note 12) (16 818) (2 248)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd at year end (Note 9)* (156 871) (169 007)

Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd – Lifestyle and health assessments
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Claims paid from the Scheme (29 843) (6 630)

Transactions between Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd’s subsidiaries and the Scheme are provided below

Discovery Third Party Recovery Services (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Third-party collection fees (18 625) (23 255)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to the Scheme at year end (Note 4) 13 688 16 383

Southern RX Distributors (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Claims paid from the Scheme (328 398) (286 951)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Claims due to provider (571) (304)

Grove Nursing Services (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Claims paid from the Scheme (34 856) (13 565)
COVID-19 management services (Note 15) (11 703) –

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to provider (2 154) –

*	 Total amount due to Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd for the current financial year is R603 million (2019: R599 million), disclosed in Note 9.
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25	 Related party transactions continued

R’000 2020 2019

Discovery Bank Ltd
Statement of Financial Position transactions
Negotiable Certificates of Deposits 141 636 –

Discovery Ltd
Statement of Financial Position transactions
Floating Rate Notes 69 781 –

Discovery Life Ltd
Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Life Limited at year-end (Note 9) (30) (120)

Discovery Vitality (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Vitality (Pty) Ltd at year-end (Note 9) – (9 898)

Discovery Connect Distribution Services (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Broker fees paid (82 600) (72 279)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Connect Distribution Services (Pty) Ltd at year-end (7 735) (6 573)

Discovery Central Services (Pty) Ltd
Statement of Comprehensive Income transactions
Contractual lease and non-lease payments (5 875) (5 388)

Statement of Financial Position transactions
Balance due to Discovery Central Services (Pty) Ltd at year-end (Note 9) (83) (138)

The terms and conditions of the transactions with entities with significant influence over the Scheme were as follows:

	 A DMIN ISTRAT ION AGREEMENT
The administration agreement is in terms of the Rules of the Scheme and in accordance with instructions given by the Trustees. The 
agreement is for a five-year period effective from 1 January 2018. The Scheme and the administrator shall be entitled to terminate the 
agreement by giving the other party at least 12 calendar months’ written notice.

The administration fees are an all-inclusive fee, calculated on a per member per month basis. The total expense for administration cost 
changes in line with membership growth and inflation.

The main categories of service provided can be broken down as follows:
	❚ Member and provider servicing;
	❚ Marketing and advertising;
	❚ Financial and actuarial services; and
	❚ Governance, risk, compliance and internal audit.

	 MA N A GED HEALTHCARE  AGREEM ENT
Managed healthcare means clinical and financial risk assessment and management of healthcare, with a view to facilitating 
appropriateness and cost-effectiveness of relevant health services within the constraints of what is affordable, through the use of 
rules-based and clinical management-based programmes.

The Scheme has contracted with the administrator to provide accredited managed healthcare services (no risk transfer). These services 
include bill review, specialist and hospital referrals, case management, disease management (where healthcare benefits are not 
included in the contract), peer review, claims audits and statistical analysis.

This agreement is in accordance with instructions given by the Trustees. The agreement is for a five-year period and effective from 1 
January 2018. The Scheme and Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd shall be entitled to terminate the agreement by giving the other party at least 
12 calendar months’ written notice.
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25	 Related party transactions continued

The accredited services provided by the managed care organisation include:
	❚ Active Disease Risk Management Services and Disease Risk Management Support Services
	❚ Hospital Benefit Management Services
	❚ Managed Care Network Management Services and Risk Management Services
	❚ Pharmacy Benefit Management Services

	 TH IR D-PA RTY  COLLECT ION SERV I C ES
The Scheme has contracted with Discovery Third Party Recovery Services (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Discovery Health 
(Pty) Ltd, to manage the identification and collection of third-party recoveries from the Road Accident Fund and the Compensation 
for Occupational Injuries and Diseases. The Scheme has sold all Road Accident Fund claims incurred by the Scheme during the 
period 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 to Discovery Third Party Recovery Services (Pty) Ltd for the amount of R10 million 
(2019: R16 million).

	 SPEC IA L IST  PHARMACEUT ICAL  SERV I C ES
The Scheme is contracted with Southern RX Pharmacy, a wholly owned subsidiary of Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, to provide specialist 
pharmaceutical services to members of the Scheme.

	 L I FESTYL E  AND HEALTH ASSESSM ENTS
Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd provides wellness experiences through lifestyle and health assessments to Scheme members with the use of 
information technology and on-site medical evaluations of key health indicators.

	 HOME-B A SED NURS ING SERV ICES
The Scheme is contracted with Grove Nursing Services also known as Discovery HomeCare, a wholly owned subsidiary of Discovery 
Health (Pty) Ltd, to provide home-based care to members of the Scheme in the comfort of their home.

	 B ROKER  SERV ICE  FEES
The Scheme contracted with Discovery Connect Distribution Services (Pty) Ltd to provide broker services directly to the consumer. The 
amounts were determined and paid based on the terms and conditions applicable to other brokers.

	 CON TR A CTUAL  LEASE  PAYMENTS
The Scheme has contracted with Discovery Central Services (Pty) Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Discovery Ltd, to lease land and 
buildings for its office space. The lease for the office space is effective from 1 July 2018 with an initial period of five years. The lease 
payments are fixed and increase annually at a rate set out in the lease agreement.

This lease includes non-lease components and provides for the payment by the Scheme of operational costs incurred by the lessor and 
rates and taxes levied on the lessor. These amounts are determined annually and are recognised as an expense in the period incurred.

	 IN TERN A T IONAL  TRAVEL  SERV ICES  A GREEM ENT
The Scheme contracted with Medical Services Organisation International (Pty) Ltd (MSOI) to deliver the following benefit offered by 
Discovery Health Medical Scheme to its members who are working or travelling outside the borders or the Republic of South Africa (RSA):

	❚ The International Travel Benefit
	� Members are covered for emergency medical assistance outside of the RSA for a period of 90 (ninety) days from date of departure 

from the RSA. This cover includes in-hospital treatment, repatriation and out-of-hospital treatment above a US$D150 or €100 (one 
hundred and fifty US Dollars or one hundred Euros) excess payment by the member. This benefit is available to all members, except 
members on KeyCare plans.

	❚ The Africa Evacuation Benefit
	� Members are covered for emergency medical assistance with or without evacuation to the RSA and pre-authorised in-hospital 

elective procedures at the South African Rand equivalent in accordance with their respective health plans. Cover commences on the 
Member’s date of departure from the RSA and continues for an unlimited period in those specified African countries. This benefit is 
available to all members, except members on KeyCare plans.

This agreement is in accordance with instructions given by the Trustees. The agreement is effective from 1 October 2020. The Scheme 
and Medical Services Organisation International (Pty) Ltd shall be entitled to terminate the agreement by giving the other party at least 
90 days written notice.
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26	 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan

2020
R’000 Executive

Classic 
Comp

Classic 
Smart 
Comp

Classic 
Core

Classic 
Saver

Classic 
Priority

Essential 
Comp

Essential 
Saver

Essential 
Core

Risk contribution income 951 977 10 354 136 45 382 2 430 943 14 934 631 4 819 694 1 001 525 5 485 672 1 861 332

Net claims incurred (993 385) (8 834 342) (15 061) (1 625 793) (10 268 730) (3 522 039) (785 866) (3 231 359) (1 168 799)

Risk claims incurred (996 396) (8 862 328) (15 100) (1 630 812) (10 299 519) (3 532 740) (788 336) (3 241 697) (1 172 622)
Third-party claim 
recoveries 3 011 27 986 39 5 019 30 789 10 701 2 470 10 338 3 823

Accredited managed 
healthcare services 
(no risk transfer) (12 491) (169 069) (845) (67 790) (441 385) (113 788) (19 028) (196 894) (65 490)
Net income/(expense) on 
risk transfer arrangements (69) (471) (466) (178) 406 122 (5) 285 45

Risk transfer 
arrangement fees paid (2 055) (25 812) (585) (1 611) (10 845) (4 724) (2 265) (2 764) (1 191)
Recoveries from risk 
transfer arrangements 1 986 25 341 119 1 433 11 251 4 846 2 260 3 049 1 236

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (1 005 945) (9 003 885) (16 372) (1 693 762) (10 709 709) (3 635 705) (804 899) (3 427 968) (1 234 244)

Gross healthcare result (53 968) 1 350 252 29 010 737 181 4 224 922 1 183 989 196 626 2 057 704 627 087
Broker service fees (10 778) (149 437) (599) (53 363) (398 847) (104 057) (17 187) (159 084) (48 758)
Expenses for 
administration (37 520) (509 195) (2 120) (211 705) (1 377 948) (353 513) (57 832) (616 587) (204 814)
Other operating expenses (1 085) (15 152) (64) (6 161) (42 061) (10 540) (1 785) (19 410) (6 014)
Net impairment losses on 
healthcare receivables (505) (6 851) (29) (2 855) (18 551) (4 755) (778) (8 311) (2 769)

Net healthcare result (103 856) 669 619 26 198 463 098 2 387 515 711 123 119 044 1 254 311 364 733

Investment income 10 817 146 809 611 60 956 396 989 101 872 16 671 177 495 58 855
Net gains/(losses) on 
financial instruments 1 082 14 459 55 7 830 47 015 11 343 1 735 24 589 10 188
Other income 110 1 487 6 627 4 055 1 038 169 1 830 619

Other income 12 009 162 755 672 69 413 448 059 114 253 18 575 203 914 69 662

Asset management fees (500) (6 777) (28) (2 838) (18 418) (4 717) (770) (8 279) (2 772)
Other expenses (15) (209) (1) (85) (560) (144) (24) (248) (80)
Interest paid (9) (124) (1) (52) (336) (86) (14) (150) (50)
Interest paid on savings 
accounts (2 831) (38 420) – – (104 116) (26 697) (4 365) (46 654) –

Other expenditure (3 355) (45 530) (30) (2 975) (123 430) (31 644) (5 173) (55 331) (2 902)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year (95 202) 786 844 26 840 529 536 2 712 144 793 732 132 446 1 402 894 431 493
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26	 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2020
R’000

Essential 
Priority

Coastal 
Saver

Coastal 
Core

KeyCare 
Plus

KeyCare 
Core

KeyCare 
Start

Classic 
Smart

Essential 
Smart Total

Risk contribution 
income 287 271 7 550 459 3 270 534 5 452 069 316 508 95 957 1 693 343 691 295 61 242 728

Net claims incurred (168 365) (5 465 976) (2 420 551) (4 709 901) (200 235) (45 862) (1 028 678) (331 012) (44 815 954)

Risk claims 
incurred (168 929) (5 483 294) (2 428 229) (4 725 795) (200 957) (46 053) (1 032 241) (332 449) (44 957 497)
Third-party claim 
recoveries 564 17 318 7 678 15 894 722 191 3 563 1 437 141 543

Accredited 
managed 
healthcare services 
(no risk transfer) (7 447) (245 830) (107 675) (292 707) (20 702) (8 389) (64 286) (49 265) (1 883 081)
Net income/
(expense) on risk 
transfer 
arrangements 5 374 163 41 341 – 330 489 10 42 381

Risk transfer 
arrangement fees 
paid (230) (4 577) (1 823) (196 982) – (4 103) (282) (219) (260 068)
Recoveries from 
risk transfer 
arrangements 235 4 951 1 986 238 323 – 4 433 771 229 302 449

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (175 806) (5 711 431) (2 528 062) (4 961 268) (220 937) (53 921) (1 092 473) (380 267) (46 656 654)

Gross healthcare 
result 111 465 1 839 028 742 471 490 801 95 571 42 036 600 870 311 029 14 586 074
Broker service fees (6 717) (212 158) (83 210) (164 361) (9 748) (3 057) (46 265) (22 197) (1 489 823)
Expenses for 
administration (23 207) (768 615) (336 814) (499 363) (18 954) (14 311) (201 876) (154 682) (5 389 056)
Other operating 
expenses (694) (22 797) (9 695) (27 901) (1 953) (814) (6 250) (4 987) (177 363)
Net impairment 
losses on 
healthcare 
receivables (312) (10 347) (4 539) (12 430) (884) (357) (2 727) (2 096) (79 096)

Net healthcare 
result 80 534 825 110 308 214 (213 254) 64 033 23 497 343 751 127 066 7 450 736

Investment income 6 685 221 441 96 982 265 432 18 713 7 601 58 063 44 378 1 690 370
Net gains/(losses) 
on financial 
instruments 811 25 760 12 245 32 415 3 497 1 090 9 119 9 748 212 981
Other income 68 2 263 998 2 720 199 79 605 476 17 349

Other income 7 564 249 464 110 225 300 567 22 409 8 770 67 787 54 602 1 920 700

Asset management 
fees (310) (10 270) (4 512) (12 338) (886) (355) (2 724) (2 114) (78 608)
Other expenses (9) (312) (136) (373) (25) (11) (80) (60) (2 372)
Interest paid (6) (187) (82) (224) (16) (6) (49) (37) (1 429)
Interest paid on 
savings accounts (1 754) (58 070) – – – – – – (282 907)

Other expenditure (2 079) (68 839) (4 730) (12 935) (927) (372) (2 853) (2 211) (365 316)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 86 019 1 005 735 413 709 74 378 85 515 31 895 408 685 179 457 9 006 120
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26	 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2019
R’000 Executive

Classic 
Comp

Classic 
Smart Comp

Classic 
Core

Classic 
Saver

Classic 
Priority

Essential 
Comp

Essential 
Saver

Essential 
Core

Risk contribution 
income 962 444 10 374 065 77 909 2 279 078 13 616 672 4 746 448 1 004 132 4 797 023 1 585 191

Net claims 
incurred (1 216 092) (10 674 040) (79 594) (1 758 507) (10 604 808) (4 019 294) (897 602) (3 130 178) (1 122 838)

Risk claims 
incurred (1 219 769) (10 706 975) (79 850) (1 764 254) (10 639 873) (4 032 089) (900 490) (3 140 549) (1 126 529)
Third-party claim 
recoveries 3 677 32 935 256 5 747 35 065 12 795 2 888 10 371 3 691

Accredited 
managed 
healthcare services 
(no risk transfer) (12 531) (168 954) (1 278) (64 574) (408 112) (112 636) (19 088) (175 290) (56 491)
Net income/
(expense) on risk 
transfer 
arrangements 1 127 14 131 120 6 785 372 1 398 295 70

Risk transfer 
arrangement 
fees paid (4 000) (52 675) (356) (501) (3 884) (1 678) (5 035) (951) (417)
Recoveries from 
risk transfer 
arrangements 5 127 66 806 476 507 4 669 2 050 6 433 1 246 487

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (1 227 496) (10 828 863) (80 752) (1 823 075) (11 012 135) (4 131 558) (915 292) (3 305 173) (1 179 259)

Gross healthcare 
result (265 052) (454 798) (2 843) 456 003 2 604 537 614 890 88 840 1 491 850 405 932
Broker service fees (11 648) (161 176) (1 186) (52 376) (379 750) (108 453) (18 562) (144 251) (42 509)
Expenses for 
administration (39 688) (535 334) (4 067) (206 000) (1 301 881) (359 124) (60 578) (559 346) (180 233)
Other operating 
expenses (1 271) (17 154) (131) (6 584) (41 665) (11 502) (1 940) (17 863) (5 738)
Net impairment 
losses on 
healthcare 
receivables (746) (10 060) (76) (3 882) (24 503) (6 752) (1 139) (10 557) (3 411)

Net healthcare 
result (318 405) (1 178 521) (8 303) 187 161 856 738 129 059 6 621 759 833 174 040

Investment income 11 968 161 433 1 226 62 123 392 604 108 294 18 267 168 698 54 360
Net gains/(losses) 
on financial 
instruments 341 4 564 35 1 646 10 268 2 969 512 4 035 1 348
Other income 110 1 480 11 568 3 595 993 167 1 540 495

Other income 12 419 167 477 1 272 64 337 406 467 112 256 18 946 174 273 56 203

Asset management 
fees (536) (7 225) (55) (2 801) (17 676) (4 860) (819) (7 653) (2 473)
Other expenses (42) (571) (4) (218) (1 377) (382) (65) (584) (188)
Interest paid 9 131 (1) (50) 317 (87) (15) 136 (44)
Interest paid on 
savings accounts (2 683) (36 189) – – (88 051) (24 281) (4 095) (37 858) –

Other expenditure (3 270) (44 116) (60) (3 069) (107 421) (29 610) (4 994) (46 231) (2 705)

Net surplus/(deficit) 
for the period (309 256) (1 055 160) (7 091) 248 429 1 155 784 211 705 20 573 887 875 227 538
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26	 Surplus/(deficit) from operations per benefit plan continued

2019
R’000

Essential
Priority

Coastal
Saver

Coastal
Core

KeyCare
Plus

KeyCare
Core

KeyCare
Start

Classic
Smart

Essential
Smart Total

Risk contribution 
income 291 762 7 151 844 3 056 879 5 187 124 279 123 94 912 1 233 159 484 463 57 222 228

Net claims incurred (187 224) (6 037 913) (2 567 481) (4 915 340) (185 220) (38 524) (853 241) (227 861) (48 515 757)

Risk claims 
incurred (187 828) (6 057 714) (2 575 848) (4 931 543) (185 831) (38 672) (855 989) (228 659) (48 672 460)
Third-party claim 
recoveries 604 19 801 8 367 16 203 611 148 2 748 798 156 703

Accredited 
managed 
healthcare services 
(no risk transfer) (7 670) (238 468) (103 575) (286 413) (18 443) (8 409) (48 428) (35 467) (1 765 827)
Net income/
(expense) on risk 
transfer 
arrangements 14 482 169 48 827 – 521 18 569 (4 403) 82 483

Risk transfer 
arrangement 
fees paid (77) (2 014) (631) (194 700) – (4 267) (22 266) (6 012) (299 464)
Recoveries from 
risk transfer 
arrangements 91 2 496 800 243 527 – 4 788 40 835 1 609 381 947

Relevant healthcare 
expenditure (194 880) (6 275 899) (2 670 887) (5 152 926) (203 663) (46 412) (883 100) (267 731) (50 199 101)

Gross healthcare 
result 96 882 875 945 385 992 34 198 75 460 48 500 350 059 216 732 7 023 127
Broker service fees (7 150) (212 739) (81 760) (160 686) (8 687) (3 098) (35 043) (15 489) (1 444 563)
Expenses for 
administration (24 467) (760 870) (330 502) (495 536) (17 123) (14 548) (154 582) (113 047) (5 156 926)
Other operating 
expenses (783) (24 349) (10 564) (29 177) (1 871) (855) (4 916) (3 581) (179 943)
Net impairment 
losses on 
healthcare 
receivables (460) (14 319) (6 227) (17 264) (1 116) (508) (2 931) (2 156) (106 108)

Net healthcare 
result 64 022 (136 332) (43 061) (668 465) 46 663 29 491 152 587 82 459 135 587

Investment income 7 378 229 450 99 670 275 773 17 757 8 095 46 626 34 105 1 697 827
Net gains/(losses) 
on financial 
instruments 203 6 078 2 642 7 295 439 211 1 084 580 44 250
Other income 68 2 101 912 2 517 161 74 424 308 15 524

Other income 7 649 237 629 103 224 285 585 18 357 8 380 48 134 34 993 1 757 601

Asset management 
fees (331) (10 323) (4 492) (12 470) (810) (368) (2 131) (1 587) (76 610)
Other expenses (26) (806) (349) (963) (61) (28) (160) (114) (5 938)
Interest paid (6) (185) (81) (223) (14) (7) (38) (28) (1 373)
Interest paid on 
savings accounts (1 654) (51 457) – – – – – – (246 267)

Other expenditure (2 017) (62 771) (4 922) (13 656) (885) (403) (2 329) (1 729) (330 188)

Net surplus/(deficit) 
for the period 69 654 38 526 55 241 (396 536) 64 135 37 468 198 392 115 723 1 563 000
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27	 Cash flows generated/(utilised) from operations before working capital changes

R’000 2020 2019

Net surplus for the year 9 006 120 1 563 000
Adjustments for:
Impairment losses (Note 17) 79 096 106 108
Depreciation (Note 1) 1 486 1 486
Interest received (Note 21) (1 534 060) (1 513 838)
Dividend income (Note 21) (156 310) (183 989)
Interest paid (Note 24) 284 336 247 640
Unvested long-term employee benefit 2 843 5 735
Net (gains)/losses on financial assets (Note 22) (212 981) (44 250)

7 470 530 181 892

Reconciliation of movements in the cash flow statement
IN CREA SE  IN  TRADE  AND OTHER  REC E I VA BL ES (144 082) (308 631)

Opening balance 2 560 425 2 357 902
Closing balance (Note 4) (2 625 411) (2 560 425)
Impairment losses (79 096) (106 108)

(DECR EA SE ) / INCREASE  IN  TRADE  A ND  OTHER  PA YA BL ES 16 825 (3 068 085)

Opening balance (1 551 968) (4 620 053)
Closing balance (Note 9) 1 568 793 1 551 968

PROCEEDS  FROM SALE  OF  F INANC I A L  A SSETS 3 763 349 2 238 283

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 3) 3 470 050 2 215 835
Derivative financial instruments (Note 7) 293 299 22 448

28	 Events after the reporting period
Subsequent to the reporting date, an amalgamation has been proposed between the Scheme and Quantum Medical Aid Society. The 
amalgamation will not have a material impact on the Scheme’s financial position. No other significant events occurred between the 
reporting date and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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29	 Insurance risk management report
	 N A TUR E  AND EXTENT  OF  R ISKS  A R I S I NG FROM  I NSURA NC E  C ONTRA C TS

The Scheme issues contracts that transfer insurance risk. The primary insurance activity carried out by the Scheme indemnifies covered 
members and their dependants against the risk of loss arising as a result of the occurrence of a health event, in accordance with the 
Scheme Rules and the requirements of legislation.

This section summarises these risks and the way in which they are managed.

	 IN SURA N CE  R ISK
The risk under any insurance contract can be expressed as the probability that an insured event occurs multiplied by the expected 
amount of the resulting claim. Insurance events are random and therefore the actual number and size of events during any year are 
unknown and vary from those estimated. The principal risk that the Scheme faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claim 
payments exceed the projected amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency and severity of claims are 
greater than estimated.

A larger number of members will result in smaller variability of the actual claims experience relative to expected levels. This is because 
an adverse experience is diluted by a larger group of members whose claims are stable and thus predictable.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include unanticipated demographic movements, adverse experience due to an unexpected 
epidemic, changes in members’ disease profiles, unexpected price increases, prevalence of fraud, supplier induced demand and the 
cost of new technologies or drugs.

As the following graph illustrates, claims are expected to increase with age. In the absence of mandatory membership and a 
continuous inflow of young, healthy lives, the average age of lives covered by the Scheme is expected to increase year-on-year. The 
increases expected from demographic changes are allowed for in the annual benefit and contribution reviews, but if this differs from 
the expected it may result in higher than expected inflationary increases in claims.

The following graph indicates the distribution of beneficiaries by age band for 2019 and 2020, as well as the risk claims paid. The risk 
claims are indexed to a value of 100 for the “<1” age band in 2019. There has been an increase in the proportion of beneficiaries older 
than 45 over the past year.
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29	 Insurance risk management report continued

	 IN SURA N CE  R ISK  continued

The risks that the Scheme faces can be discussed for the different benefits offered. The three main types of benefits offered by the 
Scheme in return for monthly contributions are indicated below:

	 Hospital benefits
The hospital benefit covers medical expenses incurred arising from admission to hospital. This includes accommodation, theatre, 
professional fees, medication, equipment and consumables.

	 Day-to-day benefits
Day-to-day benefits cover the cost of out-of-hospital healthcare services, such as visits to general practitioners and dentists as well as 
prescribed non-chronic medicines. The day-to-day benefits include both the Personal Medical Savings Account (PMSA) and an 
insurance risk element. This includes the Day-to-day Extender Benefit and Above Threshold Benefit (ATB). The Scheme does not carry 
risk for PMSA benefits.

	 Chronic benefits
The Chronic Illness Benefit (CIB) covers approved medication and treatment for up to 50 listed conditions, including the 27 Prescribed 
Minimum Benefit chronic conditions. These include conditions such as HIV/Aids, high blood pressure, cholesterol and asthma.

The risks associated to the Scheme with the types of benefits offered to members are addressed below:

	 Hospital benefit risk
The main factors impacting the frequency and severity of hospital claims are the number of admissions and the cost per event. An 
increase in the frequency and severity of claims result in an increase in the cost of claims.

An increase in the admission rate is often linked to increases in the number of beneficiaries at older ages or with chronic conditions. 
The increase in cost per event is driven by annual tariff and other cost increases. An increased cost per event can also be caused by an 
increased case-mix, severity of admissions and the introduction of new hospital-based technologies.

The following graph indicates the change in the admission rate over the past four years as well as the impact on the costs per event 
(which have not been case-mix adjusted). This graph is indexed to a value of 100 as at 2016.
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The number of hospital admissions reduced significantly from April 2020. This was due to the five-stage lockdown imposed by the 
South African Government in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This meant there were minimal elective procedures, and only 
emergency and high-risk cases were admitted. The number of admissions remained well below the expected level until around 
September 2020, when there was an increase towards expected levels. Given that the type of admissions that did occur were higher-
risk and more complex, the cost per event (CPE) increased significantly from 2019. This was also largely due to the impact of COVID-19.
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29	 Insurance risk management report continued

	 IN SURA N CE  R ISK  continued

	 Day-to-day benefits risk
The frequency and severity of claims are driven by the number and disease burden of claimants. The mix of members between the 
different benefit options, as well as an increase in the number of claims categorised as Prescribed Minimum Benefit (PMB) claims, will 
also have an impact on the claims. The frequency of the ATB claims increases throughout the year as an increased number of 
members run out of their medical savings.
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The out-of-hospital (OH) benefits for 2020 did not increase by as much as expected. This was again largely due to the government 
imposed lockdowns limiting access to healthcare services from April 2020. There was however a significant increase in pathology 
spend. This was due to the claims paid for PCR testing, which is the means used to identify positive COVID-19 cases. These PCR test 
costs offset some of the reduction seen in other OH claim categories for 2020.
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29	 Insurance risk management report continued

	 IN SURA N CE  R ISK  continued

	 Chronic benefits risk
The main factors impacting the frequency and severity of chronic claims are the number of claimants and the cost per claimant 
respectively.

Higher increases in chronic claimants are linked to increases in the number of beneficiaries at older ages. In addition, changes relating 
to the eligibility for chronic benefits will also impact costs. An increase in the number of items per claimant will drive up the costs of 
chronic claims per claimant. Increases in the regulated prices for chronic medication, the Single Exit Price, and increases in dispensing 
fees will also result in an increase in costs per claim. The mix between the various chronic conditions will also have an impact on the 
frequency and the presence of multiple chronic conditions per person will have an impact on the severity of the claims.

The following graphs indicate the percentage of chronic registrations by age band for 2020, as well as the change in the cost per 
claimant over the past four years. The cost per claimant graph is indexed to a value of 100 as at 2017.
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	 R ISK  MA NAGEMENT
The Scheme has various initiatives that are used to manage the risk associated with claims experience. These include:
	❚ Members have to be referred by a doctor prior to an elective admission.
	❚ All hospital admissions have to be pre-authorised.
	❚ Case managers monitor members with hospital stays that are longer than expected to ensure that members are discharged at 

appropriate times.
	❚ The work of the Centre for Clinical Excellence, which evaluates the effectiveness of new technologies and recommends whether the 

Scheme should cover these.
	❚ The development of protocols around various high-cost conditions, such as lower back surgery.
	❚ A dedicated unit to focus on reducing surgical consumable spend.
	❚ The profiling of statistically significant outlier doctors on admission rate and generated costs as well as peer reviewing them.
	❚ A Co-ordinated Care Programme (CCP). This is a dedicated unit to ensure direct co-ordination of care from medical providers to 

high-risk beneficiaries that are exposed to conditions that would generate multiple admissions if not managed.
	❚ An Advanced Illness Benefit Programme dedicated to managing care during the end of life stage for patients who are terminally ill.
	❚ A disease management unit dedicated to managing high-risk beneficiaries with complex diseases.
	❚ Alternative reimbursement contracts exist with hospitals to mitigate the risk of additional utilisation above that which is expected 

for the demographics of the Scheme and severity of admissions.
	❚ The Scheme manages and mitigates the risks associated with chronic illness benefits through an extensive managed care 

programme, involving detailed drug policy interventions, medicine protocols and benefit rules, all of which comply with the 
Regulations on Prescribed Minimum Benefits. In addition, the Centre for Clinical Excellence is involved in evaluating the 
effectiveness of new drugs and recommends whether the Scheme should cover these drugs or not.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

134 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



29	 Insurance risk management report continued

	 CON CEN TRAT ION OF  INSURANCE  R I SK
As the largest open medical scheme by membership in South Africa, the Scheme is not subject to a significant degree of concentration 
risk. The Scheme also offers a wide range of benefit plans which meet a variety of members’ needs. This results in the Scheme being 
representative of the medical scheme market and, as such, it experiences limited variability of the outcome.

An annual actuarial valuation is performed, which specifies the contributions to be charged in return for the benefits to be provided 
given the expected demographic profile of each benefit option.

	 Risk transfer arrangements
The Scheme has three risk transfer agreements in which suppliers are paid a capitation fee to provide certain minimum benefits to 
Scheme members, as and when it is required by the members. Capitation arrangements fix the cost to the Scheme of providing these 
benefits.

The first two risk transfer arrangements cover out-of-hospital optometry and dentistry benefits for members on the KeyCare Plus and 
KeyCare Start plans. The third arrangement covers the treatment for members diagnosed with diabetes (type I and II) on all plans 
excluding KeyCare plans.

	 Risk in terms of risk transfer arrangements
The Scheme does, however, remain liable to its members to provide the benefits. If any supplier fails to meet the obligations of the risk 
transfer arrangement, the Scheme will cover the cost of the benefit.

When selecting a supplier, the Scheme assesses their ability to provide the relevant service. This is to mitigate against the reputational 
and operational risks that the Scheme faces should a supplier not meet its obligations. The Scheme also monitors the performance of 
the suppliers, checks the quality of care provided and has access to data on the underlying fee-for-service claims which are included in 
the arrangement.

	 Claims development
Detailed claims development tables are not presented as the uncertainty regarding the amount and timing of claim payments are 
typically resolved within one year, with the majority of cases being resolved within three months. At year-end, a provision is made for 
those claims outstanding that are not yet reported at that date.

The methodology followed in setting the outstanding claims provision is the generally accepted actuarial methodology of chain ladder 
estimation. This methodology is the most objective, but the accuracy of the estimate is sensitive to changes in the average time from 
treatment to payment of claims. For hospital claims in the latest service month, a blend of the chain ladder method and another 
method using the estimated cost per event and pre-authorised admissions is also followed.

The estimation of the December 2020 outstanding claims provision was made in accordance with Advisory Practice Note 304 of the 
Actuarial Society. In accordance with this guidance note, the following factors are considered to determine whether they would have 
any impact on the outstanding claims provision estimate:
	❚ The homogeneity of claims data.
	❚ The credibility of claims data.
	❚ Changes in emergence and settlement patterns.
	❚ The impact of seasonality.
	❚ The impact of re-opened or adjusted claims.
	❚ The impact of benefit limits and changes.
	❚ External influences.
	❚ The demographic profile of the Scheme.

Based on the processing patterns and claims development up to the end of January 2021 in respect of treatment dates during 2020, 
the recommended provision for outstanding claims at December 2020 is R1 769 million (2019: R1 526 million).
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29	 Insurance risk management report continued

	 CON CEN TRAT ION OF  INSURANCE  R I SK  continued

	 Claims development continued
The total claims incurred (including the provision for outstanding claims) for the most significant claims categories are as follows:

R’000 2020 2019

Total estimate of incurred claims
In-hospital claims incurred 32 366 608 35 844 867
Chronic claims incurred 2 982 270 2 868 279
Out-of-hospital risk claims incurred 9 347 126 9 583 273

The table below outlines the sensitivity of insured liability estimates to slower claims processing. If processing is slower than expected, 
a larger claims provision for unprocessed claims will be required. It should be noted that this is a deterministic approach with no 
correlations between the key variables.

R’000
Change in variable

%

Impact on
 outstanding

 claims
 provision

2020

Impact on
 outstanding 

claims 
provision

2019

In-hospital claims incurred 1% slower claims processing 501 329 396 064
Chronic claims incurred 1% slower claims processing 7 125 12 270
Out-of-hospital risk claims incurred 1% slower claims processing 129 094 92 272

	 L IQUID ITY  R ISK
The main component of the Scheme’s insurance liabilities is the outstanding claims provision. These are generally settled in a short 
period of time, approximately 98% of this provision is settled within three months after the claim was incurred and the balance is 
settled within six months. The remaining insurance liabilities are generally settled within 30 days.

Liquidity risk can also arise when the Scheme’s investment mix does not match the nature of the liabilities. However, investments are 
managed by professional asset managers and finance professionals who ensure that investments, including cash and cash equivalents, 
are always sufficiently liquid to meet current liabilities while excess reserves are invested to maximise investment return within the 
scope of regulations of the Medical Schemes Act.

	 A SSUMPT ION R ISK
The Scheme’s reserves and therefore solvency are most sensitive to changes in claims development patterns. Another relevant 
assumption is medical inflation. Other assumptions that are considered include utilisation trends, the impact of new technology and 
the expected demographic profile of Scheme membership.
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30	 Financial risk management report
	 OV ERV IEW

The Scheme is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets, insurance assets, financial liabilities and insurance liabilities. In 
particular, the financial risk is that the proceeds, for any reason, from its financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations 
arising from its insurance contracts. The most important components of financial risk include market risk, interest rate risk, credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The Scheme’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Scheme’s statutory solvency requirement.

The Trustees have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Scheme’s risk management framework.

The Scheme manages these risks through various risk management processes. These processes have been developed to ensure that 
the long-term investment return on assets supporting the insurance liabilities is sufficient to contribute towards funding members’ 
reasonable benefit expectations.

The Scheme manages the financial risks as follows:
	❚ The Investment Committee, a Committee of the Board of Trustees, recommends the Scheme’s Investment Policy to the Trustees for 

approval. The Investment Committee meets at least quarterly and reports back to the Trustees on the matters included in its terms 
of reference.

	❚ The Scheme has appointed reputable external asset managers to manage its investments and their performance is monitored 
regularly.

	❚ An external asset consulting company has been appointed to assist in formulating the investment strategy and to provide ongoing 
reporting and monitoring of the asset managers.

	❚ Asset management agreements and mandates are concluded and reviewed by the Scheme’s in-house legal counsel.
	❚ Independent valuation of the Scheme’s investments is performed by a third party.

	 MA RKET  R ISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in market variables, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the 
Scheme’s income or the value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

The table below summarises the primary risks affecting the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss exposure to 
market risk.

R’000 Total Currency risk Price risk
Interest rate 

risk

2020

Investments 31 430 492

Offshore bonds 1 975 533 ü ü
Equities 4 658 899 ü
Yield-enhanced bonds 8 871 310 ü
Inflation-linked bonds 1 170 279 ü
Money market instruments 14 323 269 ü
Listed property 431 202 ü

2019

Investments 23 191 456

Offshore bonds 876 156 ü ü
Equities 4 182 545 ü
Yield-enhanced bonds 6 620 669 ü
Inflation-linked bonds 1 125 768 ü
Money market instruments 9 799 918 ü
Listed property 586 400 ü

The Scheme’s insurance liabilities are settled within one year and the Scheme does not discount insurance liabilities. Consequently, 
changes in market interest rates would not affect the Scheme’s surplus or deficit arising from changes in the insurance liability.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 CURREN CY  R ISK
The majority of the Scheme’s benefits are rand-denominated and therefore the Scheme does not have significant net currency risk 
relating to benefits.

For the purpose of seeking investment diversification, the Scheme continued to invest in offshore bond portfolios (reference currency 
is the US Dollar). Derivative financial instruments are utilised by the independent bond managers within these portfolios for risk 
mitigation and efficient portfolio construction. At 31 December 2020, R1 976 million (2019: R876 million) (Note 3) was invested in these 
portfolios.

	❚ Currency derivatives financial instrument (zero-cost currency collars)
	� The Scheme enters into zero-cost currency collar arrangements with South African banks to hedge exposure to changes in the rand/

US Dollar exchange rate with respect to its offshore bond portfolios. The following table provides details of the open contracts at 
year end.

Contract

2020

Expiry date

Nominal
USD value

$’000
USD put
 (“floor”)

USD call 
(“cap”)

%
above floor

1 10/06/2021 $34 000 R16.86 R18.36 8.87%
2 14/09/2021 $30 000 R16.51 R18.03 9.21%
3 13/10/2021 $21 000 R16.45 R18.03 9.56%
4 25/10/2021 $21 300 R16.16 R17.67 9.36%
5 05/11/2021 $21 600 R15.81 R17.35 9.76%

	 The zero-cost currency collars are categorised as at fair value through profit or loss.

	� At the time of expiry of the zero-cost currency collars the following transactions could occur depending on the rate at which the 
rand is trading against the US Dollar:
	❚ If the spot rate is higher than the cap, the Scheme would be required to pay the difference between the cap and the spot rate to 

the counterparty.
	❚ If the spot rate is trading lower than the cap but higher than the floor, no action would take place.
	❚ If the spot rate is trading lower than the floor, the counterparty would be required to pay the difference between the floor and 

the spot rate to the Scheme.

	� The fair value of these contracts have been included in financial assets. Gains and losses on these arrangements are included in the 
“Net surplus” (Note 7).

	❚ Currency risk sensitivity analysis
	� The sensitivity of the rand appreciating and depreciating against the US Dollar is presented below. This impact would be recognised 

in the “Net surplus”. The potential outcomes of the sensitivity are based on the assumption that the rand has strengthened or 
weakened against the US Dollar by 5% (increase or decrease of R0.70) or 15% (increase or decrease of R2.10) from a spot level of 
R14.68 to the US Dollar, with all other variables held constant. The analysis is presented including and excluding the impact of the 
zero-cost currency collars, valued at year-end, based on the underlying valuation variables. The actual outcome of the impact of the 
zero-cost currency collars would be based on the exchange rate at the date of expiry of the respective contracts.

R’000

15%
 appreciation

 of ZAR 
against USD

5% 
appreciation

of ZAR 
against USD

5%
 depreciation

of ZAR 
against USD

15%
 depreciation

of ZAR 
against USD

(Loss)/gain arising from currency appreciation/depreciation 
before zero-cost currency collars (296 330) (98 777) 98 777 296 330

Gain arising from currency appreciation/depreciation 
after zero-cost currency collars 148 171 169 119 202 501 262 744
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 PR ICE  R ISK
The Scheme is exposed to equity securities price risk due to equity investments held by the Scheme that are classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss. The value of the Scheme’s listed equity and property investments amounted to R5.1 billion (2019: R4.8 billion)  
(Note 3).

The Scheme manages the price risk arising from investments in equity securities, through the diversification of its investment 
portfolios. Diversification of the portfolios is performed by independent asset managers in accordance with the mandate set by the 
Scheme. The strategy to manage price risk, by limiting exposure to any constituent of the benchmark to a maximum weight of 15%, 
remains in place.

The Scheme purchased derivative financial instruments to protect the solvency of the Scheme as a result of fluctuations in the equity 
market. The derivative strategy considers the impact of the decision to limit the maximum exposure to 15% of any constituent of the 
benchmark.

	❚ Equity derivative financial instrument (zero-cost equity fence)
The Scheme entered into zero-cost equity fence arrangements to hedge approximately 100% of the exposure to changes in market 
prices for investments in the equity portfolios. The contracts provide downside protection of up to 15% after a reduction in equity 
prices of 5% (ie. the Scheme is at risk for the first 5% drop in equity prices but protected for the next 15%). To achieve this, the 
Scheme agreed to forego upside benefit from an increase in equity prices above the pre-determined level (the cap). The cap for 
these contracts range between 13% and 14% above the pre-determined level. These contracts expire during 2021.

Contract

2020

Nominal
value
R’000 Index

Index
level at 

trade date

Short put
level

(“lower floor”)

Long put
level

(“upper floor”)
Call level

(“cap”)

1 340 000 DCAP1 14 360 80.00% 95.00% 113.98%
2 500 000 DCAP 14 647 83.00% 95.00% 114.40%
3 550 000 DCAP 15 109 83.00% 95.00% 114.10%

 1	 DCAP – FTSE/JSE CAPPED SWIX TOP 40 Index.

The zero-cost equity fences are categorised as at fair value through profit or loss.

At the time of expiry, the following transactions could occur depending on the level at which the equity index trades:
	❚ If the index level is higher than the cap, the Scheme would be required to pay the difference between the cap and the index level 

to the counterparty.
	❚ If the index level is trading lower than the cap but higher than the upper floor, no action would take place.
	❚ If the index level is trading between the upper floor and the lower floor, the counterparty would be required to pay the 

difference between the index level and the lower floor to the Scheme.
	❚ If the index level is trading lower than lower floor, the Scheme would be required to pay the difference between the lower floor 

and the index level minus 15% to the counterparty.

The fair value of these contracts have been included in financial assets and financial liabilities. Gains and losses on these 
arrangements are included in the “Net surplus” (Note 7).
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 PR ICE  R ISK  con t inued

	❚ Equity price risk sensitivity analysis
The analysis reflecting the impact of increases or decreases in equity prices has been presented below. This impact would be 
recognised in the “Net surplus”. The potential outcomes of the sensitivity are based on the assumption that equity prices had 
increased or decreased by 5% or 15%, spot reference levels of 16 148 (DCAP), with all other variables held constant. The analysis is 
presented including and excluding the impact of the zero-cost equity fences, valued at year-end, based on the underlying valuation 
variables. The actual outcome of the impact of the zero-cost equity fences would be based on the reference level at the date of 
expiry of the respective contracts.

The following table indicates the 5% or 15% change in the respective index.

Index

5% increase 
or decrease 
in the Index

15% increase 
or decrease 
in the Index

DCAP 807 2 422

R’000
15% price 
decrease

5% price 
decrease

5% price 
increase

15% price 
increase

(Loss)/gain arising from price decrease/increase
before zero-cost equity fences (704 585) (234 862) 234 862 704 585
(Loss)/gain arising from price decrease/increase
after zero-cost equity fences (632 857) (222 221) 171 582 539 172

The analysis reflecting the impact of increases or decreases in prices of the listed property portfolio has been presented below. This 
impact would be recognised in the “Net surplus”. The potential outcomes of the sensitivity are based on the assumption that prices 
had increased or decreased by 5% or 15%, with all other variables held constant. The Scheme has not hedged this portfolio.

R’000
15% price
 decrease

5% price 
decrease

5% price
 increase

15% price 
increase

(Loss)/gain arising from price decrease/increase (67 090) (22 363) 22 363 67 090
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 IN TEREST  RATE  R ISK
The Scheme is exposed to interest rate risk as it places funds in short dated investments, money market accounts and bonds. The risk 
is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate investments within the Scheme’s money market 
investment portfolio as well as additional fixed and call deposit investments. The bond managers have made use of bond futures and 
other derivative instruments within these portfolios to manage duration risk.

The table below summarises the Scheme’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the Scheme’s investments at 
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

At 2020 
R’000 0 – 3 Months 3 – 12 Months >12 Months Total

Cash and cash equivalents 4 008 668 – – 4 008 668
Money market instruments carried at fair value through  
profit or loss – 14 323 269 – 14 323 269
Yield-enhanced bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –   8 871 310 – 8 871 310
Inflation-linked bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –   – 1 170 279   1 170 279
Offshore bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –  1 975 533       – 1 975 533

At 2019 
R’000 0 – 3 Months 3 – 12 Months >12 Months Total

Cash and cash equivalents 1 991 282 – – 1 991 283
Money market instruments carried at fair value through 
profit or loss –  9 799 918 – 9 799 863
Yield-enhanced bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –  6 620 669 – 6 620 669
Inflation-linked bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –  –  1 125 768   1 125 823
Offshore bonds carried at fair value through profit or loss –   876 156 – 876 156

	❚ Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
A sensitivity analysis indicating results of increases/decreases in interest rates has been presented below. This impact would be 
recognised in the “Net surplus”. The sensitivity is based on the assumption that local or foreign interest rates had increased or 
decreased by 1% or 2%, with all other variables held constant.

Gains/(losses) arising from change in:

R’000
2% interest 

rate decrease
1% interest 

rate decrease
1% interest 

rate increase
2% interest 

rate increase

Local portfolios 328 619 164 309 (164 309) (328 619)
Foreign portfolios 105 019 52 509 (52 509) (105 019)

The majority of the Scheme’s assets are invested in variable interest rate instruments with a significant portion of the fixed rate 
instruments maturing in the short term. At 31 December 2020, 74% of the investments were invested in variable interest rate 
instruments and 10% in fixed rate instruments. As a result, interest rate changes are not expected to have a material impact on the 
valuation of Scheme assets due to the short duration thereof.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 L EGA L  R ISK
Legal risk is the risk that the Scheme will be exposed to contractual obligations which have not been provided for. At 31 December 2020, 
the Scheme did not consider there to be any significant concentration of legal risk and no provision has been raised.

	 IN V ESTMENT  R ISK
Investment risk is the risk that the investment returns on accumulated assets will not be sufficient to cover future liabilities.

The Scheme’s Investment Committee oversees that the funds are invested in line with the Act.

The investment philosophy is to hold a diversified pool of assets. The assets are selected as being most appropriate given the liquidity 
and solvency requirements of the Scheme. In contemplating solvency, the return goals of the Scheme, as well as the risk associated 
with all assets and asset classes are considered. Diversification is across securities, issuers, asset classes, geographic regions as well as 
managers within asset classes where practical. The Scheme diversifies its investment portfolio by investing in short-term deposits, 
money market, bond, listed property and equity portfolios managed by reputable asset managers.

The Scheme’s investment objective statement is:
	❚ Maximise targeted investment returns, which is dependent on contribution increases implemented over the next year and the 

evaluation of the solvency level above the statutory minimum requirement from time to time.
	❚ The return target will be reviewed at the end of every year taking into account the actual returns achieved, projected operating 

surplus and finalised contribution increases.
	❚ The return target is subject to a low risk appetite for:

	– Solvency reducing below 25% due to poor investment returns; or
	– Achieving returns in any year that are lower than the return assumed by the actuary in the pricing budget.

The Investment Committee monitors the performance of the Scheme’s asset managers to ensure performance in accordance with the 
agreed mandates.

	 B REA KDOWN OF  INVESTMENTS
The investments are split between the following in the Financial Statements:
	❚ Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss; and 
	❚ Cash and cash equivalents.

R’000
Segregated

funds

Collective 
investment

 schemes
Policy of 

insurance Total

2020

Investments 28 345 211 1 975 533 1 109 748 31 430 492

Offshore bonds – 1 975 533 – 1 975 533
Equities 4 658 899 – – 4 658 899
Yield-enhanced bonds 8 871 310 – – 8 871 310
Inflation-linked bonds 1 170 279 – – 1 170 279
Listed property 431 202 – – 431 202
Money market instruments 13 213 521 – 1 109 748 14 323 269

Cash and cash equivalents 875 860 3 132 808 – 4 008 668

29 221 071 5 108 341 1 109 748 35 439 160

2019

Investments 21 189 476 1 117 978 884 002 23 191 456

Offshore bonds – 536 884 339 272 876 156
Equities 4 182 545 – – 4 182 545
Yield-enhanced bonds 6 620 669 – – 6 620 669
Inflation-linked bonds 1 125 768 – – 1 125 768
Listed property 586 400 – – 586 400
Money market instruments 8 674 094 581 094 544 730 9 799 918

Cash and cash equivalents 794 043 1 197 239 – 1 991 282

21 983 519 2 315 217 884 002 25 182 738
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 B REA KDOWN OF  INVESTMENTS  con t inued

	 Money market portfolios:
	 Local portfolios

These money market portfolios are managed by independent asset managers. The investment mandates are for actively managed 
portfolios of financial instruments aimed at maximising return on the investments, on a long-term basis, with due regard to the 
relevant risks and the constraints imposed by the mandates.

For the first portfolio, the mandate stipulates liquidity requirements that 5% of the assets must be available within 24 hours and 15% 
within five working days. The weighted modified duration of the portfolio may not exceed 180 days. The weighted term to maturity of 
the portfolio shall not exceed two years. The term of each individual instrument is also limited. The average weighted credit rating of 
this portfolio will not be less than A+.

The liquidity requirements of the second portfolio also stipulate that 5% of the assets must be available on 24 hours’ notice and an 
additional 15% within five working days. The average portfolio duration is limited to 180 days. There are a number of additional 
liquidity requirements included in the mandate, such as requiring that all investments with a maturity longer than 18 months must be 
of a negotiable nature. The key feature of being of a negotiable nature is that the instrument can be sold by the holder of that 
instrument to another party without requiring explicit consent from the issuer of the instrument.

The performance benchmark for these portfolios is measured against STeFI plus 130 basis points per annum over rolling one-year 
periods.

The Scheme has also allocated assets to an enhanced income money market strategy managed by an independent asset manager, to 
maximise long-term investment performance with due regard to relevant risks and constraints imposed by the mandate. The targeted 
return is the STeFI Composite Index plus 200 basis points over any rolling 12-month period. The weighted average modified duration of 
the portfolio is limited to 360 days, with all instruments being of a floating interest rate nature. 

The local money market portfolios comprise approximately 46% (2019: 42%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss.

	 Yield-enhanced bond portfolios:
	 Local portfolios

The Scheme has two bond portfolios, managed by independent asset managers.

The one portfolio uses a specialist fixed income strategy with South African exposure and invests in a broad spectrum of listed and 
unlisted fixed income instruments. The instruments are typically investment grade and include but are not limited to asset types such 
as listed bonds, credit-linked notes, floating rate notes, interest rate swaps and bond futures. The benchmark for this portfolio is STeFI 
three-month index plus 150 basis points per annum. To manage liquidity, the asset manager endeavours to invest in securities such 
that the repayment of capital in relation to securities matches the Scheme’s liabilities, as communicated to the asset manager from 
time to time.

The second portfolio is a specialist low interest rate yield enhanced portfolio with moderate risk limits that seeks diversity, reasonable 
yield enhancement, moderate liquidity and relatively low volatility due to constrained interest rate positions. This is achieved by 
investing in a broad spectrum of fixed interest and yield-enhanced debt instruments. The benchmark for this portfolio is STeFI. The 
weighted average credit quality is A+, with a weighted average term-to-maturity of less than five years. A minimum of 10% of the 
portfolio will be held in money market instruments with an expected term to maturity of less than 91 days. A minimum of 20% of the 
portfolio must be held in money market instruments.

The mandates set specific exposure limits depending on the credit rating of the individual counterparty, and sets exposure limits to 
unrated investments. These portfolios comprise approximately 28% (2019: 29%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 B REA KDOWN OF  INVESTMENTS  con t inued

	 Offshore portfolios
The Scheme has three offshore portfolios managed by independent asset managers.

The first portfolio aims to produce a positive total return, consisting of both income and capital gains, over rolling three-year periods, 
regardless of market conditions, by investing primarily in fixed interest bearing instruments and related derivatives. The majority of 
these assets are denominated in major currencies and exposure to minor currencies is managed on a cautious basis. The fund is 
benchmarked against three month USD LIBOR.

The second portfolio is a multi-asset credit strategy invested in an open-ended specialised investment fund on a non-discretionary 
basis. The fund is benchmarked against three-month USD LIBOR plus 400 basis points. 

The third portfolio is actively managed on a discretionary basis, investing in a portfolio of foreign offshore financial products. The 
primary objective is the long-term growth of capital and income referencing participatory interests in a foreign collective investment 
scheme investing in fixed income instruments. The benchmark for this portfolio is the FTSE World Government Bond Index (USD).

These portfolios comprise approximately 6% (2019: 4%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Inflation-linked bonds
The Scheme has two inflation-linked bond portfolios, each managed by an independent asset manager.

The primary mandate of the first portfolio is aimed at generating inflation-linked bond returns on initial capital invested. The 
benchmark is the JSE Composite Inflation-Linked Index (CILI). The portfolio duration may vary to a maximum of 1.5 years greater 
than the benchmark and not less than three years less than the benchmark. The duration of the benchmark at the reporting date was 
9.12 years.

The second portfolio is a fully discretionary, actively managed portfolio of inflation-linked and fixed income instruments. The portfolio 
only invests funds in domestic instruments. The benchmark for this portfolio is the JSE Bond Exchange and Actuarial Society of South 
Africa (JSE BEASSA IGOV Index). The portfolio duration is limited to a modified duration range of one year around the benchmark 
duration. The duration of the benchmark at the reporting date was 9.38 years.

These portfolios comprise approximately 4% (2019: 5%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Equity portfolios
The primary goal is to maximise long-term investment performance with due regard to the relevant risks, including volatility of returns, 
risk of capital loss and liquidity. These risks are mitigated by blending investment mandates across different manager styles and 
sectors.

The portfolios may only be invested in South African equities and are to be as fully invested as can practically be achieved at all times. 
One portfolio has a maximum cash allocation of 2% and the remaining portfolios a maximum allocation of 5%. The portfolios must 
comply with the Act and are prohibited from investing in Discovery Ltd. The Scheme has mitigated exposure to any single benchmark 
constituent by limiting investment in any single benchmark constituent to a maximum of 15%.

The Scheme considers responsible investing in all its investments. Managers are required to exclude tobacco manufacturers and 
related exposures by utilising negative screening. This includes all direct investments and indirect investments greater than 5%.

The performance of the actively managed portfolios is measured against the benchmark, which is the FTSE/JSE Shareholder Weighted 
Index (SWIX) adjusted to exclude tobacco (as per the Scheme’s Responsible Investment Policy) and capping the exposure of any 
benchmark constituent to 15%. The performance of the passive portfolio is measured against the FTSE/JSE SWIX 40 (J400) adjusted to 
exclude tobacco and capping the exposure of any benchmark constituent to 15%.

These portfolios comprise approximately 15% (2019: 17%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Listed property
The primary objective of this mandate is to deliver consistent and incremental out-performance of the benchmark over a long-term 
period. Prior to July 2018 the benchmark was the FTSE/JSE SA Listed Property Index. From July 2018, the benchmark was changed to a 
custom benchmark being the FTSE/JSE SA All Property Index.

The mandate does not permit investment in foreign listed shares or direct property investments and requires that there will always be 
more than six holdings in the portfolio.

This portfolio comprises approximately 1% (2019: 3%) of the Scheme’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 B REA KDOWN OF  INVESTMENTS  con t inued

The following table compares the fair value and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities per class of assets and liabilities.

Financial 
assets and
 liabilities 

at fair value
 through 

profit and 
loss

Financial
 assets at

 amortised 
cost

Insurance
 receivables

and (payables)

Financial
 liabilities at

 amortised 
cost

Total 
carrying
 amount

Fair value
 amount

2020

Investments

− Offshore bond portfolio 1 975 533 – – – 1 975 533 1 975 533
− Listed equities 4 658 899 – – – 4 658 899 4 658 899
− Yield-enhanced bond portfolio 8 871 310 – – – 8 871 310 8 871 310
− Inflation-linked bond portfolio 1 170 279 – – – 1 170 279 1 170 279
− Listed property 431 202 – – – 431 202 431 202
− Money market portfolios 14 323 269 – – – 14 323 269 14 323 269

Cash and cash equivalents – 4 008 668 – – 4 008 668 4 008 668
Trade and other receivables – 14 220 2 611 191 – 2 625 411 2 625 411
Personal Medical Savings 
Accounts – – – (6 675 945) (6 675 945) (6 675 945)
Trade and other payables – – (921 755) (647 040) (1 568 795) (1 568 795)
Derivative financial instruments 158 307 – – – 158 307 158 307

Outstanding claims provision – – (1 769 008) – (1 769 008) (1 769 008)

31 588 799 4 022 888 (79 572) (7 322 985) 28 209 130 28 209 130

Financial 
assets and

 liabilities 
at fair value

 through 
profit and 

loss

Financial
 assets at

 amortised 
cost

Insurance
 receivables

 and (payables)

Financial
 liabilities at
 amortised 

cost

Total 
carrying
 amount

Fair value
 amount

2019

Investments

− Offshore bond portfolio 876 156 – – – 876 156 876 156
− Listed equities 4 182 545 – – – 4 182 545 4 182 545
− Yield-enhanced bond portfolio 6 620 669 – – – 6 620 669 6 620 669
− Inflation-linked bond portfolio 1 125 768 – – – 1 125 768 1 125 768
− Listed property 586 400 – – – 586 400 586 400
− Money market portfolios 9 799 918 – – – 9 799 918 9 799 918

Cash and cash equivalents – 1 991 282 – – 1 991 282 1 991 282
Trade and other receivables – 17 196 2 543 229 – 2 560 425 2 560 425
Personal Medical Savings 
Accounts – – – (5 522 613) (5 522 613) (5 522 613)
Trade and other payables – – (892 671) (659 297) (1 551 968) (1 551 968)
Derivative financial instruments 60 490 – – – 60 490 60 490

Outstanding claims provision – – (1 526 497) – (1 526 497) (1 526 497)

  23 251 946  2 008 478 124 061 (6 181 910) 19 202 575 19 202 575
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 CR EDIT  R ISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Scheme, if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

Key areas where the Scheme is exposed to credit risk are through its trade and other receivables, investments and cash.

	 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables comprise of insurance receivables and other receivables. The main components of insurance receivables 
are in respect of contributions due from members and amounts recoverable from members in respect of claims debt.

	 Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables represents the maximum credit exposure.

The Scheme ages and pursues unpaid accounts on a monthly basis, as set out in the approved Debt Management Policy. The tables 
below highlights “Trade and other receivables” which are due and past due (by number of days).

Based on past experience, the Scheme believes that no provision for impairment is required in respect of contribution debtors that are 
past due and outstanding for less than 90 days. For member and service provider claims debtors and broker fee debtors that are past 
due and outstanding for less than 180 days, past experience has indicated that no provision is required. For forensic debtors that are 
past due and outstanding for less than three years, past experience has indicated that no provision is required. The Scheme has not 
renegotiated the terms of receivables and does not hold any collateral or guarantees as security.

	 PROV IS ION FOR IMPA IRMENT
	 Insurance receivables

For insurance receivables, the Scheme establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses. 
The provision is based on the expected difference between the current carrying amount and the amount recoverable from 
the counterparty.

The main components of this provision are:
	❚ A specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures; and
	❚ A collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not 

yet identified.

The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets.

	 Other receivables
The Scheme applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for other receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses associated with other receivables, these have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. Other receivables comprise sundry accounts receivable and interest receivable and are all 
current and not in a past due status. An immaterial expected loss rate is assigned to receivables that are not past due. Any loss 
associated to these receivables is negligible and no provision raised. No further analysis is presented.

R’000 Current Total

2020
Expected loss rate 0%

Gross carrying amount – other receivables 14 220 14 220
Sundry accounts receivable 13 297 13 297
Interest receivable 923 923

2019
Expected loss rate 0%

Gross carrying amount – other receivables 17 196 17 196
Sundry accounts receivable 15 158 15 158
Interest receivable 2 038 2 038
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 CR EDIT  R ISK  con t inued

The movement in the provision for impairment, for each component of insurance receivables has been presented below:

R’000
Contribution
 receivables

Member 
and service

provider 
claims

 receivables

Other 
risk transfer 

arrangements
Broker fee

 receivables
Forensics

 receivables Total

Balance at 1 January 2019 14 733 305 092 – 1 264 11 310 332 399
Increase in provision for 
impairment 3 089 100 014 – 71 2 409 105 583
Amounts utilised during the year (64 206) (64 206)

Balance at 31 December 2019 17 822 340 900 – 1 335 13 719 373 776

Balance at 1 January 2020 17 822 340 900 – 1 335 13 719 373 776
In/(de)crease in provision for 
impairment 4 649 56 602 – 561 (1 940) 59 872
Amounts utilised during the year (74 578) (74 578)

Balance at 31 December 2020 22 471 322 924 – 1 896 11 779 359 070
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

Total member and service provider claims receivables

R’000

Active 
member 

claims 
receivables

Withdrawn 
member 

claims
 receivables

Service 
provider 

claims
 receivables Total

Contribution
 receivables

Other risk 
transfer 
arrange-

ments
Broker fee 

receivables

Other 
insurance 

receivables
Forensics 

receivables
Related 

party
Other 

receivables Total

31 December 2020
Not past due 5 003 6 556 3 617 15 176 2 170 918 2 695 62 41 340 74 391 13 688 14 220 2 332 490
Past due 30 – 60 days 3 563 7 400 1 874 12 837 18 488 – 87 – 5 006 – – 36 418
Past due 61 – 90 days 4 272 9 851 1 830 15 953 40 169 – 26 – 7 793 – – 63 941
Past due 91 – 120 days 3 394 9 965 2 292 15 651 (38 353) – 34 – 11 226 – – (11 442)
Past due 121 – 150 days 6 227 11 899 1 155 19 281 32 040 – 232 – 6 845 – – 58 398
Past due 151 – 180 days 3 393 12 478 3 956 19 827 – – 28 – 2 908 – – 22 763
181 days to more than one year 31 684 255 911 35 329 322 924 – – 1 896 – 157 093 – – 481 913

Gross receivables 57 536 314 060 50 053 421 649 2 223 262 2 695 2 365 41 340 265 262 13 688 14 220 2 984 481

Provision for impairments (31 684) (255 911) (35 329) (322 924) (22 471) – (1 896) – (11 779) – – (359 070)
Trade and other receivables neither 
past due nor impaired 25 852 58 149 14 724 98 725 2 200 791 2 695 469 41 340 253 483 13 668 14 220 2 625 411

2019
Not past due 4 864 7 659 2 132 14 655 2 103 081 4 253 120 96 129 64 663 16 383 17 196 2 318 480
Past due 30 – 60 days 4 925 9 462 8 241 22 628 21 411 – 583 – 8 126 – – 52 748
Past due 61 – 90 days 5 762 10 772 474 17 008 5 074 – 58 – 3 288 – – 25 428
Past due 91 – 120 days 3 487 10 055 289 13 831 3 060 – 50 – 4 334 – – 21 275
Past due 121 – 150 days 3 921 12 080 1 047 17 048 (5 892) – 42 – 5 277 – – 16 475
Past due 151 – 180 days 3 929 12 957 399 17 285 – – 32 – 2 343 – – 19 660
181 days to more than one year 48 465 238 847 53 588 340 900 – – 1 335 – 139 900 – – 482 135

Gross receivables 75 353 301 832 66 170 443 355 2 126 734 4 253 2 220 96 129 227 931 16 383 17 196 2 934 201

Provision for impairments (48 465) (238 847) (53 588) (340 900) (17 822) – (1 335) – (13 719) – – (373 776)
Trade and other receivables neither 
past due nor impaired 26 888 62 985 12 582 102 455 2 108 912 4 253 885 96 129 214 212 16 383 17 196 2 560 425
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 CR EDIT  QUAL ITY
The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as presented on page 148 can be assessed by 
reference to historical information about counterparty default.

	 Contributions debtors
The Scheme collects over 95% of outstanding contributions in the month following the contributions being due. Therefore, we can 
establish that the credit quality of contribution debtors is high and no additional disclosure of the credit quality is provided.

	 Active member claims debtors
A provision for impairment covering 55% (2019: 64%) of the debtors has been raised and the Trustees are satisfied that this is adequate.

	 Withdrawn member claims debtors
These amounts are due from members that have withdrawn from the Scheme. A provision for impairment covering 81% (2019: 79%) of 
the total amount due has been raised and the Trustees are satisfied that this is adequate.

	 Other insurance receivables and other receivables
These debtors mainly comprise of amounts due by hospitals, which are inherently of high quality. As agreed with the providers, the 
majority of these receivables are recovered by reducing future provider payments thereby providing a high certainty of recoverability, 
thus no further analysis has been performed on these receivables.

	� Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents and derivative 
financial instruments
The Scheme’s credit risk exposures at 31 December for the respective years were as follows:

R’000 2020 2019

− Offshore bonds 1 975 533 876 156
− Yield-enhanced bonds 8 871 310 6 620 669
− Inflation-linked bonds 1 170 279 1 125 768
− Money market instruments 14 323 269 9 799 918
− Cash and cash equivalents 4 008 668 1 991 282
− Derivative financial instruments 158 307 60 490

30 507 366 20 474 283

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK
The Scheme manages credit risk on its investment portfolios through the appointment of reputable and appropriate asset managers, 
extensive diversification and ongoing monitoring and management of credit risk exposures and portfolio holdings.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash deposits with financial institutions. The risks associated with these deposits are managed by 
monitoring the Scheme’s exposure to external financial institutions against approved deposit limits per institution. Information 
regarding the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents is provided on page 151.

Derivative counterparties are limited to high credit quality financial institutions.

The Scheme’s Credit Risk Policy guides the Scheme with respect to credit risk identification, measurement, monitoring and 
management in its oversight capacity. The Policy provides for limits based on parameters such as:
	❚ Instrument and counterparty exposure;
	❚ Credit ratings;
	❚ Geographical exposure;
	❚ Industry exposure; and
	❚ Expected loss.

Compliance with the limits are regularly monitored with a quarterly report back presented to the Scheme’s Investment Committee.

The Scheme has assessed whether the above financial assets are impaired. Based on the risk management measures undertaken by 
the Scheme, there is no objective evidence that any financial assets are impaired below the fair market value stated above.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

149 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

	 Credit rating scales
Credit ratings provide an opinion on the relative ability of an entity to meet its financial commitments, such as interest, dividends or 
the repayment of capital invested. They are used as indicators of the likelihood of receiving the amounts owed in accordance with the 
terms on which they were invested.

Definitions of the symbols are presented below.

	 Long-term rating scales
	 AAA: Highest credit quality

AAA ratings denote the lowest expectation of default risk and are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of 
financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.

	 AA: Very high credit quality
AA ratings denote expectations of very low default risk and indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This 
capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.

	 A: High credit quality
A ratings denote expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This 
capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.

	 BBB: Good credit quality
BBB ratings indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is 
considered adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

	 BB: Speculative
BB ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic 
conditions over time, however business or financial flexibility exists which supports the servicing of financial commitments.

	 B: Highly speculative
B ratings indicate that material default risk is present, but a limited margin of safety remains. Financial commitments are currently 
being met, however capacity for continued payment is vulnerable to deterioration in the business and economic environment.

	 CCC: Possibility of default
Obligations for which there is a current perceived possibility of default. Timely repayment of principal and interest is dependent on 
favourable business economic or financial conditions.

	 CC: Very high levels of credit risk
Default of some kind appears probable.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

The following table discloses the Scheme’s asset credit ratings using official credit ratings where available, or the asset manager’s rating and is presented using a Fitch national scale rating. The 
Credit Risk Policy limits investments in non-investment grade instruments to a maximum of 10% after considering official credit ratings and asset manager assigned internal credit ratings where 
official ratings are not available. Less than 1% (2019: Less than 1%) of the instruments are invested in non-investment grade instruments after consideration of internally assigned credit ratings. 

Long-term rating

R’000 Total Govt AAA AA+ to AA- A+ to A- BBB- to BBB+ BB- to BB+ B- to B+ CCC+ to CCC- CC+ Not rated

2020
At fair value through profit or loss 26 340 391 1 446 801 2 374 896 17 711 496 1 181 971 487 828 292 345 456 501 16 048 – 2 372 505

– Offshore bond portfolio 1 975 533 – 294 837 36 461 302 626 410 951 250 947 208 270 16 048 – 455 393
– Yield-enhanced bond portfolio 8 871 310 662 248 1 131 365 5 072 194 416 673 2 325 – 104 731 – – 1 481 774
– Inflation-linked bond portfolio 1 170 279 614 599 288 155 249 643 4 545 – – 13 337 – – –
– Money market portfolios 14 323 269 169 954 660 539 12 353 198 458 127 74 552 41 398 130 163 – – 435 338

Cash and cash equivalents 4 008 668 343 140 803 241 2 856 762 – – – – – – 5 525

Total* 30 349 059 1 789 941 3 178 137 20 568 258 1 181 971 487 828 292 345 456 501 16 048 – 2 378 030

% per rating band 5.90% 10.47% 67.77% 3.89% 1.61% 0.96% 1.50% 0.05% 0.00% 7.84%

2019
At fair value through profit or loss 18 422 511 310 316 3 561 834 10 798 617 665 504 603 053 22 322 628 – – 2 460 237

– Offshore bond portfolio 876 156 – 181 161 5 670 83 284 586 568 22 322 – – – (2 849)
– Yield-enhanced bond portfolio 6 620 669 – 1 744 709 3 409 178 323 308 5 189 – 628 – – 1 137 657
– Inflation-linked bond portfolio 1 125 768 294 323 358 811 450 018 3 786 1 372 – – – – 17 458
– Money market portfolios 9 799 918 15 993 1 277 153 6 933 751 255 126 9 924 – – – – 1 307 971

Cash and cash equivalents 1 991 282 3 000 711 007 1 251 750 – – – – – – 25 525

Total* 20 413 793 313 316 4 272 841 12 050 367 665 504 603 053 22 322 628 – – 2 485 762

% per rating band 1.53% 20.93% 59.03% 3.26% 2.95% 0.11% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 12.18%

*	 Excludes derivative financial instruments
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

The Scheme’s investments in securitisations and collective investment schemes (funds) are subject to the terms and conditions of the 
respective funds’ offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of 
those funds. The investment manager makes investment decisions after extensive due diligence of the underlying fund, its strategy 
and the overall quality of the underlying funds’ managers. The Scheme does not control these funds as it has no voting rights, is not 
able to call meetings and in addition, has no ability to direct the relevant activities of these funds. As the Scheme does not control 
these funds, its investments in these structured entities are not consolidated in the Scheme’s Financial Statements.

All of the funds in the investment portfolio are managed by portfolio managers who are compensated by the respective funds for their 
services. Such compensation generally consists of an asset-based fee and a performance-based incentive fee and is reflected in the 
valuation of the investment in each of the funds.

These investments are included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of Financial Position and no 
other material risks relating to these investments have been identified other than those already disclosed in previous sections of 
this report.

The exposure to investments in unconsolidated structured entities is disclosed in the following table:

Name and 
description

2020
 R’000 

  Authorised
 programme

 size 

 % of 
Authorised 

programme
 size

 Fair value 
hierarchy Debt ranking  Credit rating Underlying assets

Level % Ranking % Rating % Asset %

Asset-backed 
commercial  
paper

23 844 R3.5 billion 0.68% Level 2 100% Senior 
secured

100% AA 100% Diversified 
portfolio  
of money 
market 
instruments

100%

Residential 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

382 761 R5 billion 7.66% Level 1 70% Senior 
secured

64% AAA 41% Residential 
mortgages

100%

Level 2 30% Secured 36% AA- to
 AA+

29%

A+ 0%
NR 30%

Asset-backed 
securitisations

184 410 R25 billion 0.74% Level 1 83% Senior 
secured

70% AAA 59% Equipment 
leases

5%

Level 2 17% Secured 30% AA- to
 AA+

24% Unsecured 
loans

37%

Senior 
unsecured

1% NR 17% Vehicle 
loans

58%

Commercial 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

8 105 R3 billion 0.27% Level 1 100% Secured 100% AAA 100% Commercial 
mortgage 
loans

100%
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

Name and 
description

2020
R’000

Portfolio 
size 

R’000

% of
 portfolio 

size
Fair value 
hierarchy

Credit 
rating Fund

Collective 
investment 
schemes

501 398 17 196 710 2.92% Level 2 AA+
Nedgroup Investments Money 
Market Fund Class C2

361 175 42 462 551 0.85% Level 2 AA+

Nedgroup Investments 
Corporate Money Market Fund 
Class C2

785 368 59 161 745 1.33% Level 2 AA
Nedgroup Investments Core 
Income Fund Class C2

249 30 744 186 0.00% Level 2 AA+
Ninety One Corporate Money 
Market Fund Class A

1 477 679 37 894 301 3.90% Level 2 AA+
Ninety One Money Market Fund 
Class A

11 48 031 681 0.00% Level 2 AA+
Stanlib Corporate Money 
Market Fund

6 611 85 397 393 0.01% Level 2 AA+ ABSA Money Market Fund

766 831 2 778 174 27.60% Level 2 A
Ninety One Gsf Target 
Return Bond

 799 844 8 928 263  8.96% Level 2 AA+
Legg Mason Brandywine Global 
Opportunistic Fixed Income Fund

408 897 5 120 456 7.99% Level 2 BB Ninety One Ga Multi-asset Credit

Name and 
description

2019
 R’000 

  Authorised
 programme

 size 

 % of 
Authorised 

programme
 size

 Fair value 
hierarchy Debt ranking  Credit rating Underlying assets

Level % Ranking % Rating % Asset %

Asset-backed 
commercial  
paper

34 823  R3.5 billion 0.99% Level 2 100% Senior 
secured

100% AA 100% Diversified 
portfolio 
of money 
market 
instruments

100%

Residential 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations
 

793 513  R3.0 billion 0.30% Level 1 89% Senior 
secured

73% AAA 74% Residential 
mortgages

100%

 Level 2 11% Secured 27% AA- to 
AA+

16%

 A+ 0%
       NR 10%

Asset-backed 
securitisations 

470 076  R18.5 billion 2.54% Level 1 83% Senior 
secured

73% AAA 75% Equipment 
leases

21%

 Level 2 17% Secured 26% AA- to
 AA+

11% Unsecured 
loans

16%

 Senior 
unsecured

0% NR 11% Vehicle 
loans

63%

Commercial 
mortgage-backed 
securitisations

83 742  R10 billion 0.84% Level 1 100% Secured 100% AAA 100% Commercial 
mortgage 
loans

100%
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 EXPOSURE  TO CREDIT  R ISK  con t inued

Name and 
description

2019
 R’000 

Portfolio 
size 

R’000

% of
 portfolio 

size
Fair value 
hierarchy

Credit 
rating Fund

Collective 
investment 
schemes

846 472 13 510 113 6.27% Level 2 AA+
Nedgroup Investments Money 
Market Fund Class C2

312 809 29 725 582 1.05% Level 2 AA+

Nedgroup Investments 
Corporate Money Market Fund 
Class C2

581 094 43 756 848 1.33% Level 2 AA
Nedgroup Investments Core 
Income Fund Class C2

33 330 14 073 000 0.24% Level 2 AA+

Nedgroup Investments 
Corporate Money Market Fund 
Class C20

864 30 077 964 0.00% Level 2 AA+ Investec Money Market Fund

1 208 37 720 000 0.00% Level 2 AA+
Stanlib Corporate Money 
Market Fund

1 277 20 814 258 0.01% Level 2 AA+
Investec Corporate Money 
Market Fund

1 279 71 461 683 0.00% Level 2 NR ABSA Money Market Fund

536 884 2 528 982 21.23% Level 2 BBB
Investec Target Return 
Bond Fund

	 L IQUID ITY  R ISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Scheme will not have sufficient liquid funds available to settle financial obligations as they fall due.

The Scheme’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, with significant conservative margin, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Scheme’s reputation. In order to meet the conflicting objective of enhancing returns while also providing high liquidity, 
the combined Scheme portfolios have explicit constraints that guarantee liquidity of at least 20% of the Scheme assets within a period 
of one week.

The Scheme has complied with the requirements regarding the nature and categories of assets as prescribed by Section 35 and 
Regulation 30 of the Act.

Approximately 97% (R2.1 billion) (2019: 98% – R2.1 billion) of the Scheme’s insurance claim liabilities are settled within three months 
after the claim was incurred and the balance of the claims liability is settled within six months. The Scheme’s remaining insurance 
liabilities are generally settled within 30 days.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  3 1  D E C E M B E R  2 0 2 0

154 Discovery Health Medical Scheme registration number 1125

D
IS

C
O

V
ER

Y
 H

EA
LT

H
 M

ED
IC

A
L 

SC
H

EM
E 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 R

EP
O

R
T 

2
0

2
0



30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 L IQUID ITY  R ISK  con t inued

A maturity analysis for financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, excluding liabilities arising from insurance contracts is provided 
below:

R’000
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 2 years
Between 

2 and 5 years

At 2020
Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8) 6 675 945 – –
Trade and other payables (Note 9) 647 040 – –
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 7) 34 723

7 357 708 – –

At 2019
Personal Medical Savings Accounts (Note 8) 5 522 613 – –
Trade and other payables (Note 9) 659 297 – –
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 7) 14 689

6 196 599 – –

	 FA IR  V A L UE  EST IMAT ION
	 Financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Scheme is the current closing price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These 
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to 
their short-term nature.

	 Personal Medical Savings Accounts
The members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts contain a demand feature. In terms of Regulation 10 of the Act, any credit balance 
on a member’s Personal Medical Savings Account must be taken as a cash benefit when the member terminates his or her 
membership of the Scheme or benefit plan, and enrols in another benefit plan or medical scheme without a savings account or does 
not enrol in another medical scheme. Therefore, the carrying values of the members’ Personal Medical Savings Accounts are deemed 
to be equal to their fair values, which is the amount payable on demand.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 FA IR  V A L UE  H IERARCHY  FOR  F IN A NC I A L  A SSETS  M EA SURED  A T  FA I R  VA L UE
	 Assets measured at fair value

 Fair value measurement at the end of the year using:

R’000 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2020
Current assets
− Offshore bonds 1 975 533 – 1 975 533 –
− Equities 4 658 899 4 642 646 16 253 –
− Yield-enhanced bonds 8 871 310 5 307 607 3 563 703 –
− Inflation-linked bonds 1 170 279 1 157 179 13 100 –
− Listed property 431 202 419 875 11 327 –
− Money market instruments 14 323 269 8 408 443 5 914 826 –
− Derivative financial instruments 158 307 – 158 307 –

31 588 799 19 935 750 11 653 049 –

2019
Current assets
− Offshore bonds 876 156 – 876 156 –
− Equities 4 182 545 4 172 291 10 254 –
− Yield-enhanced bonds 6 620 669 4 055 864 2 564 805 –
− Inflation-linked bonds 1 125 768 1 098 520 27 248 –
− Listed property 586 400 585 580 820 –
− Money market instruments 9 799 918 4 411 112 5 388 806 –
− Derivative financial instruments 75 179 – 75 179 –

23 266 634 14 323 367 8 943 267 –

The fair value assets are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in determining the 
measurements.

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 – These are assets measured using quoted prices in an active market.

Level 2 – �These are assets measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly 
observable.

Level 3 – These are assets measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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30	 Financial risk management report continued

	 FA IR  V A L UE  H IERARCHY  FOR  F IN A NC I A L  A SSETS  M EA SURED  A T  FA I R  VA L UE  continued

The table below details the valuation techniques and observable inputs for assets falling under Level 2:

Description 
R’000

Fair value 
at 2020

Fair value
 at 2019

Valuation 
techniques Observable input

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Unlisted:
Debt securities 5 552 336 3 468 209 Reference to listed 

benchmark bond
Risk free yield to maturity curve, risk free 
zero curve

Money market securities 5 926 153 5 389 626 Discounted cash 
flow valuation, 
Black-Scholes 
model

Published exchange swap curve, published 
interest rate curve, published credit 
spread curve/implied credit spread curve, 
risk free yield to maturity curve, risk free 
zero curve, swap yield to maturity curve, 
swap zero curve

Unlisted equity 16 253 10 254 Discounted cash 
flow valuation

Risk free yield to maturity curve, risk free 
zero curve

Derivative financial instruments 158 307 75 179 Discounted cash 
flow valuation, 
Black-Scholes 
model

Published index levels, published 
exchange swap curve, published interest 
rate curve, published credit spread curve, 
implied volatilities

11 653 049 8 943 267

	 CA P ITA L  MANAGEMENT
The Scheme is subject to the capital requirement imposed by Regulation 29 (2) of the Act, which requires a minimum solvency ratio of 
accumulated funds expressed as a percentage of gross annual contributions of 25%.

The Scheme’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain the capital requirements of the Act, and to safeguard the Scheme’s 
ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide benefits for its stakeholders.

The calculation of the regulatory capital requirement is set out below.

R’000 2020 2019

Total members’ funds per Statement of Financial Position 28 215 475 19 209 355
Less: Cumulative unrealised net gain on remeasurement of investments to fair value (686 683) –

Accumulated funds per Regulation 29 27 528 792 19 209 355

Gross annual contribution income 74 537 501 69 855 135
Solvency margin
= Accumulated funds/gross annual contribution income x 100 36.93% 27.50%

At 2020, the Scheme’s regulatory capital level of 36.93% (2019: 27.5%) was R8.9 billion (2019: R1.75 billion) more than the statutory 
capital requirement of 25%.
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31	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
	 CR IT ICA L  ACCOUNTING EST IMAT ES  A ND  A SSUM PT I ONS

The Scheme makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

	 OUTSTA N DING CLA IMS  PROVIS ION
The critical estimates and judgements relating to the outstanding claims provision are set out under Note 30.

	 OTHER  R ISK  TRANSFER  ARRANGEM ENTS
The critical estimates and judgements relating to other risk transfer arrangements are set out under Note 11.

	 IMPA IR MENT  OF  ASSETS
The critical estimates made by the Scheme are set out under Note 31 and judgements relating to the impairment of assets are set out 
under Note 4.

	 CL A SS IF ICAT ION OF  INVESTMENTS  A S  C URRENT  A ND  NON-C URRENT
The critical estimates and judgements relating to the classification of investments are set out under Note 3.

	 CL A SS IF ICAT ION OF  MONEY  MARK ET  FUND S A S  C A SH A ND  C A SH EQUI VA L ENTS 
The critical estimates and judgements relating to the classification of money market funds are set out under Note 5.

32	 Non-compliance matters
Circular 11 of 2006 (the Circular) issued by the CMS deals with issues to be addressed in the audited financial statements of medical 
schemes. This includes the requirement that all instances of non-compliance be disclosed in the audited financial statements, 
irrespective of whether the external auditor considers them to be material or not.

During 2020, the Scheme did not comply with the following Sections and Regulations of the Act:

	❚ Sustainability of benefit plans
In terms of Section 33 (2) of the Act, each benefit plan is required to be self-supporting in terms of membership and financial 
performance, and be financially sound.

For the year ended 2020 the following plans did not comply with Section 33 (2):  

R’000

Net 
healthcare 

result

Net 
(deficit)/

surplus

Benefit plan
Executive (103 856) (95 203)
KeyCare Plus (213 255) 74 378

The performance of all benefit options is monitored on a continuous basis with a view to improving their financial outcomes. 
Different strategies are continually evaluated to address the deficit in these plans while considering the overall financial stability of 
the Scheme.

When structuring benefit options, the financial sustainability of all the options and the requirements of the CMS are considered. The 
different financial positions reflect the different disease burdens in each option, among many other factors. The Scheme’s strategy 
on the sustainability of plans has to balance short- and long-term financial considerations, fairness to both healthy and sick 
members, and continued affordability of cover for members with different levels of income and healthcare needs. While the 
Scheme is committed to complying wherever possible with the applicable legislation, it also focuses intensively on the overall 
stability and financial position of the Scheme as a whole and not only individual benefit plans.

In addition, DHMS continually provides the CMS with updates on both the Scheme and individual benefit option performance 
through the monthly management accounts and quarterly monitoring meetings.
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32	 Non-compliance matters continued

	❚ Annual General Meeting not held
In terms of Scheme Rule 25.1.1, the Scheme must convene an annual general meeting on or before 30 June each year. As a result of 
COVID-19 restrictions on gatherings, the Scheme applied for an exemption to deviate from its Rules as well as Section 32 of the Act 
and postpone the 2020 AGM. This exemption was granted by the CMS in line with Section 8 (h) of the Act on 14 May 2020. 

	❚ Investments in employer groups and medical scheme administrators
Section 35 (8) (a), (c) and (d) of the Act states that a medical scheme shall not invest any of its assets in the business of an employer 
who participates in the Scheme, or any administrator or any arrangement associated with the Scheme. The Scheme has investments 
in certain employer groups and companies associated with medical scheme administration within its diversified investment 
portfolio. This situation occurs industry-wide. CMS has granted DHMS an exemption for a period of three years effective from 
1 December 2019.

	❚ Investments in other assets in territories outside the Republic of South Africa
The Scheme’s offshore bond managers utilise derivative instruments to aid with efficient portfolio construction and management, 
and to reduce the overall risk within our portfolios. The derivatives used are highly liquid and are either exchange traded or 
governed by International Swaps and Derivatives Association agreements. The derivative instruments are not used for speculation 
and there is no gearing or leverage applied. 

Investments in derivatives in territories outside the Republic of South Africa are, however, prohibited in terms of Category 7 (b) 
of Annexure B to the Regulations of the Act. The CMS has granted DHMS an exemption for a period of three years effective from 
1 December 2019.

	❚ Contributions received after due date
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later than three 
days after payment becomes due. There are instances where the Scheme received contributions after the three-day period, 
however, there are no contracts in place agreeing to this practice. It is important to note that the Scheme has no control over the 
timely payment of contributions. The legal obligation resides with the members/employers to pay contributions within the 
prescribed period. The Scheme employs robust credit control processes dealing with the collection of outstanding contributions, 
including the suspension of membership for non-payment.

	❚ Broker fees paid
In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid on a monthly basis on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant 
monthly contribution in accordance with the maximum amount payable per Regulation 28 (2), limited to one broker as required by 
Regulation 28 (8).

In some instances brokers were compensated prior to receipt of the relevant monthly contribution, the amount paid was more than 
the prescribed amount and more than one broker per member was paid. In the instances where brokers were paid above the 
prescribed amount or more than one broker was paid, the value is negligible and represents less than 0.01% of the total broker 
fees paid for the year. The exceptions relate to transactions that do not occur frequently and the administrator has developed 
exception reporting to identify and correct these transactions, and has a well-established claw-back system to rectify commission 
overpayments.

	❚ Prescribed Minimum Benefits
Section 29 (1) (o) and Regulation 8 provide the scope and level of minimum benefits that the Scheme must provide to members and 
dependants. During the year under review there were isolated instances where the Scheme did not pay claims in accordance with 
the scope and level of minimum benefits. The claims are being reprocessed to ensure they are correctly paid.

	❚ Claims paid in excess of 30 days
Section 59 (2) of the Act states: “A medical scheme shall, in the case where an account has been rendered, subject to the provisions 
of this Act and the rules of the medical scheme concerned, pay to a member or a supplier of service, any benefit owing to that 
member or supplier of service within 30 days after the day on which the claim in respect of such benefit was received by the 
medical scheme”.

During the year, there were instances where claims were not paid within 30 days. These represent less than 1% of total claims paid 
for the year. There is a defined process to identify claims that have not been paid within 30 days to ensure that the claims are paid 
expeditiously.  
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32	 Non-compliance matters continued

	❚ Disclosure of personal information
Regulation 15J (2) (b) requires the Scheme to ensure that there are provisions for ensuring confidentiality of clinical and proprietary 
information, including the diagnosis and treatment pertaining to any beneficiary. POPIA Condition 7 requires that personal 
information should be kept secure against the risk of loss, unauthorised access, interference, modification, destruction or 
disclosure.

During the year under review, a dashboard meant for one employer was mistakenly sent to another employer contact. The 
dashboard contained information on COVID-19 risk assessments and contact tracing for 19 employees. The data included personal 
identification information. The data was only sent to a specific person who confirmed deletion of the information. The information 
was not shared for criminal or malicious intent.

	❚ Contribution not billed for new dependants
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later than three 
days after payment becomes due. Contributions must be received within a prescribed time when becoming due. The failure in not 
including dependants in the billing process constitutes non-compliance with the Act.

136 memberships were added through the online platform (new business system) and contributions since 2015 were not billed, 
resulting in a gross financial loss for the Scheme of R633 318, the majority of which has been written off.

The underwriting system has been enhanced to recognise active and historical additions, to ensure there are no duplicates. The 
data issues created by the addition of dependants through the online platform has been corrected, to ensure the system does not 
create historical records that cause data discrepancies.

	❚ Commission paid to brokers with expired CMS accreditation
Section 65 (3) states that no broker shall be compensated for providing broker services unless the CMS has granted accreditation to 
such broker.

There was a total of 151 brokers over a two-year period where commission was paid to brokers whose accreditation had expired. 
The total value of these payments was R1.5 million. Commission paid to brokers with expired accreditation has been reversed and a 
process is underway to recover these amounts.

Enhancements to the commission system have been made to ensure this is not repeated.

	❚ COVID-19 initiatives
The Scheme introduced specific initiatives to support stakeholders in managing the adverse impact of COVID-19. For the Scheme to 
offer these initiatives, exemptions from the following provisions of the Act were obtained from the CMS.

		  Payment of contributions from positive Personal Medical Savings Account balances
Section 26 (7) of the Act states that all subscriptions or contributions shall be paid directly to a medical scheme not later than three 
days after payment becomes due. Individual member contributions that were offset against Personal Medical Savings Accounts 
amounted to R165 474 000 affecting 15 202 policies. The CMS granted DHMS a three-month exemption on 9 April 2020 effective 
from 1 April 2020. An extension was granted on 4 November 2020 up to 31 December 2020.

		  SME employer contribution concessions
Also relating to Section 26 (7) and Section 35 (8) (a) of the Act, financial relief to SMEs through contribution concessions amounted 
to R206 872 000 affecting 532 SMEs. The concession balance at 31 December 2020 was R86 172 000. Four SMEs with a balance of 
R71 000 defaulted on their repayments. The CMS granted DHMS a three-month exemption on 9 April 2020 effective from  
1 April 2020.

		  Payment of Commissions to brokers prior to receipt of contributions
In terms of Regulation 28 (5) of the Act, broker fees shall be paid on a monthly basis on receipt by a medical scheme of the relevant 
monthly contribution. The CMS granted DHMS a three-month exemption on 11 June 2020 effective from 1 April 2020.
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09 RESOURCES

Contact details
PRINCIPAL  OFF ICER
Email principalofficer@discovery.co.za or call +27 11 529 2888 and ask for the Principal Officer 
of Discovery Health Medical Scheme (DHMS or the Scheme).

COUNCIL  FOR MEDICAL  SCHEMES  (CM S) 
DHMS is regulated by the CMS. The CMS can be contacted by telephone on 0861 123 267 or via email on 
information@medicalschemes.co.za. The CMS is located at Block A, Eco Glades 2 Office Park,  
420 Witch-Hazel Avenue, Eco Park, Centurion, 0157.

Complaints, compliments or disputes
DHMS is committed to providing you with the highest standard of service and your feedback is important 
to us. To lodge a complaint, compliment or dispute, please follow the process outlined on the website:

Important sources of information
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mailto:principalofficer%40discovery.co.za?subject=
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/2019-report-resources
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/2019-report-resources
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/our-medical-aid-plans
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/about-discovery-health-medical-scheme
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/terminology
https://www.medicalschemes.co.za/medical-schemes-act.html
www.medicalschemes.co.za
https://integratedreporting.org
https://www.iodsa.co.za/page/DownloadKingIVapp
https://www.discovery.co.za/medical-aid/complaints-and-disputes


Feedback on the Scheme’s 
Integrated Report
We welcome any comments or specific feedback on 
the following:

	❚ Was the Integrated Report (this Report) 
understandable to you?

	❚ Were you able to find the information you were 
looking for, and if not, what were you looking for?

	❚ Did this Report cover all the information relevant 
to your relationship with the Scheme?

	❚ Was this Report presented in a format that worked 
for you, and if not, what you would prefer?

Email your feedback to  
dhms_stakeholders@discovery.co.za.

Reporting fraud or 
unethical behaviour
As the Scheme’s administrator and managed care 
provider, Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd (Discovery Health) 
provides a fraud hotline and investigates possible 
instances of fraud. If you even slightly suspect 
someone of committing fraud or behaving 
unethically, please report all information to the fraud 
hotline on the number below. This facility is 
independently managed by Deloitte and you may 
remain anonymous if you prefer:

	❚ Toll-free call: 0800 0045 00
	❚ Email: discovery@tip-offs.com
	❚ Post: Freepost DN298, Umhlanga Rocks, 4320

You can also email our fraud department directly at 
forensics@discovery.co.za to investigate the matter.

Registered addresses
P RIN CIP A L  OFF ICER
Charlotte Mbewu

Discovery Health Medical Scheme, 
1 Discovery Place, Sandton, 2146

REG ISTERED OFF ICE 
A DDRESS  A N D P OSTA L 
A DDRESS
Discovery Health Medical Scheme, Ground 
Floor, The Ridge, Corner of Rivonia Road 
and Katherine Street, Sandton, 2146

PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146

A DM IN ISTRA TOR A N D 
M A N A G ED CA RE  P ROV IDER
Discovery Health (Pty) Ltd, 1 Discovery Place, 
Sandton, 2146

PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146

A U DITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated, 
4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View, 
2090

Private Bag X36, Sunninghill, 2157

P R IN CIP A L  BA N KERS
Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand 
Bank Ltd, 1 Merchant Place, Cnr Fredman 
Drive and Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196

Investment Managers
ABAX INVE ST ME NT S  (PT Y )  L T D
Coronation House, The Oval, 1 Oakdale Road, Newlands, 7700

AL L AN GR AY  INVE ST ME NT S  (PT Y )  L T D
1 Silo Square, V&A Waterfront, Cape Town, 8001

AL L  WE AT HE R  CAPIT AL  (PT Y )  L T D
1 Park Ln, Wierda Valley, Sandton, 2196 

AL UWANI  CAP IT AL  PAR T NE R S  (PT Y )  L T D
EPPF Office Park, 24 Georgian Crescent East, Bryanston East, 2152

F A IR T R E E  CAPIT AL  (PT Y )  L T D
Willowbridge Place, Cnr Carl Cronje Drive & Old Oak Road, Bellville, 7530

F UT UR E GR OWT H ASSE T  MANAGE ME NT  (PT Y )  L T D
3rd Floor, Great Westerford Building, 240 Main Road, Rondebosch, 7700

MAZI  ASSE T  MANAGE ME NT  (PT Y )  L T D
4th Floor North Wing, 90 Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196

NINE T Y  ONE  SA  (PT Y )  L T D 
36 Hans Strijdom Avenue, Foreshore, Cape Town, 8001

100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196

SE SF IK IL E  CAP IT AL  (PT Y )  L T D
2nd Floor, 18 The High Street, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, 2076

ST ANL IB  ASSE T  MANAGE ME NT  (PT Y )  L T D
17 Melrose Blvd, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg, 2076

T AQUANT A ASSE T  MANAGE R S  (PT Y )  L T D
7th Floor, Newlands Terraces, Boundary Road, Newlands, 7700
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